



THÉSE DE L'UNIVERSITÉ DE LILLE

Délivrée par l'Université de Lille 3 École Doctorale Sciences de l'Homme et de la Société Spécialité: **Psychologie**

THE ROLE OF THE MEDIAL TEMPORAL LOBE IN BINDING LYRICS AND MELODIES :

A neuropsychological and neuroimaging approach

Présentée par Irene ALONSO FERNÁNDEZ

Pour obtenir le grade de DOCTEUR DE L'UNIVERSITÉ DE LILLE

Sous la direction de Pr. Séverine SAMSON

Soutenance prévue le 2 juillet de 2015 devant le jury composé de:

Directeur de thèse:	Pr. Séverine SAMSON (Université de Lille 3)
Rapporteurs:	Pr. Antoni RODRÍGUEZ-FORNELLS (Université de Barcelone)
	Dr. Daniele SCHÖN (Université d'Aix-Marseille)
Examinateur:	Dr. Marion NOULHIANE (Université Paris Descartes)
Président:	Dr. Christine MORONI (Université de Lille 3)

The research leading to these results has received funding from the European Community's Seventh Framework Programme under the EBRAMUS project - grant agreement n° 238157.

Because a major sixth always reminds me where I come from.

Résumé

Les chansons lient naturellement des mélodies à des paroles. Elles représentent l'une des formes les plus utilisées de l'expression musicale. De façon intéressante, les chansons nécessitent l'intégration simultanée d'informations verbales (les paroles) et d'informations musicales (la mélodie) pour former une seule trace mnésique. Le lobe temporal médian a été identifié comme région clé pour la mémoire épisodique et en particulier pour le processus de binding, qui consiste en la liaison de plusieurs éléments d'un souvenir. Néanmoins, les mécanismes par lesquels le cerveau réalise la liaison entre paroles et mélodies dans la mémoire des chansons restent peu connus. L'objectif de cette thèse est de montrer le rôle du lobe temporal médian dans le processus de binding de paroles et mélodies pour la création d'un souvenir unifié d'une chanson. Premièrement, nous avons étudié les effets d'une sclérose unilatérale de l'hippocampe associée à une épilepsie du lobe temporal sur le processus de mémorisation des chansons en IRM fonctionnelle (étude 1). Les patients avec une sclérose de l'hippocampe gauche avaient un déficit d'adaptation aux paroles et de la représentation intégrée des chansons. Puis, nous avons étudié l'organisation fonctionnelle de la mémoire des chansons dans une étude d'IRM fonctionnelle chez des volontaires sains (étude 2). Les résultats ont montré l'implication de l'hippocampe dans le processus de binding en mémoire des chansons ainsi que l'implication d'autres structures comme le gyrus frontal inférieur, les ganglions de la base et le cervelet. Enfin, dans une dernière étude (étude 3), nous avons examine la mémoire des chansons et plus particulièrement la mémoire de l'association (binding) des paroles au contexte musical chez des patients ayant bénéficié d'une résection unilatérale du lobe temporal médian pour traiter une épilepsie pharmacorésistante. La mémoire des paroles ainsi que celle du contexte mélodique des chansons a été testé dans une tâche explicite de reconnaissance. Un fort déficit en reconnaissance de paroles a été constaté chez les patients avec une lésion temporale gauche, et à un moindre degré chez les patients avec une lésion temporale droite. Ce déficit a été corrélé avec des déficits de la mémoire verbale. L'étude 3 suggère, en outre, que les structures du lobe temporal médian peuvent être cruciales pour le codage de la liaison détaillée entre les paroles et leur contexte mélodique, tandis que les effets implicites d'une représentation intégrée de la chanson peuvent être épargnés après des lésions du lobe temporal médian. Pour conclure, ces trois études ont apporté de nouvelles données sur le rôle du lobe temporal médian dans le processus de binding dans le domaine musical. Ce travail a également permis d'identifier un vaste réseau de régions corticales et sous-corticales impliqué dans l'encodage de nouvelles chansons avant de discuter les implications théoriques et cliniques de ces recherches.

Mots-clé : chanson, mémoire, binding, épilepsie du lobe temporal, hippocampe

Abstract

Songs naturally couple music with language, constituting one of the most broadly used forms of music expression. Interestingly, songs require the simultaneous and integrated process of verbal (lyrics) and musical (melody) information to form a single memory trace. The medial temporal lobe has been identified as the key region for the integration of features of an event in episodic memory, also called the binding function. Nevertheless, the mechanisms by which the brain binds lyrics and melodies in song memory remain poorly understood. The purpose of this thesis is to elucidate the role of the MTL on the binding of lyrics and melodies for the creation of a unified song memory trace. First, the effects of unilateral hippocampus sclerosis on song processing were investigated in an fMR-adaptation study (Study 1). Patients with left hippocampal sclerosis showed adaptation deficits in response to lyrics as well as to the integrated representation of songs. To further explore the relation of these results with the emergence of memory for songs, the functional architecture of song memory was examined in a subsequent memory fMRI study (Study 2). The results support the implication of the hippocampus in song binding. Furthermore, the role of other structures, including the Inferior Frontal Gyrus (IFG), the Basal Ganglia (BG) and cerebellum was highlighted and discussed. Finally, Study 2 was adapted to test binding in patients following a unilateral temporal lobe excision for the relief of intractable temporal lobe epilepsy behaviorally in Study 3. Memory for lyrics as well for their melodic context was tested in an explicit recognition task. A strong deficit in lyrics recognition was found in patients with a left temporal lesion, and to a smaller degree in patients with a right temporal lesion. This deficit was correlated with deficits in verbal memory. Evidence from Study 3 further suggests that MTL structures may be crucial for encoding the detailed binding of lyrics with their melodic context, whereas implicit effects of an integrated representation of the song may be spared after MTL lesions. Altogether the studies presented in this thesis provide novel evidence for the role of the medial temporal lobe structures in binding lyrics and melodies for song memory. The present thesis proposes a comprehensive network of cortical and subcortical regions cooperating to successfully encode new songs. Finally, theoretical and clinical implications of these findings are considered.

Keywords: song, memory, binding, temporal lobe epilepsy, hippocampus.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor Séverine Samson for her support and guidance during the course of this Ph.D. For granting me this unique opportunity to merge my interest in music and cognition and for offering me her mentorship and friendship, I will be always indebted. I would also like to express my sincere gratitude to all the members of the jury for their attentive reading of my thesis.

I am grateful to Eric Bardinet and Stephan Lehéricy for letting me become part of the CENIR, where most of the present work has been thought, carried and accomplished. To all the CENIR team, and in particular to Romain Valabrègue, thanks. I would also like to thank Sophie Dupont, Vera Dinkelacker and Diana Omigie for their collaboration and insightful discussions. Un énorme merci pour Virginie Lambrecq, pour avoir été ma collègue parfaite.

The research performed during the course of this thesis would of course not have been possible without the patients and healthy participants who were willing to invest their time in taking our experiments, to whom I am also grateful.

I owe a very special thanks to my former professor from University of Oviedo Antonello Novelli Ciotti, who has always encouraged me to pursue my scientific curiosity. Similarly, I want to acknowledge Daniela Sammler for introducing me to the world of neuroimaging and for being diligent in teaching me so many valuable scientific lessons, without which I could not have accomplished this endeavor.

Thanks to all EBRAMUS supervisors for their helpful advice, and to all fellow students for our very enlightening discussions. In particular to Tatiana Selchenkova, Laura Ferreri, Laura Verga, Eleanor Harding, Charles-Étienne Benoit, and Nia Cason; for all the fun time together.

Thanks to Katie Overy (University of Edinburgh) and the IMHSD, and to Pascal Belin (Glasgow University) and the Voice Neurocognition lab, for hosting me during a secondment period. I particularly wish to express my gratitude to Lila Davachi (New York University) and all the members of her lab, in special to Alexa, Deepu, Andy, Emily, Sarah and Lin, from whom I have learnt a great deal during the last year. I feel honored to meet such inspiring

scientific minds and collaborative people. Consequently, I am grateful to LaCaixa foundation to have supported my research visit to the Davachi lab, and to trust in the value of the present project.

I wish to express my gratitude to all the people and organizations who have allowed me to keep making music: the OCAS (Spain), COGE (France), Scherzi Musicali (Spain), NYU Community Orchestra (US), Fuxida (US), Eduardo, Teresa, Asier, Mirco, Carlos and Jordi.

To those who brought Spain closer: Adelina, Juampe, Dani and Miriam, and to my many friends around the world who have supported me in different ways across time and space: thanks.

Por último, quiero agradecer infinitamente a mi madre, a mi padre y a Robertín por su incondicional apoyo, sin el cual esta tesis no habría sido posible. Gracias por hacer que los kilómetros que nos separan sean tan cortos como el tiempo que tardo en aceptar vuestra llamada en hang-out. Gracias a Prinhu, por enseñarme a hacer más prin prin prin y menos uy uy uy, por el diseño de la portada de este libro, y por todos los 10 minutos que duran una hora.

Esti trabayu ye pa la mio güelita, por deprendeme lo que ye ser muyer y les torgues de selo: denguna.

Para Flavio, por ponerle música y memoria a estos años... y por todo lo demás.

Table of contents

RESUME7
ABSTRACT9
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS11
TABLE OF CONTENTS
PREFACE 17
THEORETICAL PART 19
CHAPTER 1: THE BINDING FUNCTION
a. Definition and general considerations on binding21
b. Binding in Cognitive Neuroscience: An historical perspective
c. MTL function and the neurocognitive bases of binding
d. Binding of auditory information
CHAPTER 2: SONG PROCESSING
a. Music as a complex auditory stimulus
b. Music and language integration in songs
i. Song perception
ii. Song memory
CHAPTER 3: BINDING SONGS - AIM OF THE THESIS AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS
a. Aim of the thesis
b. The key research questions54
i. Perceptual binding of songs – Can a hippocampus lesion disrupt the integrated percept of new
unfamiliar songs?
ii. Memory binding for songs (fMRI) – Is the hippocampus involved in binding lyrics and melodies
for the encoding of songs? What other structures may also be involved?
iii. Memory binding for songs (fMRI) – Is there a difference between unified and separate
presentation of lyrics and melody for song encoding?
iv. Memory binding for songs (Neuropsychology) – How does a temporal lesion including the
hippocampus affect song recognition?
EXPERIMENTAL PART 59
CHAPTER 4: GENERAL METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS
a. Medically intractable temporal lobe epilepsy61
i. Pre-op

ii. Post-op	63
b. fMRI	63
i. fMRI adaptation	64
ii. Subsequent memory paradigm	65
iii. Region of interest (ROI) analysis	67
c. Song imagery	67
Chapter 5: Hippocampal sclerosis affects ${\sf fMR}\xspace$ adaptation of lyrics an	D MELODIES
IN SONGS.	71
Abstract	73
Introduction	73
Methods and materials	75
Results	77
Discussion	78
Conclusion	80
Acknowledgements	80
References	81
CHAPTER 6: NEURAL CORRELATES OF BINDING LYRICS AND MELODIES FOR THE EN	CODING OF
NEW SONGS.	85
Abstract	85
Introduction	87
Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
Conclusion	
Acknowledgements	
References	
CHAPTER 7 : BINDING LYRICS AND MELODIC CONTEXT IN MEMORY FOR SONGS FO	
UNILATERAL TEMPORAL LOBE EXCISION INCLUDING THE HIPPOCAMPUS.	
Abstract	
Introduction	130
Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
Conclusion	

Acknowledgements	144
References	145
CHAPTER 8: GENERAL DISCUSSION	159
1. Summary of results	159
2. Implications and limitations of the thesis	161
a. The emergence of an integrated song representation	
b. Encoding of an integrated song representation	
c. Clinical perspectives	
3. Future directions	
CONCLUSION	
REFERENCES	
INDEX OF TABLES	229
INDEX OF FIGURES	
APPENDIX · A LIST OF PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS	
PUBLICATIONS	
TALKS AND SEMINARS	
Poster presentations	
APPENDIX · B TANGENTIAL SCIENTIFIC WORK	
Emotional memory for musical excerpts in young and older adults	
MUSIC IN THE REHABILITATION OF PATIENTS WITH MEMORY AND LEARNING DEFICIT	P.G.
	15.

Preface

The purpose of this thesis is to elucidate the role of the medial temporal lobe (MTL) on the binding of lyrics and melodies for the creation of a unified memory trace for songs. The integration of features of an event in memory, or binding, has been largely studied mainly within the visual domain, and is described to take place in the MTL. Nevertheless, less is known about the binding of higher-order auditory information such as songs. This thesis aims to provide an original account of the neural mechanisms underlying binding in songs taking a neuropsychological and neuroimaging approach.

The theoretical part will present the literature in which this thesis is grounded. First, *Chapter 1* introduces the concept of binding and the advances in cognitive neuroscience to understand this function in relation to memory. Then, *Chapter 2* reviews the literature in song processing. At the end of the theoretical part, *Chapter 3* will formulate and expose the key research questions addressed by this thesis.

The experimental part starts by introducing general methodological considerations (*Chapter 4*) on the experimental approach taken in this thesis, followed by three studies in the form of original research articles. In *Chapter 5*, the effects of unilateral hippocampus sclerosis in song processing are examined using an fMR-adaptation paradigm on the integration of lyrics and melodies in song perception (Study 1). Next, in *Chapter 6*, binding of lyrics and melodies for song encoding is investigated with a subsequent memory fMRI study in healthy controls (Study 2). Based on these findings, *Chapter 7* (Study 3) assesses the memory for lyrics and their melodic context in patients following a unilateral temporal lobe excision for the relief of intractable temporal lobe epilepsy.

Finally, the general discussion section (*Chapter 8*) summarizes novel findings of this thesis, and discusses their joint relevance and limitations in light of the current literature. Future directions for research and clinical implications are considered.

Theoretical part

Chapter 1: The binding function

Our daily experiences are often perceived and remembered as continuous events in space and time. Nevertheless, it is widely accepted that different sensory information of the objects within events are processed in disperse areas of the brain and during different time windows. Even features of an object from the same sensory modality may be processed in different regions of the cortex, for instance color, shape, and movement in the visual domain, or frequency, timbre, and duration in the auditory domain. Therefore, further processing may be needed to ensure the unified experience of objects and/or events as single units with particular feature configurations (i.e. a rose may have red petals and green leaves; a garden scene may contain several elements, such as roses and their smell, the sound of birds, flying bees, etc.) and as differentiated elements within a given environment (i.e. the rose is segregated from the bee flying around it, the sound comes from the birds and not from the tree, etc.), which involve binding mechanisms. This chapter introduces the definition of binding on which the following investigations are based, and provides background on the historical use of the term in neuroscience, and the neurocognitive bases of the binding function in humans.

a. Definition and general considerations on binding

The binding function refers to the cognitive ability to integrate multiple sensory features into a unified representation of a single object or event in perception and memory. From a philosophical standpoint, "the binding problem" refers both to the question of how the brain deciphers the elements composing a unified complex scene (i.e. colors and shapes of individual fruits in a bowl), and how it integrates the elements into a unique representation (i.e. fruit bowl composed by particular fruits). In the present thesis we will focus on the second characteristic, the integration of features (lyrics and melodies) into a unified object representation (song) and its encoding in memory. It is important to note that under this concept, binding may occur at two different levels: a perceptual level, acting on the representation of integrated percepts, and at a mnemonic or relational level, by encoding a

Chapter 1: The binding function

stable version of the integrated representations. In the present thesis, we will use the term "integration" to refer to perceptual binding, and "binding" to refer to memory binding.

At a perceptual level, integration guarantees the correct association of features of an item into a unified percept (Holcombe, 2010; Robertson, 2003; Treisman, 1996). At a memory level, the association of different representations of items and their spatial and temporal context results in the encoding of a unique event (Davachi, 2006; Opitz, 2010; Roskies, 1999; Schlichting and Preston, 2015; von der Malsburg, 1981,1994). However, perceptual and memory binding boundaries in the empirical world may be blurred. If we take again the example of a fruit bowl in a still-life scene that contains a banana, two oranges, an apple, and a cluster of grapes, this image may be processed in such a way that each fruit represents an item that is later bound into a memory trace for the fruit bowl as a whole. On the other hand, the fruit bowl may also be represented as an item itself that needs to be bound into the still life scene (relative position on the table, background color, general shape), in which case the identity of the fruits may become irrelevant, with a different perceptual experience and resulting memory trace based on the same scene. Such phenomenological aspects of binding may rely on different brain mechanisms and shape the degree of vividness and detail with which experience and memories are perceived and encoded. To overcome the difficulty of the various levels of complexity that could be posed by the binding problem, a wide variety of experimental approaches in neuroscience have been used, from computational studies to animal lesion studies, and studies in humans applying neuroimaging and neuropsychology methods.

b. Binding in Cognitive Neuroscience: An historical perspective

Like many other functions in psychology, the study of binding arose from evidence of its failure. Cognitive psychologists studying visual integration of object features in perception discovered the existence of "illusory conjunctions" (Prinzmetal, 1981; Treisman and Gelade, 1980; Treisman and Schmidt, 1982). Illusory conjunctions are failures to integrate object features when the sensory and attention systems are overloaded or when stimuli are not given enough exposure. In a classic experiment, Treisman and Schmidt (1982) presented digits followed by three colored letters that subjects had to report later. When attentional resources were saturated by a digit task, a high proportion of illusory conjunctions occurred, in which participants reported seeing the letters with a wrong color and in different locations, suggesting an integration failure.

In 1996, Treisman formally exposed "the binding problem" and formulated the Feature Integration Theory of Attention. In this theory, she discussed three main possible solutions to account for the binding of object features in perception: 1) the existence of unique conjunction cortical neurons that only respond to the specific binding of features; 2) the synchronized firing of dispersed groups of neurons responding to the features of the object; and 3) an overlap in the spatial distribution and spatial attention of an object's features. The first solution was that unique cells respond to unique object representations. This hypothesis was flawed very simply due to an economic principle. Too many neurons would be required to code for all the possible associations and bound representations that humans manipulate throughout their lives. Furthermore, the interference produced by overlapping features of other objects, as illustrated, for instance, by the stroop task (Stroop, 1935), rejects the possibility of a unique coding of such bindings (Barlow, 1972). The second solution for synchronized firing has been subsequently supported by a vast number of studies (for a review see Dan and Poo, 2006), in agreement with the famous quote that has illustrated the principles of Hebbian theory: "neurons that fire together wire together". Nevertheless, synchronicity alone could not explain the simultaneous successful binding of several objects, or in other words, why the feature of an object is not confounded with the feature of another object if two objects are presented simultaneously. Thus, synchronized firing also requires a third solution, the allocation of spatial attention and the spatial distribution of features, upon which Treisman builds the Feature Integration Theory of Attention. This applies very well in particular for the visual cortex, which is spatially organized (Engel et al., 1997; Kass, 1997). In this way, several characteristics of an object, processed in different areas of the brain, can then be associated to a particular location and a specific timing for its unified perceptual representation.

However, the concept of binding and its role in memory was first introduced in cognitive neuroscience by computational studies (Cohen et al., 1997; Damasio, 1989; Fuster, 1997; McClelland et al., 1995; von der Malsburg, 1981). Already in 1989, Damasio hypothesized some required characteristics for a binding network. Sensory processing of features was described to happen at the sensory cortex in a dispersedly distributed and highly

Chapter 1: The binding function

specialized manner. The binding object features would then require the spatio-temporal cooccurrence of stimulation, triggering the synchronized activation of those disperse areas, and furthermore eliciting phase-locking unification. He suggested that these areas would need to be interconnected with what he called "convergence zones". Such convergence zones were hypothesized to be in cortical and subcortical limbic areas, the basal ganglia and associative cortex. It was also speculated that these convergence zones would be differentially activated in relation to the degree of complexity and the modality of the information to be bound. Most importantly, "binding of conjunctions", or in our terms the encoding of integrated representations, would only be allowed through recursive feedback communication between convergence zones and the disperse activation of sensory cortex. It is surprising how this early theoretical framework already highlighted feedback and the continuous updating of information between neocortex and convergence zones, which were later identified as the medial temporal lobe (MTL) (Bast, 2007; Cowell et al., 2010; Eichenbaum, 2000; McClelland et al., 1995; Norman, 2010; O'Reilly et al., 2014; Rolls, 1996; Turk-Browne et al., 2006).

According to connectionist models, perceptual representations, along with the creation of new memories, depends on a large distributed network in the brain (for a review see Cer and O'Reilly, 2006). A particularly successful computational model that aimed to account for memory formation was the Complementary Learning Systems model (McClelland et al., 1995; for updated reviews of this model see Norman and O'Reilly, 2003; Norman, 2010; O'Reilly et al., 2014). The main original idea of this model was to propose two specialized learning and memory systems, which cooperate together to ensure successful learning and memory. On the one hand, one sparse system, dependent on the hippocampus, will be specialized in the initial encoding and rapid learning of episodic memories. This patternseparated system, would avoid the interference of newly events with previous knowledge already acquired in the neocortical system. On the other hand, the neocortex would support a distributed system, where new memories will be gradually transferred and interleaved with knowledge structure represented by exemplars, or in other words, representing overlapping semantic structure of long term memories. Thus, memory consolidation would be accomplished by the recurrent communication between hippocampal and neocortical systems. producing the reactivation of previous knowledge, but also ensuring the reinstatement of exemplars that will update the knowledge structure. Note that the hippocampal system here

allows encoding through pattern-separation and completion processes that ensure the binding of specific feature combinations into a unique representation.



The mechanistic ideas proposed by connectionist models in cognitive psychology were

Figure 1. Hippocampal memory formation based on the Complementary Learning Systems model, showing how information is learnt (pink arrows), encoded (blue arrows) and retrieved (red arrows). (Source : O'Reilly et al., 2014)

soon experimentally tested by animal studies, converging with the previous tradition of associative learning, and providing neuroanatomical evidence for the binding function in the medial temporal lobe (MTL) (Bussey and Saksida, 2005; Rudy and Sutherland, 1995; Sutherland and Rudy, 1989). Thanks to the development of neuroimaging techniques, more recent evidence from human studies has further supported the idea that memory encoding and consolidation strongly rely on hippocampal-neocortical networks (for a review see Wang and Morris, 2010). In sum, the investigation of the binding function emerges from the confluence of cognitive psychology and computational neuroscience from 1980 on, and remains an enduring research area. However, to understand the relevance of binding in memory models, a digression on the study of the medial temporal lobe (MTL) function in cognitive neuroscience needs to be made. The following section will present a perspective on MTL function and review evidence for the neurocognitive bases of binding.

c. MTL function and the neurocognitive bases of binding

The MTL is formed by various structures that are cytoarchitectonically different: the hippocampus and the surrounding cortex: the entorhinal, perirhinal and parahippocampal cortex (Amunts et al., 2005; Zola-Morgan and Squire, 1993). The early work by Brenda Milner and colleagues evaluating patients with lesions in these areas opened avenues for the investigation of the various aspects of memory that are differently represented and coded in the brain (Scoville and Milner, 1957; Milner et al., 1968; Milner et al., 1998). Today, the role of the MTL in episodic memory formation is undisputed. However, scientists still widely investigate the specific roles and relations within its substructures along the various phases of memory processes (i.e. encoding, consolidation, retrieval, reconsolidation, etc.) and subprocesses as familiarity, recollection and most importantly for the purpose of this thesis, binding.



Figure 2. Medial temporal lobe structures : Hippocampus head (yellow), body (green) and tail (pink) ; entorhinal cortex (cyan); perirhinal cortex (red); parahippocampal cortex (blue).

For many years, a dominant view in memory recognition subdivided recognition in two qualitatively processes: familiarity and recollection (for a review see Eichenbaum et al., 2007; Montaldi and Mayers, 2010; Ranganath, 2010a, Yonelinas, 2002; Yonelinas, 2010). On the one hand, familiarity is a distributed process that follows the rules of signal detection targeting a sense of knowing or having had previously experienced something. On the other 26 hand, recollection is defined as an all or nothing process that may be require the identification of details of an object or scene. Of note, recollection must be based on an integrated representation that binds all the details of an event together. Familiarity, recollection, and novelty processes, were then suggested to depend in different structures within the MTL (Daselaar et al., 2006).



Figure 3. Illustration of the familiarity and recollection based on the Dual-process signal detection model. (Source : Yonelinas et al., 2010).

The empirical observation of familiarity and recollection was first neuropsychological, motivated by the assessment of patients with lesions in the MTL (Addante et al., 2012; Aggleton et al., 2005; Eichenbaum et al., 2007; Mandler, 1980; Yonelinas et al., 1998; Yonelinas et al., 2002). Most of the studied participants were patients with temporal lobe epilepsy assessed before or after surgical removal of unilateral anterior temporal lobe (see the methods section for more detail). Based on signal detection methods from psychophysics, the receiving operating curves were applied to examine recognition memory. Results show that while the hippocampus is engaged in encoding and binding details that lead to recollection, the surrounding perirhinal and parahippocampal cortex can support familiarity (for items and context respectively) with certain independence of the hippocampus (for a role of the hippocampus on both recollection and familiarity see Cipolotti and Bird, 2006; Kirwan et al., 2010; Wais et al., 2006; Wixted and Squire, 2011).

Chapter 1: The binding function

Nevertheless, the exclusively mnemonic function of the MTL has been challenged, and suggestions that it also plays an important role in perception have been made (for a review, see Baxter, 2009; Graham, Barense, and Lee, 2010; Suzuki, 2009). Although this idea was already presented by Jacoby and Dallas (1981), it was not until recent neuroimaging results that it has been incorporated into global accounts of MTL function. Activation in the perirhinal cortex has been associated with the recollection of item features and familiarity (Brown, 2008; Greve, Evans, Graham, and Wilding, 2011; Strange, Otten, Josephs, Rugg, and Dolan, 2002; Winters, 2004) but also for item identification (Lee et al., 2005; Murray and Richmond, 2001; Taylor, 2006).

Similarly, the hippocampus has also been suggested to be involved in complex discriminations (Barense et al., 2010) and implicit perceptual anticipation triggered by perceptual learning (Turk-Browne et al., 2010) among other perceptual tasks (Graham et al., 2006; Schapiro et al., 2012). These findings have led some authors to suggest that the perirhinal cortex and the anterior hippocampus are involved in high-level perceptual processing of objects. Supposedly, the former is engaged in object processing whereas the latter integrates different elements of scenes in order to create a bounded percept (Lee et al., 2006).

Based on neuroimaging and neuropsychological results, a comprehensive non-modular view of memory and perception, the Emergent Memory Account (EMA), has been developed by Graham et al. (2010). According to this model, memory arises from a dynamic interaction between the perceptual representations distributed through the whole brain. On the one hand the prefrontal cortex interacts within this cortical network adjusting performance according to task demands. On the other hand the MTL contributes to the instauration, consolidation/update and retrieval of the representations. Therefore, the same anatomically distributed network responds for both memory and perception with some structures being more or less important than others at different stages of the process.



Figure 4. Long-term declarative memory network from Graham and colleagues (2010). The diagram show that MTL structures, may differentially support recollection (green boxes and arrows) and familiarity (purple boxes and arrows).

From this viewpoint, the role of the MTL is not restricted to long-term memory but also involves short-term and working memory (Axmacher et al., 2007; Lee and Rudebeck, 2010a; Rose et al., 2012; Zarahn, 2004) as well as perceptual processes (Lee, Bussey, et al., 2005; Lee, Buckley, et al., 2005; Lee, 2006; Lee and Rudebeck, 2010b). In other words, the EMA proposes a parsimonious hypothesis of brain functioning whereby memory emerges from a hierarchical organization of perception in a large brain network with a key role of the MTL and particularly of the hippocampus in the integration of complex information, or in other words, in perceptual and memory binding.

Building upon these studies, the growing interest on describing the particular elements that differentiate MTL structures' roles has led to a new approach considering binding as the core function performed by the MTL. Instead of building up on the psychological distinction between familiarity and recollection to examine the different processes that affect recognition, researchers have begun to focus on the kind of information that is processed, and more importantly, how this information is bound to form an event that will be different than the following one. Few attempts have been made to theorize binding while focusing on such interactive aspects of memory. Here, I will present two: the hierarchical Relational Binding Theory (hRBT) (Shimamura, 2010) and the Binding Item and Context (BIC) model (Davachi, 2006; Diana et al., 2007; Ranganath, 2010b).

Although both theories have placed the hippocampus at the top of the processing hierarchy, they differ in the articulation of binding in other MTL structures. The hRBT suggests that episodic events can be divided into sensory and cognitive units that could later be bound in the MTL. By this account, the role of the MTL is crucial for the integration of the 29

Chapter 1: The binding function

different features of an event in both storage and retrieval. This model proposes a mixed model in which the MTL has a general mnemonic binding function, and at the same time keeps parts of the dual-process theories. All in all, it proposes a quantitative memory strength modulation of the engagement of MTL structures by which the hippocampus, situated in the top of the hierarchy, is responsible for stronger memories and the surrounding cortex for weaker memories.



Figure 5. Diagram illustrating the BIC model adapted from Diana and colleagues (2007). When remembering to have drunk a glass of wine by the Seine in Paris, the Perirhinal would process the wine (its color, flavor, glass recipient, and other item characteristics), the parahippocampal would process that this happened by Notre Dame during your last holiday. Then, the hippocampus binds these pieces of information into a single event. Thus, in relation to the dual-process signal detection model previously discussed (Yonelinas, 1994), hippocampus will be in charge of recollection, whereas the surrounding cortex could signal familiarity to different types of information.

By contrast, based on neuropsychological and neuroimaging findings, the BIC model proposes a qualitative differentiation of MTL structures and a functional specialization that is dependent on the kind of information that is processed. This model stresses the importance of binding during both encoding (Davachi, 2006) and recollection (Diana et al., 2007). According to this model, the perirhinal cortex supports the encoding of items and item features (intra-item associations) (see Taylor et al., 2006 for cross-modal item associations), 30

and is also described to play a role in certain complex perceptual tasks (Graham et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2006; Lee and Rudebeck, 2010b). On the other hand, the parahippocampal cortex supports the processing of the context in which items are presented. This context can include spatial (the "*where*"), temporal (the "*when*") or even emotional information. According to the BIC model, all this is transmitted through the entorhinal cortex to the hippocampus, which is emphasized to be the key structure that binds items and context across time and space into a single memory trace (inter-item associations).

Thus, the perirhinal cortex is engaged in object processing and intra-item binding (e.g. of object colour and shape) (Buckley and Gaffan, 1998; Murray and Bussey, 1999; Buckley et al., 2001; Murray and Richmond, 2001; Bussey and Saksida, 2002; Bussey et al., 2005), whereas the hippocampus appears to be required to form conjunctive representations that bind several features across space or time (Barense et al., 2007; Barense et al., 2010; Bussey and Saksida, 2005; Cowell et al., 2006; Cowell et al., 2010; Diana et al., 2007; Eichenbaum et al., 1994; O'Reilly and Rudy, 2001; Winters, 2004). From this viewpoint, the selective recollection impairments observed in patients with hippocampal damage (Aggleton et al., 2005; Aggleton et al., 2006; Bowles et al., 2011; Incisa et al., 2004; Lancelot et al., 2005), or Alzheimer's Disease (Goll et al., 2011; Parra et al., 2009) could be interpreted as a compromised binding function, which is also in line with the perceptual deficits found in these patients (Chun and Phelps, 1999; Lee et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2005). The notion of binding across time both from perceptual (Engel and Singer, 2001; Joliot et al., 1994; Lin et al., 2006) and memory perspectives (Tubridy and Davachi, 2011; Dubrow and Davachi, 2014) is particularly relevant here, since auditory information, as opposed to visual information, is strongly tied to temporal processing, where information that unfolds over time contains the identity of the auditory object (see Jones, 1976).

Different materials have been used in binding tasks, including the binding of objects/shapes with their color, objects and scenes, objects/shapes with locations, and faces with names. However, few studies have incorporated auditory material for the study of binding.

d. Binding of auditory information

Binding of auditory information, or the unification of an auditory object or scene, can be exemplified by classic cocktail party psychoacoustic problem (Cherry, 1953). In the noisy environment of a cocktail party, we are still able to focus on a conversation, filtering out most of the other sounds that are irrelevant to the current interaction and distinguishing our interlocutor voice among the others. In other words, the cocktail party psychoacoustic problem highlights the human ability to attend to a specific sound or voice that is merged in a noisy context, integrating the several auditory features (see also Teki et al., 2011a) that conform, for instance, voice identity and the verbal message. Following this idea, the encoding of new songs may require, at least, the binding of lyrics with their melodic context.

The binding mechanisms described in the previous section are conceptualized to be modality general. However, the way that time and space relate to vision and audition may be a source of variation in terms of the network that interacts with the MTL. Despite the fact that binding is required to integrate spatial and temporal information, the latter has been seldom explored due to the modality bias in favor of visual studies (for studies on binding with auditory information see Dowling and Tillmann, 2014; Lancelot et al., 2005; Maybery et al., 2009; Overath et al., 2007; Overath et al., 2008; Sanders et al., 2011; Zhuo and Yu, 2011). Whilst vision requires a rapid binding of synchronous events (Engel et al., 1997) in order to ensure the coding of spatial properties, audition is more susceptible to time variations (Demany et al., 2010; Kiebel et al., 2008; Sanders et al., 2011) and may require the ongoing binding of sequences and the regulation of expectation. Therefore, it is plausible that other structures involved in sequence learning and temporal regularities detection, such as the cerebellum and the basal ganglia (Bostan et al., 2013; Kotz and Schwartze, 2010; Penhune et al., 1998; Schwartze et al., 2012), may play a role in auditory binding by enhancing learning of related sequences and temporal coupling.

In consonance with this hypothesis, sensori-motor perceptual binding has been shown to occur in the striatal system (Brown and Marsden, 1998; Graybiel et al., 1994). For instance, using a sonification experiment of a human avatar's breaststroke, Schmitz and colleagues (2013) have shown a role for the basal ganglia in auditory-motor binding within a network that included the superior temporal sulcus, the insula and the right prefrontal cortex.

d. Binding of auditory information

Based on the role of the inferior parietal lobule (IPL) in auditory expectancy and feedforward connections (Rauschecker, 2013), this structure can additionally support auditory binding by sending feed-forward information that matches predictions with sensory output. This region has also been shown to be involved in visual feature binding (Shafritz et al., 2002). Different lines of evidence support the involvement of inferior parietal regions in the binding of auditory information, particularly when mental imagery is required (Zvyagintsev et al., 2013). For instance, areas located at the parieto-temporal boundary have been found to be active for audio-motor integration during mental imagery, as for instance during covert rehearsal or humming of auditory stimuli (Buchsbaum et al., 2005, 2011; Foster and Zatorre, 2010; Foster et al., 2013; Hickok et al., 2003). The angular gyrus has also been related to mental imagery (Herholz et al., 2012), calculation, speech processing, auditory short-term memory and perceptual binding (Albert et al., 2013; Kamke et al., 2012; Seghier, 2013).

Binding involving auditory information within and between modality may be illustrated by different situations. For instance, the unified representation of faces and voices (Campanella and Belin, 2007), locations of different sounds (Maybery et al., 2009), moving objects and their sound (Bushara et al., 2003; Schmitz et al., 2013), or the illusory conjunction produced by ventriloquism (Bischoff et al., 2007). The present thesis will exclusively focus on the binding of verbal and musical information, and more specifically in the case of encoding new songs.

Chapter 2: Song processing

Songs represent one of the most enjoyable and widespread forms of communication, emotion and cultural expression. From lullabies to requiems, our life is paced to the beat of our particular soundtrack. Although music and language may be considered two distinct sound systems, they become intimately entangled for songs such that when reading "imaging all the people" we can instantly imagine the words as they were sung by John Lennon. Songs require the simultaneous and integrated combination of verbal (lyrics) and musical (melody) components to form a single unit. Singing requires similar production mechanisms to speech, such as fine motor control of the vocal chords and larynges, but do we perceive songs as language, as music or as something else? In this section the different elementary psychoacoustic characteristics of music will be presented, followed by the particular interaction of language and music in songs. Then, evidence for the creation of an integrated representation of lyrics and melodies in songs will be reviewed. Behavioral and neuroimaging studies of song perception and memory will be considered to ground the study of binding in songs.

a. Music as a complex auditory stimulus

Music is a highly organized acoustic signal formed from sequences of sounds that unfold over time and that ultimately have particular aesthetic and/or cultural value within a given society. Although the necessity of music is still under debate, it is suggested that music could have been present at the dawn of human societies and it seems to be very intimately related to the origins of language (McDermott and Hausser, 2005; Mithen, 2005; Patel, 2008).

From an acoustical perspective, and as any other sound, music is characterized by the following elementary characteristics: pitch, timbre, duration, (rhythm, meter, beat, tempo, articulation) and loudness (dynamics). Additionally, in a second level of complexity, music is also constituted by harmony (tonality) and form (musical texture). The combined perception of the described elements and their unification into an auditory object, namely a piece of music, requires the activation of disperse areas in the brain that will be now briefly described.

Chapter 2: Song processing

Pitch is the perception of frequency and is processed in the primary auditory cortex. This area has a tonotopical organization, which means that the frequency range is reflected in the structure: low frequencies stimulate the anterior areas of the primary auditory cortex, and gradually, higher frequencies stimulate more posterior areas (Elberling et al., 1982; Lauter et al., 1985; Pantev et al., 1988, 1995) However, the ability to identify frequencies without any other sound reference, namely absolute pitch, is generally lost very early on in life and is only preserved in some early trained musicians (Baeck, 2002; McDermott and Oxenham, 2008). Instead, human intonation and melody discrimination relies more on the relations between pitch sequences, or, in other words, on relative pitch. The ability to identify melodies based on their relative pitch sequences (a sort of implicit transposition), unlike absolute pitch identification (Bendor and Wang, 2005), seems to be a privilege that is mainly present in humans as compared to other animals (Brosch and Scheich, 2002; D'Amato, 1988; Hulse et al., 1984). Consequently, a higher level of unification for the creation of a melody representation, irrespective of its absolute frequencies, needs to occur after the initial auditory processing. Such processing may be in part related to working memory and frontal functions. The inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), inferior parietal lobule (IPL) and right superior temporal sulcus (rSTS) have been described to be involved in relative pitch processing. However, mesolimbic regions involved in sequence learning, such as the hippocampus or the striatum may be important to create a stable representation.

Duration refers to the length of sounds (notes), musical sentences and or musical pieces. Although it might seem a very simple concept, it is indeed one of the most complex dimensions in the understanding of music. As compared to other sensory modalities, time is inherently part of the identity of sound, and therefore timing and duration are crucially relevant to music cognition. Duration can be subdivided into beat, meter and rhythm (Peretz and Coltheart, 2003). Beat refers to a broad constant of "speed", the underlying isochronous pulse to which the sounds unfold. This is in part overlapping with what is generally called tempo. On the other hand, meter refers to the organized accentuation of beat, creating a temporal context in which rhythmic patterns may be circumscribed. For a long time, research focused on melody and disregarded rhythmic processing, but the interest in understanding this musical aspect has recently increased (Cason and Schön, 2012; Gordon et al., 2011; Hove et al., 2014; Jerde et al., 2011; Magne et al., 2004; Overy and Turner, 2009; Patel and Iversen, 2014; Schulkind, 1999; Thaut, 2003; Thaut et al., 2008; Zatorre et al., 2007).



Figure 6. A modular model of music processing from Peretz and Coltheart (2003), as illustrated by Ivelisse Robles. Boxes represent processing components and arrows represent pathways of information flow between them. Components specific to the music domain are shown in green and those specific or shared with language in blue.

Interestingly, it has been suggested that a strong motor component is attached to the mental representation of music rhythm. This is typically illustrated by the activation of premotor cortex, supplementary motor area (SMA), and other regions such as the cerebellum and basal ganglia, which are involved not only in the production but also the perception of rhythm (Thaut et al., 2008). Rhythm has been frequently reported to be left lateralized in the superior temporal gyrus (STG). This could be related to the more abstract and analytic nature of the rhythmic function and the sequencing of stimuli. A number of studies speak for a relationship between rhythmic processing and timing and sequencing, suggesting the involvement of structures such as the insula, basal ganglia and cerebellum (Grahn and Watson, 2013; Schwartze et al., 2012; Thaut, 2003).

Chapter 2: Song processing

Timbre is a sensory characteristic determined by the degree of complexity of the vibration of a body. Right hemisphere dominance has been described for the timbre processing that engages primary and secondary auditory cortex (Baeck, 2002; Halpern et al., 2004; Platel et al., 1997; Samson and Zatorre, 1994; Samson et al., 2002).

Harmony is traditionally perceived through the secondary auditory cortex, and can be defined as the vertical organization of intervals and the structural rules leading to harmonic progressions. In other words, harmony constitutes the skeleton of a musical piece, or, using linguistic terms, the musical syntax. Overlapping networks have been found for both harmony and syntax (Koelsch et al., 2005; Koelsch, 2011; Koelsch and Friederici, 2003; Koelsch and Siebel, 2005; Patel, 2003; Sammler et al., 2009; Sammler et al., 2009a). Patel (2003) framed these findings in the Shared Syntactic Integration Resource Hypothesis, which suggests an overlap in the neural mechanisms that provide the resources for syntactic integration, with independence of domain. Harmony is perceived regardless of formal knowledge of musical structure. Similarly to language, and regardless of expertise, statistical learning and implicit exposure govern the acquisition of harmony rules (Jonaitis and Saffran, 2009; Pearce et al., 2010). Activation in Broca's and Wernicke's areas have been systematically reported bilaterally in response to harmony (Patel, 2003; Koelsch, 2006), a finding that suggest an overlap of language and music processing. Nonetheless, harmony processing has a bilateral pattern as opposed to the extremely left lateralization of linguistic syntax. Harmonic knowledge also engages activation of other structures specific to music such as the STG (Patel, 2003; Sammler et al., 2009). Moreover, harmony processing is crucial for the perception of consonance/dissonance, and is indeed biased by learning and enculturation (McDermott and Oxenham, 2008), therefore having an impact on emotional and aesthetic judgments that go beyond structure itself (Omigie et al., in press).

It is worth mentioning that besides the described formal characteristics of music, there is another inherent component of great relevance: emotion. To this end, subcortical nucleus of the limbic and the paralimbic system are also recruited during music perception. The particular involvement of emotion in music memory will not be reviewed in the present thesis. Nevertheless, a tangential scientific work discussing this issue in the context of the present studies can be found in Annex A (Alonso et al., 2015).
b. Music and language integration in songs.

Both music and language can be considered communicational codes (Hachinski and Hachinski, 1994). They both are based in organized sounds, with their identity depending on, among other things, rhythm, melodic contour and a hierarchical structure. In the last three decades, much research has been conducted to delimit the independent and shared neural resources used by these two domains (for a review see Patel, 2008). For instance, asymmetries in the auditory cortex have shown that left auditory cortical areas have better processing temporal resolution, required for the rapidly changing broadband speech sounds, whereas right auditory cortical areas are better in spectral resolution, more relevant to frequency accuracy (Zatorre and Belin, 2001) that is required for melodic processing. Furthermore, certain domain independence has been supported by double dissociations in aphasics and amusic patients, whereby deficits are shown in one domain but not the other (i.e. Hébert et al., 2003; Tzortis et al., 2000). However, to date, it is widely accepted that, despite asymmetries in the auditory cortex function for processing low-level features (i.e. accurate fine-grained representation of pitch, Zatorre and Baum, 2012; Zatorre and Belin, 2001), music and language processing share abstract high-level neural mechanisms.

Beyond the inherent theoretical interest of using music as a tool to reveal the general nature of brain cognitive functions, one motivation for the research in this field has risen from the idea of transfer of training between music and language domains (Besson et al., 2011; Kraus and Chandrasekaran, 2010; Ludke et al., 2014; Moreno et al., 2011; Schön et al., 2008). For instance, it has been suggested that musical training can benefit pitch contour discrimination in both music and speech perception (Schön et al., 2004), implicit learning of musical and linguistic structures (Francois and Schön, 2011; Selchenkova et al., 2014), and verbal memory (Chan et al., 1998; Ho et al., 2003). Particularly, music and speech perception seem to be similarly influenced by rhythmic cues (Hausen et al., 2013). Rhythmic training has been shown to improve phonological processing (Cason and Schön, 2012) and also to enhance phonological production in hearing-impaired children (Cason et al., 2015a). Moreover, songs, as compared to speech, facilitate children's phonetic recognition (Lebedeva and Khul, 2010), and audio-motor training compared to auditory training alone has been shown to enhance phonological proception of sentences (Cason et al., 2015b).

Chapter 2: Song processing

Similarly, from a perceptual viewpoint, phonemic information has shown to facilitate melody and speech imitation, suggesting shared resources for musical and verbal vocal production (Mantell and Pfordresher, 2013). This idea of transfer has also gained interest in clinical fields, suggesting a potential application of music in cognitive rehabilitation following brain damage based on the training of alternative compensatory pathways that may allow access to common functions (Baur et al., 2000; Moussard et al., 2012; Patel, 2011; Simmons-Stern et al., 2010; Thaut et al., 2008).

Indeed, music and language can be written, read, listened to or vocally expressed through speaking and singing. To this end, songs represent an ecologically valid and particularly relevant stimuli because they require the simultaneous and integrated process of verbal (lyrics) and musical (melody) components to form a single unit. Furthermore, singing is a widespread behavior that requires similar production mechanisms as speech for fine motor control of the vocal chords and the larynges.

A comprehensive description of brain areas involved in singing has been elucidated using neuroimaging methods such as PET (Brown et al., 2004; Perry et al., 1999) and fMRI (Koelsch et al., 2009; Riecker et al., 2000; Zarate and Zatorre, 2008). The singing network engages primary and secondary auditory areas, corresponding to Helsch's gyrus and the STG, together with other areas involved in vocalization and audio-motor integration. These motor activations include the mouth region of the primary motor cortex, the SMA, which is involved in the planning and execution of speech, the frontal operculum and the anterior insula, both of which cooperate for articulatory processing, and finally basal ganglia (in the left putamen and right palidum) and (posterior) cerebellum activations which are related to timing, sequencing and fine audio-motor coordination (Brown et al., 2004; Perry et al., 1999).

A remarkable overlap in the storage and rehearsal of verbal and tonal acoustic information has being reported in the frontal operculum (Koelsch et al., 2009), which suggests that this structure carries out an essential role in the representation of the larynx and the pharynx in sound production control. This is in line with the speech suppression found in patients with bilateral damage of the frontal operculum (Villa and Caltagirone, 1984). Similarly, the activation of anterior insula has being related to overt articulatory processing in speech and singing, with left-lateralized activity for the former and right-lateralized activity for the latter (Ackermann and Riecker, 2004; Riecker et al., 2000; Zarate and Zatorre, 2008).

This lateralization pattern has also been reported for the SMA and cerebellum (Riecker et al., 2000).

Interestingly, a particular role of the temporal poles has been described in relation to higher-level music tasks, including harmonic processing, which has led some scientists to label it as a tertiary auditory cortex (Brown, 2004). Conversely, the role of the temporal poles in language has rather been linked to sentential semantic processing and object naming (Tsapkini et al., 2011), which suggests that its role in harmonization may be particular to singing. However, evidence from a lesion study rather highlights the role of the right temporal pole in musical identity processing (Hsieh et al., 2011). A more general view on the temporal poles has related them to the processing of high-level perceptual features of stimuli that integrate multisensory information and emotions (Olson et al., 2007). This finding suggests that the role of the temporal poles in singing could also be related to high-level processing of melody identity and emotion, rather than particular harmonic or musical syntax, have instead systematically underlined the involvement of other structures such as the frontal operculum, which is more coherent with the syntax processing role of these two structures in language (Patel, 2003; Sammler et al., 2011; Tillmann et al., 2006).

Although the study of singing production lays out the scope of the present work, which will henceforth focus on song perception and memory, this brief background on the substrates of song production is important to understand our object of study: the unified representation of a song and the creation of its memory trace.

i. Song perception

Containing verbal and musical information, are songs perceived and stored as language or as music? Are they musical language, verbal music, or a gestalt that is more than simply the sum of text and melody?

All in all, the literature suggests a verbal dominance in the processing of songs, but also shows the involvement of additional regions that may be particularly activated for song perception compared to instrumental music or speech alone. The perceptual transformation of speech into song, for instance, implies a higher degree of pitch mapping and audio-motor integration related to rhythmic processing (Tierney et al., 2012). Such idiosyncrasies of songs

Chapter 2: Song processing

may be partially responsible for the popularity of sung music, and the enhanced memory for vocal melodies over instrumental ones (Weiss et al., 2012).

Neuroimaging methods, and particularly fMRI, have greatly contributed to the exploration of the cerebral substrate that underlies song perception. Initial evidence from electroencephalography has suggested that there are independent signatures for melodic and semantic processing of songs (Besson et al., 1998). For instance, semantic incongruities in song perception have been associated with a greater amplitude N400 component, which is also reported in speech, whereas melodic incongruities during song perception have tended to trigger a greater amplitude P300 component, that has also been reported in instrumental music (Besson and Faïta, 1995). This independence of semantic and melodic processing of incongruities has also been supported behaviorally by divided attention studies using a dual-task paradigm (Bonnel et al., 2001). Furthermore, the detection of deviants in familiar songs has revealed laterality differences related to material in magnetoencephalography. Lyric deviants elicited a left-dominant M140, whereas melody deviants triggered right-dominant M130 response, supporting an independent processing of lyrics and melody information (Yasui et al., 2009).

However, it is important to consider that the semantic and harmonic incongruities compared in these studies may not be correlates of equivalent processes in music and language, as melodic incongruities refer to harmonic rules, which are more comparable to syntactic processing. Indeed, syntactic violations have been compared to melodic and harmonic violations, whereby similar greater P300 components have been reported for both processes (Besson and Schön, 2003), which suggests a common processing mechanism. Furthermore, syntactic violations in both music and language have been found to elicit an early negative component at 200 ms in the IFG and anterior STG (Sammler et al., 2009). In line with this result, patients with lesions in Broca's area have also shown an abnormal scalp distribution of the early right anterior negativity (ERAN) in response to harmonic violations, which suggests that this structure has a domain-general role in processing syntactic information (Sammler et al., 2011). Using sung words in a same-different task, Gordon and colleagues (2010) found not only a larger N400 component for different words, but also a larger N400 (that was followed by a positive component) for different melodies. In contrast to Besson and colleagues (1998), these findings suggest shared neural resources for semantic aspects of language and harmonic aspects of music. 42

Of particular relevance to the present thesis are those studies that have investigated how the verbal and the melodic components of songs form an integrated representation and are ultimately bound. Using fMRI, two main methods of analysis have been employed to address this issue.

The first method uses the hierarchy subtraction logic, and assumes that contrasting songs (both lyrics and melodies combined) against the melody component alone allows visualization of the areas involved in the processing of the verbal component, while similarly contrasting songs against the lyrical component alone may reveal the areas involved in the processing of the melodic component. Adopting this logic in an fMRI study, Schön et al. (2010, Exp. 1) presented pairs of sung, vocalized melodies (defined as singing without words) and spoken words in a same-different task. The results revealed a common network including STG, Medial Temporal Gyri (MTG) and IFG bilaterally for the processing of lyrics and melodies.

Similarly, Merrill and colleagues (2012) decomposed and compared functional activations evoked by the verbal (i.e. words) and tonal components (i.e. pitch patterns) of song, and once again, revealed a shared network for both components in the STG and the precentral gyri bilaterally. Subtle lateralization differences were found in the IFG, with the verbal component of song being more lateralized to the left, and the pitch component to the right. Although such findings allow us to identify the cerebral network underlying the processing of lyrics and melodies, they do not elucidate whether lyrics and melodies are integrated or processed independently in song perception.

The second method to investigate the relationship between lyrics and melodies in song perception involves the repetition/variation of tonal-verbal components in songs. It goes a step further than the previous method by studying the interaction between the two components, and considers, therefore, that song perception is more than simply the sum of lyrics and melodies and additionally results in a bounded percept. In other words, this method suggests that one single auditory object will emerge from the perceptual binding of lyrics and melodies, which is different from the two components taken in isolation (for a review on binding see Opitz, 2010). This method examines brain activity modulations during repetition (same) or variation (different) of songs' components in order to investigate how they interact. Schön and colleagues (2010, Exp. 2) examined sung pairs of words that could vary or repeat

Chapter 2: Song processing

in terms of the verbal and/or the melody component in a same-different task, and revealed an interactive processing of both verbal and musical components of the song material in the left and the right STG. In another study, Sammler and colleagues (2010) took advantage of an fMRI-adaptation paradigm in order to explore the cortical networks underlying the integration and the independence of lyrics and melodies in song perception.

In Sammler and colleagues' (2010) study, songs were presented to healthy participants in blocks in which the repetition of lyrics and/or melodies were varied in a factorial design. Results showed a bilateral involvement of the STG and STS for both components, consistent with Schön and colleagues (2010 Exp.1) and Merrill and colleagues (2012). Furthermore, a stronger adaptation to lyrics than to melodies was obtained in the left anterior STG/STS, which suggests that the processing of lyrics is independent of the processing of melodies in these areas. Interestingly, no brain area showed stronger adaptation to melodies than to lyrics. These data illustrate a putative asymmetrical relationship between song elements in that melodies are more tightly bound to songs than lyrics, which suggest that adaptation effects are strongly driven by the lyrics, at least in this paradigm. This study also demonstrates an integrated central processing of songs that takes place in the left mid-STS and the left premotor cortex. Specifically, at the level of the temporal lobe, a strong integration between lyrics and melodies was found in the left mid-STS whereas independent processing of lyrics was shown to depend on more anterior regions of the left STG.

Interestingly, these effects were interpreted in terms of a "gradient of integration" situated along the left STS following the functional (Binder, 2000; Davis and Johnsrude, 2003; Liebenthal et al., 2005; Scott and Johnsrude, 2003) and temporal (Kiebel et al., 2008; Overath et al., 2008; Patterson et al., 2002) hierarchy of auditory perception in the superior temporal lobe (Gow, 2012). Notably, this gradient, which was measured using the same integration contrast with more permissive thresholds, transformed the question of "whether" lyrics and melodies are integrated into the question of "the degree to which" they are integrated or independently processed in different cortical regions. In this way, the integration process is conceptualized dimensionally rather than categorically.

b. Music and language integration in songs.



Figure 7. Areas of lyrics and melody interaction during song perception as reported by Schön and colleagues (2010), p < 0.05 corrected for multiple comparisons (A) and Sammler and colleagues (2010) showing strong interaction in blue (p < 0.001 uncorrected), weak interaction (p < 0.05 uncorrected) and no interaction in red (p < 0.001 uncorrected) (B).

Taking Schön and colleagues' (2010) and Sammler and colleagues' (2010) results together, the integrated representation of lyrics and melodies may be processed within the posterior part of the STG/STS in healthy participants. Nonetheless, the formation of memory traces that bind these lyrics and melody has not been addressed. Studying songs and the way they might become a unified percept provides a novel approach in investigating complex stimuli that integrate two different kinds of information. This sort of unified representation trace refers to binding, as it has been previously discussed in this introduction, and should be theoretically supported by the MTL function.

ii. Song memory

Studies with healthy population

The study of song memory has being approached from several angles. For example, researchers have delved into the autobiographical properties of songs memory (Bartlett and

Chapter 2: Song processing

Snelus, 1980; Janata et al., 2007), the influence of emotions (Ali and Peynircioglu, 2006; Schulkind et al., 1999), the influence of extra-musical information in its storage and retrieval (Halpern, 1984; Sherman and Kennerly, 2014), and, most relevant to the interest of the current thesis, on the differential encoding and integration of song components themselves and the cerebral substrate of memory for songs.

Pioneering behavioral work (Crowder et al., 1990; Serafine et al., 1984, 1986) addressed for the first time the issue of verbal and musical integration in relation to memory. These authors set up a series of experiments in which a list of songs had to be memorized and then recognized among other songs that were manipulated in different ways. In the first study (Serafine et al., 1984), songs in the recognition test were either exactly the same as those in the study phase (*original songs*), new songs with new lyrics and new melodies, songs with old lyrics but new melodies, songs with old melodies but new lyrics, or songs with old melodies combined with old lyrics of a different song (*mismatch* or *rearranged songs*). Their results showed that lyrics and melodies were better recognized when they were tested in the original song context in which they were presented than when tested in rearranged songs. Importantly, the familiarity associated to both elements was identical in the original and rearranged songs, which argues in favor of a memory advantage of an integrated song representation. Furthermore, melodies were shown to be near chance unless presented with the original lyrics, which indicates that melody recognition depended on lyrics more than lyric recognition depends on melodies.

These results have been found to remain consistent even when songs from the recognition test were sung by a singer different to that in the study phase, and also when participants were asked to make an explicit effort to retain the melody (Serafine et al., 1984, Exp. 2). Similar results have been yielded in later experiments with nonsense words, which indicates that semantic connotations are not responsible for this lyric-melody integration (Serafine et al., 1986, Exp. 1). Based on this result, the authors formulate an alternative interpretation of a superior memory for an integrated representation, namely, that a decrement in memory for melody and words presented in the rearranged condition could be caused by the distracting wrong context. However, melodies were equally recognized in the rearranged condition and when presented without words (hummed melodies), refuting the decrement hypothesis. Furthermore melodies were better recognized in the *original* song than when presented without words, arguing in favor of a superior memory for an integrated 46

b. Music and language integration in songs.

representation (Serafine et al., 1986, Exp. 2). The same results were found for lyrics recognition (Serafine et al., 1986, Exp. 3). Altogether, these experiments have provided strong evidence for an integration effect, a tendency for lyrics and melodies to be better recognized when presented in the original melody or lyric context respectively.

To examine a variety of explanations for this integration effect, Crowder et al. (1990) tested two different hypotheses. First, the "*physical interaction hypothesis*" posits that one element exerts subtle physical changes in the other, making its representation more distinctive than if it were presented with a different combination. To test this, they used songs with nonsense words and phonological deviants of these words to explore whether melody recognition is improved by the phonological similarity of the lyrics with which the melody has being studied, or in different words by submelodical information added to the memory trace. Their results support this hypothesis; melodies within *original songs* were better recognized than *rearranged songs*, even when using nonsense words and their phonological deviants.

Second, the "association by contiguity hypothesis" proposes that the co-occurrence of stimuli build up an association, which may be responsible for the memory benefit in spite of an integrated representation. To this end, they presented hummed melodies simultaneously with spoken texts and compared their memorability when in a recognition test with songs and a recognition test with hummed melodies with spoken texts. Melody recognition was superior for original than for mismatch songs regardless of recognition test type, suggesting that the joint storage of elements, forming paired associates, can facilitate encoding. However, it is difficult to rule out the fact that participants may have created song-like integrated representations from the presented material. The authors underline the influence of temporal contiguity on encoding, examining the co-occurrence of various factors that may support the reported integration effect. In sum, these results suggested that integration could be attributed to an integrated representation (Crowder et al., 1990, Exp. 1 and 2), but also to associations between independent elements (Crowder et al., 1990, Exp. 3).

Utilizing a different approach based on the idea of divided attention (also see Bonnel et al., 2001), Racette and Peretz (2007) investigated the effects of learning unfamiliar lyrics by singing them, speaking them or in a divided condition in which lyrics were spoken but accompanied by music. In contrast with the integrative view of memory for songs, their

Chapter 2: Song processing

results showed lyrics and melodies to have a different representation in memory, which leads to impairment in the dual task (learning the lyrics and the melodies together by singing). The authors suggests, perhaps counterintuitively, that one should not sing when wanting to learn lyrics of new songs. However, this may also imply that a second level of processing – binding – may be required for the emergence of an integrated memory trace of the song when the elements are presented separately (spoken lyrics with accompanied music). This integrated representation could then be used for recognition.

Priming paradigms present another exploited way of investigating song memory. Research has demonstrated bidirectional and automatic cuing effects of lyrics over melodies and vice versa in familiar songs (Johnson and Halpern, 2012; Peretz et al., 2004a; Peynircioglu et al., 2008). In particular, Peretz and colleagues (2004a) argue against the temporal contiguity hypothesis, since reversed prime-target sequences were still able to result in an enhanced recognition. Peynirciogly and colleagues (2008) further explored this effect by looking at asymmetries between memory for lyrics and melodies that could weight their contribution to the final integrated memory trace. In their study, cueing effects of lyrics, melodies and titles of songs amongst one other were investigated using familiar songs. Their results showed that titles and melodies were easier to remember than lyrics. Although this advantage of melody over lyrics is at odds with the other studies on this issue (Crowder et al., 1990; Peretz et al., 2004a; Serafine et al., 1986), the authors suggest that this may be related to the use of very familiar songs in their study (as opposed to novel or unfamiliar songs) and the implementation of recall tests instead of recognition tests. Their results resonate with the popular impression that melodies are more often brought to mind than lyrics when recalling a song. Overall, melodies and titles were easier to remember than lyrics, but lyrics were in turn better cues. In other words, although less easy to remember, lyrics evoked melodies more often than melodies or titles evoked lyrics. This evidence suggest an integrated representation of songs, since titles – information that is not necessarily within the perceptual representation of the song, but rather label it – were not as efficient as lyrics in cueing melodies.

An alternative factor that can account, however, for this effect, is that melodies are often repeated several times over changing lyrics within a song. Such repetitive exposure may strength the memory trace for the melody in the long term, resulting in the reported recall advantage. On the other hand, the primacy of linguistic processing, for which very subtle differences are coded automatically, may explain the advantage of lyrics over melodies when 48

b. Music and language integration in songs.

novel songs are learned and in recognition. Observations in expert musicians, who process music in a high analytic level – in a similar way as language is commonly processed – point to this idea (Tervaniemi et al., 2001; Williamson et al., 2010).

It is worth noting that the studies discussed here differ qualitatively from other studies looking at source memory in which memory for words/sentences is studied in different auditory environments including music. Although those studies also delve into music and language associations, they differ to song events, as they may not result in a bound representation that merges all the information in a unified percept. However, some of the results from the interplay of verbal and musical information may be applicable to the context of song memory.

Music background has been shown to facilitate verbal encoding as compared to silence (Ferreri et al., 2013). The authors link this effect to the richness of the encoding environment, which would be responsible for the reduced demand on the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Extrapolating this finding to song research, sung lyrics could be understood as richer stimuli than spoken lyrics, and thus, a similar benefit could be found for song encoding as compared to spoken text. This idea is able to accommodate data from Alzheimer's disease patients showing that, although the initial learning of the text was easier when only spoken, sung lyrics produce more robust consolidation of verbal memory than spoken lyrics alone (Moussard et al., 2012). A similar benefit on memory for sung as compared to spoken presentation of the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (RAVLT) has been recently reported in patients with multiple sclerosis (Thaut et al., 2014), further suggesting that songs boost deep encoding with consequent benefits on verbal memory. Studies on song memory in patients with temporal lobe lesions will be revised in the following section.

Studies with patients

Despite the vast evidence for the integrated processing of songs in healthy participants, data from lesion studies supporting independent processes cannot be dismissed. One of the most well-described examples of dissociation between music and language processing has come from the study of individuals with acquired or congenital musical impairment (amusia) as compared to patients with aphasia (McChesney-Atkins et al., 2003; Peretz et al., 2004b; Terao et al., 2006; Tillmann et al., 2009; Peretz et al., 2012). Notably for the study of memory, patients with temporal lobe damage have revealed there to be

Chapter 2: Song processing

dissociations in the recognition of lyrics and melodies in songs (Hébert and Peretz, 2001; Samson and Zatorre, 1991).

Borrowing the paradigm from Serafine and colleagues (Serafine et al., 1984, 1986; Crowder et al., 1990), Samson and Zatorre (1991) assessed song recognition in patients after surgical removal of the anterior temporal lobe for the relief of intractable temporal lobe epilepsy. Recognition of songs as well as recognition of lyrics and melodies were tested in patients with left and right temporal lobe lesions as well as healthy controls. Songs and song elements had to be recognized within different kinds of songs: the *original* studied songs, songs with old lyrics and new melodies, old melodies and new lyrics, new songs, and old lyrics rearranged with old melodies from a different studied song. Comparisons between these conditions allowed the testing of the memory for each element as well as for their integrated representation.

The results showed impaired recognition of lyrics in patients with left temporal lobe lesions while recognition of sung melodies was shown to be impaired following right or left temporal lobe lesions. These data suggested that memory for lyrics depends on the left temporal lobe in line with the predominant role of the left hemisphere in verbal processing.

Nevertheless, two pieces of evidence also supported integration in this study (Samson and Zatorre, 1991). First, the significantly better recognition of *original* songs than *rearranged* songs, and second, the better recognition of melodies in *original* songs than in *rearranged* songs. However, words were similarly recognized in both conditions, which suggests that although text and melody are at some level integrated in memory for songs, words have some independence from the melody.

However, a caveat of this study lies on the small number of original (n=4) and rearranged (n=4) songs used in the recognition task and the precision of patients' resections. Lesions extended over the lateral and the medial temporal lobe areas. Thus, it was difficult to identify the regions responsible for these effects, despite the authors did not find differences between resection limited to the anterior part of the MTL and resection extending to include large portion of the hippocampus in this particular sample. Anterior structures to Heschl's gyrus and the hippocampus, such as the amygdala or temporal pole were always removed, but

the hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus and Heschl's gyrus were resected to different amounts.

Unfortunately, to our knowledge this is the only study that has looked at memory for songs in a temporal lobe damaged population. However few other studies have investigated memory for music (Samson and Zatorre, 1992; Samson and Peretz, 2005; Wilson and Sailing, 2008). Although strong conclusions to song memory could not be directly extrapolated from studies on music without words, evidence from this research justify the study of the role of the right and left MTL structures in memory for song elements, an issue that is at the core of the current work.

Samson and Peretz (2005) assessed the effect of MTL lesions in musical preference and implicit recognition. Prior exposure to music has been shown to increase preference, an implicit memory effect that is not necessarily linked to explicit memory recognition (Peretz et al., 1998). Accordingly, both patient groups show explicit recognition deficit as compared to controls, confirming previous findings reported in Samson and Zatorre (1992). However, only controls and patients with left lateralized lesions preferred studied versus non-studied melodies, whereas patients with right lateralized lesions did not show this implicit exposure effect. This data supports the independence and right lateralization of music, as it suggests that right temporal structures play a decisive role both in priming and memory recognition of musical excerpts.

In another study, Wilson and Sailing (2008) examined the differential contributions of the right and left MTL for musical processing. Recognition memory was measured using two melodic learning tasks: one with tonal pairs and another one with non-tonal pairs. Results showed that both groups of hippocampal sclerosis patients had difficulties with non-tonal pairs but only the patients with right lesions showed a deficit in tonal pair learning, in line with those of Samson and Peretz (2005). This evidence suggests that the right hippocampus may be preferentially involved in melodic learning within a familiar music (tonal) context. Conversely, left hippocampus deficits suggest that this structure may be more engaged pitch interval processing.

Chapter 3: Binding songs - Aim of the thesis and research questions.

a. Aim of the thesis

The aim of this thesis is to investigate the binding of lyrics and melodies during listening and encoding of songs. As argued previously in this introduction, the relevance of addressing this issue goes well beyond music cognition itself, having on the one hand strong theoretical implications on the current memory models stressing the binding function, and on the other hand, on the use of music, particularly songs, to promote cognitive health in people with memory problems.

Although binding is not supposed to be modality-specific, most of the data on which memory models have been built come from the visual domain. This thesis proposes an original approach: applying binding principles to song memory. Therefore, it accounts for a strong auditory (temporal) component for binding that has been systematically neglected in the past. From this novel viewpoint, functional responses of MTL structures to song perception and encoding were investigated. Furthermore, an extended mechanism for binding concerning auditory information is proposed in which other structures involved in timing, sequencing and audio-motor coupling may cooperate with the hippocampus to support binding when auditory stimuli are involved.

Songs were chosen for the study of binding based on the ecological validity of the integration of verbal and musical features, but also based on the relevance of verbal memory in regard to re-education programs. Despite a number of studies that have recently highlighted the possible benefits of music for cognitive re-education in people with memory problems (Baird and Samson, 2014; Clément et al., 2012; Moussard et al., 2012; Narme et al., 2014; Palisson and Narme, in press; Särkämö et al., 2014; Thaut et al., 2014; for a review see Baird and Samson, 2015; McDermott et al., 2013; Raglio et al., 2012; Ueda et al., 2013; see also Annex B), research remains insufficient to describe the brain mechanisms that may underlie such benefits. In this sense, this thesis attempts to maintain an applied prospective goal, with the idea that better understanding of music binding processes may help us to improve the

Chapter 3: Binding songs - Aim of the thesis and research questions.

assessment and support of people with memory problems, as for instance temporal lobe epilepsy patients, dementia patients, or elderly people presenting cognitive decline. Specifically, the present research focuses on the role of the MTL on binding lyrics and melodies following the presentation of new unfamiliar songs.

b. The key research questions

It may be argued that it is increasingly important for studies examining the nature of songs to investigate the integration of lyrics and melodies at different levels of cognition if they aim to capture the complexity of the emergence of a song memory trace. The study of binding in other domains has determined a role for the MTL in such integrative processes, from perception to memory, that give rise to the encoding of a unified objects or event percept. To examine the MTL role on the binding aspects of song memories, three main questions were addressed in this thesis.

The first research question "*Can a hippocampus lesion disrupt the integrated percept of new unfamiliar songs*?" focuses on the effects of hippocampal sclerosis on perceptual binding in songs as attested by neural adaptation to song repetitions (**study 1**). Adaptation patterns to lyrics, melodies, and an integrated representation of song in patients were compared to healthy controls.

The second "Is the hippocampus involved in binding lyrics and melodies for the encoding of songs? What other structures may also be involved?" and third research questions "Is there a difference between unified and separate presentation of lyrics and melody for song encoding?" were then addressed by **study 2**. The second research question of this thesis evaluated the involvement of the hippocampus during song encoding and the additional implication of other brain structures in this particular form of binding. Building on this, the third research question formulated a differential involvement of the hippocampus and the new purposed structures following the separate or unified presentation of lyrics and melodies during encoding.

Finally, the fourth research question "*How does a temporal lobe lesion including the hippocampus affect song recognition?*" raises the impact of temporal lobe lesions including

the hippocampus on song recognition (**study 3**). The song recognition task from **study 2** was adapted to test patients behaviorally on the binding of lyrics with their melodic context as compared to a healthy control group.

These research questions will be now briefly introduced before being described in further detail in the forthcoming chapters of the experimental part of the thesis.

i. Perceptual binding of songs – Can a hippocampus lesion disrupt the integrated percept of new unfamiliar songs?

Songs form unified representations that combine lyrics and melodies. Research in song perception has described a network involving the temporal lobe cortex, SMA and the cerebellum. Although some perceptual aspects of lyrics and melodies are processed independently, few studies in healthy participants have shown that posterior areas of the STG support the integrated percept of songs. In other words, an auditory object emerges from the perceptual binding of lyrics and melodies that is different from the two components taken in isolation. However, the mechanisms allowing for the representational binding of these two song components during song perception remain unclear.

According to the binding literature, the hippocampus is engaged in binding stimulus features into a single percept, and this may also be the case for the binding of lyrics and melodies. To address this issue, we investigated cerebral responses of patients with hippocampal sclerosis to song repetitions in an fMR-adaptation paradigm previously used with healthy participants (Sammler et al., 2010). This paradigm was chosen because it is based on the interface between memory and perception, tapping therefore into the emergence of a representation that can become a memory trace. This process is thought to rely on the MTL function, which is damaged in our patient population.

Nevertheless, the key role of the hippocampus in song perceptual binding remains to be tested and is an important outstanding issue, which the current thesis seeks to address.

Chapter 3: Binding songs - Aim of the thesis and research questions.

ii. Memory binding for songs (fMRI) – Is the hippocampus involved in binding lyrics and melodies for the encoding of songs? What other structures may also be involved?

Songs naturally bind lyrics and melody into a unified representation. Nevertheless, although learning and remembering songs is rather common, the cerebral bases underlying binding for lyrics and melodies have received little attention.

Based on studies in non-musical domains, the MTL structures are here delineated as suitable candidates to support lyrics and melodies binding. However, when incorporating important variables that affect audition, and particularly music, such as temporal dynamics, a larger network including the IFG, basal ganglia and cerebellum may be involved in song binding.

The present thesis supports and discusses the role of the hippocampus in binding lyrics and melodies for song encoding. However, it also argues for the involvement of other structures such as the basal ganglia, the cerebellum and the angular gyrus, which seem to be important for the binding of auditory information.

iii. Memory binding for songs (fMRI) – Is there a difference between unified and separate presentation of lyrics and melody for song encoding?

To address binding of lyrics and melodies for song encoding, we compared BOLD signal changes during subsequent encoding of songs under unified and separate conditions. In both conditions, participants were instructed to generate mental images of the songs and to rehearse them covertly until the next trial. BOLD signal during encoding was analyzed using a GLM and a parametric approach taking subsequent memory for each encoding trial into account. Furthermore, correlations between brain activity and memory performance overall in the regions of interest (MTL subregions, IFG, and basal ganglia) were examined.

Based on previous findings in the visual literature (Staresina and Davachi, 2009), we hypothesize that the separate presentation of lyrics and melodies for song encoding (separate condition) will require a higher involvement of the hippocampus than the unified presentation (unified condition), since the integrated unified representation is not initially given and 56

instead needs to be created. Beside the general mechanisms for song binding assessed by the first question, this issue is interesting in itself. Since during both conditions participants are covertly rehearsing a song, differences between conditions are mainly driven by the stimuli presentation characteristics and the consequent differences in the generation of a song representation.

On one hand, the unified presentation provides a richer auditory object that may facilitate encoding and retention. It is worth noting that, at this level of processing, unification of verbal information has been reported in Broca's area. If the weight of lyrics is such, that melodies are processed as a characteristic of the lyrics, then encoding of binding for unified songs may be at least partially sustained by the left inferior frontal lobe.

On the other hand, the separate presentation requires higher cognitive demands, since the integrated representation need to be created online by participants. Therefore, we expected the separate condition to require greater activation of several brain areas including the hippocampus, the striatum and the inferior parietal lobe, as opposed to passive binding.

Comparing these two conditions, the current thesis seeks to explore the binding of song elements from two different stimulation perspectives, highlighting the qualitative difference between a unified song and the mere combination of lyrics and melodies from the same song.

iv. Memory binding for songs (Neuropsychology) – How does a temporal lesion including the hippocampus affect song recognition?

For a song to be remembered, lyrics and melodies need to be bound into a unified mental representation. A vast number of studies have shown that memory-binding processes are related to hippocampal function. However, the role of the hippocampus in the binding of songs remained to be established. To complement the previous fMRI study, we conducted a neuropsychological study that investigates the effects of unilateral temporal lobe lesions including the hippocampus on binding lyrics with their melodic context in memory. Patients with right (RTL) or left (LTL) temporal lobe lesions were tested in a song recognition task, in which original songs had to be recognized among rearranged songs (wrong combination of

Chapter 3: Binding songs - Aim of the thesis and research questions.

old melodies with old lyrics from another studied song), and new-lyrics songs (new lyrics with old melodies). Given that both old lyrics and old melodies were presented in original and rearranged songs, this paradigm allows for the specific examination of binding by comparing recognition of these two types of songs. Based on results form **study 2**, and previous studies with similar patients (Samson and Zatorre, 1991), a deficit in lyrics recognition was expected for LTL, whereas a deficit in binding lyrics with the memory context was predicted for both LTL and RTL. Results are discussed in light of previous neuroimaging findings and theoretical contexts that favor the specific contribution of the hippocampus in binding lyrics and melodies in songs. Further by accompanying neuroimaging investigations on healthy participants with this neuropsychological assessment of patients, the current thesis seeks to provide a rich account of song memory binding.

Experimental part

Chapter 4: General methodological considerations

Although the specific methods used for each experiment will be described in detail for each study in the specific correspondent chapter, here general methodological considerations that apply to the whole of this work are drawn. I will provide a brief background on our patient population, temporal lobe epilepsy patients, and the neuroimaging methods used, namely functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI). This section will introduce fMRadaptation, the subsequent memory paradigm and the logic of the region of interest (ROI) analysis. Additionally the instrumental use of song imagery for the study of binding will be discussed.

a. Medically intractable temporal lobe epilepsy

Temporal lobe epilepsy is a common neurological disorder characterized by seizures arising from the MTL, most of the times with the epileptogenic focus in the hippocampus. Thirty percent of the epilepsy are refractory to the pharmacological treatment, and therefore, candidate for surgical removal of the epileptic focus. These resections are very successful to control seizures, which in turn can ameliorate the general cognitive performance by eliminating distal negative influence from the epileptogenic area and medication. Nevertheless, loss of the damaged area of the MTL and the disruption of certain connections can be responsible for memory impairment.

Advancement and development of new techniques that could assess different cognitive functions affected by the area to be removed in presurgical candidates, are required to improve prediction of surgical outcome to better evaluate the possible benefits of this treatment and to plan rehabilitation strategies (Dupont et al., 2010; Baxendale, 2008 Helmstaedter et al., 2008). In the present thesis, we examined patients with unilateral temporal lobe lesion before and after the surgical treatment of their epilepsy.

Chapter 4: General methodological considerations

i. Pre-op

Patients that have participated prior to the operation help us to understand the impairments already produced by the epileptic activity, in our case, always associated with hippocampal sclerosis that resulted in a considerable reduction of hippocampus volume and function. Although the lesion in this population is in someway more localized, it is worth to keep in mind that the epileptic activity can damage also the connection between regions, thus affecting distal areas that have no apparent lesion (Besson et al., 2014). Thus, any result concerning this patients needs to be cautiously interpreted.



Figure 8. Network based statistics from Besson and colleagues (2014). Diminished connectivity strength in left TLE (A) and right TLE (B) as compared with control subjects with regard to the largest coherent cluster. Decreased connectivity in left TLE with respect to right TLE patients (C). The direct comparison yielded a fronto-temporal network component disconnected in left TLE. Black lines, representing diminished connectivity strength between nodes, form an interconnected cluster. (p < 0.05 FDR corrected).

b.

fMRI

ii. Post-op

The assessment of patients after the operation, gives a different insight. The surgical removal in the patients that participated in our studies, always included the hippocampus, but other areas of the medial and anterior temporal lobe. The evaluation of patients with right or left MTL resection helps us to look at lateralization differences in hippocampus-temporal lobe function, and also on the assessment of the remaining functions after the operation.

The lesion studies involving temporal lobe epilepsy patients examined during pre or post surgical evaluation, not only give us hints on the function of the damage areas, but also about the remaining capacities that can later serve the patients for re-education of some of the impaired functions.

b. fMRI

Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI) is non-invasive neuroimaging technique that allows the visualization of brain activity during different behavioral tasks. The experiments in the current thesis have being carried out in an MRI scanner that generates a magnetic field of 3 Tesla field strength.

The oxygen in the blood is susceptible to this magnetic field. Nuclei of H_2O atoms in the blood will align with the magnetic field. The MRI machine measures this directional change. When a region in the brain is active, neuronal activity triggers metabolic consumption, increasing the blood flow and thus the intensity of the measured signal. The brain regions are activated by different tasks, such as for instance, listening to music. Cognitive neuroscience measures the involvement of brain regions in a variety of behavioral tasks indirectly though blood oxygenation level dependent (BOLD) changes.

We use fMRI during listening and encoding songs to identify regions engaged in processing lyrics, melodies and the integration of them in perception and memory. Although the detailed methods used for each experiment will be specified in the "methods" section of each study in the following chapters, here I describe a brief background on the two main paradigms that will be used, namely fMR-adaptation and subsequent recognition.

Chapter 4: General methodological considerations

i. fMRI adaptation

As described by Grill-Spector et al. (2006), adaptation is a reduction of neural activity following prolonged or repetitive exposure to identical or at least similar stimuli. Neural adaptation or repetition suppression (Krekelberg et al., 2006) is a neuroimaging effect similar to repetition priming (Old vs. New stimuli), but requires a successive presentation of changed or unchanged stimuli (Same vs. Different stimuli) (Dobbins et al., 2004; Ganel et al., 2006). The adaptation effect expressed by a reduction of activation mainly in cortical structures has been mostly used to study perception (Grill-Spector and Malach, 2001). However, the repeated presentation of a stimulus has also a mnemonic impact that can induce adaptation within MTL structures (Henson, 2003). This procedure, which is particularly well suited to explore the cortical network underlying the processing of lyrics and melodies in songs, was adapted to music for the first time by Sammler and colleagues (2010).



Figure 9. Schematic illustration of neural adaptation for color and shape. A cluster of neurons in a voxel that is sensitive to color (upper row) would reduce its activity following the repeated presentation of the same color. A cluster of neurons in a voxel that is sensitive to shape would reduce its activity following the repeated presentation of the same shape.

fMRI

Adaptation paradigms have been widely applied in the visual field to explore adaptation with pictures (Blondin and Lepage, 2005; Goh et al., 2007; Grill-Spector and Malach, 2001), faces (Grill-Spector and Malach, 2001; Johnson et al., 2004; Sperling et al., 2003; Winston, 2004) and words (Chee et al., 2003; Chee, 2009; Noppeney and Price, 2004). In the auditory domain, fMR-adaptation paradigms have been used to investigate reduction of cortical activity using environmental sounds (Bergerbest et al., 2004), spoken language (Dehaene-Lambertz et al., 2006; Klein et al., 2006; Santi and Grodzinsky, 2010), voices (Belin and Zatorre, 2003), and songs (Sammler et al., 2010).

ii. Subsequent memory paradigm

The subsequent memory paradigm is one of the most widely used paradigms to address episodic encoding with fMRI (Brewer et al., 1998; Kim et al., 2011; Wagner et al., 1998). The main assumption of this paradigm is that differences in brain activity during encoding predict later success during the recognition test. Consequently, recognition scores can be used to sort and compare encoding trials, showing brain correlates of successful encoding, or as traditionally named "difference due to memory". Although originally developed to analyze ERPs (Paller et al., 1987), the subsequent recognition paradigm was soon applied to fMRI (Brewer et al., 1998; Wagner et al., 1998) and remains one of the most powerful and successful tools to address encoding (Paller and Wagner, 2002).

The experimental procedure following this paradigm includes two main phases: a study or encoding phase, and a test or recognition phase. During the study phase, participants are scanned while studying a series of stimuli for a latter recognition test. During the test phase, participants have to recognize studied stimuli among other new lures, and therefore they classify stimuli as old or new. The most relevant innovation of this procedure is that then, recognition responses for the studied material are used to backsort trials for the analysis of BOLD signal changes in the study phase. Trials of items that were later correctly recognized become "subsequently remembered" trials, and those that are missed become "subsequently forgotten" trials. The comparison of BOLD changes between subsequently remembered trials and subsequently forgotten trials displays the "difference due to memory", or as it is more often reported successful encoding effects (Brewer et al., 1998; Davachi and

Chapter 4: General methodological considerations

Wagner, 2002; Fletcher et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2011; Kirchhoff et al., 2000; Morcom et al., 2003; Otten et al., 2001; Rypma and D'Esposito, 2003; Wagner et al., 1998).

For example, in the study phase of a subsequent memory paradigm as applied by Staresina and Davachi (2009), participants were presented with images of one of four colors in different conditions: "a red mug", "a blue shirt" "a green grape cluster", etc. Following the study phase, participants had to complete a recognition test in which those objects were presented along with other new objects. Participants had to judge if the objects presented during recognition were new or old, then, if "old", they had to identify the color that was associated with each object, and finally give a confidence rating of their response. When a subject correctly classifies "a mug" as old, it becomes a subsequently remembered trial. Conversely, when a subject incorrectly judges "a shirt" as new, it becomes a subsequently forgotten trial. The neural activity elicited by the presentation of "a mug" along with all other subsequently remembered items and "a shirt" along with all other subsequently forgotten triat the study phase is then compared and the successful encoding effect is derived from this comparison.

It is worth mentioning that this example intentionally includes a second level of encoding: besides the subsequent memory for the object, there is also the subsequent memory for the binding of it with its context. To this extent, the authors show that successful encoding engages the hippocampus to a greater extent when the contextual information of an item is bonded in the memory trace. The role of confidence ratings here is to provide putative weighting of the recognition by which high confidence correct responses are interpreted as a result of recollection, whereas low confidence ratings remain less interpretable as they may be confounded by familiarity processes. Therefore, most studies keep high confidence correct items as "subsequent recognized trials" and keep low confidence correct items as and even sometimes as "subsequently forgotten" trials. However, a caveat on this approach is that people use different responding style, being more or less conservative, so confidence responses may have been given in a different basis than the recollection/familiarity assumption.

From a behavioral standpoint, the combination of accuracy and confidence of recognition responses has been used to provide a more sensitive analysis of recognition, assuming that higher confidence may also respond to a stronger or richer memory. To compute this combined measure, the principles of signal detection have been applied to recognition using Receiving Operating Curves (ROCs) (Yonelinas et al., 1996, Yonelinas and Park, 2007). The area under the curve (AUC) can be then used as a dimensional measure of recognition success (Yonelinas and Park, 2007). In the presented work, an innovative tempt to combine this two approaches has been done by including a parametric analysis of fMRI encoding data on the basis of AUCs (see **Chapter 6**).

iii. Region of interest (ROI) analysis

Statistical analysis within Statistic Parametric Maps (SPM) is based on a statistic test on every single voxel of the brain. Thus, the likelihood of finding a false positive difference, namely the Type I error, is very high given the great number of tests. When the hypotheses of a research question are anatomically constrain, it is becoming regular to apply a region of interest (ROI) approach. This analysis delineates the regions of the brain that are of interest for the hypothesis that will be tested, and restricts the statistical test to those regions. Beta values within that given region are averaged, thus significantly reducing the number of tests as compared to the single voxel approach of SPMs.

ROIs are often drawn on anatomically defined regions, although they can also be confined to specific areas previously selected by the experimenter for their functional involvement in an independent study or analysis. Thus, it is assumed that the activity within the ROI will respond to the same function, justifying in this way the joint analysis of all voxels within the region. Consequently, the ROI analysis allows a more sensitive exploration of relevant areas controlling for Type I error (Poldrack, 2007).

c. Song imagery

In the present scientific work, song imagery will be more a tool than an object of investigation itself. Imagery will be used to study the encoding of songs, based on the evidence presented in **Chapter 1**.

Although the mere existence of imagery was traditionally a source of debate in psychology (Watson, 1913), the cerebral substrate of imagery has been increasingly explored during the last three decades thanks to cognitive neuroscience and neuroimaging methods

Chapter 4: General methodological considerations

(Behrmann, 2000; Kosslyn et al., 2001). When characterized as a mental representation, aspects of imagery have been compared to perception, and indeed, similar brain networks have been shown to be active during both processes (Halpern, 2001; King, 2006; Kosslyn et al., 2001; Vlek et al., 2011). Mental imagery has been shown to recruit similar areas to those activated by a perceptual correlate. For instance, Kosslyn and collaborators (1997) found that perception and imagery of visual stimuli overlaps in around two thirds of the recruited areas. However, perception and imagery also differ in certain aspects, as it suggested by double dissociations found in neuropsychological assessment of brain damaged patients (Bartolomeo et al., 1998; Bartolomeo, 2002; Behrmann et al., 1992, 1994).

In perception, the stimuli are physically present, whereas its absence defines mental imagery. From a computational perspective, the first relies more on a bottom-up process whereas the latter relies on a top-down process. Thus, perception requires low-level organization processing while imagery needs information from memory and requires a bigger cognitive effort (Bartolomeo, 2002). This idea is coherent with the greater activation observed during imagery, of areas such as the hippocampus or the inferior frontal gyrus, or other multimodal associative areas highly linked to the limbic lobe such as the angular gyrus or the supramagial cortex (Ishai et al., 2002).

From another viewpoint, imagery has also been compared to memory, since retaining information, as is done by working memory, or remembering past events, requires some sort of mental re-experience of that memory trace (Hassabis et al., 2007; Martin et al., 2011; Race et al., 2011; Slotnick et al., 2012). For instance if you were to remember your last holiday abroad, you would probably experience some visual scenes and "re-experience" aspects of the journey, as if you were imagining that particular place. Similarly if you were asked to recall the song "imagine" by John Lennon, you could probably listen to it in your head.

It is worth noting that different modalities of imagery require different networks in the same way that they lie on different perceptual and memory systems that may at the same time be stimulus specific, such as memory for faces, verbal memory, or procedural memory. For instance, motor imagery has shown to activate parietal cortex, premotor cortex, primary cortex, and supplementary motor cortex (Filimon et al., 2007) in mental rotation tasks.

One advantage of imagery is that participants are not required to produce the images they recall. That is, that one can imagine the Colosseum in Rome while being unable to draw it, or the aria Nessun Dorma without being able to successfully sing it, because that experience of imagination is closer to perception (or is somewhere in between) than production. Of course, a more profound degree of knowledge of the detail of the imagined object would result in more vivid mental imagery, so expertise could be a factor that enhances the degree of "re-experience" produced by mental imagery, also in music (Herholz et al., 2008).

In this sense, the ability of mental imagery provides us with the capacity to create representations of previously experienced representations, but furthermore, also never experienced or realistically impossible, such as, for instance, imagining a purple elephant. This last characteristic makes imagination suitable for the study of the binding function.

Chapter 5: Hippocampal sclerosis affects fMRadaptation of lyrics and melodies in songs.

Hippocampal sclerosis affects fMR-adaptation of lyrics and melodies in songs

Irene Alonso^{1,2,3,4}, Daniela Sammler⁵, Romain Valabrègue^{3,4}, Vera Dinkelacker^{2,4}, Sophie Dupont^{2,4}, Pascal Belin^{6,7} & Séverine Samson^{1,2}

¹Laboratoire de Neurosciences Fonctionnelles et Pathologies (EA 4559), Université Lille-Nord de France (France)

² Epilepsy Unit, Hôpital de la Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

³ Centre de NeuroImagerie de Recherche (CENIR), Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

⁴ Centre de Recherche de l'Institut du Cerveau et de la Moëlle Épinière (CRICM), UPMC -UMR 7225 CNRS - UMRS 975 INSERM, Paris, France

⁵ Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Leipzig, Germany

⁶ Centre for Cognitive Neuroimaging, Department of Psychology, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, UK

⁷ Laboratories for Brain, Music and Sound (BRAMS), Université de Montréal & McGill University, Montréal, Quebec, Canada

Published in 2014, *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8, 111. DOI: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00111



Hippocampal sclerosis affects fMR-adaptation of lyrics and melodies in songs

Irene Alonso^{1,2,3,4}, Daniela Sammler⁵, Romain Valabrègue^{3,4}, Vera Dinkelacker^{2,4}, Sophie Dupont^{2,4}, Pascal Belin^{6,78} and Séverine Samson^{1,2 *}

¹ Laboratoire de Neurosciences Fonctionnelles et Pathologies (EA 4559), Université Lille-Nord de France, Lille, France

² Epilepsy Unit, Hôpital de la Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

³ Centre de Neurolmagerie de Recherche, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

⁴ Centre de Recherche de l'Institut du Cerveau et de la Moëlle Épinière, UPMC – UMR 7225 CNRS – UMRS 975 INSERM, Paris, France

⁵ Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Leipzig, Germany

⁶ Centre for Cognitive Neuroimaging, Department of Psychology, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, UK

⁷ Laboratories for Brain, Music and Sound, Université de Montréal and McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

⁸ Institut des Neurosciences de la Timone, UMR7289, CNRS-Université Aix Marseille, Marseille, France

Edited by:

Eckart Altenmüller, University of Music and Drama Hannover, Germany

Reviewed by:

Stephan Schuele, Northwestern University, USA Kathrin Wagner, University Hospital Freiburg, Germany

*Correspondence:

Séverine Samson, Department of Psychology, University of Lille 3, BP 60 149, 59653 Villeneuve d'Ascq Cedex, France e-mail: severine.samson@ univ-lille3.fr

Songs constitute a natural combination of lyrics and melodies, but it is unclear whether and how these two song components are integrated during the emergence of a memory trace. Network theories of memory suggest a prominent role of the hippocampus, together with unimodal sensory areas, in the build-up of conjunctive representations. The present study tested the modulatory influence of the hippocampus on neural adaptation to songs in lateral temporal areas. Patients with unilateral hippocampal sclerosis and healthy matched controls were presented with blocks of short songs in which lyrics and/or melodies were varied or repeated in a crossed factorial design. Neural adaptation effects were taken as correlates of incidental emergent memory traces. We hypothesized that hippocampal lesions, particularly in the left hemisphere, would weaken adaptation effects, especially the integration of lyrics and melodies. Results revealed that lateral temporal lobe regions showed weaker adaptation to repeated lyrics as well as a reduced interaction of the adaptation effects for lyrics and melodies in patients with left hippocampal sclerosis. This suggests a deficient build-up of a sensory memory trace for lyrics and a reduced integration of lyrics with melodies, compared to healthy controls. Patients with right hippocampal sclerosis showed a similar profile of results although the effects did not reach significance in this population. We highlight the finding that the integrated representation of lyrics and melodies typically shown in healthy participants is likely tied to the integrity of the left medial temporal lobe. This novel finding provides the first neuroimaging evidence for the role of the hippocampus during repetitive exposure to lyrics and melodies and their integration into a song.

Keywords: neural adaptation, song, lyrics, hippocampal sclerosis, memory trace, conjunctive representation

INTRODUCTION

As humans, we learn and enjoy songs from a very early age on. Over the course of our lives, we hear and remember thousands of songs and, most of the time, we learn them implicitly without much effort especially after repeated presentations (as with hit songs on the radio). Songs naturally combine music and language into a unique acoustic signal. However, it remains unclear whether memory traces of lyrics and melodies are built separately or in integration. Indeed, evidence from healthy participants and brain-damaged patients diverge on this question. On the one hand, several behavioral studies in healthy participants support the tight association of lyrics and melodies during the creation of a song memory trace as shown by cueing effects of one element on the other during song recognition (Serafine et al., 1984, 1986; Crowder et al., 1990; Baur et al., 2000; Peretz et al., 2004; Peynircioglu et al., 2008; Johnson and Halpern, 2012). On the other hand, neuropsychological studies in patients with lesions in the medial or lateral temporal lobes reveal dissociated recognition impairments for verbal and musical features of songs (Samson and Zatorre, 1991; Hébert and Peretz, 2001). These results suggest that the natural binding of lyrics and melodies into one unique song memory trace may be disrupted after brain damage. The present study seeks to find neural evidence for this hypothesis by investigating the effect of hippocampal damage on the emergence of integrated memory traces for lyrics and melodies during repeated exposure to songs.

Research over the last two decades testifies to a growing awareness that the hippocampus – beyond its classical role in explicit episodic memory (Scoville and Milner, 1957; Mishkin, 1982; Zola-Morgan and Squire, 1993) – plays a role in the implicit build-up of a memory trace (Chun and Phelps, 1999; Graham et al., 2010) and the bridging between perception and encoding (Bussey and Saksida, 2005; Baxter, 2009; Suzuki, 2009; Suzuki and Baxter, 2009; Olsen et al., 2012). According to the Emergent Memory Account (Graham et al., 2010) advancing a non-modular view of memory and perception, memory arises from a dynamic interaction between the perceptual representations distributed across the whole brain and a key role of the medial temporal lobe. More specifically, the hippocampus is thought to form conjunctive representations of inputs from unimodal and polymodal sensory cortices and to continuously return the processed information to the sensory cortex via feedback connections (McClelland et al., 1995; Eichenbaum, 2000; Turk-Browne et al., 2006; Bast, 2007), thus constantly updating the current representations with new experiences. This cortico-hippocampal loop of flowing information guarantees the encoding of events and its storage (Eichenbaum, 2000). Note that this mechanism not only implies a shared, anatomically distributed cerebral network for both memory and perception, but also puts the medial temporal lobe into a cardinal position between perceptual processes (Lee et al., 2005; Lee, 2006; Lee and Rudebeck, 2010a) and memory (long-term as well as short-term and working memory: Zarahn, 2004; Axmacher et al., 2007; Lee and Rudebeck, 2010b; Rose et al., 2012). Crucially, the hippocampus' combined role in (i) memory formation and (ii) conjunction of sensory inputs (Sutherland and Rudy, 1989; Eichenbaum et al., 1994; Rudy and Sutherland, 1995; O'Reilly and Rudy, 2001; Winters, 2004; Cowell et al., 2006, 2010; Barense et al., 2007; Diana et al., 2007) makes it a potential key candidate for (i) the buildup of song memory traces, in which (ii) lyrics and melodies are integrated.

Although most of the studies on the hippocampus' role in memory formation and binding come from the visual domain (Davachi, 2006; Diana et al., 2007; Shimamura, 2010), we hypothesize that similar processes also apply to the auditory domain (Overath et al., 2007, 2008; Buchsbaum and D'Esposito, 2009), especially to songs. It is reasonable to assume that memory formation for lyrics and melodies happens through a cortico-hippocampal loop, and that the natural combination of a verbal and a melodic component into a single song percept and memory trace requires binding mechanisms as described above. Tentative support for this comes from lesion studies in patients with anterior temporal lobectomy for treatment of pharmaco-resistant epilepsy (Samson and Zatorre, 1991). Using explicit recognition memory tasks after presentation of short unfamiliar songs, these experiments revealed a clear deficit in recognition of sung and spoken lyrics after left temporal lobe resection, and impaired recognition of melodies (without text) after right temporal lobe resection. On top of that, the data suggest a lack of integration of lyrics and melodies in patients with unilateral left (but not those with right) temporal lobe lesions. While patients with right temporal lobe resections had deficits in melody recognition when the tune was sung with new words, i.e., showing that they had bound the melody to the original lyrics, no such conjunction was observed in left-hemisphere damaged patients. In fact, their recognition of lyrics was impaired irrespective of whether these were presented with (or without) old or new melodies, suggesting an independent processing of the two song components and an isolated deficit for lyrics.

While these results lend initial support for our hypothesis of hippocampal involvement in song memory formation, they leave two important questions open: first, in how far can these deficit patterns be attributed to hippocampal dysfunctions, and second, in how far may these results depend on the use of a recognition memory task? First, the resection always included anterior temporal lobe structures beyond the hippocampus, making it difficult to pinpoint a specific hippocampal role. Furthermore, although the lesion description was based upon the surgeon's meticulous drawings, a precise assessment of how far the resection extended into the hippocampus was not possible at that time. Moreover, although recognition tasks certainly depend on successful encoding, they also involve aspects of memory retrieval making it difficult to disentangle these effects with behavioral data. The present study seeks to address the points by first, testing patients with circumscribed unilateral hippocampal sclerosis (i.e., prior to surgery without further macroscopic lesions) and precisely describing the extent of hippocampal damage by means of volumetric analyses. Second, the incidental build-up of a song memory trace was assessed unbeknownst to the participants by examining the dynamics of neural adaptation during natural passive listening as described below.

Numerous studies have investigated the neural correlates of song processing (Samson and Zatorre, 1991; Brown et al., 2004a,b; Schön et al., 2005; Callan et al., 2006; Suarez et al., 2010; Merrill et al., 2012; Saito et al., 2012; Tierney et al., 2012), however, rarely has any study touched upon the implicit emergence of song memory. Indirect evidence can be drawn from studies using the successive presentation of changed and unchanged song stimuli (Same vs. Different) (Schön et al., 2010) and neural adaptation paradigms (Sammler et al., 2010). Adaptation is "a reduction of neural activity following prolonged or repetitive exposure to identical or at least similar stimuli" (Dobbins et al., 2004; Ganel et al., 2006; Grill-Spector et al., 2006), similar to repetition priming (Old vs. New stimuli) (Krekelberg et al., 2006). Although typically described in studies on perception, it appears that neural adaptation may also be indicative of memory trace formation. In line with the Emergent Memory Account (Graham et al., 2010), neural adaptation may reflect the emergence of a memory trace within cortical areas of perceptual representation through implicit learning during repeated exposure. Given the role of the hippocampus in memory formation (Turk-Browne et al., 2006) and according to connectionist models of memory (Damasio, 1989; McClelland et al., 1995; Rolls, 1996; Fuster, 1997), it is reasonable to suggest that cortical adaptation effects are subject to top-down modulations driven by the hippocampus (Blondin and Lepage, 2005; Goh et al., 2007), including integration of lyrics and melodies through binding (for a review on binding, see Opitz, 2010).

Of particular relevance for our research question of how lyrics and melody are bound in a conjunctive song memory trace are those studies describing the cerebral substrates underlying the integration of verbal and melodic components of songs (Sammler et al., 2010; Schön et al., 2010). These studies, which consider songs to be more than the sum of lyrics and melodies, examined modulations of brain activity to investigate how the two components interact, and how their processing is lateralized. For instance, Schön et al. (2010, Exp. 2) presented pairs of sung words that could vary or repeat in terms of the verbal and/or the melody component in a same-different task. Their results showed interactive processing in the left and the right superior temporal gyrus (STG), suggesting an integrated processing of the two components in these areas. Sammler et al. (2010) adopted a similar approach, taking advantage of neural adaptation effects. In this study, healthy participants were presented with blocks of short songs in which
Group	N	Sex (males/females)	Mean age	Mean education	Musical expertise	Full scale IQ WAIS-R ^a	RAVLT forgetting% ^a
Control	19	9/10	32.63 ± 7.90	14.53 ± 2.99	5.02 ± 3.68	-	
LTLE	12	5/7	34.17 ± 8.71	12.25 ± 1.42	6.75 ± 4.46	92.66 ± 1.33	20.56 ± 22.99
RTLE	12	5/7	39.92 ± 1.23	12.67 ± 2.71	6.83 ± 5.45	95.43 ± 1.79	9.07 ± 10.76

Table 1 | Demographic data.

^aMean for all except two RTLE patients due two missing data. RAVLT: Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test.

repetition of lyrics and/or melodies was varied in a factorial design to induce selective adaptation to lyrics, melodies, or unified songs. Consistent with Schön et al. (2010), repeated lyrics or repeated tunes evoked adaptation effects in bilateral STG. Core areas of integration were found in the left middle superior temporal sulcus (STS) and the left premotor cortex (PMC). Based on the previously reported literature, we hypothesize that these adaptation effects and the integration of lyrics and melodies are likely mediated by the hippocampus through feedback connections to STG/STS and binding of verbal and melodic information.

To investigate the modulatory effect of the hippocampus on (i) the incidental emergence of a song memory trace and (ii) the integration of the verbal and melodic components of songs, we adopted the paradigm by Sammler et al. (2010) to test patients with unilateral left or right hippocampal sclerosis and healthy controls. We compared the patterns of adaptation produced by songs in which either the lyrics, or the melodies, or both were repeated. As demonstrated by diffusion-weighted imaging studies, patients with hippocampal sclerosis present disconnections between medial and lateral temporal lobe regions (Focke et al., 2008; Bettus et al., 2009; Diehl et al., 2010; Riley et al., 2010; Liao et al., 2011). Such lesions have the capacity to prevent the hippocampus from sending feedback predictions and from updating the sensory memory trace (as expected by default after repetitions) and thus weaken adaptation effects in general and integration of lyrics and melodies in particular. More precisely, following Samson and Zatorre (1991), we hypothesized reduced adaptation for lyrics after left and for melodies after right hippocampal sclerosis. Moreover, following previous studies showing binding deficits in patients with left anterior temporal lobe resections (Samson and Zatorre, 1991) and correlates of lyrics-melody integration mainly in the left hemisphere (Sammler et al., 2010), we hypothesized that left hippocampal lesions, in particular, would have a negative impact on integration of lyrics and melodies in songs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

PARTICIPANTS

Twenty-four temporal lobe epilepsy patients with left (n = 12; LTLE) or right (n = 12; RTLE) hippocampal sclerosis participated in this study. They all presented with medically intractable epilepsy and were seen during pre-surgical evaluation at Pitié-Salpêtrière Hospital (Paris, France). All patients were right-handed according to the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971), except for one LTLE (-83.33) and one RTLE patient (-75). All patients had language lateralization to the left hemisphere except for the left-handed RTLE patient with bilateral language representation. Language lateralization was assessed by means of a verbal fluency test that is part of the standard functional magnetic resonance

imaging (fMRI) assessment prior to epilepsy surgery at the Pitié-Salpêtrière Hospital. In the scanner, patients are required to think as many words of a semantic category (e.g., tools) as possible. The number of activated left and right fronto-temporo-parietal voxels against baseline was used to calculate a standard language lateralization score (Lehéricy et al., 2000; Thivard et al., 2005). The control group consisted of 19 right-handed healthy participants including 12 subjects, who had already participated in a previous study (Sammler et al., 2010), and 7 new volunteers. All participants were French native speakers and reported to have normal hearing. Controls were carefully selected to match the patient groups in terms of age, mean years of education, and musical expertise (Ehrlé musical expertise questionnaire, unpublished). A verbal memory deficit was present in the LTLE as opposed to the RTLE patients, as assessed with the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (RAVLT) (Rey, 1964; Sziklas and Jones-Gotman, 2008) in accordance with the usual neuropsychological profile of these patients. Demographic characteristics of the participants are summarized in Table 1. The sclerosis in either left or right hippocampus in the two patient groups was corroborated by a volumetric analysis using Freesurfer software (Fischl, 2012; Reuter et al., 2012) that attested an ipsilateral hippocampal volume reduction of an average of 24.51% in the LTLE and 29.71% in the RTLE group compared to healthy controls. Between-group comparisons confirmed the significance of these volume reductions in the atrophic hippocampus (p < 0.05). Volumes and percentage of reduction are summarized in Table 2 (for details on the volumetric analysis, see Data Analysis). The local ethics committee approved this study and informed consent was obtained from each participant.

MATERIALS

The material and the scanning protocol used here were previously published by Sammler et al. (2010). The stimulus set consisted of 48 blocks of 6 unfamiliar songs based on a collection of nineteenth century French folk songs (Robine, 1994). Each song within a block was sung by a different singer to avoid adaptation to the singer's voice (Belin and Zatorre, 2003), had a duration of 2.5 s and was followed by a 0.2 s pause. Repetition of lyrics and/or melodies within blocks was crossed in a 2×2 factorial design, forming four conditions. Songs within a block either had the same melodies and same lyrics $(S_M S_L)$, the same melodies but different lyrics $(S_M D_L)$, different melodies with same lyrics $(D_M S_L)$, or different melodies and different lyrics (D_MD_L). Mode and tempo were balanced across the stimulus set, and each song had an average of 7.65 notes and 5.61 words. Songs in the four conditions did not differ with respect to length and number of word/note, word frequency, interval size, and number of contour reversals. In blocks where lyrics were varied, they did not rhyme, were semantically distant,

Table 2 | Medial temporal lobe (MTL) volumes (mm³).

	Left MTL				Right MTL			
	LTLE		RTLE		LTLE		RTLE	
Region	$Mean/\pm SD$	Reduction (%) ^a						
Hippocampus	2606.17/506.82	24.51	3467.95/245.68	-0.46	3589.04/678.97	-2.72	2455.90/414.39	29.71
Entorhinal cortex	1802.67/613.03	3.86	1847.25/218.17	1.48	1901.42/408.28	3.73	1802/246.24	8.76
Parahippocampal gyrus	2165.42/386.72	8.56	2304.17/222.16	2.70	2249.92/266.37	3.26	2026/268.47	12.89

^a Percentage of reduced volumes as compared to control group volumes

and differed with respect to syntactic structure avoiding potential adaptation to phonology, semantic content, or syntactic structure (Noppeney and Price, 2004).

PROCEDURE

Participants were instructed to listen attentively with closed eyes while avoiding moving, humming, or singing along. No behavioral data were collected. Stimuli were presented using E-Prime 1.1 (Psychology Software Tools) and delivered binaurally through air pressure headphones (MR confon). Additionally, participants used earplugs to minimize noise interference. All blocks were presented in one of four pseudorandom orders, with a silent gap between blocks of 10 s $(\pm 0.5 \text{ s})$ allowing the hemodynamic response to return to baseline (Belin and Zatorre, 2003). This resulted in a total duration of the experiment of around 30 min. Blocks of the same condition were not presented more than twice in a row. At the end of the experiment, all participants filled in a debriefing questionnaire with several nine-point scales (1 = not at all, 9 = always)in which they rated their attention during listening at 7.63 (Controls), 7.00 (LTLE), 7.57 (RTLE), and the amount of overt and/or covert singing during scanning at 0.00 and 2.89 (Controls), 0.47 and 2.71 (LTLE), and 0.21 and 2.14 (RTLE), showing that they had followed the instructions.

SCANNING

Functional magnetic resonance imaging was performed using a 3-T Siemens TRIO scanner (Siemens, Erlangen, Germany) at the Centre de Neuroimagerie de Recherche at the Institut du Cerveau et de la Moëlle Épinière - ICM (Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France). Radiofrequency transmission was performed with a body coil and the signal was received with a 12-channel head coil. Before the functional scans, high-resolution T1-weighted images $(1 \times 1 \times 1 \text{ mm}^3 \text{ voxel size})$ were collected for anatomical coregistration using a magnetization-prepared rapid acquisition gradient-echo (MPRAGE) sequence (TR = 2300 ms, TE = 4.18 ms). Subsequently, one series of 595 blood oxygenation level-dependent (BOLD) images was obtained using a single-shot echo-planar gradient-echo (EPI) pulse sequence $(TR = 2120 \text{ ms}, TE = 25 \text{ ms}, \text{ the first six volumes were later dis$ carded to allow for T1 saturation). Forty-four interleaved slices $(3 \text{ mm} \times 3 \text{ mm} \times 3 \text{ mm} \text{ voxel size}, 10\% \text{ interslice gap})$ perpendicular with respect to the hippocampal plane were collected. The field of view was $192 \times 192 \text{ mm}^2$ with an in-plane resolution of 64×64 pixels and a flip angle of 90°. Scanner noise was continuous during the experiment representing a constant auditory background.

DATA ANALYSIS

The fMRI data were analyzed using SPM8 (Wellcome Trust Centre for Neuroimaging). Preprocessing included spatial realignment and reslicing and coregistration of the anatomical T1 to the mean functional data. The first level analysis was carried out in the native space. Four regressors were built for each experimental condition based on the general linear model (different melodies and different lyrics (D_MD_L); same melodies and different lyrics (S_MD_L); different melodies and same lyrics (D_MS_L) and same melodies and same lyrics (S_MS_L), and convolved with a hemodynamic response function (HRF). Movement parameters were included as regressors of no interest and serial correlations were modeled with an AR (1) process. A temporal high-pass filter with a cut-off of 200 s was used to eliminate low-frequency drifts. Six one-sample t-tests were computed for each participant: all conditions against silence to establish a "song-sensitive" mask, the main effects of adaptation to lyrics $[(D_M D_L + S_M D_L) - (D_M S_L + S_M S_L)]$ and to melodies $[(D_M D_L + D_M S_L) - (S_M D_L + S_M S_L)]$ to identify areas of general adaptation to the repetition of song components, as well as the interaction $[(D_MS_L + S_MD_L) - (D_MD_L + S_MS_L)]$ to isolate areas of lyrics-melody integration. For the sake of completeness and consistency with the analysis of Sammler et al. (2010), we additionally compared both main effects to identify brain regions that showed an independent processing of either lyrics or melodies (i.e., stronger adaptation for lyrics than for melodies $\left[2\times(S_{M}D_{L})\right]$ and vice versa $[2 \times (D_M S_L)])$.

Segmentation of the anatomical files was performed with the VBM8 toolbox (Ashburner and Friston, 2005) to form a normalized anatomical image and the DARTEL exported tissue types. A template with eight iterations was created in DARTEL (Ashburner, 2007) including all 43 subjects to improve anatomical accuracy in the normalization of the functional contrast images obtained in the first level. Contrast images were spatially smoothed using a three-dimensional Gaussian kernel with 8 mm full width at half maximum. For the second level, the DARTEL normalized contrast images were normalized to the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) space. The automatically generated mask from the first level analysis of each subject was also normalized with this procedure but without smoothing. Statistical analysis was confined to a song-sensitive mask in gray matter to increase signal detection (Friston et al., 1994). To create this mask, a binary mask from the last iteration of the DARTEL template thresholded at 0.3 was overlaid with active voxels in the "all conditions against silence" contrast at p < 0.05 (FWE correction for multiple comparisons), k > 5 for all 43 participants. All voxels that were involved in both were included into the explicit song-sensitive mask for statistics. This mask covered an auditory-motor network, including the temporal gyrus, the PMC, and the cerebellum. For random effects group analyses, the individual contrast images were submitted to one-sample *t*-tests, separately for healthy controls, LTLE and RTLE patients. Furthermore, two-sample *t*-tests were computed for all contrasts, comparing each patient group against controls. All SPMs were threshold at p < 0.001 (uncorrected) with a minimum cluster extent of $k \ge 5$ voxels. Results will report the peak voxel p value and the number of voxels (k).

To assess the size of the hippocampal sclerosis and surrounding cortex, volumetric measures of hippocampal, entorhinal, and parahippocampal gyrus were obtained for all participants with the Freesurfer image analysis suite (Fischl, 2012; Reuter et al., 2012), which is documented and freely available for downloading online (http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu/). Non-parametric tests (Kruskal–Wallis, SPSS 18.0) were used to compare these measures between the patient and controls groups. To control global differences, intracranial volume was included in the analysis as a covariate, which was not found to be significant. The percentage of reduction of each structure was calculated for each patient group in comparison to the control group and is reported in **Table 2**.

RESULTS

MAIN EFFECTS

A complete report of the results at threshold p < 0.001 (uncorrected) with a minimum cluster extent of $k \ge 5$ voxels can be seen in **Table 3**. All three groups of participants showed adaptation to lyrics in the left and right STG and STS that was however considerably more extended in Controls (2474 and 2423 voxels) than in LTLE (541 and 388 voxels) and RTLE patients (201 and 165 voxels). Between-group comparisons revealed significantly weaker adaptation effects in the LTLE but not in the RTLE as compared to Controls in the left STS (**Figure 1A**).

In all three groups, adaptation to melody was found in the left and right STG and STS, again more extended in Controls (2380 and 1830 voxels) than in LTLE (245 and 295 voxels) and RTLE patients (106 and 111 voxels), as well as in the cerebellum. The Control group showed, in addition, adaptation in the left PMC (52 voxels) that was not observed in patients (**Figure 1B**). However, between-group differences failed to reach significance.

INTERACTION EFFECTS

Interaction effects were calculated with the contrast $[(D_MS_L + S_MD_L) - (D_MD_L + S_MS_L)]$ and were taken to represent an integrated processing of lyrics and melodies in songs. Only the control group showed interaction effects at $p < 0.001 \ k \ge 5$, which were located in the bilateral posterior STG/STS (left: 169 voxels and right: 323 voxels). No such effect was observed in LTLE and RTLE patients. To visualize areas that simply may not have passed our statistical criterion, we inspected the data at a very



uncorrected. Results for Control group (red), LTLE (blue), RTLE (green), and Controls vs. LTLE (yellow).

lenient level of p < 0.05 uncorrected (k > 5). Controls showed an extended region within the left (1936 voxels) and right (2176 voxels) STG/STS (**Figure 2A**). At this threshold, RTLE patients showed a pattern that was similar to Controls, but considerably less extended (554 and 1501 voxels) (**Figure 2B**). Interestingly, LTLE patients showed nearly no interaction in the temporal lobe at this very lenient threshold (238 and 35 voxels) (**Figure 2C**). Indeed, between-group comparisons revealed a significantly weaker interaction effect in the LTLE than the Control group in the right STG (**Figure 1C**) whereas the difference between the RTLE patients and Controls did not reach significance. Details on interaction effects are shown in **Table 4**.

INDEPENDENCE EFFECTS

Greater adaptation to lyrics as compared to melody was found bilaterally in the anterior region of the STG (23 and 196 voxels) in the control group, suggesting an independent processing of lyrics in this region. Greater adaptation to melody as compared to lyrics was obtained bilaterally in the cerebellum in RTLE patients. However, between-group differences failed to reach significance (**Figure 2A**). Details on independence effects are shown in **Table 4**.



interaction in cyan (Interaction at p < 0.05 k > 5 uncorr.).

DISCUSSION

The aim of the current study was to assess the modulatory effects of a unilateral hippocampal lesion on the incidental emergence of a song memory trace and the integration of lyrics and melodies into a conjunctive representation. To this end, neural adaptation to song repetition – as a proxy for song memory formation – was examined in patients with left or right hippocampal sclerosis in comparison to healthy controls using an fMR-adaptation paradigm. It was hypothesized that damage to the hippocampus may disrupt feedback connections to the lateral temporal lobe and thus preclude the establishment and update of a sensory memory trace. As a consequence, damage to the hippocampus may result in weaker neural adaptation in the STG. In particular, hippocampal lesions could hinder the integration of lyrics and melodies into a unified memory trace (Diana et al., 2007; Staresina and Davachi, 2009; Graham et al., 2010; Shimamura, 2010).

The main findings of this study were indeed that the neural adaptation to lyrics repetition as well as the integration of lyrics and melodies in songs (as reflected by the statistical interaction between adaptation effects for lyrics and melodies) was reduced in patients with left hippocampal sclerosis. More specifically, the direct comparison of these patients with healthy control participants revealed a weaker adaptation to lyrics in the left STS and a weaker integration of lyrics and melodies in the right STG. If one accepts the notion that neural adaptation reflects the emergence of a memory trace (see Introduction), these results are in line with our hypotheses and previous work showing that left hippocampal damage may lead to weaker memory for lyrics (Samson and Zatorre, 1991) and may hinder the integration of lyrics and melodies into a unified memory representation (Samson and Zatorre, 1991; Sammler et al., 2010).

All three groups of participants showed adaptation to the repetition of lyrics or melodies in the bilateral STG and STS, but in both patient groups, these effects were markedly smaller in spatial extent when compared to healthy controls. Notably, patients with left (but not right) hippocampal sclerosis exhibited significantly decreased adaptation to lyrics in the left STS, which is known to play a role in phonemic processing and also known to be crucial for the perception of a sound as speech (Dehaene-Lambertz et al., 2005; Liebenthal, 2005; Möttönen et al., 2006; for a review on STS, see Hein and Knight, 2008). This finding is most likely tied to the role of the left medial temporal lobe in verbal processing (Meyer et al., 2005; Wagner et al., 2008; Greve et al., 2011) and may reflect the perturbed build-up of memory traces for lyrics (and verbal material in general) due to disrupted feedback connections between medial and lateral structures of the left temporal lobe (Eichenbaum, 2000). Such an interpretation could be supported by the verbal memory deficit documented in the LTLE patients of the present study (assessed with the RAVLT) and, although we did not collect behavioral data for this experiment, these results are also in agreement with the behavioral results of Samson and Zatorre (1991). That study showed that the recognition of sung lyrics after listening to unfamiliar songs was impaired in patients with left (but not right) medial temporal lobe lesions.

Although patients with right hippocampal sclerosis showed nominally reduced adaptation and integration effects, these did not significantly differ from those in healthy controls, suggesting rather normal song processing and lyrics-melody integration in these patients. While the latter is in line with previous behavioral data showing spared integration of lyrics and tunes after right anterior temporal lobe resection (Samson and Zatorre, 1991), our hypothesis on reduced adaptation to melodies was not confirmed. This may partly be due to the stimulus material used: even if melodies were repeated to induce adaptation, they differed in octave sung by sopranos, tenors, altos, and bass. Most likely, adaptation effects are not fully robust to transposition of melodies. Furthermore, adaptation to melodies was generally weaker than adaptation to lyrics, as attested by the results in healthy participants, possibly resulting in a floor effect. Our participants may have paid less attention to melodies than to lyrics (as the latter convey the message) leading to weak adaptation, given that a lack of attention reduces adaptation effects (Chee and Tan, 2007). Alternatively, several lines of evidence suggest that melodies may be processed more bilaterally than lyrics (Samson and Zatorre, 1992; Binder et al., 2000; Besson and Schön, 2003; Peretz and Coltheart, 2003; Schön et al., 2005; Patel, 2008; Koelsch, 2012), leading to less severe deficits in processing melodies than in verbal

Group	Adaptation for lyrics				Adaptation for melody				
	Area	Size(k)	<i>x, y, z</i> (mm)	Z	Area	Size(k)	<i>x, y, z</i> (mm)	Z	
Control	Left hemisphere				Left hemisphere				
	STG/STS	2474	-58, -6, -6	5.75	STG/STS	2380	-64, -29, 3	5.12	
			-62, -17, 0	5.52			-54, -39, 3	4.75	
			-48, -39, 6	5.04			-66, -39, 12	4.68	
	Temporal pole	11	-51, 9, -18	3.86	PrCG	52	-52, -5, 51	3.94	
					Cerebellum	55	-26, -62, -55	3.75	
	Right hemisphere				Right hemisphere				
	STG/STS	2423	62, -9, -6	5.59	STG/STS	1830	60, -17, -3	5.85	
			60, -0, -13	4.76			46, -36, 2	4.26	
			62, -24, 2	4.39			62, -0, -10	4.12	
	Cerebellum	10	16, -80, -46	3.26	Cerebellum	148	34, -63, -58	3.91	
					Cerebellum	27	30, -57, -27	3.59	
LTLE	Left hemisphere				Left hemisphere				
	STG/STS	541	-58, -5, -9	4.60	STG	245	-57, -21, -3	4.68	
			-56, -15, -3	4.05				4.68	
			-66, -33, 9	3.65					
	Right hemisphere				Right hemisphere				
	STG/STS	388	62, -9, -7	4.41	STG/STS	295	62, 2, -9	3.69	
			62, 2, -13	3.85			57, -11, -9	3.67	
							58, -5, -1	3.44	
					STG/STS	92	54, -24, 0	3.69	
					Cerebellum	134	26, -74, -60	3.67	
RTLE	Left hemisphere				Left hemisphere				
	STG/STS	201	-63, -6, -6	4.26	STG/STS	106	-66, -26, 2	3.55	
	·						-58, -18, 6	3.24	
					Cerebellum	20	-24, -66, -60	3.30	
	Right hemisphere				Right hemisphere				
	Temporal pole	165	62, 3, -10	4.13	STG/STS	61	62, -0, -12	3.95	
	STG/STS		63, -9, -10	3.29	STG/STS	50	58, -17, -4	3.65	
					STG/STS	21	69, -36, 3	3.41	
Control vs. LTLE	Left hemisphere				Left hemisphere		,, -		
	STS	25	-46, -39, 6	3.60					

Table 3 | Main effects of lyrics and melodies repetition for each group and comparison between Controls and LTLE

processing after unilateral temporal lobe damage. Further studies will be necessary to clarify this issue.

One novel finding is the main effect of melodies in the cerebellum in all groups (without group differences). Since activity in the cerebellum has been frequently reported in other studies using sung material (Parsons, 2001; Callan et al., 2007; Lebrun-Guillaud et al., 2008; Tillmann et al., 2008; Merrill et al., 2012), these effects may be linked to optimization of the fine sensory acquisition and internalization of input–output characteristics of stimuli, a process related to the creation of internal models of vocal articulation (Parsons, 2001; Callan et al., 2007; Stoodley and Schmahmann, 2009), that may function independently from the hippocampus.

As previously reported (Sammler et al., 2010), healthy participants presented maximum integration of lyrics and melodies in the posterior STS with a continuous decay of the lyrics–melodies integration along the posterior–anterior axis, toward regions of independent processing of lyrics in the anterior STG. These effects were shown bilaterally in the present experiment, expanding the previously reported effect, which was restricted to the left hemisphere. This analysis illustrates a "gradient of integration" from more to less integrated processing. In line with the literature on music and language (Scott et al., 2000; Davis and Johnsrude, 2003; Scott and Johnsrude, 2003; Friederici, 2011; Gow, 2012), this gradient poses an integrative processing of songs at the prelexical and phonemic level in the mid-STS. Consequently, information can be transmitted both along an anterior pathway to the temporal pole for an independent analysis of the linguistic content, and along a posterior pathway to the left PMC for the integrated sensori-motor conversion of the stimuli. In other words, lyrics and melodies might split up in the ventral pathway for semantics and comprehension (Griffiths, 2001; Patterson et al., 2002; Hickok and Poeppel, 2007; Saur et al., 2008; Friederici, 2009, 2011; Hickok et al., 2011) but stay integrated in sensori-motor dorsal pathways (Kiebel et al., 2008; Loui et al., 2009).

INTEGRATION							
Group	Area	Size (k)	<i>x, y, z</i> (mm)	Z			
Control	Left hemisphere						
	STG	164	-63, -23, 2	4.39			
	MTG	5	-63, -36, 3	3.18			
	Right hemisphere						
	STG	235	56, -32, 0	3.98			
			51, -38, 5	3.65			
	STG	82	66, -11, -3	3.76			
	STG	6	66, -20, 0	3.18			
Control vs. LTLE	Right hemisphere						
	STG	6	63, -9, 0	3.19			
LYRICS INDEPER	NDENCE						
Control	Left hemisphere						
	STG	15	-63, -5, -6	3.29			
	STG	8	-46, -41, 8	3.32			
	Right hemisphere						
	STG	196	63, -6, -15	3.79			
MELODY INDEP	ENDENCE						
LTLE	Left hemisphere						
	Cerebellum	10	-18, -66, -61	3.58			
RTLE	Left hemisphere						
	Cerebellum	19	-12, -83, -46	3.77			
	Cerebellum	6	-24, -66, -61	3.21			
	Right hemisphere						
	Cerebellum	18	14, -81, -46	3.62			

Table 4 | Integration and independence for each group and between controls and LTLE.

Contrary to healthy participants, both patient groups showed very weak levels of lyrics-melody integration in the bilateral mid-STG/STS, and only after lowering the statistical threshold to p < 0.05 (uncorrected). This effect may reside on generally weaker adaptation effects in both patient groups. The spatial extent of this weak lyrics-melody interaction was particularly small in patients with left hippocampal sclerosis who also showed a significantly reduced interaction effect in the right STG as compared to controls. These tendencies suggest a partial (although not complete) disruption of integrated processing in clinical populations and indicate that the conjunctive representation of lyrics and melodies depends on intact medial temporal lobe structures, particularly in the left hemisphere. Overall, this finding is in line with previous studies in patients with anterior temporal lobe resection including parts of the hippocampus (Samson and Zatorre, 1991). These experiments showed a perturbed integration of verbal and melodic song components in patients with left (but not right) temporal lobe resections, i.e., a selective deficit in recognizing lyrics that was independent from recognition memory for melodies. It is worth to mention that in both the present and previous studies, the integration deficit may reside on a more general deficit to process lyrics, as supported by the weaker adaptation for lyrics and reduced performance in neuropsychological tests on verbal memory in our patients with left hippocampal sclerosis.

Taken together, adaptation to lyrics and integration of lyrics and melodies within songs appear to be less efficient in patients with left hippocampal damage as compared to healthy controls. We propose that these lesions may hinder the build-up of a sensory memory trace for lyrics (with rather preserved mechanisms for melodies), which in turn might be at the origin of the reduced integration of lyrics and melody. These combined effects could be attributed to hippocampal malfunction per se or to a more global disconnection of lateral temporal neocortical structures caused by repetitive seizures or epilepsy history (Yasuda et al., 2010; Besson et al., 2012), both of which can disrupt the hippocampal top-down modulatory influence on STG/STS. If this is the case, it is possible that adaptation could also be reduced for stimuli other than lyrics, melodies, or songs, demonstrating a more general adaptation and putative encoding deficit following disruption of cortico-hippocampal processing loops.

Interestingly, an independent analysis of the connectivity profiles in our patients showed asymmetries between the left and right hemispheric lesion groups: LTLE patients exhibited more extended and more strongly left-lateralized disconnections, as opposed to more discrete and bilateral connectivity deficits in RTLE (Besson et al., 2012). Such differences in connectivity profiles provide an additional explanation for the nominally stronger impairments in patients with left hippocampal sclerosis as compared to patients with right hippocampal sclerosis. In sum, the present data indicate that an imbalance in the left hippocampocortical system, due to hippocampal sclerosis and/or disrupted connectivity with STG/STS, affects the incidental emergence of a memory trace of verbal song components and precludes the build-up of a conjunctive representation that integrates lyrics and melodies.

CONCLUSION

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the processing of songs using fMRI in patients with unilateral hippocampal sclerosis. We showed that the adaptation to lyrics and the integration of lyrics and melodies was diminished in lateral temporal lobe regions in patients with left hippocampal sclerosis while a similar but non-significant result pattern was found in patients with right hippocampal sclerosis. These findings suggest the importance of hippocampal top-down modulations on the STG/STS during repetitive exposure to songs. We interpret the observed adaptation patterns to be a result of a disturbed connectivity in a hippocampal-cortical network, weakening the emergence of a memory trace for lyrics and the integrated processing of songs as a unified percept. Overall, these data provide a novel contribution by suggesting that the integration shown in healthy participants is tied to the integrity of the medial temporal lobe and its connections with the lateral temporal cortex.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to the CENIR team and Diana Omigie for their helpful assistance. Funding: the research leading to these results has received funding from an Early Stage Researcher fellowship to Irene Alonso by the European Community's Seventh Framework Programme under the Europe, Brain and Music (EBRAMUS) project – grant agreement n°238157 and by a grant from "Agence Nationale pour la Recherche" of the French Ministry of research (project n° ANR-09-BLAN-0310-02) and a grant from the "Institut Universitaire de France" to Séverine Samson.

REFERENCES

- Ashburner, J. (2007). A fast diffeomorphic image registration algorithm. *Neuroimage* 38, 95–113. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.07.007
- Ashburner, J., and Friston, K. J. (2005). Unified segmentation. *Neuroimage* 26, 839–851. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.02.018
- Axmacher, N., Mormann, F., Fernandez, G., Cohen, M. X., Elger, C. E., and Fell, J. (2007). Sustained neural activity patterns during working memory in the human medial temporal lobe. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 7807–7816. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 0962-07.2007
- Barense, M. D., Gaffan, D., and Graham, K. S. (2007). The human medial temporal lobe processes online representations of complex objects. *Neuropsychologia* 45, 2963–2974. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.05.023
- Bast, T. (2007). Toward an integrative perspective on hippocampal function: from the rapid encoding of experience to adaptive behavior. *Rev. Neurosci.* 18, 253–282. doi:10.1515/REVNEURO.2007.18.3-4.253
- Baur, B., Uttner, I., Ilmberger, J., Fesl, G., and Mai, N. (2000). Music memory provides access to verbal knowledge in a patient with global amnesia. *Neurocase* 6, 415–421. doi:10.1080/13554790008402712
- Baxter, M. G. (2009). Involvement of medial temporal lobe structures in memory and perception. *Neuron* 61, 667–677. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2009.02.007
- Belin, P., and Zatorre, R. (2003). Adaptation to speaker's voice in right anterior temporal lobe. *Brain Imaging* 14, 2105–2109. doi:10.1097/01.wnr.0000091689. 94870.85
- Besson, M., and Schön, D. (2003). Comparison between language and music. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 930, 232–258. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2001.tb05736.x
- Besson, P., Dinkelacker, V., Valabregue, R., Samson, S., Thivard, L., Baulac, M., et al. (2012). "Decreased connectivity of major cortical nodes is more pronounced and lateralized in left versus right mesial temporal sclerosis," in *Poster Presented* at 66th American Epilepsy Society Annual Meeting, San Diego.
- Bettus, G., Guedj, E., Joyeux, F., Confort-Gouny, S., Soulier, E., Laguitton, V., et al. (2009). Decreased basal fMRI functional connectivity in epileptogenic networks and contralateral compensatory mechanisms. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 30, 1580–1591. doi:10.1002/hbm.20625
- Binder, J. R., Frost, J. A., Hammeke, T., Bellgowan, P. S., Springer, J., Kaufman, J., et al. (2000). Human temporal lobe activation by speech and nonspeech sounds. *Cereb. Cortex* 10, 512–528. doi:10.1093/cercor/10.5.512
- Blondin, F., and Lepage, M. (2005). Decrease and increase in brain activity during visual perceptual priming: an fMRI study on similar but perceptually different complex visual scenes. *Neuropsychologia* 43, 1887–1900. doi:10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2005.03.021
- Brown, S., Martinez, M. J., Hodges, D. A., Fox, P. T., and Parsons, L. M. (2004a). The song system of the human brain. *Brain Res. Cogn. Brain Res.* 20, 363–375. doi:10.1016/j.cogbrainres.2004.03.016
- Brown, S., Martinez, M. J., and Parsons, L. M. (2004b). Passive music listening spontaneously engages limbic and paralimbic systems. *Neuroreport* 15, 2033–2037. doi:10.1097/00001756-200409150-00008
- Buchsbaum, B. R., and D'Esposito, M. (2009). Repetition suppression and reactivation in auditory-verbal short-term recognition memory. *Cereb. Cortex* 19, 1474–1485. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhn186
- Bussey, T. J., and Saksida, L. M. (2005). Object memory and perception in the medial temporal lobe: an alternative approach. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 15, 730–737. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2005.10.014
- Callan, D. E., Kawato, M., Parsons, L., and Turner, R. (2007). Speech and song: the role of the cerebellum. *Cerebellum* 6, 321–327. doi:10.1080/14734220601187733
- Callan, D. E., Tsytsarev, V., Hanakawa, T., Callan, A. M., Katsuhara, M., Fukuyama, H., et al. (2006). Song and speech: brain regions involved with perception and covert production. *Neuroimage* 31, 1327–1342. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2006.01.036
- Chee, M. W., and Tan, J. C. (2007). Inter-relationships between attention, activation, fMR adaptation and long-term memory. *Neuroimage* 37, 1487–1495. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.07.006
- Chun, M. M., and Phelps, E. A. (1999). Memory deficits for implicit contextual information in amnesic subjects with hippocampal damage. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2, 844–847. doi:10.1038/12222

- Cowell, R. A., Bussey, T. J., and Saksida, L. M. (2006). Why does brain damage impair memory? A connectionist model of object recognition memory in perirhinal cortex. J. Neurosci. 26, 12186–12197. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2818-06.2006
- Cowell, R. A., Bussey, T. J., and Saksida, L. M. (2010). Components of recognition memory: dissociable cognitive processes or just differences in representational complexity? *Hippocampus* 20, 1245–1262. doi:10.1002/hipo.20865
- Crowder, R. G., Serafine, M. L., and Repp, B. (1990). Physical interaction and association by contiguity in memory for the words and melodies of songs. *Mem. Cognit.* 18, 469–476. doi:10.3758/BF03198480
- Damasio, A. R. (1989). The brain binds entities and events by multiregional activation from convergence zones. *Neural Comput.* 1, 123–132. doi:10.1162/neco. 1989.1.1.123
- Davachi, L. (2006). Item, context and relational episodic encoding in humans. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 16, 693–700. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2006.10.012
- Davis, M. H., and Johnsrude, I. S. (2003). Hierarchical processing in spoken language comprehension. J. Neurosci. 23, 3423–3431.
- Dehaene-Lambertz, G., Pallier, C., Serniclaes, W., Sprenger-Charolles, L., Jobert, A., and Dehaene, S. (2005). Neural correlates of switching from auditory to speech perception. *Neuroimage* 24, 21–33. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2004.09.039
- Diana, R. A., Yonelinas, A. P., and Ranganath, C. (2007). Imaging recollection and familiarity in the medial temporal lobe: a three-component model. *Trends Cogn. Sci. (Regul. Ed.)* 11, 379–386. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2007.08.001
- Diehl, B., Tkach, J., Piao, Z., Ruggieri, P., LaPresto, E., Liu, P., et al. (2010). Diffusion tensor imaging in patients with focal epilepsy due to cortical dysplasia in the temporo-occipital region: electro-clinico-pathological correlations. *Epilepsy Res.* 90, 178–187. doi:10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2010.03.006
- Dobbins, I. G., Schnyer, D. M., Verfaellie, M., and Schacter, D. L. (2004). Cortical activity reductions during repetition priming can result from rapid response learning. *Nature* 428, 316–319. doi:10.1038/nature02400
- Eichenbaum, H. (2000). A cortical-hippocampal system for declarative memory. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 1, 41–50. doi:10.1038/35036213
- Eichenbaum, H., Otto, T., and Cohen, N. J. (1994). Two functional components of the hippocampal memory system. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 17, 449–471. doi:10.1017/S0140525X00035391
- Fischl, B. (2012). FreeSurfer. Neuroimage 62, 774–781. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2012.01.021
- Focke, N. K., Yogarajah, M., Bonelli, S. B., Bartlett, P. A., Symms, M. R., and Duncan, J. S. (2008). Voxel-based diffusion tensor imaging in patients with mesial temporal lobe epilepsy and hippocampal sclerosis. *Neuroimage* 40, 728–737. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.12.031
- Friederici, A. D. (2009). Pathways to language: fiber tracts in the human brain. Trends Cogn. Sci. (Regul. Ed.) 13, 175–181. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2009.01.001
- Friederici, A. D. (2011). The brain basis of language processing: from structure to function. *Physiol. Rev.* 91, 1357–1392. doi:10.1152/physrev.00006.2011
- Friston, K., Jezzard, P., and Turner, R. (1994). Analysis of functional MRI time-series. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 1, 153–171. doi:10.1002/hbm.460010207
- Fuster, J. M. (1997). Network memory. Trends Neurosci. 20, 451–459. doi:10.1016/ S0166-2236(97)01128-4
- Ganel, T., Gonzalez, C. L., Valyear, K. F., Culham, J. C., Goodale, M. A., and Köhler, S. (2006). The relationship between fMRI adaptation and repetition priming. *Neuroimage* 32, 1432–1440. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.05.039
- Goh, J. O. S., Chee, M. W. L., Tan, J., Venkatraman, V., Hebrank, A., Leshikar, E., et al. (2007). Age and culture modulate object processing and object-scene binding in the ventral visual areas. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 7, 44–52. doi:10.3758/CABN.7.1.44
- Gow, D. W. (2012). The cortical organization of lexical knowledge: a dual lexicon model of spoken language processing. *Brain Lang.* 121, 273–288. doi:10.1016/j. bandl.2012.03.005
- Graham, K. S., Barense, M. D., and Lee, A. C. (2010). Going beyond LTM in the MTL: a synthesis of neuropsychological and neuroimaging findings on the role of the medial temporal lobe in memory and perception. *Neuropsychologia* 48, 831–853. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.01.001
- Greve, A., Evans, C. J., Graham, K. S., and Wilding, E. L. (2011). Functional specialisation in the hippocampus and perirhinal cortex during the encoding of verbal associations. *Neuropsychologia* 49, 2746–2754. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia. 2011.06.002
- Griffiths, T. D. (2001). The neural processing of complex sounds. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 930, 133–142. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2001.tb05729.x

Frontiers in Human Neuroscience

- Grill-Spector, K., Henson, R., and Martin, A. (2006). Repetition and the brain: neural models of stimulus-specific effects. *Trends Cogn. Sci. (Regul. Ed.)* 10, 14–23. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2005.11.006
- Hébert, S., and Peretz, I. (2001). Are text and tune of familiar songs separable by brain damage? *Brain Cogn.* 46, 169–175. doi:10.1016/S0278-2626(01)80058-0
- Hein, G., and Knight, R. T. (2008). Superior temporal sulcus-it's my area: or is it? J. Cogn. Neurosci. 20, 2125–2136. doi:10.1162/jocn.2008.20148
- Hickok, G., Houde, J., and Rong, F. (2011). Sensorimotor integration in speech processing: computational basis and neural organization. *Neuron* 69, 407–422. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.01.019
- Hickok, G., and Poeppel, D. (2007). The cortical organization of speech processing. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 8, 393–402. doi:10.1038/nrn2113
- Johnson, S. K., and Halpern, A. R. (2012). Semantic priming of familiar songs. Mem. Cognit. 40, 579–593. doi:10.3758/s13421-011-0175-z
- Kiebel, S. J., Daunizeau, J., and Friston, K. J. (2008). A hierarchy of time-scales and the brain. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 4:e1000209. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000209 Koelsch, S. (2012). *Brain and Music.* West Sussex: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Krekelberg, B., Boynton, G., and Vanwezel, R. (2006). Adaptation: from single cells to bold signals. *Trends Neurosci.* 29, 250–256. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2006.02.008
- Lebrun-Guillaud, G., Tillmann, B., and Justus, T. (2008). Perception of tonal and temporal structures in chord sequences by patients with cerebellar damage. *Music Percept.* 25, 271–283. doi:10.1525/mp.2008.25.4.271
- Lee, A. C. (2006). Differentiating the roles of the hippocampus and perirhinal cortex in processes beyond long-term declarative memory: a double dissociation in dementia. J. Neurosci. 26, 5198–5203. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 3157-05.2006
- Lee, A. C., Bussey, T. J., Murray, E. A., Saksida, L. M., Epstein, R. A., Kapur, N., et al. (2005). Perceptual deficits in amnesia: challenging the medial temporal lobe 'mnemonic' view. *Neuropsychologia* 43, 1–11. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia. 2004.07.017
- Lee, A. C., and Rudebeck, S. R. (2010a). Human medial temporal lobe damage can disrupt the perception of single objects. J. Neurosci. 30, 6588–6594. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0116-10.2010
- Lee, A. C., and Rudebeck, S. R. (2010b). Investigating the interaction between spatial perception and working memory in the human medial temporal lobe. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 22, 2823–2835. doi:10.1162/jocn.2009.21396
- Lehéricy, S., Cohen, L., Bazin, B., Samson, S., Giacomini, E., Rougetet, R., et al. (2000). Functional MR evaluation of temporal and frontal language dominance compared to the Wada test. *Neurology* 54, 1625–1633. doi:10.1212/WNL.54.8. 1625
- Liao, W., Zhang, Z., Pan, Z., Mantini, D., Ding, J., Duan, X., et al. (2011). Default mode network abnormalities in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy: a study combining fMRI and DTI. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 32, 883–895. doi:10.1002/hbm.21076
- Liebenthal, E. (2005). Neural substrates of phonemic perception. Cereb. Cortex 15, 1621–1631. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhi040
- Loui, P., Wu, E. H., Wessel, D. L., and Knight, R. T. (2009). A generalized mechanism for perception of pitch patterns. J. Neurosci. 29, 454–459. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.4503-08.2009
- McClelland, J. L., McNaughton, B. L., and O'Reilly, R. C. (1995). Why there are complementary learning systems in the hippocampus and neocortex: insights from the successes and failures of connectionist models of learning and memory. *Psychol. Rev.* 102, 419.
- Merrill, J., Sammler, D., Bangert, M., Goldhahn, D., Lohmann, G., Turner, R., et al. (2012). Perception of words and pitch patterns in song and speech. *Front. Psychol.* 3:76. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00076
- Meyer, P., Mecklinger, A., Grunwald, T., Fell, J., Elger, C. E., and Friederici, A. D. (2005). Language processing within the human medial temporal lobe. *Hippocampus* 15, 451–459. doi:10.1002/hipo.20070
- Mishkin, M. (1982). A memory system in the monkey. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 298, 85–95.
- Möttönen, R., Calvert, G. A., Jääskeläinen, I. P., Matthews, P. M., Thesen, T., Tuomainen, J., et al. (2006). Perceiving identical sounds as speech or non-speech modulates activity in the left posterior superior temporal sulcus. *Neuroimage* 30, 563–569. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.10.002
- Noppeney, U., and Price, C. J. (2004). An fMRI study of syntactic adaptation. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 16, 702–713. doi:10.1162/089892904323057399
- Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia* 9, 97–113.

- Olsen, R. K., Moses, S. N., Riggs, L., and Ryan, J. D. (2012). The hippocampus supports multiple cognitive processes through relational binding and comparison. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:146. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2012.00146
- Opitz, B. (2010). Neural binding mechanisms in learning and memory. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 34, 1036–1046. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.11.001
- O'Reilly, R. C., and Rudy, J. W. (2001). Conjunctive representations in learning and memory: principles of cortical and hippocampal function. *Psychol. Rev.* 108, 311–345. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.108.2.311
- Overath, T., Cusack, R., Kumar, S., Kriegstein, K., von Warren, J. D., Grube, M., et al. (2007). An information theoretic characterisation of auditory encoding. *PLoS Biol.* 5:e288. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0050288
- Overath, T., Kumar, S., Kriegstein, K., and von Griffiths, T. D. (2008). Encoding of spectral correlation over time in auditory cortex. J. Neurosci. 28, 13268–13273. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4596-08.2008
- Parsons, L. M. (2001). Exploring the functional neuroanatomy of music performance, perception, and comprehension. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 930, 211–231. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2001.tb05735.x
- Patel, A. (2008). Music, Language, and the Brain. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Patterson, R. D., Uppenkamp, S., Johnsrude, I. S., and Griffiths, T. D. (2002). The processing of temporal pitch and melody information in auditory cortex. *Neuron* 36, 767–776. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(02)01060-7
- Peretz, I., and Coltheart, M. (2003). Modularity of music processing. Nat. Neurosci. 6, 688–691. doi:10.1038/nn1083
- Peretz, I., Gagnon, L., Hebert, S., and Macoir, J. (2004). Singing in the brain: insights from cognitive neuropsychology. *Music Percept.* 21, 373–390. doi:10.1525/mp. 2004.21.3.373
- Peynircioglu, Z. F., Rabinovitz, B. E., and Thompson, J. L. (2008). Memory and metamemory for songs: the relative effectiveness of titles, lyrics, and melodies as Cues for each other. *Psychol. Music* 36, 47–61. doi:10.1177/0305735607079722
- Reuter, M., Schmansky, N. J., Rosas, H. D., and Fischl, B. (2012). Within-subject template estimation for unbiased longitudinal image analysis. *Neuroimage* 61, 1402–1418. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.02.084
- Rey, A. (1964). L'Examen Clinique en Psychologie. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France.
- Riley, J. D., Franklin, D. L., Choi, V., Kim, R. C., Binder, D. K., Cramer, S. C., et al. (2010). Altered white matter integrity in temporal lobe epilepsy: association with cognitive and clinical profiles. *Epilepsia* 51, 536–545. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167. 2009.02508.x
- Robine, M. (1994). Anthologie de la chanson française—des trouvères aux grands auteurs du XIXe siècle. Paris: Albin Michel.
- Rolls, E. T. (1996). A theory of hippocampal function in memory. *Hippocampus* 6, 601–620.
- Rose, N. S., Olsen, R. K., Craik, F. I., and Rosenbaum, R. S. (2012). Working memory and amnesia: the role of stimulus novelty. *Neuropsychologia* 50, 11–18. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2011.10.016
- Rudy, J. W., and Sutherland, R. J. (1995). Configural association theory and the hippocampal formation: an appraisal and reconfiguration. *Hippocampus* 5, 375–389.
- Saito, Y., Ishii, K., Sakuma, N., Kawasaki, K., Oda, K., and Mizusawa, H. (2012). Neural substrates for semantic memory of familiar songs: is there an interface between lyrics and melodies? *PLoS ONE* 7:e46354. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0046354
- Sammler, D., Baird, A., Valabregue, R., Clement, S., Dupont, S., Belin, P., et al. (2010). The relationship of lyrics and tunes in the processing of unfamiliar songs: a functional magnetic resonance adaptation study. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 3572–3578. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2751-09.2010
- Samson, S., and Zatorre, R. J. (1991). Recognition memory for text and melody of songs after unilateral temporal lobe lesion: evidence for dual encoding. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 17, 793–804.
- Samson, S., and Zatorre, R. J. (1992). Learning and retention of melodic and verbal information after unilateral temporal lobectomy. *Neuropsychologia* 30, 815–826.
- Saur, D., Kreher, B. W., Schnell, S., Kummerer, D., Kellmeyer, P., Vry, M.-S., et al. (2008). Ventral and dorsal pathways for language. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 18035–18040. doi:10.1073/pnas.0805234105
- Schön, D., Gordon, R., Campagne, A., Magne, C., Astésano, C., Anton, J., et al. (2010). Similar cerebral networks in language, music and song perception. *Neuroimage* 51, 450–461. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.02.023

- Schön, D., Gordon, R. L., and Besson, M. (2005). Musical and linguistic processing in song perception. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1060, 71–81. doi:10.1196/annals. 1360.006
- Scott, S. K., Blank, C. C., Rosen, S., and Wise, R. J. (2000). Identification of a pathway for intelligible speech in the left temporal lobe. *Brain* 123, 2400–2406. doi:10.1093/brain/123.12.2400
- Scott, S. K., and Johnsrude, I. S. (2003). The neuroanatomical and functional organization of speech perception. *Trends Neurosci.* 26, 100–107. doi:10.1016/S0166-2236(02)00037-1
- Scoville, W. B., and Milner, B. (1957). Loss of recent memory after bilateral hippocampal lesions. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr. 20, 11–21.
- Serafine, M., Crowder, R. G., and Repp, B. (1984). Integration of melody and text in memory for songs. *Cognition* 16, 285–303.
- Serafine, M., Davidson, J., Crowder, R. G., and Repp, B. (1986). On the nature of melody-text integration in memory for songs. J. Mem. Lang. 25, 123–135.
- Shimamura, A. P. (2010). Hierarchical relational binding in the medial temporal lobe: the strong get stronger. *Hippocampus* 20, 1206–1216. doi:10.1002/hipo. 20856
- Staresina, B. P., and Davachi, L. (2009). Mind the gap: binding experiences across space and time in the human hippocampus. *Neuron* 63, 267–276. doi:10.1016/j. neuron.2009.06.024
- Stoodley, C., and Schmahmann, J. (2009). Functional topography in the human cerebellum: a meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies. *Neuroimage* 44, 489–501. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.08.039
- Suarez, R. O., Golby, A., Whalen, S., Sato, S., Theodore, W. H., Kufta, C. V., et al. (2010). Contributions to singing ability by the posterior portion of the superior temporal gyrus of the non-language-dominant hemisphere: first evidence from subdural cortical stimulation, Wada testing, and fMRI. *Cortex* 46, 343–353. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2009.04.010
- Sutherland, R. J., and Rudy, J. W. (1989). Configural association theory: the role of the hippocampal formation in learning, memory, and amnesia. *Psychobiology* 17, 129–144.
- Suzuki, W. A. (2009). Perception and the medial temporal lobe: evaluating the current evidence. *Neuron* 61, 657–666. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2009.02.009
- Suzuki, W. A., and Baxter, M. G. (2009). Memory, perception, and the medial temporal lobe: a synthesis of opinions. *Neuron* 61, 678–679. doi:10.1016/j.neuron. 2009.02.009
- Sziklas, V., and Jones-Gotman, M. (2008). RAVLT and nonverbal analog: French forms and clinical findings. *Can. J. Neurol. Sci.* 35, 323–330.
- Thivard, L., Hombrouck, J., Tézenas du Montcel, S., Delmaire, C., Cohen, L., Samson, S., et al. (2005). Productive and perceptive language reorganisation in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuroimage* 24, 841–851. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2004.10.001

- Tierney, A., Dick, F., Deutsch, D., and Sereno, M. (2012). Speech versus song: multiple pitch-sensitive areas revealed by a naturally occurring musical illusion. *Cereb. Cortex* 23, 255–263. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhs003
- Tillmann, B., Justus, T., and Bigand, E. (2008). Cerebellar patients demonstrate preserved implicit knowledge of association strengths in musical sequences. *Brain Cogn.* 66, 161–167. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2007.07.005
- Turk-Browne, N. B., Yi, D.-J., and Chun, M. M. (2006). Linking implicit and explicit memory: common encoding factors and shared representations. *Neuron* 49, 917–927. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2006.01.030
- Wagner, K., Frings, L., Spreer, J., Buller, A., Everts, R., Halsband, U., et al. (2008). Differential effect of side of temporal lobe epilepsy on lateralization of hippocampal, temporolateral, and inferior frontal activation patterns during a verbal episodic memory task. *Epilepsy Behav.* 12, 382–387. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2007.11.003
- Winters, B. D. (2004). Double dissociation between the effects of peri-postrhinal cortex and hippocampal lesions on tests of object recognition and spatial memory: heterogeneity of function within the temporal lobe. J Neurosci. 24, 5901–5908. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1346-04.2004
- Yasuda, C. L., Valise, C., Saúde, A. V., Pereira, A. R., Pereira, F. R., Ferreira Costa, A. L., et al. (2010). Dynamic changes in white and gray matter volume are associated with outcome of surgical treatment in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuroimage* 49, 71–79. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.08.014
- Zarahn, E. (2004). Positive evidence against human hippocampal involvement in working memory maintenance of familiar stimuli. *Cereb. Cortex* 15, 303–316. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhh132
- Zola-Morgan, S., and Squire, L. R. (1993). Neuroanatomy of memory. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 16, 547–563. doi:10.1146/annurev.ne.16.030193.002555

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 11 December 2013; paper pending published: 20 January 2014; accepted: 13 February 2014; published online: 27 February 2014.

Citation: Alonso I, Sammler D, Valabrègue R, Dinkelacker V, Dupont S, Belin P and Samson S (2014) Hippocampal sclerosis affects fMR-adaptation of lyrics and melodies in songs. Front. Hum. Neurosci. **8**:111. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00111

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Human Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2014 Alonso, Sammler, Valabrègue, Dinkelacker, Dupont, Belin and Samson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Chapter 6: Neural correlates of binding lyrics and melodies for the encoding of new songs.

Irene Alonso ^{1,2,3,4}, Lila Davachi ^{4,5}, Romain Valabrègue ³, Virginie Lambrecq ^{2,3}, Sophie Dupont ^{2,3} & Séverine Samson ^{1,2 *}

¹ Laboratoire PSITEC (EA 4072), Université de Lille, France.

² Epilepsy Unit, Hôpital de la Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France.

³ Inserm U 1127, CNRS UMR 7225, Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ Paris 06 UMR S 1127, Institut du Cerveau et de la Moelle épinière - ICM, Centre de Neuroimagerie de Recherche - CENIR, F-75013, Paris, France.

⁴ Department of Psychology, New York University, New York ,US.

⁵ Center for Neural Science, New York University, New York, US.

^{*} Correspondence: Séverine Samson, Laboratoire de Neurosciences Fonctionnelles et Pathologies (EA 4559), Université Lille-Nord de France, Pont de Bois BP 60149, F-59 653 Villeneuve d'Ascq Cedex, France.

Abstract

Songs naturally bind lyrics and melody into a unified representation. Using a subsequent memory paradigm, we examined the neural processes associated with binding lyrics and melodies during song encoding. Participants were presented with songs in two conditions: a unified condition (melodies sung with lyrics), and a separate condition (melodies sung with the syllable "la"). In both cases, written lyrics were displayed and participants were instructed to memorize them by repeating them covertly or by generating mental images of the songs. We expected the unified condition to recruit the posterior superior temporal gyrus, known to be involved in perceptual integration of songs, as well as the left inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), which has an important role for the binding of verbal information. Conversely, we hypothesized that the separate condition would engage a larger network including the hippocampus to bind lyrics and melodies of songs, and the basal ganglia and the cerebellum to ensure the correct sequence coupling of verbal and musical information in time. Binding lyrics and melodies in the unified condition revealed activation of the left IFG, bilateral middle temporal gyrus (MTG), and left motor cortex, suggesting a

strong linguistic processing for this condition. Binding in the separate compared to the unified condition revealed greater activity in the right hippocampus as well as other areas including the left caudate, left cerebellum, and right IFG. This study provides novel evidence for the role of the right hippocampus in binding lyrics and melodies in songs. Results are discussed in light of studies of binding in the visual domain and highlight the role of regions involved in timing and synchronization such as the basal ganglia and the cerebellum.

Keywords: binding, lyrics, melodies, songs, hippocampus, basal ganglia, IFG

Introduction

Introduction

Although enjoyable, widespread, and seemingly effortless, learning and remembering songs entail high-level cognitive processes that require the binding of verbal and musical information into a unified representation. Neuroimaging studies of song perception have led to enlightening debates on the independence or interaction of music and language networks (Schön et al., 2005). Two studies have suggested the involvement of the posterior areas of the superior temporal gyrus (STG) and superior temporal sulcus (STS) in the integration of lyrics and melodies within songs (Schön et al., 2010; Sammler et al., 2010). Despite these few studies that investigated the perceptual integration of verbal and musical information within songs, the neural mechanisms supporting the binding of lyrics and melodies in memory have received relatively less attention. To further explore this issue, we examined the cerebral structures underlying the binding of lyrics and melodies during encoding of new songs.

One widely used approach to study successful memory formation has been the subsequent memory paradigm (Wagner et al., 1998; Kim, 2011; Paller and Wagner, 2002). This paradigm allows identifying brain activity during encoding that can predict later success in recognition by comparing subsequently recognized trials with subsequently forgotten trials, known as the subsequent memory effect (SME). Such a paradigm has been instrumental in revealing the distinct contributions of regions in the medial temporal lobe (MTL) to memory (Davachi et al 2003; Staresina and Davachi (2006, 2009; Staresina et al., 2011). One recent study used the subsequent memory paradigm to examine the binding of visual objects features (i.e. shape and colors) in memory (Staresina and Davachi, 2009). In one condition, objects images were presented with a color in a unified manner. In two other conditions, gray-scale objects and color were presented separately. The object in gray-scale was presented with a color frame displayed either simultaneously with the object (spatial discontinuity condition) or with a short delay (spatial-temporal discontinuity condition). In these discontinuity conditions, participants were instructed to use imagery to bind these features into a unified representation. Interestingly, the magnitude of the SME in the hippocampus, unlike the neighboring perirhinal cortex, increased as function of the spatiotemporal discontinuity of the presented object and color representations.

To further explore the role of the hippocampus in memory binding, we developed a new paradigm involving auditory information. In this case, participants were required to bind

lyrics with their associated melodies during song encoding. Hence, the present study aims at exploring the underlying brain mechanisms that support the binding of lyrics and melodies within songs. We examined subsequent memory for songs under two encoding conditions inspired by Staresina and Davachi's study (2009): 1) following a unified presentation of song components (sung lyrics) and 2) following a separate presentation of song components (simultaneous presentation of sung melody on the syllable "la" and of written lyrics). In both conditions, participants were asked to covertly and repeatedly sing the resulting song until the next trial and to retain the song for a recognition test. Critically, these two conditions are inherently different in terms of the cognitive effort of the participant. The unified presentation is a perceptually richer condition that already provides an integrated signal while the separate condition requires the participant to actively create a mental representation of the song.

Taking in consideration memory models describing the MTL binding function (Davachi, 2006; Diana et al., 2007; Ranganath, 2010) as well as recent empirical findings in the visual domain (Staresina et al., 2009), we suggest that the hippocampus may be required to integrate various elements of a song into a unified memory trace. Based on results reported by Staresina and colleagues (2009), we suggest that the involvement of the hippocampus during encoding of songs will enhanced when melody and lyrics are presented separately rather than in a unified presentation (sung lyrics), the hippocampus being particularly important to actively integrate separate components of an event.

Alternatively, the unified presentation of song lyrics might involve cerebral structures related to verbal binding. Given that verbal comprehension and memory for sentences may strongly rely on semantic and syntactic integration of word sequences, the unified condition can be considered as a form of binding, specific to the verbal domain (for a review see Opitz, 2010). To this regard, such a verbal binding has been shown to be supported by the left IFG (Hagoort, 2005; Opitz and Friederici, 2003). Although the integration of linguistic content embedded in a melody has not been studied, activation in the left IFG has been observed during musical imitation and vocal learning in singing (Brown et al., 2004). Thus, the left IFG may support the mnemonic binding of sung lyrics, particularly following the covert rehearsal imitating a given song.

As previously discussed, binding is required to integrate information both across space and time (Eichenbaum, 2013). It is therefore worth noting that these dimensions might 88 interact differently in the visual and the auditory domains. On one hand, vision is largely governed by space, requiring rapid binding of synchronous events (Engel et al., 1997). On the other hand, audition is constrained by time variations (Sanders et al., 2011; Kiebel et al., 2008; Demany et al., 2010) and consequently requires precise timing and binding of unfolding sequences. Thus, the evoked binding network cooperating with the hippocampus may vary according to spatial and temporal demands of the task. In particular, the cerebellum and the basal ganglia, which are highly interconnected (Bostan et al., 2013), might be critical for binding auditory information. A non-motor role of the basal ganglia on speech perception has been previously proposed (for a review see Kotz et al., 2009; Kotz and Schwartze, 2010), and cerebellum activations have been frequently found during song perception and production (for a review see Callan et al., 2007). From a more general perspective both the cerebellum and basal ganglia have been shown to be crucial for sequence learning (Graybiel et al., 1994; Kotz et al., 2009; Shin and Ivry, 2003), and for generating temporal (Cope et al., 2014; Penhune et al., 1998; Schwartze and Kotz, 2013; for a review see Schwartze et al., 2012) and harmonic expectations (Seger et al., 2013). It is possible that activation of the cerebellum and basal ganglia may allow temporal coupling of syllables with musical notes during covert rehearsal, enhancing learning of the song sequence through auditory-motor binding. This idea is supported by studies reporting striatal contributions to auditory-motor binding in other notsinging tasks such as synchronized tapping to sounds (Hove et al., 2013). For instance, Schmitz and colleagues (2013) have shown functional connectivity between STG and basal ganglia in an auditory-motor binding task. By presenting sounds that were congruent or not with a human avatar breaststroke, the participants were asked to judge small perceptual differences in velocity in the scanner. The STG and STS showed greater activation for soundmovement bound representations. In line with the suggested temporal coupling role, the basal ganglia and the cerebellum showed greater functional connectivity with the STG when the sounds were congruent to the movement with which they were integrated. This supports that the basal ganglia and cerebellum may be crucial for sensory-motor binding to couple unfolding sound with other distinct elements. Consequently, we hypothesized that basal ganglia and cerebellum as well as the hippocampus may play an important role in binding lyrics and melodies through covert rehearsal.

In sum, the present study investigated the cerebral network involved in memory binding of songs in two different conditions, where lyrics and melodies were presented either in a unified, or in a separate way. Given the involvement of the posterior areas of the STG/STS in the processing of integrated song representations and the left IFG in binding verbal information and vocal imitation, we predicted that these regions would show a SME in the unified condition. Based on memory models of binding, we hypothesized the hippocampus would be more involved in binding resulting in greater SME in the separate than in the unified condition in this region. Furthermore, the separate condition may require higher temporal and mental imagery processing demands to allow the coupling of lyrics and melodies in time. Hence, we predicted a SME in the basal ganglia and the cerebellum in the separate condition.

Methods

Participants

Twenty-two healthy native French speakers participated in this study. They were all right-handed as assessed by the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971), and reported to have normal hearing. All participants were non-musicians and musical experience was assessed by the Music Expertise Questionnaire (Ehrlé, 1998), indicating that participants were not music experts (mean score \pm SD: 5.45 \pm 2.79; max score: 27 points).

Participants were included after a screening phase to verify that they were all able to sing and imagine songs. General auditory imagery was measured with the Bucknell Auditory Imagery Scale (Zatorre et al., 2010), confirming that participants had normal auditory imagery abilities (Vividness scale mean: 5.34 ± 0.68 ; Control scale mean: 5.62 ± 0.66). To test the specific imagery of songs during the screening phase, participants listened to six songs and had to repeat them aloud and provide a subjective response on their ability to covertly rehearse each of them. Similarly, participants were also presented six melodies sung with the syllable "la" and accompanied by written lyrics. They were asked to sing aloud the correspondent songs and provide a subjective rating on their ability to imagine each song. To further ensure that participants were able to imagine a song by combining a melody with some written lyrics correctly, we developed a song plausibility test. In this test, participants were presented with 24 melodies and 24 written lyrics, where half of the resulting songs had a one-to-one mapping between the number of syllables in the lyric and the number of sounds in the 90

melody, and half did not. Participants had to imagine the song and respond if the combination of melody and lyrics was plausible or not. After the screening of 37 volunteers, 13 participants were excluded because they did not achieve an accuracy score over 66 % in this test. Additionally, two females randomly selected among those with lower plausibility scores (67%) were excluded for gender counterbalance proposes, resulting in the final inclusion of 22 participants (11 female; years \pm SD: 24.09 \pm 5.45; years of education \pm SD: 16 \pm 1.69; mean song plausibility accuracy \pm SD; 74% \pm 0.05) in the MRI study.

The local ethics committee has approved this study and all participants provided signed written informed consent beforehand.

Stimuli

Two sets of 54 pairs of songs with interchangeable lyrics and melodies were specifically created based on a collection of 19th Century French folk songs (Robine 1974). Syllables were matched to musical notes in a one-to-one basis. Each lyric consisted of 6 to 9 pronounced syllables and each melody consisted of 6 to 9 notes. The resulting songs had a variable duration between 2.5 to 3 seconds. One set of 54 pairs of songs was composed of *original* songs. The other set of 54 pairs of songs was created by recombining the lyrics from one song of the *original* pair with the melody from the other song of the *original* pair and vice versa (*rearranged* songs). By following this procedure, the level of familiarity for lyrics and melodies remained equivalent for the *original* and *rearranged* songs. Melodies of each *original* song were either sung with lyrics or sung using the syllable "la". Melodies of each *rearranged* song used for recognition were sung with lyrics. The same female professional pop singer recorded all singing stimuli. Additionally, written lyrics were used during encoding.

Procedure

Before entering the scanner, participants received a short song imagery warm-up session based on the plausibility test previously described. Scanning was divided into six sessions to allow pauses every 10 minutes (without leaving the scanner or moving). Each session included 3 blocks, for a total acquisition of 18 blocks (Fig. 1). Each block included an encoding phase followed by an immediate recognition phase (Fig. 2).

The encoding phase included 6 encoding trials consisting of *original* songs and 2 baseline trials presented in random order. Following the presentation of each *original* song, a fixation-cross was displayed for a period of 6 seconds. During that period, participants were asked to rehearse the song by singing covertly and repeatedly until the next trial. In baseline trials, participants were prompted with a written number presented with white noise for 6 seconds, to control for visual and auditory stimulation relative to encoding trials. Following the stimulus presentation, a fixation-cross appeared in the screen and remained for a period of 6 seconds, and participants were asked to count down covertly from the displayed number until the next trial. Thus, the inter-stimulus interval was 12 seconds varying with a jitter of ± 1 s that was naturally provided by the difference in length of songs to allow for fitting of HRF. The total duration of an encoding phase was 1 min 36 s. At the end of the encoding phase, a slide was displayed for 7 s to make the transition to the recognition phase.

The recognition phase consisted of 6 *original* songs and 6 *rearranged* songs, all of which were presented in random order. No visual cue was provided for the lyrics during recognition. After the presentation of each song, participants were asked whether the lyric had been previously sung with the presented melody or not, using a confidence rating scale. Participants had 3 seconds to press one of four buttons: "No, sure", "No, not sure", "Yes, not sure", "Yes, sure". Each recognition phase took 1 min 24 s.

Blocks were randomly assigned to two different encoding conditions. In the unified condition, *original* songs were presented in a unified manner (sung lyrics. In the separate condition, the melody of the *original* songs was sung using the syllable "la" in place of lyrics and the lyrics were presented visually. In both conditions, auditory stimuli were presented twice to facilitate encoding while written lyrics were simultaneously displayed in the screen. The assignment of songs to either the unified or separate condition was counterbalanced across participants so that all songs were used in both conditions. Blocks from each condition were presented in an interleaved fashion and the order of the blocks was counterbalanced across participants.

The total duration of the functional acquisition was approximately 54 min \pm 5 s depending on the length of the brief pauses between sessions.

fMRI parameters

Six series of 264 volumes of oxygenation level-dependent (BOLD) images were obtained using a single-shot echo-planar gradient-echo (EPI) pulse sequence (TR= 2100 ms, TE= 29ms, the first four volumes were later discarded to allow for T1 saturation). Forty slices were acquired perpendicular to the hippocampal plane (voxel size 3 mm isotropic, with a slice gap of 0.3 mm) with a field of view of 204 x 204 mm, and a flip angle of 90°. Additionally seven series of 8 volumes (the first four volumes were later discarded to allow for T1 saturation) were acquired with the same parameters except the phase encoding, which was set in the opposite direction. Those extra series were only used for the deformation field correction proposes as described in Anderson and colleagues (2003) and Smith and colleagues (2004). Auditory stimulation was delivered though MR Confon headphones and participants wore earplugs to minimize the scanner noise during stimulus presentation and imagery.

Behavioral analyses

Behavioral data from the recognition phases were analyzed in PASW statistics v18.0 and used for two different purposes: 1) provide an overall measure of recognition success, and 2) provide an individual success score for each encoded item which was later related to fMRI data during encoding. First, recognition responses were analyzed using receiver operating curves, by calculating the Areas Under the Curve (AUC) for the unified and the separate encoding conditions, which took into account both accuracy and confidence ratings.

Individual memory scores of each encoding trial were calculated using recognition accuracy for both the *original* and *rearranged* for each song and incorporated both accuracy and confidence responses. A score of 0.5 was given to each *original* or *rearranged* song that was correctly recognized or correctly rejected with high confidence, and 0.25 for low-confident correct scores. Furthermore, for each missed *original* song or false alarm, the item was penalized with a score of -0.5 for high-confident responses, or -0.25 for low-confident responses. Thus, the maximum memory score possible was 1, the sum of 0.5 from a high-

confident hit of the *original* song and 0.5 from a high-confident rejection of the *rearranged* song (see Table 1.a.). Trials with a memory score of zero or below were considered unsuccessful or at chance and were transformed to zero, since negative memory scores were not expected to modulate brain activity.

These scores were used for subsequent memory analysis in two ways. For the GLM model, scores were used to tease apart successful (hits) and unsuccessful (misses) trials building separate regressors for SPM analysis. Only trials with both successful recognition of the *original* songs and rejection of the *rearranged* songs were considered successful. Trials with a score of 0.25, corresponding to a high-confident correct answer (+0.5) and a low-confident incorrect answer (-0.25) were left out of the analysis, since they may reflect familiarity processes that are difficult to interpret within the limits of the current design (see Table 1.b.).

Memory scores (ranging from 0 to 1) were also entered as a parametric modulator of encoding, representing a putative sign of binding success. The parametric analysis of fMRI data assumes a gradation in activation of brain areas involved in binding which may be modulated not only by accuracy, but also by the degree of confidence in these two responses, which might reflect memory strength of the encoded item. In this way, when responses for both *original* and *rearranged* songs are both correct and confident, the studied song may have been better encoded, with greater detail, than when the participant was not sure (see Table 1.b.).

fMRI GLM analysis

All fMRI analyses were computed using SPM8 (Wellcome Trust Centre for Neuroimaging). Preprocessing of functional images included spatial realigment and corregistration of the functional and anatomical data. Then, images were distortion corrected and normalized to the MNI space and smoothed using a 3D Gaussian kernel of 8 mm full-with at half maximum (FWHM). In the first level, the analysis was carried within a normalized grey matter mask based on the normalized mean anatomical image.

Data was modeled and estimated using the GLM to compare successful versus unsuccessful encoding trials. For the GLM, trials were binned by condition as well as encoding success (success sorting described in the previous section) to create four different 94 regressors (unified-successful, unified-unsuccessful, separate-successful; separateunsuccessful) Additionally, two regressors were also created for the baseline encoding trials and all recognition trials. Initially, stimuli presentation and imagery periods were modeled separately at the first level (within-subjects level) and then combined at the second level (between-subjects level) to form encoding trials.

First, we looked at task effects using a factorial design with one factor (encoding) and looking at the positive effect of encoding reflected by a t contrast. Additionally, we used onesample t-tests to compare activity during successful trials only to the baseline condition, together with one-sample t-tests of successful trials in each condition against baseline. General activation on the separate and unified conditions, irrespective of memory performance was compared using one-sample t-tests. Second, we looked at SMEs comparing successful against unsuccessful trials using one-sample t-tests in each condition.

fMRI parametric analysis

High confidence during recognition of *original* and *rearranged* is an emergent property of recollection processes (see Diana and Ranganath, 2011), such that greater degree of confidence in both responses reflects stronger recollection. The hippocampus has been shown to be particularly sensitive to recollection of item and context associations (Diana et al., 2007), consistently with the binding role of the hippocampus previously described. Therefore, to look at the combined effect of confidence and accuracy on subsequent memory, we carried out a parametric modulation analysis. We examined the extent to which BOLD activation was modulated by memory performance, using the memory scores for each encoding trial previously described (see Table 1.b.). Then, one sample t-tests were used at the group level to evaluate SME for each encoding condition (unified and separate) and for the contrast between conditions (separate > unified, and unified > separate).

Correlation between BOLD activation and memory performance

Additionally, to explore the relationship between neural changes and behavior within our a priori regions of interest (ROIs), brain activation results from the parametric analysis from each condition were correlated with memory performance across participants. The ROI analysis allows a more sensitive exploration of relevant areas controlling for Type I error (Poldrack, 2007). We used the Automatemed Anatomic Labeling (AAL) atlas (TzourioMazoyer et al., 2002) to define neuroanatomical ROIs including subregions within the medial temporal lobe (hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus), basal ganglia (caudate, pallidum, and putamen) and IFG (orbital part, triangular part, and opercular part).

Beta values from the parametric analysis for the separate and the unified conditions respectively were extracted within each ROI using the MarsBar toolbox (Brett et al., 2002) and were used as a neural measure of encoding. Beta values were then correlated to recognition performance, reflected by each subject's AUC for each condition. Note that both neural and behavioral measures here are sensitive to accuracy and confidence in a similar manner, being therefore suitable correlates. We included all participants in this analysis, with the prediction that participants that did not perform above chance would exhibit lower activation in the predicted areas compared to successful participants. Of note, unlike statistical parametric maps, this analysis illustrates individual differences across participants, with the prediction that participants with greater activation on the ROIs would also show more accurate recognition, incurring in greater successful binding overall.

Results

a) Behavior

Recognition memory performance was measured using the AUC for each encoding condition, thus taking accuracy and confidence into account. All participants recognized songs above chance in the unified condition (p < 0.05). This suggests that participants could successfully bind lyrics and melodies and that they followed the instructions. In the separate condition, 7 participants did not surpass this threshold and were thus excluded from the SPM analysis. The statistic results of the AUC for each participant in both conditions are reported in Table 2.

b) fMRI GLM analysis

All SPMs were threshold at p < 0.001 (uncorrected) with a minimum cluster extent of 5 voxels (see Table 3). Anatomical location of significant clusters was carried out based on the Automed Anatomic Labeling (AAL) atlas (Tzourio-Mazoyer et al., 2002).

Task effects

A comparison of all encoding trials against the baseline trials revealed significant activation in bilateral STG, middle temporal gyrus (MTG), left IFG, right caudate, left putamen and several regions of the cerebellum (see Fig. 3A). Full list of regions activated by the task is reported in Table 3. A comparison of unified against separate condition revealed significantly greater activation in bilateral STG, bilateral MTG as well as orbital part of the left IFG and right anterior cingulum (see Fig. 3B).

Restricting this analysis to successful trials only against the baseline trials, additional activation was found in the right and left hippocampus, as well as extended clusters in the right IFG and right caudate. When looking at successful trials against baseline within each condition, the separate condition also revealed both right and left hippocampus, together clusters in right and left caudate. Conversely, for the unified condition, we found activation in bilateral caudate left putamen and the left hippocampus.

Subsequent memory effects

Activation related to the subsequent memory effect (SME) for the binding of lyrics and melodies was assessed comparing successful with unsuccessful trials in each condition. SME in the unified condition revealed a cluster in the left IFG together with activation in bilateral MTG and the left postcentral gyrus (Fig. 4A). Conversely, SME during the separate condition revealed significant activation in the right hippocampus, left caudate, the orbital part of the right IFG, right superior frontal gyrus, left middle frontal gyrus, MTG and bilateral cerebellum (Fig. 4B). A full list of regions and p values is reported in Table 4.

c) fMRI parametric analysis

To look at SME as a function of both accuracy and confidence, we carried out a parametric modulation analysis. Parametric modulation results were also threshold at p < 0.001 (uncorrected) with a minimum cluster extent of 5 voxels. Results for the separate condition, unified condition, the comparison between separate and unified conditions and vice versa are fully reported in Table 5.

In the unified condition, SMEs were shown in areas within the left hemisphere, including the left MTG, the left IFG and the left postcentral gyrus (see Fig. 5A). In the

separate condition, SMEs revealed the engagement a greater number of regions as described in Table 5 (see Fig. 5B).

No differences were observed when comparing the unified against the separate condition. However, the comparison of the separate against the unified condition revealed significant modulation of activity with memory scores in various regions. In the left hemisphere, few clusters of activations were found in the MTG, the insula and the anterior cingulum. In the right hemisphere, activations were found in the hippocampus and the IFG, together with a cluster in the fusiform gyrus, and few cerebellum activations in the left IV-V, left Vermis IV-V and right vermis III (see Fig. 5C).

d) Correlation between BOLD activation and memory performance

Beta values from the parametric analysis were averaged within each anatomically defined ROIs and correlated with memory performance for each condition. In the unified condition, positive correlations were found for the left IFG (opercular and triangualar parts). In the separate condition, positive correlations were found in the right hippocampus (see Fig. 6), and the right parahippocampal cortex within the MTL, the right putamen, right pallidum and left caudate within the basal ganglia and both right (opercular and triangular part) and left (orbital part) IFG. The full list of significant Pearson correlations (one-tailed, p < 0.05) and p values is reported in Table 6.

Discussion

The present study aimed at examining the neural substrates underlying the binding of lyrics and melodies during encoding of songs. Two different encoding conditions for the binding of lyrics and melodies were manipulated. In the unified condition, participants listened to melodies sung with lyrics while viewing written lyrics and were asked to mentally rehearse and maintain the song. In the separate condition, participants listened to melodies sung on the syllable "la" while viewing written lyrics, requiring participants to mentally combine these two separate information into a song. Binding was addressed by asking participants to recognize the correct melodic context for the lyrics corresponding to the *original* song among other *rearranged* songs. It is worth noting that *rearranged* songs where

created with the same lyrics and melodies of the *original* songs but combined in a wrong match, and thus subsequent recognition memory could only rely on the correct binding of the two elements.

Behavioral results

Behavioral analysis using receiving operating curves revealed that all 22 participants recognized songs in the unified condition, whereas only 15 participants were able to recognize songs above chance in the separate condition. This indicates that the additional cognitive effort required for binding under the separate encoding condition trades off with memory performance when compared to the unified condition. Although the song plausibility test, performed prior to the experiment, confirmed that all participants were able to correctly imagine a song by combining a melody with some written lyrics, this behavioral result suggests that the separate condition may have been more difficult than the unified condition. On the one hand perceptual similarity between encoding and retrieval that was higher in the unified than in the separate condition may have facilitate the task. On the other hand, the manipulation of lyrics and melodies to form an integrated representation in the separate presentation adds an additional process for song encoding, which may be behind this behavioral result. Thus, it is complicated to dissociate the effects of difficulty from the proper differences on the nature of binding itself. Only participants with above chance performance in both conditions were therefore included for neuroimaging analysis. Therefore, although the number of subsequently recognized and forgotten trials may differ between conditions, the SME resulting from the comparison of trials within condition should not be contaminated by difficulty factors. However, our experimental design cannot exclude the interference of difficulty on comparison between conditions. Consequently, neuroimaging results are interpreted carefully in regard to the literature.

Task general activation

During the encoding phase, participants were asked to imagine songs after being exposed to lyrics and melodies in two different conditions. Thus, general task activations irrespective of memory performance should reflect a covert singing network. Brain activity during the task was shown in bilateral cortical regions in the IFG, medial frontal gyrus (MFG), superior frontal gyrus, STG, MTG, the temporal pole, the SMA, the left IPL, left

supramarginal gyrus areas VI, VIIb and VIII within the cerebellum bilaterally, and subcortical activations in the right caudate and left putamen. These activations are consistent with an extended covert singing network, in line with previous studies on covert singing (Langheim et al., 2002; Callan et al., 2006). Since this contrast merges activation from subsequently recognized and forgotten trials, it is not surprising that no MTL activation was shown.

However, focusing on successful trials only as compared to baseline trials, additional activations were also found in bilateral hippocampi, as well as the right IFG and right caudate, suggesting the involvement of those structures in encoding. When we limited this comparison to the separate condition only, bilateral activation was found in the hippocampus and the caudate. However, on the unified condition the comparison of subsequent successful encoding trials against baseline only revealed significant activation in the left hippocampus, and not the right. The lateralization of this activation profile is in line with previous results (Alonso et al., 2014), which have shown the detrimental effect of a left hippocampal lesion on the integration of lyrics and melodies during listening to songs presented in a unified manner. The current results provide novel evidence suggesting the particular cooperation of a covert singing network with the hippocampus and caudate during a song encoding task.

Binding of lyrics and melodies in unified condition

In line with our hypothesis, SME in the unified condition, as assessed by the GLM analysis, revealed activations in the bilateral MTG, the left postcentral gyrus and the parts triangularis of the left IFG, suggesting the involvement of an auditory-articulatory network. The parametric analysis incorporated confidence ratings with accuracy measures to look at modulations of brain activity, becoming more sensitive to recollection. The parametric analysis showed modulations of activity in relation to SME in similar regions to the GLM in the left hemisphere. Since encoding required the covert rehearsal of songs, it is not surprising that this kind of binding prompts the phonological loop (Buchsbaum and d'Esposito, 2008; Buchsbaum, 2013). Given that songs under the unified condition already provided an integrated percept to be covertly repeated, it is possible that this condition may have strongly relied on the phonological loop for encoding. This interpretation is coherent with previous data showing left IFG activation in relation to articulatory learning (Rauschecker et al., 2008).

To look at the particular involvement of the ROIs, correlation of brain activity with memory performance across subjects was calculated within the different regions. The results highlight the implication of the left IFG in binding for the unified condition. These results are in agreement with the binding role of Broca's area for language processing suggested by previous studies (Hagoort, 2005), and further extends the role of this area in the particular case of lyrics and melody integration. Taking into account the strong evolutionary impact of language, it may be the case that a specialized region, such as Broca's area, may process binding involving verbal (syntactic and articulatory) information. Our results accentuate the role of IFG and MTG on imagery and encoding of new songs, in line with previous findings on familiar songs (Herholz et al., 2012). However, future studies are needed to address if other non-verbal auditory binding examples, such as for instance timbre and melody, may depend on a similar mechanisms, or whether it is restricted to verbal binding.

Binding of lyrics and melodies in separate condition

Different activations were obtained when lyrics and melodies were presented in the separate condition. In line with our hypothesis, results from the GLM revealed active clusters in the right hippocampus, left caudate, and the cerebellum bilaterally (left area IX; right area III; Vermis III), as well as in other regions including the right IFG, right superior frontal gyrus (SFG), left middle frontal gyrus (MFG) and left MTG. However, in contrast with the GLM, the parametric analysis showed a slightly different network, suggesting that confidence nuances on accuracy that could be related to recollection processes might be particularly relevant to understand binding on the separate condition. The parametric analysis coincided with the GLM on the implication of the left MTG, left caudate and Vermis III.

This parametric analysis showed modulations of activity in relation to SME in the right caudate, SFG bilaterally, left MFG, a small region in the left IPL and some additional cerebellum areas, including area IV-V in the left hemisphere and areas II and X in the right hemisphere. Taken together, the results of the GLM and the parametric analysis highlight the implication of the basal ganglia, specially the left caudate, and the cerebellum bilaterally, in line with our predictions and suggesting a main implication of a sequencing and timing network. In line with this interpretation, the cerebellum and basal ganglia have been largely identified as key structures in sequencing and timing (Penhune et al., 1998; Nenadic et al., 2003; Ivry and Spencer, 2004; Tillmann et al, 2008; Callan et al., 2007; Schwartze et al.,

2012) and are also known to play a role in sensory-motor learning. The present coactivation of basal ganglia and cerebellum with frontal and parietal regions is coherent with previously reported structural connectivity between these regions (Bostan et al., 2013). Our results suggest a functional implication of this network in binding auditory information.

Although the activation of the right hippocampus found in the GLM was not significant on the parametric analysis at a robust threshold, a correlation was found between brain activity within the right hippocampus and memory performance across subjects in this condition. This correlation, which was not shown in the unified condition, supports our hypothesis for the greater implication of the hippocampus when encoding elements are presented separately. Correlations were also found for the right parahippocampal gyrus, the striatum (left caudate and right putamen) and right pallidum, suggesting the involvement of these structures in binding under the separate condition. This evidence suggests the cooperation of the right hippocampus with basal ganglia to bind lyrics and melodies that are presented separately. The striatum and hippocampus have previously been found to cooperate via the prefrontal cortex in a variety of tasks (Seger, 2006), including encoding of words (Sadeh et al., 2011; for a review see Battaglia et al., 2011), spatial navigation (Brown et al., 2012; Hartley and Burges, 2005), sequence learning and consolidation (Albouy et al., 2008; Kotz et al., 2009; Tubridy and Davachi, 2010; Schwartze et al., 2012; Albouy et al., 2013; Chan et al., 2013). This large body of research has challenged the competitive view on hippocampal and basal ganglia function, and led to a growing number of studies to also assess mnemonic functions of the striatum for both procedural and declarative memory (Scimeca and Badre, 2012; Badre et al., 2014; Censor et al., 2014). The present findings are in agreement with this new approach.

Another important finding highlights the combined activation of a cerebello-striatal circuit and the frontal activations shown by the parametric analysis. This is consistent with previous studies showing the implication of such a network on the integration of temporal structure and memory content, including processing of durations (Fuster, 1995; Hälbig et al., 2002) and subsequent long-term storage of temporal structure (Schwartze et al., 2012). Correlations between brain activity and memory performance for the separate condition were also found in the IFG bilaterally, in its orbital part in the left hemisphere, and in the opercular and triangular parts for the right hemisphere. This result contrast with binding in the unified condition, which engaged Broca's are, highlighting the contribution of the right homologue 102

(opercular and triangular parts of the right IFG) for the this condition. Laterality differences in the IFG have been previously reported in studies comparing singing to speech sounds (Merrill et al., 2012) with right and left lateralized activations respectively. Despite the fact that in our study songs were presented in both conditions, it is plausible that encoding under unified and separate conditions may have respectively rely more on the verbal (Opitz and Friederici, 2003) or on the musical structure (Koelsch and Friederici, 2003), resulting in the laterality differences in the IFG.

Interestingly, although previous studies describe a particular role of the posterior STG on song integration (Sammler et al., 2010; Alonso et al., 2014), our results did not show the involvement of this area in the separate condition. It is possible that integration effects found previously in this region may be dependent on the physical properties of songs that already integrate both components into an auditory signal, and thus are specific to encoding following the unified condition. Since lyrics and melodies were not initially integrated into an auditory signal during the separate condition, the profile of activity seen in response to this condition may correspond to a more independent perceptual processing of lyrics and melodies. In turn, the binding of song elements under the separate condition may have enhanced the involvement of other structures such as the right hippocampus, left caudate and cerebellum to bridge the gap between lyrics and melodies and finally encode the integrated song representation.

It is worth mentioning that the MTG and other reported SME modulation of activity in areas such as the IPL, the SFG or the anterior cingulum, have also been reported to contribute to the inhibition of overt responses in language, essential for covert production of inner speech (Perrone-Bertolotti et al., 2014), similarly to the demanded auditory imagery of songs. From another perspective, a role for the MTG has also been reported for singing (Brown et al., 2004) and music memory retrieval (Watanabe et al., 2008). Although we interpret the present findings in this context, it should be noted that the MTG also holds a relevant function for processing complex linguistic lexical-meaning relations required for reading. Thus, alternatively, reading might have enhanced the activation of the left MTG, found both during unified and separate conditions. Nevertheless, we did not expect a major involvement of a reading network since instructions for the task were to elicit an auditory mental representation of songs, and the recognition test did not provide any visual cue related to the song.

Finally, the parametric analysis also revealed SME in the left IPL. This multimodal associative region receives inputs from most of the structures that were shown in our results, including the caudate and the hippocampus (Seghier, 2013). The mental manipulation of lyrics and melodies for covert singing may have elicited the activation of the left IPL during encoding to support the integrated imagery of lyrics and melody. In contrast to the unified condition, the separate condition required higher mental manipulation of the stimuli for the integration of separately presented features, eventually boosting the involvement of the IPL. Activation of this region has been previously shown during multimodal processing, imagery tasks and mental manipulation of representations (Seghier, 2013). Particularly, activation in angular gyrus has been reported during mental imagery in music (Herholz et al., 2012) and perceptual binding of auditory information (Kamke et al., 2012). In line with this evidence, the inferior parietal sulcus has been recently implicated in the processing of temporal and pitch transformations with musical imagery (Foster et al., 2013), which may be particularly relevant for binding song components in the separate condition. This interpretation is in agreement with a study showing a role of areas surrounding the parieto-temporal boundary for audio-motor integration during mental imagery tasks such as covert rehearsal or humming of auditory stimuli (Hickok et al., 2003; Buchsbaum et al., 2005). In addition to the manipulation of mental representations (Foster and Zatorre, 2010; Foster et al., 2013), some studies have suggested a role of the IPL in working memory (Buchsbaum et al., 2005, 2011) as well as in episodic memory based in its co-activation with the MTL system during memory tasks (Shannon and Buckner, 2004; Wagner et al., 2005; Vincent et al., 2006; Vilberg and Rugg, 2008). Our results support this notion in the case of binding separate elements of songs. The fact that left IPL activation was also shown for the general task (for both conditions and irrespective of memory performance), suggest a general contribution of this region to mental imagery, which may have become crucial for binding processing in the separate condition.

Comparison between the two encoding conditions

The present study aimed at examining binding by looking at differences between the encoding of songs presented in a unified or in a separate condition. General task differences between the conditions, irrespective of memory performance showed that the unified condition elicited greater activation in the STG and MTG, together with the orbital part of the left IFG and the left anterior cingulum relative to the separate condition. The greater activation of the STG is in line with studies on song perception, which identify the posterior 104

STG as the substrate for integrated song representations (Sammler et al., 2010; Schön et al., 2010). Therefore, one possible explanation for these results is a greater perceptual richness for songs presented under the unified condition, since they already provide an integrated representation of the song. These data is also in agreement with our hypothesis of a greater involvement of the left IFG on the unified condition, given that this was the only condition in which melodic information was embedded in the verbal code. Moreover, no brain area showed greater activation for the separate as compared to the unified condition, further supporting the perceptual richness interpretation. However, as we have previously discussed the interpretation of these results is limited by the behavioral differences found between conditions.

Most importantly, we compared SME between the two conditions based on the parametric analysis. Results revealed greater SME modulation of activity in the separate as compared to the unified condition in various areas that seem to belong to an auditory-motor integration network (Zatorre et al., 2007; Brown et al., 2004), including the cerebellum, the left insula, left MTG, left anterior cingulate, right fusiform gyrus, right orbital IFG and, critically, the right hippocampus. These areas are relevant for the coupling of perception and action and have been already reported in studies involving speech and singing (Ackermann and Riecker, 2004; Callan et al., 2007, Herholz et al., 2012). In particular, the cerebellum seems to be crucial to provide a precise timing context (Janata and Grafton, 2003; Ivry and Spencer, 2004; Callan et al., 2007; Schwartze et al., 2012) in which lyrics and melodies could be bound when presented separately.

We suggest that the activation found on the left anterior cingulum is related to monitoring auditory feedback during covert singing (Zarate and Zatorre, 2008; Perry et al., 1998). This seems to be necessary to properly merge the pitch and rhythm with the corresponding frequency onset/offset and spectral patterns that contain the syllabic information, which is required for the separate condition and less for the mere repetition of songs in the unified condition. However, activity in the anterior cingulate cortex may also signal a difference in cognitive effort (Crittenden and Duncan, 2014) between the two kinds of binding. Although both conditions demanded participants to sing covertly in order to memorize the song, the separate condition required participants to be more actively engaged in binding lyrics and melodies, representing an unavoidable caveat in the present study. As attested by the broader number of regions implicated in this condition, and the behavioral 105

difference in recognition between the two conditions, we cannot reject the possibility that differences in task difficulty may be in part responsible for the findings obtained by the contrast between conditions. In this context, anterior cingulum and fusiform gyrus, may in part reflect the more active engagement and cognitive effort of participants in the task under the separate condition. Although a difference in the cognitive demands between the two conditions presented here may be unavoidable, future studies should aim to minimize the difficulty level of the separate condition. Indeed the fact that few participants had to be excluded even after the pre-screening of participants suggest that the separate condition may have a high difficulty overall, so the results here presented are restricted to those who may be able to do the task successfully.

Consistent with our predictions, we found greater activation of the right hippocampus for the separate condition as compared to unified condition binding. This novel finding supports the involvement of the right hippocampus in binding lyrics and melodies, particularly when these elements are presented separately. The greater implication of the hippocampus on the separate condition is in line with similar studies in the visual domain suggesting an increasing involvement of the hippocampus with greater discontiguity of the elements to bind (Staresina and Davachi, 2009). However, a crucial novelty in our design is that subjects were asked to bind trial-unique information, as melodies from every song were different. Thus, the cognitive demands may differ from those in visual studies presenting a limited number of contexts (i.e. four colors) for possible binding (Staresina and Davachi, 2009). The results of this study are also in line with the implication of the right hippocampus and left IFG in music retrieval (Watanabe et al., 2008).

Although the present study represents a first step to address the implication of the hippocampus in binding songs, future studies isolating factors such as number of contexts, different salience, semantic content or rhythmical structure of the songs may help to improve the understanding of the binding function in the context of songs.

Conclusion

The present study examined the neural substrate underlying the binding of lyrics and melodies during encoding of songs. Overall, our results highlight the implication the right 106

hippocampus along with an auditory-motor network engaged in timing and sequencing processing for binding song components following the separate presentation of lyrics and melodies. Conversely, binding in the unified condition highlights the role of the left IFG in binding verbal with melody information, providing evidence for its contribution in the specific case of song binding. Further studies using different types of auditory stimuli, as for instance voice identity or instrument timbre with melody, are encouraged to complete our understanding of binding auditory information within and between modalities. Here, we discuss and provide novel evidence for the role of the hippocampus in binding lyrics and melodies within songs. Furthermore, in light of these results, other structures such as the IFG, basal ganglia and the cerebellum may be additionally relevant for binding auditory information auditory information auditory for binding auditory information and their particular role should be explored in more detail by future studies.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Alexa Tompary for her helpful insights on this study. The research leading to these results has received funding from an ERS Marie-Curie fellowship to Irene Alonso by the European Community's Seventh Framework Programme under the EBRAMUS project - grant agreement n° 238157, a personal fellowship to Irene Alonso by "LaCaixa Foundation", from the program "Investissements d'avenir" ANR-10-IAIHU-06 and from Institut Universitaire de France to Séverine Samson.

References

- Ackermann, H., & Riecker, A. (2004). The contribution of the insula to motor aspects of speech production: A review and a hypothesis. *Brain and Language*, 89(2), 320–328.
- Albouy, G., King, B. R., Maquet, P., & Doyon, J. (2013). Hippocampus and striatum: Dynamics and interaction during acquisition and sleep-related motor sequence memory consolidation: Hippocampus and striatum and procedural memory consolidation. *Hippocampus*, 23(11), 985–1004.
- Albouy, G., Sterpenich, V., Balteau, E., Vandewalle, G., Desseilles, M., Dang-Vu, T., Darsaud, A., Ruby, P., Luppi, P-H, Degueldre, C. Peigneux, P., Luxen, A. & Maquet, P.

(2008). Both the hippocampus and striatum are involved in consolidation of motor sequence memory. *Neuron*, 58(2), 261–272.

- Alonso, I., Sammler, D., Valabrègue, R., Dinkelacker, V., Dupont, S., Belin, P., & Samson, S. (2014). Hippocampal sclerosis affects fMR-adaptation of lyrics and melodies in songs. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8, 111.
- Andersson, J. L., Skare, S., & Ashburner, J. (2003). How to correct susceptibility distortions in spin-echo echo-planar images: application to diffusion tensor imaging. *Neuroimage*, 20(2), 870-888.
- Badre, D., Lebrecht, S., Pagliaccio, D., Long, N. M., & Scimeca, J. M. (2014). Ventral striatum and the evaluation of memory retrieval strategies. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 26(9), 1928–1948.
- Battaglia, F. P., Benchenane, K., Sirota, A., Pennartz, C. M., & Wiener, S. I. (2011). The hippocampus: hub of brain network communication for memory. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 15(7), 310–318.
- Bostan, A. C., Dum, R. P., & Strick, P. L. (2013). Cerebellar networks with the cerebral cortex and basal ganglia. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *17*(5), 241–254.
- Brett, M., Anton, J-L., Valabregue, R., Poline, J-B. Region of interest analysis using an SPM toolbox [abstract]. Presented at the 8th International Conferance on Functional Mapping of the Human Brain, June 2-6, 2002, Sendai, Japan. Available on CD-ROM in *NeuroImage*, 16 (2), abstract 497
- Brown, S., Martinez, M. J., Hodges, D. A., Fox, P. T., & Parsons, L. M. (2004). The song system of the human brain. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 20(3), 363–375.
- Brown, T. I., Ross, R. S., Tobyne, S. M., & Stern, C. E. (2012). Cooperative interactions between hippocampal and striatal systems support flexible navigation. *NeuroImage*, 60(2), 1316–1330.
- Buchsbaum, B. R. (2013). The role of consciousness in the phonological loop: hidden in plain sight. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *4*, 496.
- Buchsbaum, B. R., & D'Esposito, M. (2008). The search for the phonological store: From loop to convolution. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *20*(5), 762–778.
- Buchsbaum, B. R., Olsen, R. K., Koch, P., & Berman, K. F. (2005). Human dorsal and ventral auditory streams subserve rehearsal-based and echoic processes during verbal working memory. *Neuron*, 48(4), 687–697.

- Buchsbaum, B. R., Ye, D., & D'Esposito, M. (2011). Recency effects in the inferior parietal lobe during verbal recognition memory. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *5*, 59.
- Callan, D., Kawato, M., Parsons, L., & Turner, R. (2007). Speech and song: The role of the cerebellum. *The Cerebellum*, 6(4), 321–327.
- Censor, N., Horovitz, S., & Cohen, L. (2014). Interference with existing memories alters offline intrinsic functional brain connectivity. *Neuron*, 81(1), 69–76.
- Chan, S.-h., Ryan, L., & Bever, T. G. (2013). Role of the striatum in language: Syntactic and conceptual sequencing. *Brain and Language*, *125*(3), 283–294.
- Cope, T. E., Grube, M., Singh, B., Burn, D. J., & Griffiths, T. D. (2014). The basal ganglia in perceptual timing: Timing performance in Multiple System Atrophy and Huntington's disease. *Neuropsychologia*, 52, 73-81.
- Crittenden, B. M., & Duncan, J. (2014). Task difficulty manipulation reveals multiple demand activity but no frontal lobe hierarchy. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(2), 532–540.
- Davachi, L. (2006). Item, context and relational episodic encoding in humans. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *16*(6), 693–700.
- Davachi, L., Mitchell, J. P., & Wagner, A. D. (2003). Multiple routes to memory: distinct medial temporal lobe processes build item and source memories. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(4), 2157-2162.
- Demany, L., Semal, C., Cazalets, J.-R., & Pressnitzer, D. (2010). Fundamental differences in change detection between vision and audition. *Experimental Brain Research*, 203(2), 261–270.
- Diana, R. A., & Ranganath, C. (2011). Recollection, familiarity and memory strength: confusion about confounds. Trends in Cognitive *Sciences*, *15*(8), 337–338.
- Diana, R. A., Yonelinas, A. P., & Ranganath, C. (2007). Imaging recollection and familiarity in the medial temporal lobe: a three-component model. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 11(9), 379–386.
- Eichenbaum, H. (2013). Memory on time. Trends in cognitive sciences, 17(2), 81-88.
- Engel, A. K., Roelfsema, P. R., Fries, P., Brecht, M., & Singer, W. (1997). Role of the temporal domain for response selection and perceptual binding. *Cerebral Cortex*, 7, 571–582.

Ehrlé, N. (1998). Traitement temporel de l'information auditive et lobe temporal. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Université de Reims, Reims.

- Foster, N. E., Halpern, A. R., & Zatorre, R. J. (2013). Common parietal activation in musical mental transformations across pitch and time. *NeuroImage*, *75*, 27–35.
- Foster, N. E., & Zatorre, R. J. (2010). Cortical structure predicts success in performing musical transformation judgments. *NeuroImage*, *53*(1), 26–36.
- Graybiel, A. M., Aosaki, T., Flaherty, A. W., & Kimura, M. (1994). The basal ganglia and adaptive motor control. *Science*, *265*, 1826–1831.
- Hagoort, P. (2005). On broca, brain, and binding: a new framework. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 9(9), 416–423.
- Hälbig, T. F., Cramon, D. Y. von, Schmid, U. D., Gall, C., & Friederici, A. D. (2002). Processing of temporal duration information in working memory after frontodorsal tumor excisions. *Brain and Cognition*, 50, 282–303.
- Herholz, S. C., Halpern, A. R., & Zatorre, R. J. (2012). Neuronal correlates of perception, imagery, and memory for familiar tunes. *Journal of cognitive neuroscience*, 24(6), 1382-1397.
- Ivry, R. & Spencer, R. MC. (2004). The neural representation of time. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 14(2), 225–232.
- Janata, P., & Grafton, S. T. (2003). Swinging in the brain: shared neural substrates for behaviors related to sequencing and music. *Nature Neuroscience*, 6(7), 682–687.
- Kamke, M. R., Vieth, H. E., Cottrell, D., & Mattingley, J. B. (2012). Parietal disruption alters audiovisual binding in the sound-induced flash illusion. *NeuroImage*, 62(3), 1334–1341.
- Kiebel, S. J., Daunizeau, J., & Friston, K. J. (2008). A hierarchy of time-scales and the brain. *PLoS Computational Biology*, *4*(11), e1000209.
- Kim, H. (2011). Neural activity that predicts subsequent memory and forgetting: A metaanalysis of 74 fMRI studies. *NeuroImage*, 54(3), 2446–2461.
- Koelsch, S., & Friederici, A. D. (2003). Toward the neural basis of processing structure in music. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 999(1), 15–28.
- Kotz, S. A., & Schwartze, M. (2010). Cortical speech processing unplugged: a timely subcortico-cortical framework. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *14*(9), 392–399.
- Kotz, S. A., Schwartze, M., & Schmidt-Kassow, M. (2009). Non-motor basal ganglia functions: A review and proposal for a model of sensory predictability in auditory language perception. *Cortex*, 45(8), 982–990.
- Langheim, F. J., Callicott, J. H., Mattay, V. S., Duyn, J. H., & Weinberger, D. R. (2002). Cortical systems associated with covert music rehearsal. *Neuroimage*, *16*(4), 901-908.
- Nenadic, I., Gaser, C., Volz, H., Rammsayer, T., Häger, F., & Sauer, H. (2003). Processing of temporal information and the basal ganglia: new evidence from fmri. *Experimental Brain Research*, 148, 238–246.
- Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: The Edinburgh Inventory. *Neuropsychologia*, *9*, 97-113.
- Opitz, B. (2010). Neural binding mechanisms in learning and memory. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *34*(7), 1036–1046.
- Opitz, B., & Friederici, A. D. (2003). Interactions of the hippocampal system and the prefrontal cortex in learning language-like rules. *NeuroImage*, *19*(4), 1730–1737.
- Paller, K. A., & Wagner, A. D. (2002). Observing the transformation of experience into memory. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, 6(2), 93-102.
- Penhune, V. B., Zatorre, R. J., & Evans, A. C. (1998). A pet study of auditory and visual rhythm reproduction. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *10*(6), 752–765.
- Perrone-Bertolotti, M., Rapin, L., Lachaux, J.-P., Baciu, M., & Lœvenbruck, H. (2014). What is that little voice inside my head? inner speech phenomenology, its role in cognitive performance, and its relation to self-monitoring. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *261*, 220–239.
- Perry, D. W., Zatorre, R. J., Petrides, M., Alivisatos, B., Meyer, E., & Evans, A. C. (1999). Localization of cerebral activity during simple singing. *Neuroreport*, 10(18), 3979– 2984.
- Poldrack, R. A. (2007). Region of interest analysis for fMRI. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 2(1), 67–70.
- Robine, M. (1994). Anthologie de la chanson française -des trouvères aux grands auteurs du XIXeme siècle (A. Michel, Ed.). Paris: Albin Michel.
- Ranganath, C. (2010). Binding items and contexts the cognitive neuroscience of episodic memory. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 19(3), 131-137.
- Rudy, J. W., & Sutherland, R. J. (1995). Configural association theory and the hippocampal formation: An appraisal and reconfiguration. *Hippocampus*, *5*(5), 375–389.
- Sadeh, T., Shohamy, D., Levy, D. R., Reggev, N., & Maril, A. (2011). Cooperation between the hippocampus and the striatum during episodic encoding. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 23(7), 1597–1608.
- Sammler, D., Baird, A., Valabregue, R., Clement, S., Dupont, S., Belin, P. & Samson, S. (2010). The relationship of lyrics and tunes in the processing of unfamiliar songs: A

functional magnetic resonance adaptation study. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(10), 3572–3578.

- Sanders, M. C., Chang, N.-Y. N., Hiss, M. M., Uchanski, R. M., & Hullar, T. E. (2011). Temporal binding of auditory and rotational stimuli. *Experimental Brain Research*, 210(3-4), 539–547.
- Schmitz, G., Mohammadi, B., Hammer, A., Heldmann, M., Samii, A., Münte, T. F. & Effenberg, A. O. (2013). Observation of sonified movements engages a basal ganglia frontocortical network. *BMC Neuroscience*, 14(1), 32.
- Schön, D., Gordon, R., Campagne, A., Magne, C., Astésano, C., Anton, J. & Besson, M. (2010). Similar cerebral networks in language, music and song perception. *NeuroImage*, 51(1), 450–461.
- Schön, D., Gordon, R. L., & Besson, M. (2005). Musical and linguistic processing in song perception. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1060(1), 71–81.
- Schwartze, M., Tavano, A., Schröger, E., & Kotz, S. A. (2012). Temporal aspects of prediction in audition: Cortical and subcortical neural mechanisms. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 83(2), 200–207.
- Schwartze, M., & Kotz, S. A. (2013). A dual-pathway neural architecture for specific temporal prediction. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *37*(10), 2587-2596.
- Scimeca, J., & Badre, D. (2012). Striatal contributions to declarative memory retrieval. *Neuron*, 75(3), 380–392.
- Seger, C. A. (2006). Dynamics of frontal, striatal, and hippocampal systems during rule learning. *Cerebral Cortex*, *16*(11), 1546–1555.
- Seger, C. A., Spiering, B. J., Sares, A. G., Quraini, S. I., Alpeter, C., David, J., et al. (2013). Corticostriatal contributions to musical expectancy perception. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 25(7), 1062–1077.
- Seghier, M. L. (2013). The angular gyrus: Multiple functions and multiple subdivisions. *The Neuroscientist*, *19*(1), 43–61.
- Shannon, B. J. & Buckner, R. L. (2004). Functional-anatomic correlates of memory retrieval that suggest nontraditional processing roles for multiple distinct regions within posterior parietal cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(45), 10084–10092.
- Shin, J. C., & Ivry, R. B. (2003). Spatial and temporal sequence learning in patients with Parkinson's Disease or cerebellar lesions. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 15(8), 1232–1243.

- Smith, S.M., Jenkinson M., Woolrich M.W., Beckmann C.F., Behrens T.E.J., Johansen-Berg H., Bannister P.R., De Luca M., Drobnjak I., Flitney D.E., Niazy R., Saunders J., Vickers J., Zhang Y., De Stefano N., Brady J.M., & Matthews, P.M. (2004) Advances in functional and structural MR image analysis and implementation as FSL. *NeuroImage*, 23(S1), 208-219.
- Staresina, B. P. (2006). Differential encoding mechanisms for subsequent associative recognition and free recall. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(36), 9162–9172.
- Staresina, B. P., & Davachi, L. (2009). Mind the gap: Binding experiences across space and time in the human hippocampus. *Neuron*, *63*(2), 267–276.
- Staresina, B. P., Duncan, K. D., & Davachi, L. (2011). Perirhinal and parahippocampal cortices differentially contribute to later recollection of object- and scene-related event details. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(24), 8739–8747.
- Sutherland, R. J., & Rudy, J. W. (1989). Configural association theory: The role of the hippocampal formation in learning, memory, and amnesia. *Psychobiology*, *17*(2), 129–144.
- Tillmann, B., Justus, T., & Bigand, E. (2008). Cerebellar patients demonstrate preserved implicit knowledge of association strengths in musical sequences. *Brain and Cognition*, 66(2), 161–167.
- Tubridy, S., & Davachi, L. (2011). Medial temporal lobe contributions to episodic sequence encoding. *Cerebral Cortex*, 21(2), 272–280.
- Tzourio-Mazoyer, N., Landeau, B., Papathanassiou, D., Crivello, F., Etard, O., Delcroix, N., Mazoyer, B. & Joliot, M. (2002). Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI Single-Subject brain. *NeuroImage*, 15(1), 273–289.
- Vilberg, K. L., & Rugg, M. D. (2008). Memory retrieval and the parietal cortex: A review of evidence from a dual-process perspective. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(7), 1787–1799.
- Vincent, J. L., Snyder, A. Z., Fox, M. D., Shannon, B. J., Andrews, J. R., Raichle, M. E., & Buckner, R. L. (2006). Coherent spontaneous activity identifies a hippocampal-parietal memory network. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 96(6), 3517–3531.
- Wagner, A. D. (1998). Building memories: Remembering and forgetting of verbal experiences as predicted by brain activity. *Science*, 281(5380), 1188–1191.
- Wagner, A. D., Shannon, B. J., Kahn, I., & Buckner, R. L. (2005). Parietal lobe contributions to episodic memory retrieval. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 9(9), 445–453.

- Watanabe, T., Yagishita, S., & Kikyo, H. (2008). Memory of music: Roles of right hippocampus and left inferior frontal gyrus. *NeuroImage*, *39*(1), 483–491.
- Zarate, J. M., & Zatorre, R. J. (2008). Experience-dependent neural substrates involved in vocal pitch regulation during singing. *NeuroImage*, 40(4), 1871–1887.
- Zatorre, R. J., Chen, J. L., & Penhune, V. B. (2007). When the brain plays music: auditorymotor interactions in music perception and production. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 8(7), 547–558.
- Zatorre, R. J., Halpern, A. R., & Bouffard, M. (2010). Mental reversal of imagined melodies:
 A role for the posterior parietal cortex. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 22(4), 775–789.

	Table 1.a. Binding success scores according to accuracy and confidence							
			Correct response					
			Correct "yes" (for original)	Correct "no" (for rearranged)				
т ө	tt e gy Yes	Sure	0.5	-0.5				
ject	163	Not sure	0.25	-0.25				
Subject response	No	Sure	-0.5	0.5				
. e	No	Not sure	-0.25	0.25				

Table 1.a. Binding success scores according to accuracy and confidence

Table 1.b. Binding scores for fMRI analysis

	Memory scores	GLM
Both correct and sure	1	Hit
Both correct one sure	0.75	Hit
Both correct non sure	0.5	Hit
One correct sure & One incorrect not sure	0.25	-
One correct not sure & One incorrect not sure	0	Miss
One correct sure & One incorrect sure	0	Miss
One correct not sure & One incorrect sure	(-0.25) 0	Miss
Both incorrect non sure	(-0.5) 0	Miss
Both incorrect one sure	(-0.75) 0	Miss
Both incorrect and sure	(-1) 0	Miss

Table 2. Summary of behavioral results

	Sepa	rate cor	ndition	Unifi	ed con	dition	Demographic data				
Subject	AUC	SD	p	AUC	SD	p	Plausibility	Age	Sex	Education	Musical expertise
C01	0.589	0.055	0.110*	0.655	0.053	0.005	0.71	20	f	13	11
C02	0.658	0.053	0.005	0.822	0.042	0.000	0.79	21	m	15	7
C03	0.796	0.044	0.000	0.889	0.033	0.000	0.79	22	f	17	7
C04	0.503	0.056	0.963*	0.714	0.050	0.000	0.79	19	m	12	3
C05	0.547	0.056	0.395*	0.836	0.039	0.000	0.71	20	f	14	2
C06	0.551	0.056	0.363*	0.735	0.048	0.000	0.67	23	f	16	3
C07	0.837	0.040	0.000	0.785	0.044	0.000	0.67	23	f	18	4
C08	0.788	0.043	0.000	0.849	0.036	0.000	0.79	33	f	20	10
C09	0.733	0.049	0.000	0.811	0.042	0.000	0.67	21	m	16	3
C10	0.579	0.056	0.157*	0.664	0.052	0.003	0.75	31	f	17	6
C11	0.706	0.050	0.000	0.843	0.037	0.000	0.71	24	f	17	5
C12	0.639	0.053	0.013	0.685	0.050	0.001	0.71	25	m	17	4
C13	0.723	0.050	0.000	0.717	0.050	0.000	0.83	25	f	14	6
C14	0.718	0.049	0.000	0.867	0.037	0.000	0.67	25	m	16	4
C15	0.863	0.037	0.000	0.865	0.037	0.000	0.75	20	f	16	4
C16	0.687	0.051	0.001	0.701	0.051	0.000	0.71	21	m	16	10
C17	0.628	0.055	0.022	0.644	0.054	0.010	0.83	21	m	16	9
C18	0.763	0.046	0.000	0.800	0.042	0.000	0.79	21	m	16	2
C19	0.560	0.055	0.282*	0.645	0.053	0.009	0.75	43	m	17	4
C20	0.756	0.047	0.000	0.780	0.045	0.000	0.79	26	m	16	3
C21	0.504	0.056	0.941*	0.713	0.050	0.000	0.75	22	m	17	9
C22	0.683	0.051	0.001	0.801	0.044	0.000	0.75	24	f	16	4
MEAN	0.67	0.05		0.76	0.04		0.74	24.09	11f	16.00	5.45
SD	0.11	0.01		0.08	0.01		0.05	5.46	11m	1.69	2.79

* Performance at chance level. SD: standard deviation; *f*: female; *m*: male.

Cluster size (k)	MNI coordinates	Region	Side	Region size (k)	mean T
265	56, 0, 46	Precentral	R	216	4.152
		Middle frontal gyrus	R	49	3.997
9	48, 38, 28	Middle frontal gyrus	R	7	3.736
15	56, 32, 2	IFG triangular	R	15	3.652
6778	-66, -22, 8	IFG triangular	L	1664	4.589
		IFG orbital	L	440	4.658
		IFG Operculumcular	L	742	4.453
		Middle frontal gyrus	L	552	4.180
		Middle frontal gyrus Orbital	L	98	4.904
		Heschl gyrus	L	35	5.468
		Insula	L	213	3.875
		Postcentral	L	82	3.864
		Precentral	L	999	4.267
		Rolandic Operculum	L	97	4.280
		MTG	L	666	5.249
		Superior Temporal Pole	L	196	5.603
		STG	L	861	5.647
1623	64, -4, -2	STG	R	1008	5.494
		Superior Temporal Pole	R	297	4.829
		MTG	R	189	4.610
		Rolandic Operculum	R	34	4.225
		Heschl gyrus	R	26	5.049
		Middle temporal pole	R	9	3.970
1259	6, 2, 66	Supp Motor Area	L	569	4.299
		Superior Frontal gyrus	L	245	4.021
		Supp Motor Area	R	205	4.496
		Middle frontal gyrus	L	140	3.867
		Superior Frontal gyrus (medial)	L	95	3.789
667	-48, -44, 52	Inferior Parietal lobe	L	382	3.862
		SupraMarginal	L	161	4.017
		STG	L	96	3.910
13	-20, -72, 6	Calcarine	L	13	3.489
2295	28, -64, 6	Calcarine	R	704	4.009
		Cerebelum VI	R	573	4.332
		Calcarine	L	312	3.839
		Cerebelum Crus1	R	308	3.973
				500	0.070

Table 3. GLM task effects

		Cuneus	R	56	3.825
		Cuneus	L	44	3.932
		Superior Occipital gyrus	R	35	3.872
		Vermis VI		33	3.979
		Middle Occipital gyrus	R	19	3.778
		Fusiform	R	15	3.799
63	-8, -74, -14	Cerebelum VI	L	57	3.700
		Lingual	L	5	3.560
195	-42, -66, -26	Cerebelum VI	L	110	3.848
		Cerebelum Crus1	L	85	4.001
250	-22, -70, -58	Cerebelum VIII	L	149	4.628
		Cerebelum VIIb	L	8	4.075
918	30, -64, -52	Cerebelum VIII	R	536	4.731
		Cerebelum Crus2	R	228	3.762
		Cerebelum VIIb	R	128	3.836
		Cerebelum Crus1	R	14	3.659
17	-20, 2, 8	Putamen	L	16	3.646
10	20, -6, 24	Caudate	R	10	3.529

Unified: successful > unsuccessful					Separate: successful > unsuccessful				
Region	Side	Size (k)	MNI coordinates	t	Region	Side	Size (k)	MNI coordinates	t
IFG- triangular	L	18	-46 34 4	4.346	MFG	L	7	-28 32 30	4.078
Postcentral gyrus	L	20	-64 -18 20	4.110	MTG	L	6	-48 -4 -16	3.91
MTG	L	9	-66 -28 2	4.113	Cerebelum IX	L	11	-2 -52 -44	4.055
MTG	R	6	46 -22 -12	4.210	Caudate	L	10	-6 14 -2	4.029
					Vermis III	V	2		4.032
					SFG	R	8	22 40 34	4.421
					IFG- orbital	R	5	44 24 -10	4.211
					Cerebelum III	R	3	6 -42 -10	3.881
					Hippocampus	R	6	30 -18 -12	3.974

Table 4. GLM analysis of encoding

	Ur	nified			Separate				
Region (aal)		Region size (k)	x,y,z {mm}	Z	Region (aal)		Region size (k)	x,y,z {mm}	z
Left hemisphere					Left hemisphere				
Middle temporal gyrus	7	7	-48 -16 -12	3.42	MTG	23	23	-60 -8 -22	3.78
					SFG (medial)	8	6	-12 26 60	3.77
					SFG (medial)	24	23	-2 52 16	3.36
					IPL	6	5	-62 -48 36	3.57
					Caudate	29	27	-6 12 -2	3.89
					Anterior cingulum	30	25	-4 38 4	3.56
					Cerebellum IV - V	8	4	-14 -32 -16	3.49
IFG- triangular	9	8	-44 34 -2	3.39					
Postcentral gyrus	5	4	-52 -4 16	3.30					
Right hemispher	e				Right hemispher	e			
no significant activ	ations/				SFG (medial)	10	8	2 62 14	3.33
					MFG (p. orbitalis left)	43	30	0 42 -10	3.53
					Fusiform gyrus	5	1	34 -70 -8	3.40
					Caudate	6	6	10 10 -10	3.18
					Vermis III	24	9	8 -46 -12	3.82
					Cerebelum II	71	54	24 -84 -38	4.20
					Cerebellum X	5	3	18 -38 -42	3.74
		> Separat	te			-	e > Unifie	d	
Region (aal)		Region size (k)	x,y,z {mm}	Z	Region (aal)		Region size (k)	x,y,z {mm}	Z
no significant activations for this condition Left hemisphere									

MTG 30

Insula 16

30 -56 -4 -22 4.27

11 -38 -12 -4 4.58

Table 5. Parametric analysis of encoding

Tables and figures

Anterior cingulum	9	9	-6 40 6	3.45
Anterior cingulum	7	5	-4 30 14	3.60
Cerebellum IV - V	45	20	-14 -30 -14	3.73
Vermis IV -V	18	7	-4 -64 -10	3.49
Right hemisphere				
IFG (p. orbitalis)	8	6	32 18 -22	3.33
Fusiform gyrus	43	32	24 -74 -14	3.79
Fusiform gyrus	6	5	26 -56 -12	3.27
Right hippocampus	6	6	32 -20 -12	3.36
Vermis III	43	23	6 -42 -10	3.85

Significant clusters (p < 0.001; $k \ge 5$), and the regions within them from the "automated anatomical atlas".

Unified: succes	sful > unsucce	ssful	Separate: successful > unsuccessful				
Region of Interest	Pearson correlations	р (1-tailed)	Region of Interest	Pearson correlations	р (1-tailed)		
Left hemisphere			Left hemisphere				
IFG (opercularis)	0.391	0.036	IFG (orbitalis)	0.381	0.040		
IFG (triangularis)	0.392	0.036	Caudate	0.408	0.030		
Right hemisphere			Right hemisphere				
			IFG (opercularis)	0.443	0.019		
			IFG (triangularis)	0.366	0.047		
			Hippocampus	0.442	0.020		
			Parahippocampal gyrus	0.384	0.039		
			Pallidum	0.466	0.014		
			Putamen	0.519	0.007		

Table 6. Parametric binding within ROIs correlated with AUC p < 0.05

Figure 1. Experimental trials



Figure 2. Scanning session



Figure 3. General task effects.

General task effects

A. Unified & Separate > Baseline





B. Unified > Separate



Chapter 6: Study 2

Figure 4. GLM subsequent memory effects

GLM subsequent memory effects



n = 15; *p* < 0.001 uncorr.

Figure 5. Parametric analysis subsequent memory effects

Parametric analysis subsequent memory effects

A. Unified: Successful > Unsuccessful



B. Separate: Successful > Unsuccessful

- y= -82 -44 -8 10
- C. Successful: Separate > Unified





Figure 6. Correlation between BOLD activation and memory performance in the right hippocampus

Chapter 7 : Binding lyrics and melodic context in memory for songs following unilateral temporal lobe excision including the hippocampus.

Irene Alonso^{1,2,3}, Virginie Lambreq^{2,3}, Sophie Dupont^{2,3} & Séverine Samson^{1,2} ¹ Laboratoire PSITEC (EA 4072), Université de Lille, France

² Epilepsy Unit, Hôpital de la Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

³ Inserm U 1127, CNRS UMR 7225, Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ Paris 06 UMR S 1127, Institut du Cerveau et de la Moelle épinière - ICM, Centre de Neuroimagerie de Recherche - CENIR, F-75013, Paris, France.

Abstract

Memory for songs requires binding of lyrics and melodies - a function that may be mediated by the medial temporal lobe. We conducted a neuropsychological study with patients presenting an unilateral temporal lobe excision to investigate the role of the medial temporal lobe on binding lyrics with their melodic context. In line with our hypothesis, a strong deficit in lyrics recognition was shown in LTL as compared to Controls. Although RTL performed better than LTL in lyrics recognition, a weak deficit was shown when compared to Controls. The correlation found between verbal memory measures and lyrics recognition suggest that when lyrics are merged in melodies, the slight verbal deficits present in some RTL patients may be amplified. We provide evidence for dissociation between explicit recognition of the melody context and its implicit influence on lyrics recognition, suggesting that medial temporal lobe structures may be crucial for encoding the detail binding of lyrics with their melodic context, whereas implicit effects of an integrated representation of the song may be spared after medial temporal lobe lesions. These results suggest that although memory for lyrics may involve more strongly the left temporal lobe, binding of lyrics with their melodic context recruits regions of both temporal lobes. The implication of these findings is discussed in relation to the neuroimaging literature.

Keywords: songs, music, verbal, memory, binding, hippocampus, temporal lobe lesion.

Introduction

To form a memory of a song, lyrics need to be bound to their melodic context into a unified memory trace. In the visual domain, the binding of different elements into a unified memory trace has been shown to be dependent on the hippocampus and surrounding cortex of the medial temporal lobes (MTL) (Davachi, 2006; Diana et al., 2007; Ranganath, 2010). However, the role of the MTL in binding lyrics and melodies in songs remains poorly understood. A neuropsychological approach assessing memory for songs in patients with MTL lesions could shed light on this issue. The aim of the present study is to examine the differential implication of left and right MTL structures on the binding of lyrics and melodies in the memory for songs.

To understand the processing involved in song encoding, it is important to first take into account the perceptual integration of lyrics and melodies. Indeed, a growing body of evidence suggests that memory emerges from perception (Graham, 2006; Lee et al., 2005; Lee and Rudebeck, 2010a, 2010b; for a review see Bussey and Saksida, 2005; Graham, 2010). Perception will preclude encoding through a dynamic network between the hippocampus and the cortex that constantly updates the existing information with new encountered events (for a review see Sashtri, 2002). Few neuroimaging studies in song perception have described the neural substrate for the integration of lyrics and melodies (Schön et al., 2010; Sammler et al., 2010). These studies agree on the involvement of the posterior areas of the superior temporal gyrus (STG) and superior temporal sulcus (STS) for the integration of lyrics and melodies. In addition, Sammler and colleagues (2010) found independent activity specific for the lyrics as compared to the melody in the left anterior STG and the left temporal pole. The presence of such lyric independent component in the absence of a melody analog effect, suggest that the weight of these components in song processing may not be equally distributed.

In a recent study (Alonso et al., 2014a), we applied the fMR-adaptation paradigm adapted for songs by Sammler and colleagues to assess the effects of unilateral hippocampus sclerosis in such perceptual integration of songs. This paradigm allows an identification of areas involved in lyrics and/or melody processing based on the expected reduction of neural activation following the differential repetition of each song feature. Reduction of activation as

a result of stimuli repetition (adaptation) revealed areas of song processing along the STG and STS bilaterally in healthy participants as previously reported (Sammler et al., 2010). However, significant lack of adaptation was found in left hippocampal sclerosis patients both for lyrics and for the integrated processing of songs, indicating a role for the left hippocampus in song integration. Although right hippocampal sclerosis patients showed smaller areas of adaptation as compared to healthy participants, differences between these groups on the adaptation effect were not significant. Overall, despite the lack of direct evidence for hippocampal activation during perceptual integration, these neuropsychological results suggest that left hippocampus in particular may exert a feed forward influence in the creation of an integrated representation that could precede the emergence of a bounded memory trace. Therefore, when lyrics and melodies are presented as a unified song, left temporal structures seem to be more important than right temporal areas for song integration.

From a more strict memory perspective, several behavioral studies have measured memory for melodies and lyrics (Crowder et al., 1990; Peretz et al., 2004; Peynircioglu et al., 2008; Serafine et al., 1984, 1986). One very straightforward approach to this issue has been the examination of a memory of familiar songs by looking at cuing effects of the lyrics on melodies and vice versa (Peretz et al., 2004; Peynircioglu et al., 2008). Peretz and colleagues (2004) conducted a series of priming studies manipulating the presentation of lyrics and melodies from familiar songs as primes, as well as targets and assessing the cuing effects within (melody-melody; spoken text- spoken text) and between modality (melody-spoken text; spoken text-melody for each song element). Their results measured by accuracy and reaction times suggest a robust reciprocal ability for one song element to prime the other, suggesting a tight association between lyrics and melodies in song memory traces in healthy participants. However, in a later experiment, Peynircioglu and colleagues (2008) showed that lyrics are better cues to melodies than vice versa, and better recognition of lyrics than melodies, highlighting the strength of lyrics for song recognition. Nevertheless, since this studies evaluated semantic memory for familiar songs, the processing of lyrics and melodies may be different than that required for the encoding of a novel song.

Using a different approach, Serafine, Crowder and Repp (Crowder et al., 1990; Serafine, 1984, 1986) examined episodic memory for new learned songs in healthy participants. Participants had to recognize lyrics and melodies of previously studied songs. Lyrics and melodies of the *original* songs were manipulated to create song lures, including songs with old lyrics and new melodies, new lyrics with old melodies, fully new songs, and songs that had old lyrics and old melody but *rearranged* in a wrong combination. A song integration effect was found whereby lyrics and melodies were better recognized when presented within the original songs in which they were studied than when they were presented in a rearranged song, and it could not be eliminated by voluntary attention to the melody (Serafine et al., 1984). This result persisted when semantic factors were eliminated by using non-words and a possible decrement in recognition due to distracting effects of the novel lyric, or the melodic context was ruled out by further experimental manipulations (Serafine et al., 1996).

A later study (Crowder et al.,1990) was designed to contrast two possible explanations for this effect. One explanation was based on a qualitative interaction of the physical characteristics of the particular lyrics and the melody, in other words, resulting in a bonded percept (Exp. 2). The second explanation was based on a contiguity hypothesis suggesting that associations may be boosted just by the mere temporal co-occurrence of lyrics and melodies (Exp.3). Although a contiguity effect was shown, evidence supporting a bonded percept was found in the Experiment 2, showing better memory for melodies when presented with non-words phonologically similar to the original non-words. Thus, these results argue in favor of a memory benefit in song recognition following the combined encoding of songs in healthy participants.

Conversely, patients with temporal lobe resections have shown clear deficits in the combined encoding of lyrics and melodies (Samson & Zatorre, 1991). Using the song memory recognition paradigm from Serafine and colleagues (1984), the recognition of lyrics, melodies and songs was assessed in patients who had undergone the removal of unilateral anterior temporal lobe for the relief of epilepsy. Memory for unfamiliar song elements was tested either after the presentation of songs (Exp 1) or in two independent tests which presented only the melody and only the spoken test respectively (Exp 2). These authors hypothesized a dual encoding of songs based on verbal and musical codes that would depend on the left and right hemisphere respectively. These patients performed two recognition memory tasks for melodies and lyrics and their performance was compared to the healthy 132

controls. Results showed that all subjects recognized the lyrics better than the melodies, in agreement with more recent studies on healthy participants highlighting the predominance and greater autonomy of lyrics over melodies in song processing (Sammler et al., 2010). Recognition of lyrics was impaired only after the left temporal lobe damage. Conversely, recognition of melodies was impaired after both right and left temporal lobe lesions, when presented with new words, whereas only the left temporal lobe lesioned patients showed a melody recognition deficit if when melodies were presented with old words. Taken these results, it is possible that memory for melodies may have been mediated by verbal processing, so that patients with right temporal lobe lesions could succeed in this task when melodies were presented with old words. Conversely, for patients with a left temporal lobe lesion the presence of lyrics, either old or new, seem to disrupt melodic recognition.

The results from Exp. 2 clarify the interpretation of Exp.1. When memory for spoken text and melodies was tested independently, a dissociation was shown with deficits on spoken text recognition following left but not right TL damage and deficits for melodic recognition following right but not left TL damage. Thus, melody recognition impairments of left TL damaged patients previously shown in Exp. 1 seem to arise by the failure to integrate the verbal information into the melody, suggesting a binding role for left temporal structures. These results suggest that the integration of lyrics and melody would be affected in both patient groups.

Interestingly, although some of these findings speak for the independence of lyrics and melodies, a complete independence between the two would have had involved similar patterns of results when lyrics and melodies were presented separately (Exp 2.) or when they were presented unified into a song (Exp 1.), which was not the case. Indeed, the results obtained in this lesion study suggest that lyrics and melodies presented together in a song may be less accessible than when they are presented separately. Since memory for each element was tested independently in two different conditions, this indicates that the verbal and the melodic memory codes may need an additional integration processing to create a unique representation of the song, which is in line with the literature previously discussed. Integrated processing was also supported by better recognition of melodies when they were presented with the original lyrics than when they were presented with lyrics from other previously studied song. This suggests that melody recognition may be enhanced by its integration with lyrics into a

song. Interestingly, words were similarly recognized in both conditions, reflecting a more independent and robust process for lyrics recognition. Nevertheless, only four original and four mismatched songs were used for recognition so this effect must be interpreted carefully.

Unfortunately, the TL damage of the patients in Samson and Zatorre (1991) was very extended and very variable between patients. Anterior structures to Heschl's gyrus as amygdala or temporal pole were always removed but hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus and also Heschl's gyrus, which might have been very relevant for melodic processing (Patterson et al., 2002), were resected in different amounts. Thus, the amounts of MTL damage or the differential removal or spear of the hippocampus, which can be a crucial factor to interpret the memory outcome, were not under strict control.

In a recent neuroimaging study (Alonso et al., 2014b), we have assessed binding of lyrics and melodies during song encoding in healthy participants. Songs were presented under two different encoding conditions. In the unified condition melodies sung with lyrics were presented whereas on the separate condition melodies sung on the syllable "la" and written lyrics were simultaneously presented and participants had to reconstruct the song corresponding to the combination of the written lyrics with the melody. The results found a greater implication of the right hippocampus on binding in the separate condition as compared to the unified condition. Conversely, the unified condition seemed to rely more on the left IFG and STG regions. This suggests that sung lyrics, which integrate both melody and lyrics, provide a richer perpetual integrated representation of the song, consequently recruiting STG regions and eventually been driven by similar mechanisms in the left IFG that bind verbal information (Opitz et al., 2010). However, the lack of hippocampal responses in relation to subsequent memory following a unified song presentation in this study do not eliminate the possibility that the left hippocampus may still exert a feedforward function in a similar manner as for perceptual integration (Alonso et al., 2014a). Indeed, looking at activations of the successfully encoded trials on the unified condition revealed a left hippocampal cluster, which might have failed to rich significance in the later contrast.

The present study has been designed to better understand the effect of unilateral medial temporal lobe lesions on binding lyrics and melodies for the encoding of new songs. Patients with unilateral temporal lobe excision including the hippocampus as well as healthy

controls were tested on a song recognition memory task including lyrics and melodic context recognition. The aim of this study was to assess both recognition of binding between lyrics and their melodic context a swell as lyrics recognition alone (irrespective of melodies). Based on the literature on similar patient populations (Samson and Zatorre, 1991) and similar musical tasks here described (Alonso et al., 2014b), we predicted that a left temporal lobe lesion (LTL) to impair both lyrics recognition alone and binding of lyrics with melodies recognition. On the other hand, we predicted that the right temporal lobe lesion (RTL) would spare lyrics recognition but impair the recognition of binding lyrics and melodies as compared to the healthy controls.

Methods

Participants

Twenty patients with unilateral resection of the anterior temporal lobe including the hippocampus (n=10 left hemisphere) participated in this study. Patients had undergone anterior temporal lobectomy for the relief of intractable temporal lobe epilepsy at the Pitié-Salpêtrière Hospital in Paris. The minimum post-surgical delay was one year (mean postsurgical delay LTL= 4.10 ± 1.73 ; RTL= 5.70 ± 3.83). Epileptogenic lesions were always static and of an atrophic nature. The surgery included the removal of the amygdala and the hippocampus, and to a variable extent, the perirhinal, the parahippocampal cortex, and the temporal pole. A representative lesion is shown in Fig. 1. Visual inspection of the postoperative **MRIs** by а neurologist categorized the lesions selective as amygdalohippocampectomy (SAH) (Dupont et al., 2001) (LTL: 7 patients; RTL: 4 patients), or anterior temporal lobectomy (ATL) (LTL: 3 patients; RTL 5 patients). The MRI from one RLT patient was missing. All patients included in this study were right handed as attested by the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971) except for one left TL patient that was ambidextrous and a right TL patient that was left handed. However, language lateralization to the left hemisphere in these patients was confirmed by preoperative independent MRI and both of cases had neuropsychological profiles and responses in the experimental test that were similar to their respective groups. In both cases the neuroimaging result confirmed that language was lateralized to the left hemisphere.

Chapter 7: Study 3

Additionally, a group of 19 healthy control French right-handed volunteers were recruited and selected to match the patients groups in terms of sex, age (F= 1.32; df: 2; 36; p > 0.05), and years of education (F= 2.30; df: 2; 36; p > 0.05).

Music experience was balanced across groups as attested by the Ehrlé Music expertise questionnaire (Ehrlé, 1998) and no professional musician was included in this study. All participants had normal auditory imagery capabilities as measured by the French version of the Bucknell Auditory Imagery Scale (BAIS) (Zatorre et al., 2010). Demographic characteristics of the groups are summarized in **Table 1**.

Neuropsychological data from both patient groups is shown in **Table 2**. All patients from this sample had normal IQ scores as measured by the full scale WAIS-R. Direct digit span scores indicated that verbal short-term memory was not impaired in these patients. However, a verbal memory deficit, as assessed with the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (RAVLT) (Rey, 1964; Sziklas & Jones-Gotman, 2008) (Total recall score consisting in the addition of the five successive recall, $\sum RI-R5 RAVLT$), was present in the LTL group. A univariate ANOVA on RAVLT total recall scores revealed significant group differences (F= 8.98; df: 2, 36; p < 0.01; $h^2 = 0.33$). Multiple comparisons with Bonferroni correction showed that a deficit was present in LTL as compared to the normal healthy independent group (p < 0.01) whereas this deficit was not observed for the RTL patients (p > 0.05). Furthermore, the LTL group performed significantly in the RAVLT than the RTL group (p < 0.05). This neurological profile highlights the functional differences between the two patient groups.

The local ethics committee approved this study in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and informed consent was obtained from each participant.

Stimuli

The stimuli consisted of 72 unfamiliar songs created based on a collection of 19th Century French folk songs (Robine 1974). Each lyric consisted of 6 to 9 pronounced syllables and each melody consisted of 6 to 9 notes. Syllables were matched to musical notes in a one-to-one basis. The songs had a variable duration between 2.5 to 3 seconds.

We combined 12 pairs of melodies with 12 pairs of lyrics and an additional list of 12 lyrics (new-lyrics) to form our stimuli set. Lyrics and melodies within pairs were

interchangeable, allowing each of the melodies within a pair to be combined with three lyrics (the two from the lyric pair, and a third lyric) (see **Table 3**).

A first set of 24 songs was created by combining the 12 pairs of melodies with the 12 pairs of lyrics, conforming the *original* songs, which were used during the encoding phase. Another set of 24 songs (*rearranged* songs) was created by rearranging the lyrics and melodies of *original* song pairs. By following this procedure, the level of familiarity for lyrics and melodies remained equivalent for the *original* and *rearranged* songs. Additionally, 12 new-lyrics were combined with the 12 melody pairs, such that each new-lyric was combined with both melodies of the pair, creating 24 *new-lyrics* songs. In this way, each lyric was always combined with both melodies of the pair.

Procedure

The task consisted of 6 blocks including a study phase and a recognition phase each, and was presented in 1 of 4 pseudo-randomized orders. During the study phase participants studied 4 *original* songs. Songs were repeated twice in a row to facilitate perception and encoding. After listening to each song, a period of six seconds with a fixation cross was presented and participants were instructed to covertly rehearse the song during this time and try to memorize it for a subsequent recognition memory test. During the recognition phase 4 original, 4 rearranged and 4 new-lyrics songs were presented in random order. After listening to each song, participants were prompted with three yes/no questions. First they were asked to recognize the lyrics of the song (Have you already heard this lyrics?). If the answer was positive (yes, regardless of the accuracy of the response), participants were prompted with another question about the melodic context (Were this lyrics previously sung on this melody?). Finally, participants provided a confidence rating of their response (Are you sure of your response?). Each participant was tested individually and had the chance to learn the rules of the test in an example trial prior to the start of the experiment, where study and recognition phases and the three kinds of songs were illustrated and explained. Thus, participants were well aware that no new melodies would be presented during the recognition phase and that they had to recognize the lyrics followed by the combination of the lyric with the melodic context. Altogether, a total of 24 original songs had to be recognized among 72 songs, with an overall duration of the experiment of approximately 30 minutes.

Data analysis

Behavioral data from the recognition phases were analyzed in PASW statistics v18.0. Memory for the lyrics (item recognition), and for the binding of lyrics with their melodic context (binding of item with context) was addressed separately. Lyrics recognition performance was computed using the sensitivity index *d'*, which is a non-biased measure of recognition based on the hits and false alarms. Accuracy on responses to the first question for old-lyric songs (*original* and *rearranged* songs) and for *new-lyrics* songs as foils was taken into account.

For the melodic context recognition, Receiving Operating Curves (ROC) were drawn and the area under the curve (AUC) was calculated taking into account both accuracy (second question) and confidence (third question).

We used a One-way ANOVA on each dependent measure (d' for lyrics recognition and AUC for melodic context recognition) to test for group differences. Sex, years of education and age were included in the analysis as covariates. Additionally, d' scores for lyrics recognition in original song context, and in rearranged song context were computed. Then, original and rearranged song d' scores were compared using a repeated measures ANOVA with melodic context as a within subject factor and group as the between subjects factor.

Results

Lyrics recognition

All participants successfully recognized lyrics above chance (see Table 4). Data was normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnoff D= 0.12; df= 39; p > 0.05), and variances were homogeneous between groups (Levene = 1.63, df= 2; 36, p > 0.05). The ANOVA on *d*' scores for lyrics recognition revealed significant group difference (F= 34.46; df= 2; 33; p < 0.001; h² = 0.68). Post-hoc pairwise comparisons, with Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons, showed significant differences between Controls and LTL (p < 0.01); Controls and RTL (p < 0.05); and RTL and LTL (p < 0.01). These results indicate that lyrics were better recognized by Controls than both patients groups, and better recognized by RTL as compared to LTL (see **Fig. 2**). Age significantly covaried with *d*' (F= 7.16; df= 1;33; p < 0.05), indicating that

performance on lyric recognition decreases with age. However, sex ad years of education did not show covariance with d' scores. To further explore this effect, a correlation between verbal memory measured by the RAVLT and results in lyrics recognition was calculated, showing a significant positive correlation between these factors (r= 0.53; p < 0.05) (see Fig. 3).

Melodic context recognition

Although most healthy participants succeed in recognizing melodic context (84.22% of participants above chance), this was not the case for patients since only 20% LTL and 30 % of RTL patients recognized song binding above chance level (see **Table 4**). Data was normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnoff D= 0.07; df= 39; p > 0.05), and variances were homogeneous between groups (Levene = 1.172, df= 2; 36, p > 0.05). Results of the ANOVA for melodic context recognition revealed significant group differences (F= 8.09; df=2; 33; p = 0.001; $h^2 = 0.33$). Post-Hoc Bonferroni correction was applied to pairwise comparisons, showing significant differences between Controls and LTL (p < 0.01) and between Controls and RTL (p < 0.05). RTL and LTL were not statically different (p > 0.05). These results indicate that both patient groups were equally impaired for binding recognition as compared to Controls (see **Fig. 4**). Sex, years of education and age did not show covariance with AUC scores.

The effect of melodic context on lyrics recognition

The effect of melodic context on lyrics recognition was tested using a repeated measures ANOVA. The data analysis showed the main effect of melodic context on lyrics recognition (F= 11.32 ; df= 1,36 ; p < 0.01; $h^2 = 0.21$) (see **Fig. 5**). No interaction was found between melodic context and group.

Discussion

In the present study we assessed the effects of unilateral anterior temporal lobe resection, including the hippocampus, on memory for songs. During the recognition, lyrics and melodies of original songs were manipulated, presenting the lyrics (old or new) and their

Chapter 7: Study 3

melodic context (original or rearranged) in song lures to measure memory for lyrics and for binding between lyrics and the melody. Binding effects were measured both by looking directly at the recognition of the correct melodic context, but also assessing the influence of melodic context on the lyrics recognition.

Lyrics recognition

As hypothesized, the LTL group was strongly impaired on lyrics recognition as compared to RTL and controls, supporting the left lateralization of lyrics encoding. Surprisingly, the RTL group also showed worse recognition of lyrics than controls. Nevertheless, it is worth noting RTL lyric recognition performance was significantly better than that of LTL patients. These differences cannot be attributed to differences in intelligence since both patient groups had normal IOs and the level of education was similar among the three groups. However, although RTL did not show a significant verbal impairment as shown by the RAVLT, their scores were slightly lower than that of the controls. It is possible that embedding verbal information into the melodies may have magnified the differences in verbal memory between controls and patients. Of note, it has been suggested that the recognition of lyrics in a song may be harder than on the presentation of spoken lyrics (Samson and Zatorre, 1991), which may account for the present RTL deficit. In addition, few case studies (Peters et al., 2009) have supported the influence of right medial temporal lobe regions on verbal recollection, in agreement with the present results. Indeed, the global correlation found between lyrics recognition and verbal memory further supports this interpretation. Thus, we suggest that the present deficit in RTL is more likely to be related to verbal memory deficits.

Based on the prosody literature, another alternative interpretation involves deficits in contour aspects of verbal processing that are known to be right lateralized (Buchanan et al., 2000; Dara, 2014; Gordon et al., 2011; Pell, 2006; Ross, 1988; Zatorre & Baum, 2012; for a review see Frederici, 2011; Lindell, 2006). Although the spared left hemisphere carries the major processing of verbal information, prosodic components may be intrinsically paired with lyrics encoding, accounting for the deficit found in RTL patients. However, this interpretation is at odds with findings by Adolph and colleagues (2001), who have shown that emotional prosody recognition was spared after anteromedial temporal lobe excision. It is nevertheless possible that such finding remain specific to emotional information. Interestingly, a

neuroimaging study comparing the processing of pitch patterns in song and speech revealed that prosody in speech involved left lateralized activations in contrast with the pitch processing in a song that was right lateralized (Merril et al., 2012). Taking these findings into account, it is possible that the RTL deficit in lyrics processing may be related to the melodic processing in the lyrics, beyond a prosodic deficit. In other words, if binding of lyrics and melodies may account for lyrics recognition, a deficit in binding could affect the recognition of the elements, in this case the lyrics.

Binding of lyrics and melodies

To test the binding of lyrics and their melodic context in memory, we looked at explicit melodic context recognition within recognized lyrics trials, as well as the implicit effect of melodic context in lyrics recognition.

In line with our hypothesis, melodic context recognition was equally impaired after both LTL and RTL lesion. This suggests a bilateral contribution of the medial temporal lobes in lyric and melody binding. Nevertheless, one important limitation in this study is that melody recognition per se was not examined. This experimental choice was taken to provide a short task that would maximize patients' memory performance. Thus, given the relevance of verbal processing, we chose to focus on the encoding of lyrics and their melodic context. Melodies were always repeated, so that participants could not rely on them to succeed in either lyrics or melodic context recognition tasks. Therefore, the results on melodic context recognition shown by the control group reflect the successful binding of lyrics with the related melodies in this group. However, although the question in the task was related to the correct binding of elements (recognition of the melodic context for a given recognized lyric) and participants were aware that melodies could not be new, the inability to recognize melodies may have resulted in similar performance to the hypothesized deficit in binding with this experimental design. Thus, we cannot exclude that melody recognition deficits may have influenced the failure in melodic context recognition shown by both patients groups. Hence, we will interpret our results with caution, taking this caveat into account in relation with the previous literature.

Deficits in melody processing for patients with RTL excision has been previously shown in perceptual (Zatorre and Halpern, 1993) and memory tasks (Samson and Zatorre,

1991, 1992). For this reason, it is very likely that a deficit in melodic processing in RTL could account for the observed melodic context recognition impairment. Conversely, it has been suggested that the LTL only present deficits in melody recognition when melodies are presented embedded in a song (Samson and Zatorre, 1991). This evidence supports the idea that songs may be initially represented in an integrated way. When the integrated representation is damaged, then access to the elements may be hindered even for the element that is not directly impaired. This interpretation can also accommodate the present deficit of the RTL on lyric recognition. Importantly, melodic context recognition was only evaluated within correct recognized lyric trials. Thus, the lyrics recognition impairment found in LTL is not sufficient to account for the melodic context recognition deficit in this group. These results are in line with previous neuroimaging findings highlighting the role of the left hippocampus on song integration (Alonso et al., 2014a), and support a deficit in binding lyrics with melodies in the LTL patients.

However, it is possible that the implication of right and left damaged regions in binding may not be fully symmetrical. In Alonso and colleagues (2014a), right hippocampal sclerosis patients did not show any significant impairment in adaptation, either for lyrics or for the integration of lyrics and melody. Since melodic recognition deficits have only been reported in patients following a medial temporal lobe resection, it is possible that those deficits are not directly linked to hippocampal damage only. Indeed, Samson and Zatorre (1991) failed to find a direct correlation between hippocampal resection size and melody recognition deficits, suggesting that, unlike binding, melody recognition may not depend on the hippocampus so strongly. However, given our experimental protocol, it is not possible to disambiguate the extent to which deficits shown by RTL, who had full hippocampal removal, are related to melody only and/or binding failure.

In a recent fMRI experiment (Alonso et al., 2014b) we were able to identify the right hippocampus as a key structure for the binding of lyrics and melodies in healthy participants. Although such involvement was more evident when subjects were presented with lyrics and melodies separately than when songs were presented as a whole -like in the present experiment-, simple contrast also pointed out that both right and left hippocampus were more active during successful encoding trials in which unified songs were presented. Therefore, while LTL lesions may have affected binding of songs already at a perceptual level hindering 142

memory binding, we hypothesize that effects shown by RTL patients may reflect a) the involvement of cortical surrounding structures in melody recognition and b) the role of the right hippocampus in memory binding processes.

If an integrated representation would have been formed, then such representation could implicitly facilitate the recognition of the lyrics (Serafine et al., 1984). To look at the particular influence of binding in lyrics recognition, d' of lyrics recognition on the different melodic context (original and rearranged songs) were compared in a repeated measures ANOVA. The results showed that lyrics on original songs were better recognized than lyrics on rearranged songs by all participants in line with the integrated processing of songs view (Serafine et al., 1984,1986; Crowder, 1990; Gordon, 2011). Interestingly, this finding confirms that an integrated percept of the song, including the melodic information, may be preserved and used for lyrics recognition despite the deficit found for the explicit recognition of the melodic context. This suggest that although the explicit recognition of the melodic context seems to be impaired in both patient groups, implicit effects of binding on lyrics (item) recognition may be preserved to certain extent. The preservation of implicit effects form a bound representation along with a deficit on the explicit recognition of contextual information, is in line with a previous dissociation found in temporal lobe damaged patients (Shimamura, 1986; Verfaelllie et al., 2012), as well as neuroimaging data showing the implication of the hippocampus in explicit recognition of contextual information, but not in implicit effects of contextual learning (Preston and Gabrieli, 2008).

However, this lack of group differences for this implicit effect is at odds with the perceptual integration deficits found for left hippocampal patients (Alonso et al., 2014a), as well as with the proposed interpretation for the lyric recognition deficit found in RTL patients. Moreover, some studies also suggest a deficit in implicit memory shown by priming in this patient population (Yang et al., 2003). Future studies looking at perceptual integration and memory binding in songs for this particular population are encouraged to reconcile these findings.

Altogether, the study of song memory sheds light on the similarities (Besson and Schön, 2003; for a review see Koelsch, 2013; Patel, 2008; Schön et al., 2005) and differences (Besson et al., 1998; Hébert and Peretz, 2001; Peretz & Coltheart, 2003) between language

and music processing. This is relevant from a clinical viewpoint, since it raises the potential development of re-education programs based on the spared function (Baur et al., 2000; Thaut et al., 2008; Simmons-Stern et al., 2012). In particular for patients with temporal lobe epilepsy, differences in the implication of right and left MTL structures in song processing may support the development of neuropsychological test that could be used for the functional assessment of patients. A comprehensive functional assessment of temporal lobe epilepsy patients constitutes an important piece of information for the evaluation of the possible implementation of surgical treatment, and its outcome (Dupont et al., 2010; Djiordjevic et al., 2011; Baxendale, 2008, Helmstaedter et al., 2008). The present results constitute a step forward in understanding the underlying mechanisms for binding lyrics and melodies in the memory for songs, and the expected deficits that as a result of left or right TL lesions.

Conclusion

In sum, we provide novel evidence for the role of left and right medial temporal lobe structures on memory for songs. We support the established deficit of LTL for verbal encoding, as well as for the binding of lyrics with melodies in songs. Furthermore, our data suggest that lyrics recognition can also be affected, although to a smaller extent in RTL patients, supporting a negative influence of the sung presentation of lyrics in memory. Interestingly, an implicit integration effect on lyrics recognition was found in all groups, suggesting that this kind of integration is speared in these patients. Future neuroimaging studies on this particular patient population designed to dissociate lyric, melody and joint contribution of this elements to song memory, may clarify on the issues raised by the present findings.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Piotr Radowicz and Anna Bodifflard for their helpful assistance. The research leading to these results has received funding from an ERS Marie-Curie fellowship to Irene Alonso by the European Community's Seventh Framework Program under the EBRAMUS project - grant agreement n° 238157, a personal fellowship to Irene

Alonso by "LaCaixa Foundation" and from the program "Investissements d'avenir" ANR-10-IAIHU-06 and from Institut Universitaire de France to Séverine Samson.

References

- Adolphs, R., Tranel, D., & Damasio, H. (2001). Emotion recognition from faces and prosody following temporal lobectomy. *Neuropsychology*, 15 (3), 396-404.
- Alonso, I., Sammler, D., Valabrégue, R., Dinkelacker, V., Dupont, S., Belin, P., & Samson, S. (2014a). Hippocampal Sclerosis Affects fMR-Adaptation of Lyrics and Melodies in Songs. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8, 111.
- Alonso, I., Davachi, L., Valabrègue, R., Dupont, S. & Samson, S. (2014b, November) Singing in the brain: neural correlates of auditory binding of lyrics and melodies. (775.11) In A. Preston (chair), *Long-Term Memory: Medial Temporal Lobe*. Symposium conducted at the Society for Neuroscience Annual meeting, Washington D.C., US.
- Baur, B., Uttner, I., Ilmberger, J., Fesl, G., & Mai, N. (2000). Music memory provides access to verbal knowledge in a patient with global amnesia. *Neurocase*, *6* (5), 415-421.
- Baxendale, S. (2008). The impact of epilepsy surgery on cognition and behavior. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, 12, 592-599.
- Besson, M., & Schön, D. (2003). Comparison between Language and Music. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 930 (1), 232-258.
- Besson, M., Faita, F., Peretz, I., Bonnel, A.-M., & Requin, J. (1998). Singing in the Brain: Independence of Lyrics and Tunes. *Psychological Science*, *9* (6), 494-498.
- Bussey, T. J., & Saksida, L. M. (2005). Object memory and perception in the medial temporal lobe: an alternative approach. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 15 (6), 730-737.
- Crowder, R. G., Serafine, M. L., & Repp, B. (1990). Physical interaction and association by contiguity in memory for the words and melodies of songs. *Memory & Cognition*, 18 (5), 469-476.

- Dara, C., Bang, J., Gottesman, R. F., & Hillis, A. E. (2014). Right hemisphere dysfunction is better predicted by emotional prosody impairments as compared to neglect. *Journal of neurology & translational neuroscience*, 2 (1), 1037.
- Davachi, L. (2006). Item, context and relational episodic encoding in humans. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 16 (6), 693-700.
- Diana, R. A., Yonelinas, A. P., & Ranganath, C. (2007). Imaging recollection and familiarity in the medial temporal lobe: a three-component model. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 11 (9), 379-386.
- Djordjevic, J., Smith, M. L., Sziklas, V., Piper, D., Pénicaud, S., & Jones-Gotman, M. (2011).The story learning and memory (SLAM) test: Equivalence of three forms and sensitivity to left temporal lobe dysfunction. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, 20 (3), 518-523.
- Dupont, S., Duron, E., Samson, S., Denos, M., Volle, E., Delmaire, C., Navarro, V., Chiras, J., Léhericy, S., Samson, Y. & Baulac, M. (2010). Functional MR Imaging or Wada Test: Which Is the Better Predictor of Individual Postoperative Memory Outcome? *Radiology*, 255 (1), 128-134.
- Ehrlé, N. (1998). *Traitement temporel de l'information auditive et lobe temporal.* Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Université de Reims.
- Friederici, A. D. (2011). The Brain Basis of Language Processing: From Structure to Function. *Physiological Reviews*, *91* (4), 1357-1392.
- Gordon, R. L., Magne, C. L., & Large, E. W. (2011). EEG Correlates of Song Prosody: A New Look at the Relationship between Linguistic and Musical Rhythm. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2, 352.
- Graham, K. S. (2006). Abnormal Categorization and Perceptual Learning in Patients with Hippocampal Damage. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26 (29), 7547-7554.
- Graham, K. S., Barense, M. D., & Lee, A. H. (2010). Going beyond LTM in the MTL: A synthesis of neuropsychological and neuroimaging findings on the role of the medial temporal lobe in memory and perception. *Neuropsychologia*, 48 (4), 831-853.
- Lee, H., A., & Rudebeck, S. R. (2010). Human Medial Temporal Lobe Damage Can Disrupt the Perception of Single Objects. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *30* (19), 6588-6594.
- Lee, H., A., & Rudebeck, S. R. (2010). Investigating the Interaction between Spatial Perception and Working Memory in the Human Medial Temporal Lobe. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 22 (12), 2823-2835.
- Lee, H., A., Bussey, T. J., Murray, E. A., Saksida, L. M., Epstein, R. A., Kapur, N., Hodges, J. R. & Graham, K. S. (2005). Perceptual deficits in amnesia: challenging the medial temporal lobe 'mnemonic' view. *Neuropsychologia*, 43 (1), 1-11.
- Hébert, S., & Peretz, I. (2001). Are text and tune of familiar songs separable by brain damage? *Brain and Cognition*, 46 (1-2), 169-175.
- Helmstaedter, C., Loer, B., Wohlfahrt, R., Hammen, A., Saar, J., Steinhoff, B. J., Quiske, A.
 & Schulze-Bonhage, A. (2008). The effects of cognitive rehabilitation on memory outcome after temporal lobe epilepsy surgery. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, 12 (3), 402-409.
- Koelsch, S. (2013). Brain and music. Oxford, UK: John Wiley and sons.
- Lindell, A. K. (2006). In Your Right Mind: Right Hemisphere Contributions to Language Processing and Production. *Neuropsychology Review*, *16* (3), 131-148.
- Merrill, J., Sammler, D., Bangert, M., Goldhahn, D., Lohmann, G., Turner, R., and Friederici,
 A. D. (2012). Perception of Words and Pitch Patterns in Song and Speech. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *3*, 76.
- Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: The Edinburgh Inventory. , S., Johnsrude, I. S., & Griffiths, T. D. (2002). The processing of temporal pitch and melody information in auditory cortex. *Neuron*, 36(4), 767-776.
- Pell, M. D. (2006). Cerebral mechanisms for understanding emotional prosody in speech. Brain and Language, 96 (2), 221-234.
- Peretz, I., & Coltheart, M. (2003). Modularity of music processing. *Nature Neuroscience*, 6, 688-691.

- Peretz, I., Radeau, M., & Arguin, M. (2004). Two-way interactions between music and language: Evidence from priming recognition of tune and lyrics in familiar songs. *Memory & Cognition*, 32(1), 142-152.
- Peters, J., Thoma, P., Koch, B., Schwarz, M., & Daum, I. (2009). Impairment of verbal recollection following ischemic damage to the right anterior hippocampus. *Cortex*, 45 (5), 592-601.
- Peynircioglu, Z. F., Rabinovitz, B. E., & Thompson, J. . (2008). Memory and metamemory for songs: the relative effectiveness of titles, lyrics, and melodies as cues for each other. *Psychology of Music*, 36 (1), 47-61.
- Preston, A. R., & Gabrieli, J. D. (2008). Dissociation between explicit memory and configural memory in the human medial temporal lobe. *Cerebral Cortex*, *18*(9), 2192-2207.
- Ranganath, C. (2010). Binding Items and Contexts: The Cognitive Neuroscience of Episodic Memory. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 19 (3), 131-137.
- Ross, E. D., Edmondson, J. A., Seibert, G. B., & Homan, R. W. (1988). Acoustic analysis of affective prosody during right-sided Wada test: A within-subjects verification of the right hemisphere's role in language. *Brain and Language*, 33 (1), 128-145.
- Sammler, D., Baird, A., Valabregue, R., Clement, S., Dupont, S., Belin, P., & Samson, S. (2010). The Relationship of Lyrics and Tunes in the Processing of Unfamiliar Songs: A Functional Magnetic Resonance Adaptation Study. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30 (10), 3572-3578.
- Samson, S., & Zatorre, R. J. (1991). Recognition memory for text and melody of songs after unilateral temporal lobe lesion: Evidence for dual encoding. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 17 (4), 793-804.
- Samson, S., & Zatorre, R. (1992). Learning and retention of melodic and verbal information after unilateral temporal lobectomy. *Neuropsychologia*, *30* (9), 815-826.
- Schön, D., Boyer, M., Moreno, S., Besson, M., Peretz, I., & Kolinsky, R. (2008). Songs as an aid for language acquisition. *Cognition*, 106 (2), 975-983.

- Schön, D., Gordon, R., Campagne, A., Magne, C., Astésano, C., Anton, J-L. & Besson, M. (2010). Similar cerebral networks in language, music and song perception. *NeuroImage* , 51 (1), 450-461.
- Schön, D., L., G. R., & Besson, M. (2005). Musical and Linguistic Processing in Song Perception. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1060 (1), 71-81.
- Serafine, M., Crowder, R. G., & Repp, B. (1984). Integration of melody and text in memory for songs. *Cognition*, *16* (3), 285-303.
- Serafine, M., Davison, J., Crowder, R. G., & Repp, B. (1986). On the nature of melody-text integration in memory for songs. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 25 (2), 123-135.
- Shastri, L. (2002). Episodic memory and cortico-hippocampal interactions. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, 6 (4), 162-168.
- Shimamura, A. P. (1986). Priming effects in amnesia: Evidence for a dissociable memory function. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, *38*(4), 619-644.
- Simmons-Stern, N. R., Deason, R. G., Brandler, B. J., Frustace, B. S., O'Connor, M. K., Ally,
 B. A., & Budson, A. E. (2012). Music-based memory enhancement in Alzheimer's Disease: Promise and limitations. *Neuropsychologia*, 50 (14), 3295-3303.
- Sziklas, V., & Jones-Gotman, M. (2008). RAVLT and nonverbal analog: French forms and clinical findings. *The Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences*, *35* (03), 323-330.
- Thaut, M. H., Peterson, D. A., Sena, K. M., & Mcintosh, G. C. (2008). Musical structure facilitates verbal learning in multiple sclerosis. *Music Perception*, 25 (4), 325-330.
- Verfaelllie, M., LaRocque, K. F., & Keane, M. M. (2012). Intact implicit verbal relational memory in medial temporal lobe amnesia. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(8), 2100-2106.
- Yang, J., Weng, X., Guan, L., Kuang, P., Zhang, M., Sun, W., ... & Patterson, K. (2003). Involvement of the medial temporal lobe in priming for new associations. *Neuropsychologia*, 41(7), 818-829.

- Zatorre, R. J., & Baum, S. R. (2012). Musical Melody and Speech Intonation: Singing a Different Tune. *PLoS Biology*, *10* (7), e1001372.
- Zatorre, R. J., & Halpern, A. R. (1993). Effect of unilateral temporal-lobe excision on perception and imagery of songs. *Neuropsychologia*, *31* (3), 221-232.
- Zatorre, R. J., Halpern, A. R., & Bouffard, M. (2010). Mental Reversal of Imagined Melodies: A Role for the Posterior Parietal Cortex. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 22 (4), 775-789.

Table 1 | Demographic data (Mean ± SD)

Group	Sex (males females)	Age	Years of education	Musical expertise	BAIS-V
LTL (n=10)	7 3	43.2 ± 9.43	12.8 ± 2.25	6.8 ± 7.31	5.49 ± 0.89
RTL (n=10)	4 6	48.4 ± 7.56	11.9 ± 1.19	3.35 ± 0.74	5.44 ± 1.25
Control (n=19)	9 10	41.42 ± 13.09	13.52 ± 2.09	6.26 ± 3.46	5.19 ± 0.76

Table 2 | Neuropsychological data

Group (<i>n</i>)	Age *	FS IQ WAIS-R	RAVLT (∑R1-R5)	Digit span (direct order)
LTL (n=10)	39.8 ± 10.31	91.7 ± 6.94	46.5 ± 4.79	5.7 ± 1.33
RTL (n=10)	44.11 ± 8.17	91.2 ± 10.46	48.6 ± 17.78	5.66 ± 0.86
Normal healthy^	32 ± 9.87		56.25 ± 6.71	

*Age at neuropsychological evaluation; ^ Independent Normal healthy sample

Table 3 | Stimuli creation for each melody pair and triplet of lyrics

	Lyric 1	Lyric 2	Lyric 3
Melody A	Original song	Rearranged song	New-lyric song
Melody B	Rearranged song	Original song	New-lyric song

Lyrics recognition Melodic context recognition %Correct d' %Correct AUC p(AUC) Control 0.97 3.77 0.81 0.89 0.00 1.00 4.35 0.79 0.80 0.00 0.94 3.11 0.67 0.67 0.04 0.92 2.99 0.77 0.80 0.00 0.92 2.85 0.70 0.71 0.02 0.99 4.07 0.70 0.68 0.04 0.92 2.68 0.76 0.78 0.00 0.99 4.07 0.79 0.86 0.00 0.96 3.46 0.70 0.68 0.04 0.97 3.77 0.70 0.74 0.00 0.96 3.57 0.87 0.86 0.00 0.97 3.77 0.80 0.81 0.00 0.97 3.77 0.91 0.91 0.00 0.94 2.88 0.67 0.72 0.01 0.97 0.63 3.77 0.62 0.11 0.90 2.77 0.59 0.65 0.08 0.94 3.42 0.73 0.76 0.00 0.90 2.54 0.73 0.70 0.01 0.96 3.46 0.63 0.62 0.15 LTL 0.79 0.53 0.74 1.82 0.61 0.53 0.71 0.58 0.56 0.46 0.68 0.82 0.71 0.76 0.01 0.82 2.65 0.63 0.63 0.21 0.69 1.04 0.58 0.50 1.00 0.63 0.44 0.56 0.62 0.23 0.71 1.16 0.52 0.50 0.97 0.84 1.99 0.66 0.62 0.10 0.81 1.58 0.55 0.58 0.40 0.90 2.54 0.76 0.73 0.01 RTL 0.85 2.12 0.80 0.83 0.00

Table 4 | Recognition performance

0.86	2.08	0.56	0.55	0.59
0.68	2.09	0.48	0.48	0.87
0.90	2.86	0.56	0.57	0.42
0.90	2.64	0.51	0.50	1.00
0.79	1.52	0.58	0.59	0.34
0.94	3.11	0.50	0.54	0.63
0.90	2.88	0.74	0.76	0.00
0.63	1.02	0.64	0.66	0.18
0.94	3.42	0.63	0.73	0.01

Chapter 7 : Study 3

Figure 1. Illustration of a left (blue) and of a right (green) median temporal lobe resection (volume before surgery in the upper row, volume after surgery in the lower row) displaying the coronal, the axial and the sagital planes at the level of the hippocampus.



Figure 2. Mean lyrics Recognition (*d' scores*) for the three groups of participants (LTL: left temporal lobe lesion in blue; RTL: right temporal lobe lesion in green; Control group in orange). *p < 0.05; Error bars: Standard Error.





Chapter 7 : Study 3

Figure 3. Lyrics Recognition (*d' scores*) and Verbal Memory correlation (as measured by the addition of the 5 successive recognition results in the RAVLT test). Blue circles represent patients with left temporal lobe lesion (LTL) and green circles, patients with right temporal lobe lesion (RTL).* p < 0.05.



Lyrics Recognition and Verbal Memory Correlation

Figure 4. Mean Melodic Context recognition (AUC) for the three groups of participants (LTL: left temporal lobe lesion in blue; RTL: right temporal lobe lesion in green; Control group in orange). *p < 0.05; Error bars: Standard Error.



Melodic Context Recognition

Figure 5. Mean Lyrics Recognition (*d' scores*) by Melodic Context for the three groups of participants. (LTL: left temporal lobe lesion in blue; RTL: right temporal lobe lesion in green; Control group in orange) *p < 0.05; Error bars: Standard Error.



Lyrics Recognition by Melody Context

1. Summary of results

The present thesis has explored the involvement of the hippocampus in binding lyrics and melodies into songs. **Chapter 1** introduced the state-of-the-art on binding from a broad memory perspective. Then, background on music and particularly song processing was provided. Previous research on song production, song perception, song imagery and song memory was presented. This cumulative evidence motivates the core question of this work on the neural substrate of integrative process of lyrics and melodies. The present thesis investigates and articulates this question for the first time in terms of binding. Thus, this work focuses particularly on binding that leads to an integrated memory trace of songs. The involvement of the hippocampus in song binding was investigated using neuropsychology and fMRI methods. Patients with hippocampal lesions as well as healthy subjects participated in these studies.

Study 1 addresses the first question formulated in the introduction "*Can a hippocampus lesion disrupt the integrated percept of new unfamiliar songs?*". **Study 2** addresses both the second "*Is the hippocampus involved in binding lyrics and melodies for the encoding of songs?* What other structures may also be involved?" and third research questions "*Is there a difference between unified and separate presentation of lyrics and melody for song encoding?*". **Study 3** responds to "*How does a temporal lobe lesion including the hippocampus affect song recognition?*". All of these studies used songs that were manipulated differently to address these research questions. After briefly summarize the main findings of each study, further considerations will be discussed.

The aim of **Study 1** was to assess the modulatory effects of unilateral hippocampal sclerosis on the integration of lyrics and melodies into a conjunctive representation. Neural responses of patients with left or right hippocampal sclerosis were compared to healthy controls using an fMR-adaptation paradigm. Neural adaptation to song repetition was examined as a proxy for song memory formation. It was hypothesized that damage to the hippocampus may disrupt feedback connections to the lateral temporal lobe, and thus preclude

the establishment and update of a sensory memory trace. As a consequence, damage to the hippocampus may result in weaker neural adaptation in the superior temporal gyrus (STG). In particular, it was hypothesized that hippocampal lesions might hinder the integration of lyrics and melodies into a unified memory trace (Diana et al., 2007, Staresina and Davachi, 2009; Graham et al., 2010; Shimamura, 2010). The results showed that patients with left hippocampal sclerosis had significantly less adaptation to lyrics as well as to the integration between lyrics and melodies relative to healthy control participants. Thus, a left hippocampus lesion can disrupt the integrated percept of new unfamiliar songs.

Study 2 aimed to examine the cerebral substrate underlying the binding of lyrics and melodies during encoding of songs. Binding of lyrics and melodies took place in two different conditions. In the unified condition, sung lyrics were aurally presented while written lyrics were displayed, and participants were asked to mentally rehearse the song. In the separate condition, elements of the song were presented separately. Melodies sung using the syllable "la" were presented aurally while written lyrics were simultaneously displayed, requiring the participant to mentally combine these two pieces of information into a unified auditory representation of the song and to mentally rehearse and retain it. Binding was addressed by asking subjects to correctly recognize the studied songs (presented exclusively in auditory modality) among other rearranged songs, which contained studied lyrics of one song incorrectly combined with the melody from another studied song. We ensured with an ad-hoc song plausibility test that all participants were able to covertly rehearse a given song and use imagery to create a song from a given melody and written lyrics.

Behavioral analysis using receiving operating curves revealed that all subjects recognized songs in the unified presentation, whereas seven participants were at chance for recognizing songs in the separate presentation. This indicates that the additional cognitive effort required for binding on the separate condition has a behavioral trade-off compared to binding on the unified condition, where the integrated representation was already provided. Overall, our results highlighted the involvement of the right hippocampus along with an auditory-motor network engaged in timing and sequencing processing for binding following the separate presentation of lyrics and melodies. Moreover, the involvement of the left IFG found for binding in the unified condition provides novel evidence for the contribution of this structure to language unification in the specific case of song binding. Responding to our 160

research questions, hippocampus is involved in binding lyrics and melodies for the encoding of songs, and other structures such as the striatum, the cerebellum, and the left IFG are also involved. Importantly, there is a difference between unified and separate presentation of lyrics and melody for song encoding, as these two types of presentation would recruit different networks to achieve successful song encoding.

Study 3 investigates the effects of unilateral temporal lobe lesions, including the hippocampus, on lyric and song recognition. The healthy control group performed better than both patient groups for lyrics recognition. It is worth noting that these differences cannot be attributed to differences in intelligence since patients had normal IQs and the level of education was similar among the three groups. Particularly the LTL group was strongly impaired on lyric recognition, with some participants performing below chance, and thus confirming the left lateralization of lyric encoding. Surprisingly, the RTL group also showed worst recognition of lyrics than controls, although their performance was still significantly better than that of LTL patients. In keeping with our predictions, both LTL and RTL showed a deficit in binding recognition as compared to the healthy control group. However, all participants showed a benefit for lyrics recognition when lyrics were presented with the original melodic context, suggesting an implicit influence of melodic context on lyrics recognition. In sum, a temporal lobe lesion including the hippocampus affect lyric and melodic context recognition to different extents, and particularly regarding the integration of lyrics with their melodic context, explicit recognition of melodic context and the implicit influence of melodic context on lyrics recognition seem to be dissociated.

Based on the combined evidence reported here, a framework for the binding of lyrics and melodies in songs is proposed. Binding occurs at two serial stages: first, at a perceptual stage for the emergence of an integrated representation, and second, during a mnemonic stage where the integrated representation is encoded for its later recognition.

2. Implications and limitations of the thesis

a. The emergence of an integrated song representation

From a physical perspective, song stimuli consist of a sound wave that condenses auditory information – including verbal content – into a discrete signal. Although the

psychological interpretation of that signal, under healthy circumstances, will provide the sensation of an integrated auditory object, the song components (mainly melody and lyrics, but also at different level, rhythm (Schulkind, 1999), harmonics, timbre, etc) are processed in disperse areas of the brain. This explains the independence shown by these elements in terms of memory (Halpern and Müllensiefen, 2007; Jerde et al., 2011; Parsons, 2001; Racette and Peretz, 2007), malleability by expertise (Jakobson et al., 2003; Radvansky et al., 1995; Schulze et al., 2011; Tervaniemi, 2009) and also following brain damage (Omar et al., 2010; Peretz and Coltheart, 2003; Peretz et al., 2004; Stewart et al., 2006).

Notably, we focus on the integration of melody and lyrics as they relate to two distinct cognitive domains: Music and Language. These two domains, however, have shown a vast overlap in their use of brain resources (Besson and Schön, 2003; Patel, 2008; Schön et al., 2004). This is not surprising, since both are auditory-based communicational systems that rely on the hierarchical organization of sounds. However, they differ on the sound characteristics upon which their element "identities" and hierarchy rules are based. The frequency of a wave, for instance, will determine pitch, and the length of that sound wave the duration, forming a note. The following notes will relate to it in terms of the particular alignment to a beat (temporal regularity predictions based on durations), as well as the relative frequency distance, that may or may not match the harmonic rules of the western system such that a western listener would cluster the sequence of sounds as a coherent melody.

In the case of language, other variables may be more crucial, for instance the phonological utterances, semantics and syntactic categories of words. Phonemes are culturedependent sound units of speech, which when combined allow the creation and differentiation of words. Phonemes differ from one another in small variations, produced for instance by the differences in vibration onset (i.e. /p/ and /b/), or other minimal variations on the sound spectrum related for instance to the articulation, or the place of sound production within the vocal tract (i.e. /t/, /k/, /g/). Note that this is cultural-dependent and specific to each language, since the perceptual thresholds, as well as the ability to produce the sounds, will become restricted to meaningful sounds within the native culture. This is illustrated by the difficulties of second language learners to distinguish and learn new sounds that are not present in their native language (Hayes-Harb, 2007).

2.Implications and limitations of the thesis

Perhaps, one of the reasons for which songs are so powerful and widespread, is that they combine both systems to a bound representation, providing aesthetic auditory information that also conveys meaning and emotion. Evidence from behavioral studies has suggested that integration occur both through temporal contiguity and physical feature interaction. The latter mechanism is very relevant to the binding view, since it assumes a conjunctive representation that may be distinct than the individual representation of lyrics and melodies. Thus song listening would elicit a rich integrated percept. During the last decade, few neuroimaging studies have explored the neural substrate underlying song integration as compared to the independent processing of elements (Sammler et al., 2010; Schön et al, 2010; Merrill et al., 2012). These studies agree on the relevance of the left posterior STG/STS in processing an integrated representation of songs. However, binding models that combine computational, animal, neuropsychological and neuroimaging evidence suggest that the MTL is relevant for the encoding of conjunction representations.

The hippocampus has been described as the main structure involved in processing conjunctive representations. Indeed, a growing corpus of literature suggests that hippocampal function is not restricted to episodic memory. Recent studies have shown that the hippocampus is also involved in perception (Lee et al., 2005a, 2005b, 2006; Lee and Rudebeck, 2010b; Schapiro et al., 2012) and also in short term memory (Axmacher et al., 2007; Lee and Rudebeck, 2010a; Rose et al., 2012; Zarahn et al., 2004), as long as there is a need for conjunctive processing (binding), across space and/or time (for a review see Olsen et al., 2012). In this vein, studies supporting this view highlight the functional connectivity of the hippocampus with other neocortical regions, and the feedback and feedforward of information within this network that sustains the emergence of new memories (early from perception throughout encoding and consolidation) and the recognition of old ones (Cer and O'Reilly, 2006; Lavenex and Amaral, 2000; McCormick et al., 2010; Wang and Morris, 2010). This is also in agreement with the EMA memory model (Graham et al., 2010). According to this model, the same anatomically distributed network responds for both memory and perception with some structures being more or less important than others at different stages of the process. Memory arises from a dynamic interaction between neocortical regions, were representations are stored, and MTL function that allows the instauration, consolidation/update and retrieval of the representations.

Building on these ideas, applied on the case of song processing, the first research question of this thesis is formulated "*Can a hippocampus lesion disrupt the integrated percept of new unfamiliar songs?*". Although integration of lyrics and melody during song perception has been mostly found to rely on posterior areas of the STG, if the hippocampus loop of information is necessary for the emergence of an integrated memory trace, then patients with damage in this structure should show integration deficits. **Study 1** was subsequently designed to quantify the effect of a unilateral hippocampal lesion on neural adaptation for songs.

Study 1 borrowed the fMRI-adaptation paradigm developed by Sammler and colleagues (2010) and applied it with hippocampal sclerosis patients. This particular setting was pertinent to the study of binding features since such repetitions may increasingly lead to the build-up of a memory trace in addition to the well-known perceptual neural priming effects. Furthermore, another strength of this paradigm is that it allows dissociation of the processing of elements within the presentation of unified songs. In other words, lyrics and melodies were always embedded in a song, but the differential variation of one, both or none of the elements allowed for several comparisons to assess specific effects related to each element or to the integration of the song. This approach differs from the **Study 2** where we compared unified to separate song elements presentation.

Healthy participants and patients in **Study 1** showed a similar adaptation profile in response to lyrics and melodies repetitions as shown in Sammler et al., (2010). This general lack of differences between patients and the control group in the main effect indicates that perceptual processes in response to neural adaptation at a cortical level seem to be spared in this clinical population. Nevertheless, areas of adaptation from the patient groups were less extended. Furthermore when compared to the control group, left temporal lobe epilepsy patients (LTLE) showed a significant difference in the left STS whereby LTLE had less adaptation to lyrics than controls. This is coherent with the verbal deficits shown in the neurological assessment (RAVLT forgetting percentages (Sziklas and Jones-Gotman, 2008).

Independent processing of lyrics found in the anterior most parts of the bilateral STG in the healthy group corroborated the general dominance of the verbal component on song processing. Conversely, although none of the patient groups showed a similar independent

2.Implications and limitations of the thesis

effect of lyrics, both patient groups showed independent processing of melody in the cerebellum. This finding may be interpreted in terms of compensatory processing, as such activations are not found in the control group. The cerebellum has being previously shown to be involved in the singing network (Callan et al., 2007), and has been related to rhythmic processing (Molinari et al., 2007; O'Reilly et al., 2008; Thaut, 2003). Although at a different stage in the perceptual-mnemonic continuum, this interpretation is in line with results form the GLM on **Study 2**, which showed that successful encoding in the separate condition engaged the cerebellum to a greater extent than in the unified condition. Taking this evidence into consideration, it is possible that patients in **Study 1** may have processed songs in a more segregated fashion than healthy participants, therefore engaging the cerebellum for musical processing.

The main novel contribution of **Study 1** is the highlight of a top-down modulating role of the left hippocampus to support cortical integration, or in other words, the perceptual binding of lyrics and melody. LTLE patients showed reduced adaptation to integration as compared to healthy controls. The results from healthy participants reported in **Study 1** support the role of the posterior STG/STS on the integrative processing of songs. Although previous studies have shown only left lateralized activations, **Study 1** shows novel evidence for a bilateral contribution of this structure, suggesting that the right posterior STG/STS cortex may also support song integration. Note that the described integration process is based on the interaction and therefore differs from the addition of the two elements. This latter idea is underlined by the results on **Study 2**, where the comparison of unified presentation of lyrics and melody in a song against the separate presentation of elements revealed grater activation of the bilateral posterior STG. This evidence suggests that a particular bound representation is formed during perception in this area of the temporal lobe, which is specific to an integrated acoustical signal.

It is unclear, however, if the detrimental processing shown by the LTLE group may be directly or indirectly due to hippocampal malfunctioning. The study of healthy participants have failed to found direct activation or adaptation in the hippocampus during passive listening to song repetitions. However, it is important to note that effects in the hippocampus with fMRI-adaptation paradigms have mainly been reported when the instructions induced an explicit encoding task (Diana et al., 2012; Johnson et al., 2004), a one-back size judgment

(Ganel et al., 2006), or in a human-nature categorization task (Blondin and Lepage, 2005). Thus, it is possible that effects elicited by passive listening may not have been strong enough to be sensitive to MTL function under our statistical threshold, so the direct hippocampal implication at this perceptual stage needs further investigation. Instead, the literature is consistent with the latter indirect interpretation. Damage due to left hippocampal sclerosis hinders feed forward –feedback modulations established between the hippocampus and the cortex. Such loops of information guarantee the updating and integration of information leading to the build-up of a memory trace (Eichenbaum, 2000; McCormick et al., 2010; Nee and Jonides, 2011; Olsen et al., 2012; Shastri, 2002).

One caveat of **Study 1** is that, since it was focused on perceptual aspects, no behavioral data on recognition of songs was collected. That data could have been used to relate the present perceptual effects to encoding deficits. Nevertheless, results from **Study 3** showing recognition impairments on the bound representation of lyrics and melodies in both right and left temporal lobe damaged patients support this interpretation. Overall, these data provide a novel contribution to the current literature, suggesting that the integration shown in healthy participants is tied to the integrity of the medial temporal lobe and its connections with the lateral temporal cortex.

b. Encoding of an integrated song representation

The present thesis proposes the idea that the encoding of a song representation, as an integrated entity, relies on the memory binding of lyrics and melodies. This kind of binding consists of the unification of cortical representations of items, actions, etc. within a spatiotemporal context (Opitz, 2010). In this way, elements of an event are organized to form a coherent experience that is encoded as a single episode. Memory models including the binding function (Davachi, 2006; Diana et al., 2007; Opitz et al., 2010) propose that this process is principally driven by the hippocampus.

In this thesis, the implication of the hippocampus in binding lyrics and melodies is investigated for the first time. Song learning was studied under two conditions; 1) a unified condition with the unified presentation of song elements, and 2) a separate condition with the separate presentation of song elements. Furthermore, the lack of binding studies using auditory stimuli may have hindered the assessment of other brain regions, which may 166 particularly support auditory processing. Hence, other regions of interest that may cooperate with the hippocampus during binding were investigated, including the IFG (Hagoort, 2005; Opitz et al., 2010; Watanabe et al., 2008), the IPL (Kamke et al., 2012; Seghier, 2013; Shafritz et al., 2002), and the basal ganglia (Battaglia et al., 2011; Ben-Yakov and Dudai, 2011; Chan et al., 2013; Nagy et al., 2006; Nenadic et al., 2003; Sadeh et al., 2011). **Study 2** and **Study 3** were designed to shed light on memory binding of songs and address the following research questions: 1) *Is the hippocampus involved in binding lyrics and melodies for the encoding of songs? What other structures are also involved?* (**Study 2**); 2) *Is there a difference between unified and separate presentation of lyrics and melody for song encoding?* (**Study 2**); 3) *How does a temporal lobe lesion including the hippocampus affect song recognition?* (**Study 3**).

i. Unified presentation of song elements: domain-specificity for language binding?

In keeping with our predictions, the unified presentation of songs in Study 2 elicited activation of the posterior STG and the left IFG. The integrated percept formed in posterior STG, with the feedback influence of the hippocampus as we reported in Study 1, may build up a memory trace to be finally bound and encoded in the IFG. On the one hand, binding success revealed by the GLM analysis highlighted the role of the left STG for binding in the unified as compared to the separate presentation. Comparing general activations between the two conditions irrespective of memory performance demonstrated greater involvement of the STG bilaterally when unified song that already contained the integrated representation was provided. As argued by Crowder and colleagues (1990) in the "physical interaction hypothesis", one element (lyrics or melodies) exerts subtle physical changes in the other (melodies or lyrics), providing a richer percept than the independent presentation of the two elements (spoken text, melodies without words). The stronger activation in the auditory cortex may represent the superior perceptual richness provided by a unified song, which already provide an integrated representation, as compared to the separated elements. In addition to the literature already described for song perception (Sammler et al., 2010; Schön et al., 2010), recent evidence from electrocorticography further supports the integrative role of the posterior STG for lyrics and music (Sturm et al., 2014).



Figure 10. A) Network for the Memory Unification and Control Framework proposed by Hagoort (2005). Yellow in left temporal cortex represents « Memory », blue in LIFG « Unification », and grey in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (in addition to the anterior cingulate cortex not shown in this illustration) « Control ». **B)** Binding mechanisms mediated by the MTL and the prefrontal cortex as proposed by Opitz (2010). « *The hippocampus is involved in the relational binding of the elements of individual experiences. The surrounding MTL cortex and the PFC extract the common information across multiple experiences forming representational bindings based on perceptual features (MTL) or abstract rules (PFC). »*

On the other hand, the implication of the left IFG in binding songs on the unified condition is in line with the binding account for language processing proposed by Opitz (2010), together with previous studies supporting the role of the IFG on language unification (Hagoort, 2005) and verbal memory (Buchsbaum et al., 2005). In his framework for "language unification", Hagoort (2005) argues that one main differential constraint to language, as opposed to visual integration, resides in the online binding of elements that unfold over different time scales (see also the discussion on time encoding in the following section). This peculiarity justifies the specialization of the left IFG in language unification. The language unification framework proposes that the left IFG supports the hierarchical organization of language across three operational levels of unification: phonological, syntactical and semantic. The novel evidence provided by **Study 2** extends binding in the left IFG of the previously described verbal elements to include melodic features, which are embedded in sung lyrics. This is also in line with the model of speech integration proposed by Hickok and Poepple (2011), where IFG, STG and area SPT interact to support speech integration.

Our results, however, may seem difficult to reconcile with Merrill and colleagues (2012), who argue for a right dominance of verbal integration in the IFG in the context of song processing. In Merrill and colleagues (2012), the contrast revealing integration in the right IFG required the comparison of singing against speech perception (see also Riecker et al., 2000), which may have accentuated the musical contribution in the singing case. Furthermore, this study was designed to measure perception whereas encoding constitutes a different cognitive operation. Studies on singing perception and production have reported a bilateral implication of IFG regions (Brown et al., 2004; Kleber et al., 2007). Note that in our study, when both conditions were analyzed together against baseline, and irrespective of memory, we found activation in both left and right IFG. The right IFG has been previously reported for musical syntactic processing (Koelsch et al., 2005; Sammler et al., 2009), and covert singing (Brown et al., 2004; Kleber et al., 2007). Interestingly, successful binding on the separate condition of Study 2 revealed right orbital IFG activation. Based on this laterality difference it may be agued here that, although both conditions required covert singing of a song in an integrated form, encoding in the separate condition may initially have relied more on the musical structure, since that was the provided auditory stimulation. Conversely, our results suggest that encoding operations in the unified condition are driven by a linguistic component to a greater extent, and thus rely more on the left than the right IFG. The proposed verbal dominance for encoding is coherent with previous results suggesting additional independent processing of the lyric component in healthy participants (Sammler et al., 2010; Alonso et al., 2014), an effect that has also being shown by comparing tonal and verbal working memory in non-musicians (Schulze and Koelsch, 2012).

Despite this dominant role of the left IFG for binding involving verbal information, Opitz (2010) suggests that the hippocampus may be required for the relational learning of the rules describing relationships between words, such as in artificial grammar learning. Once these rules are learned, they become represented in the left IFG, and consequently the hippocampal activity may no longer be needed (Opitz and Friederici, 2003). Although in **Study 2** we found greater activity in the bilateral hippocampi in the subsequently remembered unified trials compared to baseline, when compared to subsequently forgotten trials the hippocampal contribution to this bound encoding failed to show significance. Notwithstanding, the dominance of IFG in supporting the encoding of this integrated

representation does not invalidate the "feedback" contribution of the hippocampus proposed in **Study 1**. Indeed, recognition deficits shown by patients in **Study 3**, in which unified songs were also used, suggest that hippocampus is still required for the binding of lyrics and melodies presented within a song.

ii. Separated presentation of song elements: Encoding information unfolding over time.

A novel contribution of this thesis is to propose that song encoding follows a different mechanism when there is higher degree of separation between song elements to be bound. When no prior integrated representation is provided, the online binding of lyrics and melodies poses greater demands on the hippocampus. Importantly, results from **Study 2** for binding on the separate condition highlight the involvement of the right hippocampus along with an auditory-motor network, which includes the striatum and the cerebellum. The greater involvement of the right hippocampus in binding distal elements here is analogous to that found in the visual domain (Staresina and Davachi, 2009). To this regard, it is worth noting that the work presented in this thesis, and in particular in **Study 2**, provide original evidence to illustrate the binding function of the hippocampus during encoding using auditory stimuli, and the first using musical information.

It is important to note, that although during encoding auditory (melodies) and visual (written lyrics) information was presented, participants were prompted to create a mental auditory representation of song though covert rehearsal. Moreover, reading in this context strikingly depended on the phonological processing, justifying the involvement of auditory mechanisms in addition to visual word recognition and language processing. To further focus on the characteristics of such auditory representation, only aural stimuli were presented during recognition.

2.Implications and limitations of the thesis



Figure 11. Two distinct mechanisms for binding lyrics and melodies during song encoding. When sung lyrics are provided (unified presentation, upper row), the bilateral posterior STG, together with the left IFG would carry the unification and encoding of lyrics and melodies in an integrated percept. When melody and lyrics are provided separately (Separate presentation, lower row), increasing demands will be posed to the hippocampus to bind these elements into a single auditory object, in cooperation with the basal ganglia and the cerebellum, which will ensure temporal coupling and learning of the sound sequence.

It is worth to keep in mind that STG, IFG, hippocampus, basal ganglia and cerebellum constitute a network for song encoding, which components will be more or less relevant according to the separation between melodies and lyrics, and possibly also depending on the learning stage. Based on this model it could be hypothesized that initial learning of songs will be more dependent on the hippocampus, whereas this bound representation will gradually transfer to a cortical system sustained by the bilateral posterior STG and left IFG.

Interestingly, the results of **Study 2** on successful binding from the GLM analysis reveal activation both in the striatum and the hippocampus only for the separate condition. Both the hippocampus and the striatum have previously been shown to support sequence learning (Albouy et al., 2013; Rieckmann et al., 2010; Schendan et al., 2003), and from a computational perspective, both were identified as "convergence zones" that could bind

entities and events through recursive feedback between these areas and the associative cortex (Damasio, 1989). Despite evidence that the contribution of these two structures may rely on distinct processes (Bornstein and Daw, 2012; Myers et al., 2003a, 2003b; Sadeh et al., 2011), the relevance of sequences in binding auditory information may explain activation in both the striatum and the hippocampus. On the one hand, the structural and functional connectivity of the hippocampus can support temporal dynamics, by influencing the synchronization of neuronal firing across brain areas (Eichenbaum, 2014; Lavenex and Amaral, 2000; van Strien et al., 2009). Furthermore, neurons that respond to specific time points within an event have been found in the hippocampus (Eichenbaum, 2013). These neurons, also called time cells, may be responsible for the encoding of temporal properties of stimuli (Eichenbaum, 2014; Shankar and Howard, 2010). On the other hand, the striatum has been described as an internal "pacemaker" (Coull et al., 2011; Ivry and Spencer, 2004; Harrington et al., 1998; Plenz and Kital, 1999) that could account for the temporal context on which sound identity may rely.

Surprisingly, when confidence was considered in combination with accuracy on the parametric analysis, only the striatum was modulated by memory strength. However, when comparing binding in the separate to the unified condition, the right hippocampus and the cerebellum were the main regions with differences in activation. This suggests that these regions bridge the gap between the melodies and lyrics in order to encode a coupled integrated representation.

Broadly, one of the main contributions of this research to the binding view of the MTL function is highlighting the relevance of timekeeping (Treisman, 1963). Although timing may also be relevant in vision to certain extent, it is not surprising that the few studies underlining this idea have used multimodal stimuli (Nagy et al., 2006; Bausenhart, 2014). Despite the idea of temporal contexts was already present in memory models (Dubrow and Davachi, 2014; Ezzyat and Davachi, 2014; Hsieh et al., 2014; Newman and Grace, 1999; Shankar and Howard, 2010), the level of synchronicity behind the concept of timing has not be as strongly considered.

Auditory stimuli identity is dependent on the unfolding of the signal over time. The study of the music domain has provided a wide range of examples where synchronicity becomes indispensable for music perception and production (Farrugia et al., 2012; Janata and

Grafton, 2003; Jakobson et al., 2003; Keller et al., 2014; van der Steen and Keller, 2013). In the case of the study of binding, songs provide optimal stimuli, since timing is crucial to be able to embed the lyrics into the melodic context correctly. This is illustrated by the song plausibility test developed for the inclusion on **Study 2**. In that test, the plausibility of a song given the separate elements was determined by the possibility to match sounds of the melody (musical notes) to sounds of the lyrics (syllables) in a one-to-one basis. The speed of the test (3s to respond) did not allow counting strategies to be used, and instead participants relied on the online coupling of events. Although within the separate condition of **Study 2** songs were always plausible, similar mechanisms were required to warrant the imagery of the song integrating both elements and its encoding.

Therefore, beyond the role of the hippocampus on binding, auditory stimuli characteristics motivate the consideration of the additional contribution of the striatum and cerebellum to song binding. Cerebellum and basal ganglia, which are involved in sequence learning and temporal regularities detection (Bostan et al., 2013; Kotz and Schwartze, 2010; Penhune et al., 1998; Schwartze et al., 2012), were hypothesized to play a role in auditory binding by enhancing learning of related sequences and temporal coupling. Correct learning of song sequence, and temporal coupling of melody and lyrics, may require particularly high timing demands when melody and lyrics are presented separately. Timekeeping and online encoding of temporal information, which especially entails a narrow directionality of elements in sequences (Zatorre et al., 2010), is essential to the identity of auditory information. Although both basal ganglia and the cerebellum have been shown to contribute to time processing at this level, their specific contributions for the encoding of temporal characteristics of stimuli is still under debate (Hazeltine et al., 1997; Malapani et al., 1998; Coull et al., 2011; Merchant et al., 2013).

Studies on auditory or motor imagery recently have become a successful venue to explore timing (Wiener et al., 2010; Keller, 2012; Schaefer, 2014). These types of mental imagery require the representation of fined-grained temporal patterns within which discrete elements may be synchronized and bond. In the binding literature, temporal patterns are articulated as a temporal context. However, in movement or auditory imagery, the representation of this context becomes extremely precise. As an example, the imagery of a

song may require a similar duration as the perception of the song, illustrating the identity component attached to rhythmic features (Halpern, 2012).

Some models of time representation accounting for this precision assume the need of an internal timekeeper (Treisman, 1963; Hazeltine et al., 1997; Teki et al., 2012). An internal regular pulse signal may be generated by a timekeeper, setting the pace and the relationship between sound elements (together with motor and other sensory elements) unfolding over time. In this sense, an internal timekeeper may maintain time coding, accumulating structured temporal units, in a similar way than a schema (Buuren et al., 2014) or a virtual spatial grid may subserve spatial coding of a scene (for a review on grid cells see Moser et al., 2008). The existence of an internal flexible but stable timing signal has been suggested to sustain coordinated interpersonal actions (Keller et al., 2014). Notably, music is highly organized in hierarchical levels of time units (Janata and Grafton, 2003). In this way, different patterns of activity in basal ganglia and cerebellum may maintain processing of duration, beat, meter and/or rhythmic patterns (Penhune et al., 1998; Fujioka et al., 2010; Teki et al., 2011b, 2011c; van der Steen et al., 2015).

In the speech literature, both areas have been linked to speech production, the superior cerebellum being engaged in motor preparation and the basal ganglia and inferior cerebellum in execution (Riecker et al., 2005). Interesting, it has been suggested that the cerebellum may have an important role in inner speech (Ackermann et al., 2004). Similarly, activation in the basal ganglia have been reported both for overt and covert singing (Kleber et al., 2007). Studies of patients with cerebellar or basal ganglia lesions have shown functional dissociation between these structures (Shin and Ivry, 2003; Spencer and Ivry, 2005). Shin and Ivry (2003), for instance, have shown a dissociation whereby basal ganglia dysfunction impaired sequence integration whereas cerebellar lesions generally affected sequence association.

On the one hand, studies with patients with cerebellar lesions reveal deficits in perceptual and motor timing (Ivry and Keele, 1989; Malapani et al., 1998; Spencer et al., 2003; Gooch et al., 2010; Harrington et al., 2004), and also in music (Tölgyesi and Evers, 2014). Notably, these deficits seem to lead to a "noisy" signal were durations become inaccurate. This has led some researchers to propose that the cerebellum may be selectively responsible for general duration-based timing (Teki et al., 2012). In this sense, the cerebellum

might use the temporal structure of sensory input to generate temporal predictions on sensory events in the near future (O'Reilly et al., 2008).

On the other hand, the basal ganglia have been shown to preferentially contribute to interval encoding relative to cerebellum (Rao et al., 2001; Meck et al., 2008; Harrington et al., 1998). Furthermore, the basal ganglia have been preferentially activated during encoding of perceptual timing tasks (Coull et al., 2008; Rao et al., 2001; Harrington et al., 2004, 2010). Therefore, in contrast to the cerebellum, the basal ganglia have been described to support beat-based timing (Teki et al., 2012). Interestingly, some studies in patients with Parkinson Disease have shown an improvement in gating using external auditory cues (Thaut et al., 1996; McIntosh et al., 1997; Nieuwboer et al., 2007; de Bruin et al., 2010; Benoit et al., 2014). This finding suggests that an external cue processed at the cerebellum may compensate for the lack of an internal "pacemaker" cue in patients with basal ganglia lesions, which may contribute to mitigation of gating problems and improvement of timing skills.

Therefore, this evidence suggests that the cerebellum may be responsible for acuity of perceiving the temporal pattern, which might explain the effectiveness of an external auditory cue for Parkinson patients. Conversely, if the basal ganglia supports the generation of an internal temporal context (like a beat), striatal activity might generate a temporal prediction (Nenadic et al., 2003) within which the precise timing representation, provided by the cerebellum, is contrasted and integrated with other elements, in a cerebello-thalamo-striatal loop. In this way, it could be argued that the cerebellum could affect time perception and encoding more in a bottom-up fashion, whereas the basal ganglia may interact in a more top-down direction. Therefore, the cerebellum may be responsible for the acuity of temporal perception and thus may establish feed-forward temporal predictions (Wolpert et al., 1998; Diedrichsen et al., 2003; O' Reilly et al., 2008) tied to the external stimulation. In contrast, the basal ganglia may support an internal timekeeper integrative function. Consequently, the functional connectivity between the two would allow the evaluation and encoding of timing features of an event such as a song.

c. Clinical perspectives

To better understand the contributions of the MTL and particularly the hippocampus in binding songs, we recruited patients with lesions in these brain structures to participate in some of the studies presented in this thesis. Two different patient populations have been assessed: patients with hippocampal sclerosis (**Study 1**) and patients with unilateral MTL excision (**Study 3**). In **Study 1**, patients with unilateral hippocampal sclerosis due to pharmacologically resistant temporal lobe epilepsy were compared to a healthy control group in an fMR-adaptation paradigm using songs. Although previous studies in healthy population did not exhibit adaptation in the hippocampus in response to song repetition (Sammler et al., 2010), we predicted a deficit in left hippocampal sclerosis patients based on the binding literature (see **Chapter 1**).

Patients with a left hippocampal lesion showed significant less adaptation to lyrics as well as to the integration of lyrics and melodies, in line with our hypothesis. Although other differences were not significant, both groups of patients had less extended adaptation areas, particularly in the integration contrast. This finding suggests that, the hippocampus may influence cortical activity by providing feedback information (Lavenex and Amaral, 2000; Wang and Morris, 2010). This information seems to be relevant in order to ensure the emergence of an integrated memory trace for songs in line with the EMA memory model (Graham et al., 2010).

In **Study 3**, song recognition performance for healthy participants was compared to that of patients who underwent unilateral surgical removal of MTL structures for the relief of refractory temporal lobe epilepsy (Engel, 1994; Spencer, 2003). Lesions always included amygadala and hippocampus and to a variable extent perirhinal cortex, parahippocampal cortex and temporal pole. Previous results from **Study 2** suggested that, when lyrics were embedded in a melody in the unified presentation of songs, activation was restricted primarily to the left IFG and left STG. According to this study, the hippocampus does not seem to be necessary for the unified encoding of songs, in which case, patients with lesions in that region should not be impaired in lyric and melodic context binding. Nevertheless, previous neuropsychological studies (Samson and Zatorre, 1991) and on results from **Study 1**, support

an alternative hypothesis: that bilateral hippocampi may contribute to encoding the bound song.

Therefore, we examined recognition memory for songs in patients with unilateral temporal lobe lesions including the hippocampus to test our hypothesis. Since a deficit in lyric processing was already reported for LTL patients, the experiment was designed to additionally measure memory for lyrics alone. Then in a second step, effects of binding were assessed by looking at both, explicit recognition of the melodic context, and the implicit effect of melodic context on lyrics recognition. As expected, both patients showed recognition impairments for melodic context, reflecting the need of bilateral hippocampi for binding songs. If the IFG was sufficient to ensure binding during encoding of the unified songs, then patients with hippocampal lesions should not exhibit this recognition deficit. Instead, this result provides evidence for an incremental necessity of the hippocampus and the surrounding cortex for such task in line with our hypothesis. Interestingly, when looking at the implicit effect of melodic context on lyrics recognition, an advantage for songs presented in the original context over rearranged songs was found. These results suggest that an integrated representation of the song may implicitly support lyric recognition also in patients, despite the explicit recognition deficit for melodic context recognition. As argue in Study 2, songs presented in a unified way provide a rich percept, and based on the physical interaction hypothesis (Crowder et al., 1990), the perceptual representation of sung lyrics would already contain melodic aspects that interact with the verbal information. However, this integrated percept may be independent from the explicit encoding of lyrics and their relation to the melodic context. Thus, it is possible that the left IFG and posterior STG may support the storage of an integrated song representation that could facilitate lyrics recognition, while it is suggested that the lack of either right or left hippocampus may strongly impair the explicit recognition of binding between lyrics and their melodic context.

Interestingly, a deficit in lyric recognition was found in both groups. This deficit was significantly stronger in patients with LTR. Although this is in line with the verbal memory impairment present in left temporal lobe patients (for a review see: Willment and Golby, 2013), the correlation between verbal memory measures and lyrics recognition suggest that when lyrics are merged in melodies, the slight verbal deficits present in some RTL patients may be amplified.

It is worth noting that these results are in agreement with previous work on another set of patients with anterior temporal lobe excision (Samson and Zatorre, 1991). Nevertheless, in that study only 4 songs of each type were presented for recognition, whereas we increase that to 12 songs of each type, improving the robustness of our results. Furthermore, patient's lesions in that study were more extended than in the present study. Excisions in Samson and Zatorre (1991) always included the removal of amygdala the temporal pole and anterior structures of the neocortex, with a variable removal of the Heshl's gyrus, hippocampus, and parahippocampal cortex. Conversely, our patients always included the removal of the amygdala and hippocampus, including only in few cases the temporal pole, as many had follow amygdalohippocampectomy instead of anterior temporal lobe resection, and in any case lesions never affected Helsch's gyrus. Thus, our results are less affected by damage in lateral temporal structures, and more restricted to MTL regions. However, specific volumetric measurements of the resected structures are not reported here. It could have been interesting to quantify a possible correlation of recognition performance with the amount of removal in regions of variable resection across participants, such as the amount of parahippocampal and/or anterior temporal damage. Those correlations could have been valuable to discern the implication of those structures from the role of the amygdala-hippocampal complex.

One limitation in this study is that specific recognition of the melody component was not addressed. This experimental decision was chosen to optimize patients' memory performance, since adding a new condition may have overly complicated the task. In addition to the greater functional value of language, based on **Study 1**, no particular perceptual deficit was found for the melody component. Nevertheless, it may be interesting to elucidate if patients with right temporal lobe lesion may have presented a mnemonic deficit for the melodic component alone, based on the general right dominance of melody processing (Zatorre et al., 1994) and previous work carried out in a similar patient population (Samson and Zatorre, 1991, 1992; Plenger et al., 1996; Wilson and Sailing, 2008).

In both **Study 1** and **Study 3**, patients' results were compared to a healthy control group that matched them in other demographical aspects, including age, gender, years of education, and musical expertise. Thus, these factors do not contaminate the present results. Furthermore, all patients had normal IQ scores, so differences in performance cannot be attributed to general intellectual deficits.

2.Implications and limitations of the thesis

It is important to remind that the main goal of this thesis was to shed light on the regions supporting the binding of lyrics and melodies in memory, and particularly on the role of the MTL. In the neuropsychology field, evaluating patients with selective brain damage to explore brain functions has been a widely extended and insightful research practice (Luria, 1976). However, neuropsychological studies have two well-known disadvantages. The first is the rarity of recruiting patients with a pure uni-structural brain lesion, as most patients may present additional secondary damage or changes in structural connectivity (Besson et al., 2014), which may be directly or indirectly related to the main damaged function. In this sense, we know that temporal lobe epilepsy may negatively affect the functioning of other healthy areas of the patient's brain resulting from epileptic seizures (which can partially account for some of the cognitive performance improvements seen in seizure free patients tested after surgery), and that epilepsy not only damages the hippocampus, but also its connections to other structures (Besson et al., 2014; Centeno and Carmichael, 2014). The second disadvantage is the difficulty in inferring the role and the weight of a targeted damaged structure in a particular function, since lesions may affect more than one isolated region. Although lesion studies allow to test if the damaged area is essential or indispensable to certain cognitive function, it is generally accepted that most cognitive functions recruit a network of regions, and thus, interpretations should be carefully done and always be based on other studies in healthy participants or different patients, which may help to isolate the particular contributions of each region in the network.

Fortunately, the neuropsychological approach has a meaningful advantage that justifies its ongoing use: it has a reversible application of great clinical value. The refinement of behavioral tasks and neuroimaging protocols that isolate a cognitive function, or an element of it, contribute to the development of evaluation tools that could be of use for diagnosis, treatment and rehabilitation of patients with brain damage. In the case of epilepsy, one illustrative example is the current effort of neuropsychologists and neurologists to develop functional neuroimaging protocols that could replace the WADA test (Dupont et al., 2000). The WADA test was traditionally used to predict memory outcome after surgery, and constituted an important piece of information to decide if a patient would benefit from surgery. Additionally, the measurement of music ability may be particularly relevant for the evaluation of both right and left temporal lobe functions as well as for the assessment of

brain-damaged musicians (Schulz et al., 2005; Finke et al., 2012; Omigie and Samson, 2014; Wilson et al., 2013).

Hence, the patient studies presented in the current thesis have a prospective goal of contributing to the assessment of temporal lobe epilepsy patients, and other people with memory problems, as for instance, dementia patients, or aging population presenting cognitive decline, yet more work needs to be done. Furthermore, expanding the knowledge of the neural substrate of memory for songs and music binding function may also guide the development of cognitive rehabilitation interventions using songs (Baird and Samson, 2014; Baur et al., 2000; Carruth, 1997; El Haj et al., 2012; Gardiner and Thaut, 2014; Gurr et al., 2014; Irish et al., 2006; Koelsch, 2009; Moussard et al., 2012; Sarakamo et al., 2008; Simmons-Stern et al., 2010,2012; Thaut, 2010; Thaut et al., 2014; Van de Winckel, 2004).

3. Future directions

The present thesis represents a step forward towards the understanding of binding auditory/ audio-visual information, and the implication of the MTL in this process. Although the scope of this work is limited to songs, the described findings highlight the need for further investigation. To complement the neuropsychological studies, a replication of Study 3 on patients with hippocampal sclerosis (pre-op) or left IFG damage may be informative for particular influences of these regions. Similarly, precise volumetric measurements of patients resections and the correlation of volume removal with memory performance, could also seed light on the interpretation of the current findings. Here, based on the dominance of the lyric component in song processing and the functional relevance of the language domain in the clinic, we have privileged the assessment of the memory for lyrics in the original or rearranged melodic context. Studies measuring all: binding, as well as memory for each element, in a similar manner that Study 1, but collecting behavioral data through multiple memory tests would be highly informative. Furthermore, additional behavioral studies assessing recognition and recall of songs on patients with hippocampal lesions may enlarge the range of the assessment applications of the present work. The development of neuropsychological tests in that vein might narrow and improve the evaluative value of these studies.

3. Future directions

Taking a connectionist approach, functional connectivity studies on song learning may reinforce and/or refute the cooperative network described here. This thesis predicts that hippocampus, striatum and cerebellum would exhibit high functional connectivity during song learning under separate presentation of lyrics and melodies. Additionally, the IFG, STG/STS and the hippocampus might form an alternative network when songs are presented in a unified form. Moreover, the exploration of the possible transfer from one network to the other, for instance after learning of a song given its separate elements, into the relearning of such song once a integrated representation is acquired, may carry important implications for the use of song learning in a clinical context.

Another logical step forward based on these findings would be to investigate effects of binding in consolidation and retrieval. Looking at the reinstatement of cortical patterns of song representations during recognition with multivariate pattern analysis methods could complement the present thesis by providing a notion of the stored representations of bound information as well as the possible ambiguity of patterns that might lead to false alarms. This technique could also facilitate assessment of independent lyric and melodic reinstatement, which could be informative for the understanding of integration processes.

Although this thesis is focused on songs, the memory field is in need of studies using several types of auditory stimuli and also multimodal experiences. Some suggestions regarding interesting stimuli to explore are binding between voice identity and faces, melody and instrument timbre, musical context and objects or sound and location. Particularly relevant to the present thesis, the study of binding non-verbal features of music can help to better delineate integration characteristics specific to song stimuli, for instance the strong implication of the left IFG or anterior areas of the left STG. Such work is crucial to complete our understanding of binding within and between modalities.

The three studies presented here have used songs from 2- to 3-second durations that contained meaningful sentences. These sequences consisted of 6 to 9 separate sounds. These stimuli were chosen for their ecological validity as a first approach to binding in songs. Based on these results, one possible study may simplify and further control the stimuli by looking at binding at the level of words instead of sentences. Words will have the same syllable length, similar to those used in Schön and colleagues (2010), but to avoid semantic confounds and

visual imagery, it may be interesting to use non-words. Then, sequences of non-words and tones could be presented in unified and separate conditions similar to **Study 2**.

In Study 1, lyrics and melodies were considered the main song elements. However, from a music cognition perspective, the melody holds at least two distinct components: an interval sequence component, which enchains the different frequencies forming the melodic line, and a rhythmic component, which adjusts those frequencies to a particular beat and rhythmic pattern. The identity of a given melody is therefore attached to both interval sequence and rhythm bond in an integrated representation that constitutes the identity of the melody to be recognized (Jones et al., 1987). The characteristics of fMR-adaptation make it an optimal neuroimaging paradigm to address this question. A two by two block design could be created where blocks contained 6 melodies forming four conditions according to their variation: interval sequence and rhythm are both the same; interval sequence remain the same and rhythm change; interval sequence change and rhythm remain the same; and interval sequence and rhythm change. These stimuli would need to be carefully controlled. For instance, each melody within a block would need to be clearly separated from one another with an irregular temporal gap that could break the temporal regularity of the melody and provide a boundary. Otherwise, perceptual completion between sequences may interfere in the perception when rhythm remains the same since the whole block could be process as one single piece instead of six (indeed, the exploration of the boundary conformation by itself could constitute another study in relation to episodic representation of time). Based on the evidence reviewed and reported in this thesis, neural adaptation in the cerebellum, specific to the rhythmic component can be predicted. Adaptations to the interval sequence component would be expected in turn in the right STG (Zatorre et al., 1994; Zatorre and Belin, 2001). Most importantly, the interaction between interval sequence and rhythm should elicit similar adaptation to our results on songs, on the posterior areas of the bilateral STG/STS, and subsequent memory for the correct integrated representation may elicit hippocampal activation, which in this case could be right lateralized.

Finally, it is well known in the music cognition field that expertise can also influence memory capacity and strategies (Tervaniemi et al., 2001; Seppänen et al., 2007; Groussard et al., 2010; Zuk et al., 2014). Studies investigating professional singers and musicians may allow testing of more fine-grained hypotheses within music memory. For instance, research 182
could assess the neural substrate behind musicians' ability to bind several melody lines (Fujioka et al., 2005) from different instruments into an integrated representation of a symphonic piece. Furthermore, musicians may also integrate such symphonic representations with procedural memory if they had played it and /or additional memories of the place where it was studied or performed. However, it is important to note that plasticity driven by expertise (Gaab and Schlaug, 2003; Groussard et al., 2010; Herholz and Zatorre, 2012) might also affect the neural substrate supporting such functions, so that generalization from such studies must be done carefully.

Conclusion

This PhD thesis has been realized as part of the EBRAMUS network. The main goal of this interdisciplinary cognitive neuroscience network was to exploit the potential of music to understand brain function and to explore its possible clinical applications.

The aim of the present thesis was to elucidate the role of the MTL on perceptual and memory binding of lyrics and melodies in new song. Behavioral, neuropsychological and neuroimaging methods were combined for this purpose in three original research studies. Altogether, this thesis discusses and provides novel evidence for the role of the hippocampus in binding lyrics and melodies within songs.

Building upon previous results in healthy population (Sammler et al., 2010), **Study 1** showed the implication of the left hippocampus on perceptual binding of lyrics and melodies, suggesting feedback influence of the left hippocampus to the STG/STS to ensure an integrated processing of lyrics and melodies in songs. Overall, **Study 2** highlights the involvement of the right hippocampus in binding lyrics and melodies during song encoding along with an auditory-motor network engaged in timing and sequencing processing for binding following separate presentation of lyrics and melodies. Conversely, the involvement of the left IFG found for binding in the unified condition provides novel evidence for the contribution of this structure in language unification in the specific context of song binding.

From another perspective this results also support the benefit of integrated representations in memory, since memory performance overall was better on the unified than on the separate condition. In particular, **Study 3** supports an integration implicit benefit in lyrics recognition, which seems to be preserved after a hippocampal lesion. However, in line with our predictions, patients with a LTL lesion showed strong lyric recognition impairment together with impairment in explicit binding. The results from RTL patients were harder to interpret given the possible deficit in melodic processing in these patients, patients with RTL lesion performed significantly better than patients with LTL lesion for lyrics recognition, this patient group presented a mild deficit in lyrics recognition. Lyrics recognition deficits

appeared to be related with verbal memory deficits as suggested by the correlation of performance on this test with neuropsychological measures of verbal memory.

The research presented in the present PhD thesis has both theoretical and clinical implications. On the one hand this work demonstrates that music is a powerful tool in basic research to gain knowledge on brain function. In particular, the approach applied here highlights the necessity of accounting for modality specific constrains in memory models. Here, we discuss and provide novel evidence for the role of the hippocampus in binding lyrics and melodies within songs. Nevertheless, in light of these results, other structures such as the IFG, basal ganglia and the cerebellum seem to be relevant for binding auditory information in time and should be explored in more detail in future studies. Further investigations on the effects of an hippocampal lesion on song binding, or using different types of auditory stimuli, as for instance voice identity or instrument timbre with melody will be required to complete our understanding of binding auditory information within and between modalities.

On the other hand, these findings carry insightful clinical implications that contribute to understand the possible benefits of music, and particularly songs, in boosting cognitive health among clinical populations with memory problems, such as Alzheimer's disease, certain types of epilepsy or even healthy aging. For instance the laterality differences found for left and right damaged patients provides meaningful neuropsychological testing tools, which can be particularly useful for the assessment of musician patients (Wilson et al., 2013; Omigie and Samson, 2014). All in all, the improvement of life expectancy in Europe and other developed countries, face the challenge of an aging population. A higher prevalence of degenerative diseases generally characterized by memory loss (i.e. Alzheimer's and other dementias) has been foreseen. Therefore, in addition to the potential of music as a tool to explore and provide mechanistic models of neurocognitive function - as we have demonstrated in this thesis-, understanding the brain basis of musical processing represents one step further in the development of non-pharmacological therapies that could contribute to slow the deterioration of memory, and above all, to improve people's welfare.

References

- Ackermann, H., Mathiak, K., & Ivry, R. B. (2004). Temporal organization of "internal speech" as a basis for cerebellar modulation of cognitive functions. *Behavioral and Cognitive Neuroscience Reviews*, 3(1), 14–22.
- Ackermann, H., & Riecker, A. (2004). The contribution of the insula to motor aspects of speech production: a review and a hypothesis. *Brain and Language*, 89(2), 320–328.
- Addante, R. J., Ranganath, C., Olichney, J., & Yonelinas, A. P. (2012). Neurophysiological evidence for a recollection impairment in amnesia patients that leaves familiarity intact. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(13), 3004–3014.
- Aggleton, J., & Brown, M. (2006). Interleaving brain systems for episodic and recognition memory. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 10(10), 455–463.
- Aggleton, J. P., Vann, S. D., Denby, C., Dix, S.es, A. R., Roberts, N., & Yonelinas, A. P. (2005). Sparing of the familiarity component of recognition memory in a patient with hippocampal pathology. *Neuropsychologia*, 43(12), 1810–1823.
- Albert, R. A., Sheremata, S. L., Silver, M. A., & Robertson, L. C. (2013). The role of the parietal cortex in feature binding in visual search. *Journal of Vision*, *13*(9), 158–158
- Albouy, G., King, B. R., Maquet, P., & Doyon, J. (2013). Hippocampus and striatum: Dynamics and interaction during acquisition and sleep-related motor sequence memory consolidation: Hippocampus and striatum and procedural memory consolidation. *Hippocampus*, 23(11), 985–1004.
- Ali, S. O. (2006). Songs and emotions: are lyrics and melodies equal partners? *Psychology of Music*, 34(4), 511–534.
- Alonso, I., Dellacherie, D., & Samson, S. (2015). Emotional memory for musical excerpts in young and older adults. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 7, 23.
- Alonso, I., Sammler, D., Valabrègue, R., Dinkelacker, V., Dupont, S., Belin, P., & Samson, S.
 (2014). Hippocampal sclerosis affects fMR-adaptation of lyrics and melodies in songs.
 Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 8, 111.

- Amunts, K., Kedo, O., Kindler, M., Pieperhoff, P., Mohlberg, H., Shah, N., ... Ziller, K. (2005). Cytoarchitectonic mapping of the human amygdala, hippocampal region and entorhinal cortex: intersubject variability and probability maps. *Anatomy and Embryology*, 210(5-6), 343–352.
- Axmacher, N., Mormann, F., Fernandez, G., Cohen, M. X., Elger, C. E., & Fell, J. (2007). Sustained neural activity patterns during working memory in the human medial temporal lobe. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(29), 7807–7816.
- Baeck, E. (2002). The neural networks of music. *European Journal of Neurology*, *9*(5), 449–456.
- Baird, A., & Samson, S. (2014). Music evoked autobiographical memory after severe acquired brain injury: Preliminary findings from a case series. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 24(1), 125–143.
- Baird, A. & Samson, S. (2015) Music and Alzheimer's Disease. In Altenmüller, E., Boller, F. and Finger, S. (Eds), *Music, Neurology and Neuroscience: History and Modern Perspective*. Oxford, UK: Elsevier.
- Barense, M. D., Gaffan, D., & Graham, K. S. (2007). The human medial temporal lobe processes online representations of complex objects. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(13), 2963– 2974.
- Barense, M. D., Henson, R. N., Lee, A. C., & Graham, K. S. (2010). Medial temporal lobe activity during complex discrimination of faces, objects, and scenes: Effects of viewpoint. *Hippocampus*, 20(3), 389-401.
- Barlow, H. B. (1972). Single units and sensation: a neuron doctrine for perceptual psychology? *Perception*, 1(4), 371-394.
- Bartlett, J. C., & Dowling, W. J. (1980). The Recognition of transposed melodies: a keydistance effect in developmental perspective. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 6(3), 501-515.

- Bartolomeo, P. (2002). The relationship between visual perception and visual mental imagery: A reappraisal of the neuropsychological evidence. *Cortex*, *38*(3), 357–378.
- Bartolomeo, P., Bachoud-Lévi, A. C., De Gelder, B., Denes, G., Dalla Barba, G., Brugières,
 P. & Degos, J. D.(1998). Multiple-domain dissociation between impaired visual perception and preserved mental imagery in a patient with bilateral extrastriate lesions. *Neuropsychologia*, 36(3), 239–249.
- Bast, T. (2007). Toward an integrative perspective on hippocampal function: from the rapid encoding of experience to adaptive behavior. *Reviews in the neurosciences*, 18(3-4), 253–282.
- Battaglia, F. P., Benchenane, K., Sirota, A., Pennartz, C. M., & Wiener, S. I. (2011). The hippocampus: hub of brain network communication for memory. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 15 (7), 310-318.
- Baur, B., Uttner, I., Ilmberger, J., Fesl, G., & Mai, N. (2000). Music memory provides access to verbal knowledge in a patient with global amnesia. *Neurocase*, *6*(5), 415–421.
- Bausenhart, K. M. (2014). Mechanisms of multisensory integration in the time domain. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 126, 4–5.
- Baxendale, S. (2008). The representation of epilepsy in popular music. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, *12*, 165–169.
- Baxter, M. G. (2009). Involvement of medial temporal lobe structures in memory and perception. *Neuron*, *61*(5), 667–677.
- Behrmann, M. (2000). The Mind's Eye Mapped Onto the Brain's Matter. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 9(2), 50–54.
- Behrmann, M., Moscovitch, M., & Winocur, G. (1994). Intact visual imagery and impaired visual perception in a patient with visual agnosia. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 20(5), 1068–1087.
- Behrmann, M., Winocur, G., & Moscovitch, M. (1992). Dissociation between mental imagery and object recognition in a brain-damaged patient. *Nature*, *359*(6396), 636–637.

- Belin, P., & Zatorre, R. (2003). Adaptation to speaker's voice in right anterior temporal lobe. *Brain Imaging*, 14(16), 2105-2109.
- Ben-Yakov, A., & Dudai, Y. (2011). Constructing realistic engrams: Poststimulus activity of hippocampus and dorsal striatum predicts subsequent episodic memory. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(24), 9032–9042.
- Bendor, D., & Wang, X. (2005). The neuronal representation of pitch in primate auditory cortex. *Nature*, 436(7054), 1161–1165.
- Benoit, C.-E., Dalla Bella, S., Farrugia, N., Obrig, H., Mainka, S., & Kotz, S. A. (2014). Musically cued gait-training improves both perceptual and motor timing in Parkinson's disease. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8, 494.
- Bergerbest, D., Ghahremani, D. G., & Gabrieli, J. D. E. (2004). Neural correlates of auditory repetition priming: Reduced fmri activation in the auditory cortex. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 16(6), 966-977.
- Besson, M., Chobert, J., & Marie, C. (2011). Transfer of training between music and speech: Common processing, attention, and memory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *2*, 94.
- Besson, M., & Faïta, F. (1995). An event-related potential (ERP) study of musical expectancy: Comparison of musicians with nonmusicians. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 21(6), 1278–1296.
- Besson, M., Faita, F., Peretz, I., Bonnel, A., & Requin, J. (1998). Singing in the brain: Independence of lyrics and tunes. *Psychological Science*, *9*(6), 494–498.
- Besson, M., & Schön, D. (2003). Comparison between language and music. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 930(1), 232–258.
- Besson, P., Dinkelacker, V., Valabregue, R., Thivard, L., Leclerc, X., Baulac, M., ... Dupont, S. (2014). Structural connectivity differences in left and right temporal lobe epilepsy. *NeuroImage*, 100, 135-144.

- Binder, J. R., Frost, J. A., Hammeke, T., Bellgowan, P. S., Springer, J., Kaufman, J. & Possing, E.T. (2000). Human temporal lobe activation by speech and nonspeech sounds. *Cerebral Cortex*, 10(5), 512–528.
- Bischoff, M., Walter, B., Blecker, C., Morgen, K., Vaitl, D., & Sammer, G. (2007). Utilizing the ventriloquism-effect to investigate audio-visual binding. Neuropsychologia, 45(3), 578–586.
- Blondin, F., & Lepage, M. (2005). Decrease and increase in brain activity during visual perceptual priming: An fMRI study on similar but perceptually different complex visual scenes. *Neuropsychologia*, 43(13), 1887–1900.
- Bonnel, A. M., Faita, F., Peretz, I., & Besson, M. (2001). Divided attention between lyrics and tunes of operatic songs: Evidence for independent processing. *Perception & Psychophysics*, 63(7), 1201–1213.
- Bornstein, A. M., & Daw, N. D. (2012). Dissociating hippocampal and striatal contributions to sequential prediction learning. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(7), 1011– 1023.
- Bostan, A. C., Dum, R. P., & Strick, P. L. (2013). Cerebellar networks with the cerebral cortex and basal ganglia. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *17*(5), 241–254.
- Bowles, B., O'Neil, E. B., Mirsattari, S. M., Poppenk, J., & Köhler, S. (2011). Preserved hippocampal novelty responses following anterior temporal-lobe resection that impairs familiarity but spares recollection. *Hippocampus*, 21(8), 847–854.
- Brewer, J. B., Zhao, Z., Desmond, J. E., Glover, G. H., & Gabrieli, J. D. (1998). Making memories: Brain activity that predicts how well visual experience will be remembered. *Science*, 281(5380), 1185–1187.
- Brosch, M., Budinger, E., & Scheich, H. (2002). Stimulus-related gamma oscillations in primate auditory cortex. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 87(6), 2715–2725.
- Brown, P., & Marsden, C. D. (1998). What do the basal ganglia do? Lancet, 351, 1801–1804.

- Brown, S. (2008). Music of language or language of music? *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 12(7), 246–247.
- Brown, S., Martinez, M. J., Hodges, D. A., Fox, P. T., & Parsons, L. M. (2004). The song system of the human brain. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 20(3), 363–375.
- Bruin, N. de, Doan, J. B., Turnbull, G., Suchowersky, O., Bonfield, S., Hu, B. & Brown, L. A. (2010). Walking with music is a safe and viable tool for gait training in Parkinson's disease: the effect of a 13-week feasibility study on single and dual task walking. *Parkinson's Disease*, 2010, e483530.
- Buchsbaum, B. R., Olsen, R. K., Koch, P., & Berman, K. F. (2005). Human dorsal and ventral auditory streams subserve rehearsal-based and echoic processes during verbal working memory. *Neuron*, 48(4), 687–697.
- Buchsbaum, B. R., Ye, D., & D'Esposito, M. (2011). Recency effects in the inferior parietal lobe during verbal recognition memory. Frontiers in Human *Neuroscience*, *5*, 59.
- Buckley, M. J., Booth, M. C., Rolls, E. T., & Gaffan, D. (2001). Selective perceptual impairments after perirhinal cortex ablation. *The Journal of neuroscience*, 21(24), 9824–9836.
- Buckley, M. J., & Gaffan, D. (1998). Perirhinal cortex ablation impairs visual object identification. *The Journal of neuroscience*, *18*(6), 2268–2275.
- Bushara, K. O., Hanakawa, T., Immisch, I., Toma, K., Kansaku, K., & Hallett, M. (2003). Neural correlates of cross-modal binding. *Nature Neuroscience*, 6(2), 190–195.
- Bussey, T. J., & Saksida, L. M. (2005). Object memory and perception in the medial temporal lobe: an alternative approach. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *15*(6), 730–737.
- Bussey, T. J., Saksida, L. M., & Murray, E. A. (2002). Perirhinal cortex resolves feature ambiguity in complex visual discriminations. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 15(2), 365–374.

- Buuren, M. van, Kroes, M. C. W., Wagner, I. C., Genzel, L., Morris, R. G. M., & Fernandez, G. (2014). Initial investigation of the effects of an experimentally learned schema on spatial associative memory in humans. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(50), 16662–16670.
- Callan, D., Kawato, M., Parsons, L., & Turner, R. (2007). Speech and song: The role of the cerebellum. *The Cerebellum*, 6(4), 321–327.
- Campanella, S., & Belin, P. (2007). Integrating face and voice in person perception. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *11*(12), 535–543.
- Carruth, E. K. (1997). The Effects of Singing and the Spaced Retrieval Technique on Improving Face-Name Recognition in Nursing Home Residents with Memory Loss. *Journal of Music Therapy*, 34(3), 165–186.
- Cason, N., Astésano, C., & Schön, D. (2015). Bridging music and speech rhythm: Rhythmic priming and audio-motor training affect speech perception. *Acta Psychologica*, 155, 43– 50.
- Cason, N., Hidalgo, C., Isoard, F., Roman, S., & Schön, D. (2015). Rhythmic priming enhances speech production abilities: Evidence from prelingually deaf children. *Neuropsychology*, 29 (1), 102–107.
- Cason, N., & Schön, D. (2012). Rhythmic priming enhances the phonological processing of speech. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(11), 2652–2658.
- Centeno, M., & Carmichael, D. W. (2014). Network connectivity in epilepsy: Rest- ing state fMRI and EEG-fMRI contributions. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *5*, 93.
- Cer, D. M., & O'Reilly, R. C. (2006). Neural mechanisms of binding in the hippocampus and neocortex: Insights from computational models. In H. Zimmer, A. Mecklinger & U. Lindenberger (Eds.). *Handbook of binding and memory: Perspectives from cognitive neuroscience*, (pp. 193–220). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Chan, A. S., Ho, Y., & Cheung, M. (1998). Music training improves verbal memory. *Nature*, 396, 128.

- Chan, S-H., Ryan, L., & Bever, T. G. (2013). Role of the striatum in language: Syntactic and conceptual sequencing. *Brain and Language*, *125*(3), 283–294.
- Chee, M. W. (2009). fMR-Adaptation and the bilingual brain. *Brain and Language*, 109(2-3), 75–79.
- Chee, M. W. L., Soon, C. S., & Lee, H. L. (2003). Common and segregated neuronal networks for different languages revealed using functional magnetic resonance adaptation. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 15(1), 85-97.
- Cherry, E. C. (1953). Some experiments on the recognition of speech, with one and with two ears. *The journal of the acoustical society of America*, 25(5), 975–979.
- Chun, M. M., & Phelps, E. A. (1999). Memory deficits for implicit contextual information in amnesic subjects with hippocampal damage. *Nature neuroscience*, 2(9), 844–847.
- Cipolotti, L., & Bird, C. M. (2006). Amnesia and the hippocampus. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, 19(6), 593–598.
- Clément, S., Tonini, A., Khatir, F., Schiaratura, L., & Samson, S. (2012). Short and longer term effects of musical intervention in severe Alzheimer's disease. *Music Perception*, 29(5), 533–541.
- Cohen, N. J., Poldrack, R. A., & Eichenbaum, H. (1997). Memory for items and memory for relatins in the procedural/declarative memory framework. *Memory*, *5*, 131-178.
- Coull, J., & Nobre, A. (2008). Dissociating explicit timing from temporal expectation with fMRI. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *18*(2), 137–144.
- Coull, J. T., Cheng, R.-K., & Meck, W. H. (2011). Neuroanatomical and neurochemical substrates of timing. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *36*(1), 3–25
- Cowell, R. A., Bussey, T. J., & Saksida, L. M. (2006). Why does brain damage impair memory? A connectionist model of object recognition memory in perirhinal cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(47), 12186–12197.

- Cowell, R. A., Bussey, T. J., & Saksida, L. M. (2010). Components of recognition memory: Dissociable cognitive processes or just differences in representational complexity? *Hippocampus*, 20(11), 1245–1262.
- Crowder, R. G., Serafine, M. L., & Repp, B. (1990). Physical interaction and association by contiguity in memory for the words and melodies of songs. *Memory & Cognition*, 18(5), 469-476.
- Damasio, A. R. (1989). The brain binds entities and events by multiregional activation from convergence zones. *Neural Computation*, *1*(1), 123–132.
- D'Amato, M. R. (1988). A search for tonal pattern perception in Cebus monkeys: Why monkeys can't hum a tune. *Music Perception*, 453–480.
- Dan, Y., & Poo, M. (2006). Spike timing-dependent plasticity: From synapse to perception. *Physiological Reviews*, 86(3), 1033–1048.
- Daselaar, S. M., Fleck, M. S., & Cabeza, R. (2006). Triple dissociation in the medial temporal lobes: Recollection, familiarity, and novelty. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 96(4), 1902– 1911.
- Davachi, L. (2006). Item, context and relational episodic encoding in humans. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *16*(6), 693–700.
- Davachi, L., & Wagner, A. D. (2002). Hippocampal contributions to episodic encoding: Insights from relational and item-based learning. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 88(2), 982–990.
- Davis, M. H., & Johnsrude, I. S. (2003). Hierarchical processing in spoken language comprehension. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(8), 3423–3431.
- Dehaene-Lambertz, G., Dehaene, S., Anton, J., Campagne, A., Ciuciu, P., Dehaene, G. P., ... Poline, J. B.(2006). Functional segregation of cortical language areas by sentence repetition. *Human Brain Mapping*, 27, 360-371.

- Demany, L., Semal, C., Cazalets, J.-R., & Pressnitzer, D. (2010). Fundamental differences in change detection between vision and audition. *Experimental Brain Research*, 203(2), 261–270.
- Diana, R. A., Yonelinas, A. P., & Ranganath, C. (2007). Imaging recollection and familiarity in the medial temporal lobe: a three-component model. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 11(9), 379–386.
- Diana, R. A., Yonelinas, A. P., & Ranganath, C. (2012). Adaptation to cognitive context and item information in the medial temporal lobes. *Neuropsychologia*, *50*(13), 3062-3069.
- Diedrichsen, J., Ivry, R. B., & Pressing, J. (2003). Cerebellar and basal ganglia contributions to interval timing. In W. H. Meck (Ed.), *Functional and neural mechanisms of interval timing* (pp. 457–481). Boca Raton, Florida, USA: CRC Press.
- Dobbins, I. G., Schnyer, D. M., Verfaellie, M., & Schacter, D. L. (2004). Cortical activity reductions during repetition priming can result from rapid response learning. *Nature*, 428(6980), 316–319.
- Dowling, W. J., & Tillmann, B. (2014). Memory improvement while hearing music: Effects of structural continuity on feature binding. *Music Perception*, 32(1), 11–32.
- DuBrow, S., & Davachi, L. (2014). Temporal memory is shaped by encoding stability and intervening item reactivation. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 34*(42), 13998–14005.
- Dupont, S., Duron, E., Samson, S., Denos, M., Volle, E., Delmaire, C., ... Samson, Y. (2010). Functional MR imaging or wada test: Which is the better predictor of individual postoperative memory outcome? *Radiology*, 255(1), 128–134.
- Dupont, S., Moortele, P. F. V. d., Samson, S., Hasboun, D., Poline, J. B., Adam, C., ... Baulac, M.(2000). Episodic memory in left temporal lobe epilepsy: functional MRI study. *Brain*, 123, 1722–1732.
- Eichenbaum, H. (2000). A cortical-hippocampal system for declarative memory. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 1(1), 41–50.

- Eichenbaum, H. (2014). Time cells in the hippocampus: a new dimension for mapping memories. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 15(11), 732–744.
- Eichenbaum, H., Otto, T., & Cohen, N. J. (1994). Two functional components of the hippocampal memory system. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *17*(3), 449-471.
- Eichenbaum, H., Yonelinas, A., & Ranganath, C. (2007). The medial temporal lobe and recognition memory. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.*, *30* (1), 123–152.
- Elberling, C., Bak, C., Kofoed, B., Lebech, J., & Soermark, K. (1982). Auditory magnetic fields: source location and 'tonotopical organization' in the right hemisphere of the human brain. *Scandinavian audiology*, *11*(1), 61-65.
- El Haj, M., Fasotti, L., & Allain, P. (2012). The involuntary nature of music-evoked autobiographical memories in Alzheimer's disease. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 21(1), 238–246.
- Engel, A. K., Roelfsema, P. R., Fries, P., Brecht, M., & Singer, W. (1997). Role of the temporal domain for response selection and perceptual binding. *Cerebral Cortex*, 7, 571–582.
- Engel, J. (2001). Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy: What have we learned? The Neuroscientist: A Review Journal Bringing Neurobiology, *Neurology and Psychiatry*, 7(4), 340–352.
- Engel, J. J. (1994). Epilepsy surgery. Curr Opin Neurol., 7 (2), 140-147.
- Ezzyat, Y., & Davachi, L. (2014). Similarity breeds proximity: Pattern similarity within and across contexts is related to later mnemonic judgments of temporal proximity. *Neuron*, *81*(5), 1179–1189.
- Farrugia, N., Benoit, C., Harding, E., Kotz, S., & Dalla Bella, S. (2012). BAASTA: Battery of assessment of auditory sensorimotor and timing abilities. *Institute for Human Cognitive* and Brain Sciences (n, 18, 9.
- Ferreri, L., Aucouturier, J., Muthalib, M., Bigand, E., & Bugaiska, A. (2013). Music improves verbal memory encoding while decreasing prefrontal cortex activity: An fNIRS study. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7, 779.

- Filimon, F., Nelson, J. D., Hagler, D. J., & Sereno, M. I. (2007). Human cortical representations for reaching: Mirror neurons for execution, observation, and imagery. *NeuroImage*, 37(4), 1315–1328.
- Finke, C., Esfahani, N. E., & Ploner, C. J. (2012). Preservation of musical memory in an amnesic professional cellist. *Current Biology*, 22(15), R591–R592.
- Fletcher, P. C., Stephenson, C. M. E., Carpenter, T. A., Donovan, T., & Bullmore, E. T. (2003). Regional Brain Activations Predicting Subsequent Memory Success: An Event-Related fMRI Study of the Influence of Encoding Tasks. *Cortex*, 39, 1009–1026.
- Foster, N. E., Halpern, A. R., & Zatorre, R. J. (2013). Common parietal activation in musical mental transformations across pitch and time. *NeuroImage*, 75, 27-35.
- Foster, N. E., & Zatorre, R. J. (2010). Cortical structure predicts success in performing musical transformation judgments. *NeuroImage*, *53*(1), 26-36.
- Francois, C., & Schon, D. (2011). Musical expertise boosts implicit learning of both musical and linguistic structures. *Cerebral Cortex*, 21(10), 2357–2365.
- Fujioka, T., Trainor, L. J., Ross, B., Kakigi, R., & Pantev, C. (2005). Automatic encoding of polyphonic melodies in musicians and nonmusicians. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 17(10), 1578–1592.
- Fujioka, T., Zendel, B. R., & Ross, B. (2010). Endogenous neuromagnetic activity for mental hierarchy of timing. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(9), 3458–3466.
- Fuster, J. M. (1997). Network memory. Trends in Neurosciences, 20(10), 451–459.
- Gaab, N., & Schlaug, G. (2003). The effect of musicianship on pitch memory in performance matched groups. *Neuroreport*, *14*(18), 2291–2295.
- Ganel, T., Gonzalez, C. L., Valyear, K. F., Culham, J. C., Goodale, M. A., & Köhler, S. (2006). The relationship between fMRI adaptation and repetition priming. *NeuroImage*, 32(3), 1432–1440

- Gardiner, J. C., & Thaut, M. H. (2014). Handbook of neurologic music therapy. In M. H. Thaut & V. Hoemberg (Eds.), (p. 294-310). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Goh, J. O. S., Chee, M. W. L., Tan, J.C., Venkatraman, V., Hebrank, A., Leshikar, E., ... Park, D. C. (2007). Age and culture modulate object processing and object-scene binding in the ventral visual areas. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience,* 7(1), 44-52.
- Goll, J. C., Kim, L. G., Ridgway, G. R., Hailstone, J. C., Lehmann, M., Buckley, A. H., ... Warren, J. D. (2011). Impairments of auditory scene analysis in alzheimer's disease. *Brain*, 135(1), 190–200.
- Gooch, C. M., Wiener, M., Wencil, E. B., & Coslett, H. B. (2010). Interval timing disruptions in subjects with cerebellar lesions. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(4), 1022–1031.
- Gordon, R. L., Magne, C. L., & Large, E. W. (2011). EEG correlates of song prosody: A new look at the relationship between linguistic and musical rhythm. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2, 352.
- Gordon, R. L., Schön, D., Magne, C., Astésano, C., & Besson, M. (2010). Words and melody are intertwined in perception of sung words: EEG and behavioral evidence. *PLoS ONE*, 5(3), e9889.
- Gow, D. W. (2012). The cortical organization of lexical knowledge: A dual lexicon model of spoken language processing. *Brain and Language*, *121*(3), 273–288.
- Graham, K. S. (2006). Abnormal categorization and perceptual learning in patients with hippocampal damage. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *26*(29), 7547–7554.
- Graham, K. S., Barense, M. D., & Lee, A. C. (2010). Going beyond LTM in the MTL: a synthesis of neuropsychological and neuroimaging findings on the role of the medial temporal lobe in memory and perception. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(4), 831–853.
- Grahn, J. A., & Rowe, J. B. (2013). Finding and feeling the musical beat: Striatal dissociations between detection and prediction of regularity. *Cerebral Cortex* 23(4), 913–921.

- Graybiel, A. M., Aosaki, T., Flaherty, A. W., & Kimura, M. (1994). The basal ganglia and adaptive motor control. *Science*, *265*, 1826–1831.
- Greve, A., Evans, C. J., Graham, K. S., & Wilding, E. L. (2011). Functional specialisation in the hippocampus and perirhinal cortex during the encoding of verbal associations. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(9), 2746–2754.
- Grill-Spector, K., Henson, R., & Martin, A. (2006). Repetition and the brain: neural models of stimulus-specific effects. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *10*(1), 14–23.
- Grill-Spector, K., & Malach, R. (2001). fmr-adaptation: a tool for studying the functional properties of human cortical neurons. *Acta Psychologica*, *107*, 293-321.
- Groussard, M., Viader, F., Hubert, V., Landeau, B., Abbas, A., Desgranges, B., ... Platel, H. (2010). Musical and verbal semantic memory: Two distinct neural networks? *NeuroImage*, 49(3), 2764–2773.
- Gurr, B., & Foxhall, M. (2014). Rebuilding identity after brain injury: Standard cognitive and music-evoked autobiographical memory training. *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*, 21(6), 289–296.
- Hachinski, K. V., & Hachinski, V. (1994). Music and the brain. *Canadian Medical* Association Journal, 151(3), 293.
- Hagoort, P. (2005). On broca, brain, and binding: a new framework. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 9(9), 416–423.
- Halpern, A. (1984). Perception of structure in novel music. *Memory Cognition*, 12(2), 163-170.
- Halpern, A. (2001). Cerebral substrates of music imagery. *Annals of the New York Academy* of Sciences, 930, 179–192.
- Halpern, A., & Müllensiefen, D. (2007). Effects of timbre and tempo change on memory for music. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 61(9), 1371–1384.

- Halpern, A. R. (2012). Dynamic aspects of musical imagery. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1252(1), 200–205.
- Halpern, A. R., Zatorre, R. J., Bouffard, M., & Johnson, J. A. (2004). Behavioral and neural correlates of perceived and imagined musical timbre. *Neuropsychologia*, 42(9), 1281– 1292.
- Harrington, D. L., Haaland, K. Y., & Knight, R. T. (1998). Cortical networks underlying mechanisms of time perception. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *18*(3), 1085–1095.
- Harrington, D. L., Lee, R. R., Boyd, L. A., Rapcsak, S. Z., & Knight, R. T. (2004). Does the representation of time depend on the cerebellum? Effect of cerebellar stroke. *Brain*, 127(3), 561–574.
- Harrington, D. L., Zimbelman, J. L., Hinton, S. C., & Rao, S. M. (2010). Neural modulation of temporal encoding, maintenance, and decision processes. *Cerebral Cortex*, 20(6), 1274–1285.
- Hassabis, D., Kumaran, D., Vann, S. D., & Maguire, E. A. (2007). Patients with hippocampal amnesia cannot imagine new experiences. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(5), 1726–1731.
- Hausen, M., Torppa, R., Salmela, V. R., Vainio, M., & Särkämö, T. (2013). Music and speech prosody: A common rhythm. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *4*, 566.
- Hayes-Harb, R. (2007). Lexical and statistical evidence in the acquisition of second language phonemes. *Second Language Research*, 23(1), 65–94.
- Hazeltine, E., Helmuth, L. L., & Ivry, R. B. (1997). Neural mechanisms of timing. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 1(5), 163–169.
- Hébert, S., & Peretz, I. (2001). Are text and tune of familiar songs separable by brain damage? *Brain and Cognition*, 46(1-2), 169–175.
- Hébert, S., Racette, A., Gagnon, L., & Peretz, I. (2003). Revisiting the dissociation between singing and speaking in expressive aphasia. *Brain*, *126*, 1838–1850.

- Helmstaedter, C., Loer, B., Wohlfahrt, R., & le. (2008). The effects of cognitive rehabilitation on memory outcome after temporal lobe epilepsy surgery. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, 12(3), 402–409.
- Henson, R. (2003). Neuroimaging studies of priming. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 70(1), 53-81.
- Herholz, S., & Zatorre, R. (2012). Musical training as a framework for brain plasticity: Behavior, function, and structure. *Neuron*, 76(3), 486–502.
- Herholz, S. C., Lappe, C., Knief, A., & Pantev, C. (2008). Neural basis of music imagery and the effect of musical expertise. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(11), 2352–2360.
- Hickok, G., Buchsbaum, C., B. Humphries, & Muftuler, T. (2003). Auditory-motor interaction revealed by fmri: speech, music, and working memory in area spt. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 15(5), 673–682.
- Hickok, G., Houde, J., & Rong, F. (2011). Sensorimotor integration in speech processing: Computational basis and neural organization. *Neuron*, 69(3), 407–422.
- Ho, Y., Cheung, M., & Chan, A. S. (2003). Music training improves verbal but not visual memory: Cross-sectional and longitudinal explorations in children. *Neuropsychology*, 17(3), 439–450.
- Holcombe, A. O. (2010). Binding problem. In *Encyclopedia of perception*. California, United States: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Hove, M. J., Marie, C., Bruce, I. C., & Trainor, L. J. (2014). Superior time perception for lower musical pitch explains why bass-ranged instruments lay down musical rhythms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(28), 10383–10388.
- Hsieh, L.-T., Gruber, M. J., Jenkins, L. J., & Ranganath, C. (2014). Hippocampal activity patterns carry information about objects in temporal context. *Neuron*, 81(5), 1165– 1178.
- Hsieh, S., Hornberger, M., Piguet, O., & Hodges, J. R. (2011). Neural basis of music knowledge: Evidence from the dementias. *Brain*, 134(9), 2523–2534.

- Hulse, S. H., Cynx, J., & Humpal, J. (1984). Absolute and relative pitch discrimination in serial pitch perception by birds. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 113(1), 38–54.
- Incisa della Rocchetta, A., Samson, S., Ehrle, N., Denos, M., Hasboun, D., & Baulac, M. (2004). Memory for visuospatial location following selective hippocampal sclerosis: the use of different coordinate systems. *Neuropsychology*, 18(1), 15.
- Irish, M., Cunningham, C. J., Walsh, J. B., Coakley, D., Lawlor, B. A., Robertson, I. H. & Coen, R. F. (2006). Investigating the enhancing effect of music on autobiographical memory in mild Alzheimer's disease. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 22(1), 108–120.
- Ishai, A. (2002). Visual imagery of famous faces: Effects of memory and attention revealed by fMRI. *NeuroImage*, *17*(4), 1729–1741.
- Ivry, R., & Spencer, R. M. (2004). The neural representation of time. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 14(2), 225–232.
- Ivry, R. B., & Keele, S. W. (1989). Timing functions of the cerebellum. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 1(2), 136–152
- Jacoby, L. L., & Dallas, M. (1981). On the relationship between autobiographical memory and perceptual learning. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, *110*(3), 306– 340.
- Jakobson, L. S., Cuddy, L. L., & Kilgour, A. R. (2003). Time tagging: A key to musicians' superior memory. *Music Perception*, 20(3), 307–313.
- Janata, P., & Grafton, S. T. (2003). Swinging in the brain: shared neural substrates for behaviors related to sequencing and music. *Nature Neuroscience*, 6(7), 682–687.
- Janata, P., Tomic, S., & Rakowski, S. (2007). Characterisation of music-evoked autobiographical memories. *Memory*, 15(8), 845–860.
- Jerde, T. A., Childs, S. K., Handy, S. T., Nagode, J. C., & Pardo, J. V. (2011). Dissociable systems of working memory for rhythm and melody. *NeuroImage*, *57*(4), 1572–1579.

- Johnson, S. C., Baxter, L. C., Susskind-Wilder, L., Connor, D. J., Sabbagh, M. N., & Caselli, R. J. (2004). Hippocampal adaptation to face repetition in healthy elderly and mild cognitive impairment. *Neuropsychologia*, 42(7), 980–989.
- Johnson, S. K., & Halpern, A. R. (2012). Semantic priming of familiar songs. *Memory & Cognition*, 40(4), 579–593.
- Joliot, M., Ribary, U., & Llinás, R. (1994). Human oscillatory brain activity near 40 Hz coexists with cognitive temporal binding. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 91(24), 11748-11751.
- Jonaitis, E. M., & Saffran, J. R. (2009). Learning harmony: The role of serial statistics. *Cognitive Science*, 33(5), 951–968.
- Jones, M. R. (1976). Time, our lost dimension: Toward a new theory of perception, attention, and memory. *Psychological Review*, 83(5), 323–355.
- Jones, M. R., Summerell, L., & Marshburn, E. (1987). Recognizing melodies: A dynamic interpretation. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology Section A*, 39(1), 89– 121.
- Kaas, J. H. (1997). Topographic maps are fundamental to sensory processing. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 44(2), 107–112.
- Kamke, M. R., Vieth, H. E., Cottrell, D., & Mattingley, J. B. (2012). Parietal disruption alters audiovisual binding in the sound-induced flash illusion. *NeuroImage*, 62(3), 1334–1341.
- Keller, P. E. (2012). Mental imagery in music performance: underlying mechanisms and potential benefits: Keller. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1252(1), 206– 213.
- Keller, P. E., Novembre, G., & Hove, M. J. (2014). Rhythm in joint action: Psychological and neurophysiological mechanisms for real-time interpersonal coordination. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 369*(1658), 20130394– 20130394.

- Kiebel, S. J., Daunizeau, J., & Friston, K. J. (2008). A hierarchy of time-scales and the brain. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 4(11), e1000209.
- Kim, H. (2011). Neural activity that predicts subsequent memory and forgetting: A metaanalysis of 74 fMRI studies. *NeuroImage*, 54(3), 2446–2461.
- King, A. J. (2006). Auditory neuroscience: Activating the cortex without sound. *Current Biology*, *16*(11), R410–R411.
- Kirchhoff, B. A., Wagner, A. D., Maril, A., & Stern, C. E. (2000). Prefrontal-temporal circuitry for episodic encoding and subsequent memory. The Journal of *Neuroscience*, 20(16), 6173–6180.
- Kirwan, C. B., Wixted, J. T., & Squire, L. R. (2010). A demonstration that the hippocampus supports both recollection and familiarity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(1), 344–348.
- Kleber, B., Birbaumer, N., Veit, R., Trevorrow, T., & Lotze, M. (2007). Overt and imagined singing of an Italian aria. *NeuroImage*, *36*(3), 889–900.
- Klein, D., Zatorre, R. J., Chen, J., Milner, B., Crane, J., Belin, P. & Bouffard, M. (2006). Bilingual brain organization: A functional magnetic resonance adaptation study. *NeuroImage*, 31, 366–375.
- Koelsch, S. (2006). Significance of Broca's area and ventral premotor cortex for musicsyntactic processing. *Cortex*, 42(4), 518-520.
- Koelsch, S. (2009). A neuroscientific perspective on music therapy. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1169*(1), 374–384.
- Koelsch, S. (2011). Toward a neural basis of music perception–a review and updated model. *Frontiers in psychology*, 2. 110.
- Koelsch, S., & Friederici, A. D. (2003). Toward the neural basis of processing structure in music. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 999(1), 15-28.

- Koelsch, S., Gunter, T. C., Wittfoth, M., & Sammler, D. (2005). Interaction between syntax processing in language and in music: An ERP study. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 17(10), 1565-1577.
- Koelsch, S., Schulze, K., Sammler, D., Fritz, T., Müller, K., & Gruber, O. (2009). Functional architecture of verbal and tonal working memory: An FMRI study. *Human Brain Mapping*, 30(3), 859–873.
- Koelsch, S., & Siebel, W. A. (2005). Towards a neural basis of music perception. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 9(12), 578–584.
- Kosslyn, S. M., Ganis, G., & Thompson, L. (2001). Neural fundations of imagery. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 2, 635–642.
- Kosslyn, S. M., Thompson, W. L., & Alpert, N. M. (1997). Neural systems shared by visual imagery and visual perception: A positron emission tomography study. *NeuroImage*, 6(4), 320–334.
- Kotz, S. A., & Schwartze, M. (2010). Cortical speech processing unplugged: a timely subcortico-cortical framework. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *14*(9), 392–399.
- Kraus, N., & Chandrasekaran, B. (2010). Music training for the development of auditory skills. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *11*(8), 599–605.
- Krekelberg, B., Boynton, G., & Vanwezel, R. (2006). Adaptation: from single cells to bold signals. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 29(5), 250–256.
- Lancelot, C., Ahad, P., Noulhiane, M., Hasboun, D., Baulac, M., & Samson, S. (2005). Loss of memory for auditory–spatial associations following unilateral medial temporal-lobe damage. *Neuropsychologia*, 43(13), 1975-1982.
- Lauter, J. L., Herscovitch, P., Formby, C., & Raichle, M. E. (1985). Tonotopic organization in human auditory cortex revealed by positron emission tomography. *Hearing research*, 20(3), 199-205.
- Lavenex, P., & Amaral, D. G. (2000). Hippocampal-neocortical interaction: A hierarchy of associativity. *Hippocampus*, 10(4), 420–430.

- Lebedeva, G. C., & Kuhl, P. K. (2010). Sing that tune: Infants' perception of melody and lyrics and the facilitation of phonetic recognition in songs. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 33(4), 419–430.
- Lee, A. C. (2006). Differentiating the roles of the hippocampus and perirhinal cortex in processes beyond Long-Term declarative memory: A double dissociation in dementia. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26, 5198–5203.
- Lee, A. C., Buckley, M. J., Pegman, S. J., Spiers, H., Scahill, V. L., Gaffan, D., ... Graham, K. S. (2005). Specialization in the medial temporal lobe for processing of objects and scenes. *Hippocampus*, 15, 782–797.
- Lee, A. C., Bussey, T. J., Murray, E. A., Saksida, L. M., Epstein, R. A., Kapur, N., ... Graham, K. S. (2005). Perceptual deficits in amnesia: challenging the medial temporal lobe 'mnemonic' view. *Neuropsychologia*, 43(1), 1-11.
- Lee, A. C., & Rudebeck, S. R. (2010a). Human medial temporal lobe damage can disrupt the perception of single objects. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(19), 6588–6594.
- Lee, A. C., & Rudebeck, S. R. (2010b). Investigating the interaction between spatial perception and working memory in the human medial temporal lobe. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 22(12), 2823–2835.
- Liebenthal, E., Binder, J. R., Spitzer, S. M., Possing, E. T., & Medler, D. A. (2005). Neural substrates of phonemic perception. *Cerebral Cortex*, *15*(10), 1621–1631.
- Lin, L., Osan, R., & Tsien, J. Z. (2006). Organizing principles of real-time memory encoding: Neural clique assemblies and universal neural codes. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 29(1), 48–57.
- Ludke, K. M., Ferreira, F., & Overy, K. (2014). Singing can facilitate foreign language learning. *Memory & Cognition*, 42(1), 41–52.
- Luria, A. R. (1976). *The neuropsychology of memory*.(Trans B. Haigh). Oxford, UK: VH Winston & Sons.

- Magne, C., Aramaki, M., Astesano, C., Gordon, R. L., Ystad, S., Farner, S., ... Besson, M. (2004). Comparison of rhythmic processing in language and music: An interdisciplinary approach. *The Journal of Music and Meaning*, *3*, 2004–2005.
- Malapani, C., Dubois, B., Rancurel, G., & Gibbon, J. (1998). Cerebellar dysfunctions of temporal processing in the seconds range in humans. *Neuroreport*, *9*(17), 3907–3912.
- Malouin, F., Richards, C. L., & Durand, A. (2010). Normal aging and motor imagery vividness: Implications for mental practice training in rehabilitation. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 91(7), 1122–1127.
- Malsburg, C. von der. (1994). The correlation theory of brain function. In E. Domany, J. van Hemmen, & K. Schulten (Eds.). *Models of neural networks* (p. 95-119). New York: Springer New York.
- Malsburg von der. (1981). The correlation theory of brain function (Tech. Rep.). Göttingen: Max- Planck-Institute for Biophysical Chemistry, Dept. Neurobiology.
- Mandler, G. (1980). Recognizing: The judgment of previous occurrence. *Psychological Review*, 87(3), 252-271.
- Mantell, J. T., & Pfordresher, P. Q. (2013). Vocal imitation of song and speech. *Cognition*, 127(2), 177–202.
- Martin, V. C., Schacter, D. L., Corballis, M. C., & Addis, D. R. (2011). A role for the hippocampus in encoding simulations of future events. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(33), 13858–13863.
- Maybery, M. T., Clissa, P. J., Parmentier, F. B., Leung, D., Harsa, G., Fox, A. M. & Jones, D.
 M. (2009). Binding of verbal and spatial features in auditory working memory. *Journal* of Memory and Language, 61(1), 112–133.
- McChesney-Atkins, S., Davies, K. G., Montouris, G. D., Silver, J. T., & Menkes, D. L. (2003). Amusia after right frontal resection for epilepsy with singing seizures: case report and review of the literature. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, 4, 343–347.

- McClelland, J. L., McNaughton, B. L., & O'Reilly, R. C. (1995). Why there are complementary learning systems in the hippocampus and neocortex: insights from the successes and failures of connectionist models of learning and memory. *Psychological review*, 102(3), 419.
- McCormick, C., Moscovitch, M., Protzner, A., Huber, C., & McAndrews, M. (2010). Hippocampal neocortical networks differ during encoding and retrieval of relational memory: Functional and effective connectivity analyses. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(11), 3272–3281.
- McDermott, J. (2005). Probing the evolutionary origins of music perception. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1060*(1), 6–16.
- McDermott, J. H., & Oxenham, A. J. (2008). Music perception, pitch, and the auditory system. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *18*(4), 452–463.
- McDermott, O., Crellin, N., Ridder, H. M., & Orrell, M. (2013). Music therapy in dementia: A narrative synthesis systematic review: Music therapy in dementia. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 28(8), 781–794.
- McIntosh, G., Brown, S., Rice, R., & Thaut, M. (1997). Rhythmic auditory-motor facilitation of gait patterns in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Juornal of Neurology Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 62 (1), 22-26.
- Meck, W. H., Penney, T. B., & Pouthas, V. (2008). Cortico-striatal representation of time in animals and humans. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *18*(2), 145–152.

Merchant, H., Harrington, D. L., & Meck, W. H. (2013). Neural basis of the perception

and estimation of time. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 36 (1), 313-336.

- Merrill, J., Sammler, D., Bangert, M., Goldhahn, D., Lohmann, G., Turner, R. & Friederici,A. D. (2012). Perception of words and pitch patterns in song and speech. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *3*, 76.
- Milner, B., Corkin, S., & Teuber, H. L. (1968). Further analysis of the hippocampal amnesic syndrome: 14-year follow-up study of HM. *Neuropsychologia*, *6*(3), 215-234.

- Milner, B., Squire, L. R., & Kandel, E. R. (1998). Cognitive neuroscience and the study of memory. *Neuron*, 20(3), 445–468.
- Mithen, S. (2005). *The singing neanderthals : the origins of music, language, mind, and body*. Cambridge Massachusets: Harvard University Press.
- Molinari, M., Leggio, M. G., & Thaut, M. H. (2007). The cerebellum and neural networks for rhythmic sensorimotor synchronization in the human brain. *Cerebellum*, *6*(1), 18–23.
- Montaldi, D., & Mayes, A. R. (2010). The role of recollection and familiarity in the functional differentiation of the medial temporal lobes. *Hippocampus*, 20(11),
- Morcom, A. M., Good, C. D., Frackowiak, R. S. J., & Rugg, M. D. (2003). Age effects on the neural correlates of successful memory encoding. *Brain*, 126(1), 213–229.
- Moreno, S., Bialystok, E., Barac, R., Schellenberg, E. G., Cepeda, N. J., & Chau, T. (2011). Short-term music training enhances verbal intelligence and executive functions. *Psychological Science*, 22(11), 1425–1433.
- Moser, E. I., Kropff, E., & Moser, M.-B. (2008). Place cells, grid cells, and the brain's spatial representation system. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *31*, 69–89.
- Moussard, A., Bigand, E., Belleville, S., & Peretz, I. (2012). Music as an aid to learn new verbal information in alzheimer's disease. Music Perception: An Interdisciplinary Journal, 29(5), 521–531.
- Murray, E. A., & Bussey, T. J. (1999). Perceptual-mnemonic functions of the perirhinal cortex. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, 3(4), 142–151.
- Murray, E. A., & Richmond, B. J. (2001). Role of perirhinal cortex in object perception, memory, and associations. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *11*, 188-193.
- Myers, C. E., Shohamy, D., Gluck, M. A., Grossman, S., Kluger, A., Ferris, S., ... Schwartz, R. (2003). Dissociating hippocampal versus basal ganglia contributions to learning and transfer. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 15(2), 185–193.

- Myers, C. E., Shohamy, D., Gluck, M. A., Grossman, S., Onlaor, S., & Kapur, N. (2003). Dissociating medial temporal and basal ganglia memory systems with a latent learning task. *Neuropsychologia*, 41(14), 1919–1928.
- Nagy, A., Eördegh, G., Paróczy, Z., Márkus, Z., & Benedek, G. (2006). Multisensory integration in the basal ganglia. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(3), 917–924.
- Narme, P., Clément, S., Ehrlé, N., Schiaratura, L., Vachez, S., Courtaigne, B., ... Samson, S. (2014). Efficacy of musical interventions in dementia: Evidence from a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease: JAD*, 38(2), 359–369.
- Nee, D. E., & Jonides, J. (2011). Dissociable contributions of prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus to short-term memory: Evidence for a 3-state model of memory. *NeuroImage*, 54(2), 1540–1548.
- Nenadic, I., Gaser, C., Volz, H., Rammsayer, T., Häger, F., & Sauer, H. (2003). Processing of temporal information and the basal ganglia: new evidence from fmri. *Experimental Brain Research*, 148, 238–246.
- Newman, J., & Grace, A. A. (1999). Binding across time: The selective gating of frontal and hippocampal systems modulating working memory and attentional states. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 8(2), 196–212.
- Nieuwboer, A., Kwakkel, G., Rochester, L., Jones, D., Wegen, E. van, Willems, A. M., ... Lim, I. (2007). Cueing training in the home improves gait-related mobility in Parkinson's disease: The RESCUE trial. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry,* 78 (2), 134–140.
- Noppeney, U., & Price, C. J. (2004). An fMRI study of syntactic adaptation. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 16(4), 702-713.
- Norman, K. A. (2010). How hippocampus and cortex contribute to recognition memory: Revisiting the complementary learning systems model. *Hippocampus*, 20(11), 1217–1227.

- Norman, K. A., & O'Reilly, R. C. (2003). Modeling hippocampal and neocortical contributions to recognition memory: a complementary-learning-systems approach. *Psychological review*, 110(4), 611.
- Olsen, R. K., Moses, S. N., Riggs, L., & Ryan, J. D. (2012). The hippocampus supports multiple cognitive processes through relational binding and comparison. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 6, 146.
- Olson, I. R., Plotzker, A., & Ezzyat, Y. (2007). The enigmatic temporal pole: a review of findings on social and emotional processing. *Brain*, *130*(7), 1718–1731.
- Omar, R., Hailstone, J. C., Warren, J. E., Crutch, S. J., & Warren, J. D. (2010). The cognitive organization of music knowledge: a clinical analysis. *Brain*, *133*(4), 1200–1213.
- Omigie, D., & Samson, S. (2014). A protective effect of musical expertise on cognitive outcome following brain damage?. *Neuropsychology review*, 24(4), 445-460.
- Omigie D., Dellacherie D. & Samson S. (in press) Effects of learning processes to dissonance judgments, special issue Cognition of Early Polyphony: Bringing Together Humanities and Sciences, *Journal of Interdisciplinary Music Studies*.
- Opitz, B. (2010). Neural binding mechanisms in learning and memory. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *34*(7), 1036–1046.
- Opitz, B., & Friederici, A. D. (2003). Interactions of the hippocampal system and the prefrontal cortex in learning language-like rules. *NeuroImage*, *19*(4), 1730–1737.
- O'Reilly, J. X., Mesulam, M. M., & Nobre, A. C. (2008). The cerebellum predicts the timing of perceptual events. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(9), 2252–2260.
- O'Reilly, R. C., Bhattacharyya, R., Howard, M. D., & Ketz, N. (2014). Complementary learning systems. *Cognitive Science*, *38*(6), 1229–1248.
- O'Reilly, R. C., & Rudy, J. W. (2001). Conjunctive representations in learning and memory: principles of cortical and hippocampal function. *Psychological review*, *108*(2), 311–345.

- Otten, L. J., Henson, R. N., & Rugg, M. D. (2001). Depth of processing effects on neural correlates of memory encoding: Relationship between findings from across-and withintask comparisons. *Brain*, 124(2), 399–412.
- Overath, T., Cusack, R., Kumar, S., Kriegstein, K. von, Warren, J. D., Grube, M., ... Griffiths, T. D. (2007). An information theoretic characterisation of auditory encoding. *PLoS Biology*, 5(11), e288.
- Overath, T., Kumar, S., Kriegstein, K. von, & Griffiths, T. D. (2008). Encoding of spectral correlation over time in auditory cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(49), 13268–13273
- Overy, K., & Turner, R. (2009). The rhythmic brain. Cortex, 45(1), 1–3. Paller, K., Kutas, M.,
 & Mayes, A. (1987). Neural correlates of encoding in an incidental learning paradigm. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 67(4), 360-371.
- Palisson, J., Roussel-Baclet, C., Maillet, D, Belin, C., Ankri, J., Narme, P. (in press) Music enhances verbal episodic memory in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*.
- Paller, K., & Wagner, A. (2002). Observing the transformation of experience into memory. *Trends Cognitive Sciences*, 6(2), 93-102.
- Pantev, C., Bertrand, O., Eulitz, C., Verkindt, C., Hampson, S., Schuierer, G., & Elbert, T. (1995). Specific tonotopic organizations of different areas of the human auditory cortex revealed by simultaneous magnetic and electric recordings. *Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology*, 94(1), 26-40.
- Pantev, C., Hoke, M., Lehnertz, K., Lütkenhöner, B., Anogianakis, G., & Wittkowski, W. (1988). Tonotopic organization of the human auditory cortex revealed by transient auditory evoked magnetic fields. *Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology*, 69(2), 160-170.
- Parra, M. A., Abrahams, S., Fabi, K., Logie, R., Luzzi, S., & Della Sala, S. (2009). Short-term memory binding deficits in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain*, 132(4), 1057–1066.

- Parsons, L. M. (2001). Exploring the functional neuroanatomy of music performance, perception, and comprehension. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 930(1), 211–231.
- Patel, A. D. (2003). Language, music, syntax and the brain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 6(7), 674–681.
- Patel, A. D. (2008). Music, language, and the brain. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Patel,A. D. (2011). Why would musical training benefit the neural encoding of speech? The OPERA hypothesis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *2*, 142.
- Patel, A. D., & Iversen, J. R. (2014). The evolutionary neuroscience of musical beat perception: The action simulation for auditory prediction (ASAP) hypothesis. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 8, 57.
- Patterson, R. D., Uppenkamp, S., Johnsrude, I. S., & Griffiths, T. D. (2002). The processing of temporal pitch and melody information in auditory cortex. *Neuron*, *36*, 767–776.
- Pearce, M. T., Ruiz, M. H., Kapasi, S., Wiggins, G. A., & Bhattacharya, J. (2010). Unsupervised statistical learning underpins computational, behavioural, and neural manifestations of musical expectation. *NeuroImage*, 50(1), 302–313.
- Penhune, V. B., Zatorre, R. J., & Evans, A. C. (1998). A pet study of auditory and visual rhythm reproduction. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *10*(6), 752–765.
- Preston, A. R., & Gabrieli, J. D. (2008). Dissociation between explicit memory and configural memory in the human medial temporal lobe. *Cerebral Cortex*, *18*(9), 2192-2207.
- Peretz, I., & Coltheart, M. (2003). Modularity of music processing. *Nature Neuroscience*, 6, 688-691.
- Peretz, I., Gagnon, L., Hebert, S., & Macoir, J. (2004b). Singing in the brain: Insights from cognitive neuropsychology. *Music Perception*, 21(3), 373–390.
- Peretz, I., Gaudreau, D., & Bonnel, A. M. (1998). Exposure effects on music preference and recognition. *Memory & Cognition*, 26(5), 884–902.

- Peretz, I., Radeau, M., & Arguin, M. (2004a). Two-way interactions between music and language: Evidence from priming recognition of tune and lyrics in familiar songs. *Memory & Cognition*, 32(1), 142–152.
- Peretz, I., Saffran, J., Schön, D., & Gosselin, N. (2012). Statistical learning of speech, not music, in congenital amusia. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1252(1), 361–366.
- Perry, D. W., Zatorre, R. J., Petrides, M., Alivisatos, B., Meyer, E., & Evans, A. C. (1999). Localization of cerebral activity during simple singing. *Neuroreport*, 10(18), 3979– 2984.
- Peynircioglu, Z. F., Rabinovitz, B. E., & Thompson, J. L. (2008). Memory and metamemory for songs: the relative effectiveness of titles, lyrics, and melodies as cues for each other. *Psychology of Music*, 36(1), 47–61.
- Platel, H., Price, C., Baron, J. C., Wise, R., Lambert, J., Frackowiak, R. S., ... Eustache, F. (1997). The structural components of music perception. A functional anatomical study. *Brain*, 120 (Pt 2), 229–243.
- Plenger, P., Breier, J., Wheless, J., Ridley, T., Papanicolaou, A., Brookshire, B., ... Willmore, L. J. (1996). Lateralization of memory for music: evidence from the intracarotid sodium amobarbital procedure. plenger pm1, breier ji, wheless jw, ridley td, papanicolaou ac, brookshire b, thomas a, curtis v, willmore lj. *Neuropsychologia*, *34*(10), 1015-1018.
- Plenz, D., & Kital, S. T. (1999). A basal ganglia pacemaker formed by the subthalamic nucleus and external globus pallidus. *Nature*, 400(6745), 677–682.
- Poldrack, R. A. (2007). Region of interest analysis for fMRI. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 2(1), 67–70.
- Prinzmetal, W. (1981). Principles of feature integration in visual perception. *Perception & Psychophysics*, *30*(4), 330–340.

- Race, E., Keane, M. M., & Verfaellie, M. (2011). Medial temporal lobe damage causes deficits in episodic memory and episodic future thinking not attributable to deficits in narrative construction. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(28), 10262–10269.
- Racette, A., & Peretz, I. (2007). Learning lyrics: To sing or not to sing? *Memory & Cognition,* 35(2), 242–253.
- Radvansky, G., Fleming, K. J., & Simmons, J. A. (1995). Timbre reliance in nonmusicians' and musicians' memory for melodies. *Music Perception*, *13*(2), 127-140.
- Raglio, A., Bellelli, G., Mazzola, P., Bellandi, D., Giovagnoli, A., Farina, E., ... Trabucchi,
 M. (2012). Music, music therapy and dementia: a review of literature and the recommendations of the Italian Psychogeriatric Association. *Maturitas*, 72(4), 305–310.
- Ranganath, C. (2010a). A unified framework for the functional organization of the medial temporal lobes and the phenomenology of episodic memory. *Hippocampus*, 20, 1263-1290.
- Ranganath, C. (2010b). Binding items and contexts: The cognitive neuroscience of episodic memory. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *19*(3), 131–137.
- Rao, S. M.er, A. R., & Harrington, D. L. (2001). The evolution of brain activation during temporal processing. *Nature Neuroscience*, 4(3), 317–323.
- Rauschecker, A. M., Pringle, A., & Watkins, K. E. (2008). Changes in neural activity associated with learning to articulate novel auditory pseudowords by covert repetition. *Human Brain Mapping*, 29(11), 1231–1242.
- Rauschecker, J. P. (2013). Processing streams in auditory cortex. In Y. E. Cohen, A. N. Popper, & R. R. Fay (Eds.), *Neural correlates of auditory cognition* (Vol. 45, pp. 7–43). New York, NY: Springer New York.
- Riecker, A., Ackermann, H., Wildgruber, D., Dogil, G., & Grodd, W. (2000). Opposite hemispheric lateralization effects during speaking and singing at motor cortex, insula and cerebellum. *Neuroreport*, 11(9), 1997–2000.

- Riecker, A., Mathiak, K., Wildgruber, D., Erb, M., Hertrich, I., Grodd, W. & Ackermann, H. (2005). fMRI reveals two distinct cerebral networks subserving speech motor control. *Neurology*, 64(4), 700–706.
- Rieckmann, A., Fischer, H., & Bäckman, L. (2010). Activation in striatum and medial temporal lobe during sequence learning in younger and older adults: Relations to performance. *NeuroImage*, 50(3), 1303–1312.
- Robertson, L. C. (2003). Binding, spatial attention and perceptual awareness. *Nature Reviews*. *Neuroscience*, *4*(2), 93–102.
- Rolls, E. T. (1996). A theory of hippocampal function in memory. *Hippocampus*, 6(6), 601–620.
- Rose, N. S., Olsen, R. K., Craik, F. I., & Rosenbaum, R. S. (2012). Working memory and amnesia: The role of stimulus novelty. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(1), 11-18.
- Roskies, A. L. (1999). The binding problem. Neuron, 24, 7-9.
- Rudy, J. W., & Sutherland, R. J. (1995). Configural association theory and the hippocampal formation: An appraisal and reconfiguration. *Hippocampus*, *5*(5), 375–389.
- Rypma, B., & D'Esposito, M. (2003). A subsequent-memory effect in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 16(2), 162–166.
- Sadeh, T., Shohamy, D., Levy, D. R., Reggev, N., & Maril, A. (2011). Cooperation between the hippocampus and the striatum during episodic encoding. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 23(7), 1597–1608.
- Sammler, D. (2009). The neural overlap of sintax processing in music and language-evidence from lesions and intracranial studies (Vol. 108). Leipzig: Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences.
- Sammler, D., Baird, A., Valabregue, R., Clement, S., Dupont, S., Belin, P. & Samson, S. (2010). The relationship of lyrics and tunes in the processing of unfamiliar songs: A functional magnetic resonance adaptation study. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(10), 3572–3578.

- Sammler, D., Koelsch, S., Ball, T., Brandt, A., Elger, C. E., Friederici, A. D., ... Schulze-Bonhage, A. (2009). Overlap of musical and linguistic syntax processing: Intracranial ERP evidence. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1169(1), 494–498.
- Sammler, D., Koelsch, S., & Friederici, A. D. (2011). Are left fronto-temporal brain areas a prerequisite for normal music-syntactic processing? *Cortex*, 47(6), 659–673.
- Samson, S., & Peretz, I. (2005). Effects of prior exposure on music liking and recognition in patients with temporal lobe lesions. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1060, 419–428.
- Samson, S., & Zatorre, R. (1992). Learning and retention of melodic and verbal information after unilateral temporal lobectomy. *Neuropsychologia*, *30*(9), 815-826.
- Samson, S., & Zatorre, R. J. (1991). Recognition memory for text and melody of songs after unilateral temporal lobe lesion: Evidence for dual encoding. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 17*(4), 793–804.
- Samson, S., & Zatorre, R. J. (1994). Contribution of the right temporal lobe to musical timbre discrimination. *Neuropsychologia*, *32*(2), 231-240.
- Samson, S., Zatorre, R. J., & Ramsay, J. O. (2002). Deficits of musical timbre perception after unilateral temporal-lobe lesion revealed with multidimensional scaling. *Brain*, 125(3), 511-523.
- Sanders, M. C., Chang, N.-Y. N., Hiss, M. M., Uchanski, R. M., & Hullar, T. E. (2011). Temporal binding of auditory and rotational stimuli. *Experimental Brain Research*, 210(3-4), 539–547.
- Santi, A., & Grodzinsky, Y. (2010). fMRI adaptation dissociates syntactic complexity dimensions. *NeuroImage*, *51*(4), 1285-1293.
- Särkämö, T., Tervaniemi, M., Laitinen, S., Forsblom, A., Soinila, S., Mikkonen, M., ... Hietanen, M. (2008). Music listening enhances cognitive recovery and mood after middle cerebral artery stroke. *Brain*, 131(3), 866–876.
- Särkämö, T., Tervaniemi, M., Laitinen, S., Numminen, A., Kurki, M., Johnson, J. K. & Rantanen, P. (2014). Cognitive, emotional, and social benefits of regular musical activities in early dementia: Randomized controlled study. *The Gerontologist*, 54(4), 634–650.
- Schaefer, R. S. (2014). Images of time: Temporal aspects of auditory and movement imagination. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*, 877.
- Schapiro, A. C., Kustner, L. V., & Turk-Browne, N. B. (2012). Shaping of object representations in the human medial temporal lobe based on temporal regularities. *Current Biology*, 22(17), 1622–1627.
- Schendan, H. E., Searl, M. M., Melrose, R. J., & E., S. C. (2003). An fMRI study of the role of the medial temporal lobe in implicit and explicit sequence learning. *Neuron*, 37, 1013-1025.
- Schlichting, M. L., & Preston, A. R. (2015). Memory integration: Neural mechanisms and implications for behavior. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 1, 1–8.
- Schmitz, G., Mohammadi, B., Hammer, A., Heldmann, M., Samii, A., Münte, T. F. & Effenberg, A. O. (2013). Observation of sonified movements engages a basal ganglia frontocortical network. *BioMed Central Neuroscience*, 14(1), 32.
- Schön, D., Boyer, M., Moreno, S., Besson, M., Peretz, I., & Kolinsky, R. (2008). Songs as an aid for language acquisition. *Cognition*, 106(2), 975–983.
- Schön, D., Gordon, R., Campagne, A., Magne, C., Astésano, C., Anton, J. & Besson, M. (2010). Similar cerebral networks in language, music and song perception. *NeuroImage*, 51(1), 450–461.
- Schön, D., Magne, C., & Besson, M. (2004). The music of speech: Music training facilitates pitch processing in both music and language. *Psychophysiology*, *41*(3), 341–349.
- Schulkind, M. D. (1999). Long-term memory for temporal structure. *Memory & cognition*, 27(5), 896-906.

- Schulkind, M. D., Hennis, L. K., & Rubin, D. C. (1999). Music, emotion, and autobiographical memory: They're playing your song. *Memory & Cognition*, 27(6), 948-955.
- Schulz, R., Horstmann, S., Jokeit, H., Woermann, F. G., & Ebner, A. (2005). Epilepsy surgery in professional musicians: Subjective and objective reports of three cases. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, 7(3), 552–558.
- Schulze, K., & Koelsch, S. (2012). Working memory for speech and music. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1252, 229–236.
- Schulze, K., Mueller, K., & Koelsch, S. (2011). Neural correlates of strategy use during auditory working memory in musicians and non-musicians. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(1), 189–196.
- Schwartze, M., Tavano, A., Schröger, E., & Kotz, S. A. (2012). Temporal aspects of prediction in audition: Cortical and subcortical neural mechanisms. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 83(2), 200–207.
- Scott, S. K., & Johnsrude, I. S. (2003). The neuroanatomical and functional organization of speech perception. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 26(2), 100–107.
- Scoville, W. B., & Milner, B. (1957). Loss of recent memory after bilateral hippocampal lesions. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 20(1), 11-21.
- Seghier, M. L. (2013). The angular gyrus: Multiple functions and multiple subdivisions. The Neuroscientist: A Review Journal Bringing Neurobiology, Neurology and Psychiatry, 19(1), 43–61.
- Selchenkova, T., Jones, M. R., & Tillmann, B. (2014). The influence of temporal regularities on the implicit learning of pitch structures. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 67(12), 2360-2380.
- Seppänen, M., Brattico, E., & Tervaniemi, M. (2007). Practice strategies of musicians modulate neural processing and the learning of sound-patterns. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 87(2), 236–247.

- Serafine, M., Crowder, R. G., & Repp, B. (1984). Integration of melody and text in memory for songs. *Cognition*, *16*(3), 285-303.
- Serafine, M., Davison, J., Crowder, R. G., & Repp, B. (1986). On the nature of melody-text integration in memory for songs. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 25(2), 123-135.
- Shafritz, K. M., Gore, J. C., & Marois, R. (2002). The role of the parietal cortex in visual feature binding. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(16), 10917–10922.
- Shankar, K. H., & Howard, M. W. (2010). Timing using temporal context. *Brain Research*, 1365, 3–17.
- Shastri, L. (2002). Episodic memory and cortico-hippocampal interactions. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, 6(4), 162–168.
- Sherman, S. M., & Kennerley, J. (2014). The organisation of musical semantic memory: Evidence from false memories for familiar songs. *Memory*, 22(7), 852–860.
- Shimamura, A. P. (2010). Hierarchical relational binding in the medial temporal lobe: The strong get stronger. *Hippocampus*, 20(11), 1206-1216.
- Shin, J. C., & Ivry, R. B. (2003). Spatial and temporal sequence learning in patients with Parkinson's Disease or cerebellar lesions. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 15(8), 1232–1243.
- Simmons-Stern, N. R., Budson, A. E., & Ally, B. A. (2010). Music as a memory enhancer in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(10), 3164–3167.
- Simmons-Stern, N. R., Deason, R. G., Brandler, B. J., Frustace, B. S., O'Connor, M. K., Ally,
 B. A. & Budson, A. E. (2012). Music-based memory enhancement in Alzheimer's Disease: Promise and limitations. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(14), 3295–3303.
- Slotnick, S. D., Thompson, W. L., & Kosslyn, S. M. (2012). Visual memory and visual mental imagery recruit common control and sensory regions of the brain. *Cognitive Neuroscience*, 3(1), 14–20.

- Spencer, R. M., & Ivry, R. B. (2005). Comparison of patients with Parkinson's disease or cerebellar lesions in the production of periodic movements involving event-based or emergent timing. *Brain and cognition*, 58(1), 84–93.
- Spencer, R. M. C., Zelaznik, H. N., Diedrichsen, J., & Ivry, R. B. (2003). Disrupted timing of discontinuous but not continuous movements by cerebellar lesions. *Science*, 300(5624), 1437–1439.
- Spencer, S. S. (2002). When should temporal-lobe epilepsy be treated surgically? The Lancet. *Neurology*, *1*(6), 375–382.
- Sperling, R., Chua, E., Cocchiarella, A., Rand-Giovannetti, E., Poldrack, R., Schacter, D. L. & Albert, M. (2003). Putting names to faces: successful encoding of associative memories activates the anterior hippocampal formation. *NeuroImage*, 20(2), 1400– 1410.
- Staresina, B. P., & Davachi, L. (2009). Mind the gap: Binding experiences across space and time in the human hippocampus. *Neuron*, 63(2), 267–276.
- Steen, M. C. M. van der, & Keller, P. E. (2013). The adaptation and anticipation model (ADAM) of sensorimotor synchronization. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *7*, 253.
- Steen, M. C. M. van der, Schwartze, M., Kotz, S. A., & Keller, P. E. (2015). Modeling effects of cerebellar and basal ganglia lesions on adaptation and anticipation during sensorimotor synchronization. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1337(1), 101–110.
- Stewart, L. (2006). Music and the brain: disorders of musical listening. *Brain, 129*(10), 2533–2553.
- Strange, B. A., Otten, L. J., Josephs, O., Rugg, M., & Dolan, R. J. (2002). Dissociable human perirhinal, hippocampal, and parahippocampal roles during verbal encoding. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(2), 523-528.

- Strien, N. M. van, Cappaert, N. L. M., & Witter, M. P. (2009). The anatomy of memory: An interactive overview of the parahippocampal-hippocampal network. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10(4), 272–282.
- Stroop, J. R. (1935). Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. *Journal of experimental psychology*, *18*(6), 643-662.
- Sturm, I., Blankertz, B., Potes, C., Schalk, G., & Curio, G. (2014). ECoG high gamma activity reveals distinct cortical representations of lyrics passages, harmonic and timbre-related changes in a rock song. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8, 798.
- Sutherland, R. J., & Rudy, J. W. (1989). Configural association theory: The role of the hippocampal formation in learning, memory, and amnesia. *Psychobiology*, 17(2), 129– 144.
- Suzuki, W. A. (2009). Perception and the medial temporal lobe: Evaluating the current evidence. *Neuron*, *61*(5), 657–666.
- Sziklas, V., & Jones-Gotman, M. (2008). RAVLT and nonverbal analog: French forms and clinical findings. *The Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences*, *35*(03), 323–330.
- Taylor, K. I. (2006). Binding crossmodal object features in perirhinal cortex. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(21), 8239–8244.
- Teki, S., Chait, M., Kumar, S., Kriegstein, K. v., & Griffiths, T. D. (2011a). Brain bases for auditory stimulus-driven figure? back-ground segregation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(1), 164–171.
- Teki, S., Grube, M., & Griffiths, T. D. (2012). A unified model of time perception accounts for duration-based and beat-based timing mechanisms. Frontiers in *Integrative Neuroscience*, 5, 90.
- Teki, S., Grube, M., Kumar, S., & Griffiths, T. D. (2011b). Distinct neural substrates of duration-based and beat-based auditory timing. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(10), 3805–3812.

- Terao, Y., Mizuno, T., Shindoh, M., Sakurai, Y., Ugawa, Y., Kobayashi, S., ... Tsuji, S. (2006). Vocal amusia in a professional tango singer due to a right superior temporal cortex infarction. *Neuropsychologia*, 44, 479–488
- Tervaniemi, M. (2009). Musicians-Same or different? Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1169(1), 151–156.
- Tervaniemi, M., Rytkönen, M., Schröger, E., Ilmoniemi, R. J., & Näätänen, R. (2001). Superior formation of cortical memory traces for melodic patterns in musicians. *Learning & Memory*, 8(5), 295–300.
- Thaut, M., McIntosh, G., Rice, R., Miller, R., J., R., & J.M., B. (1996). Rhythmic auditory stimulation in gait training for Parkinson's disease patients. *Movement Disorders*, 11(2), 193-200.
- Thaut, M. H. (2003). Neural basis of rhythmic timing networks in the human brain. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 999, 364–373.
- Thaut, M. H. (2010). Neurologic music therapy in cognitive rehabilitation. *Music Perception*, 27(4), 281–285.
- Thaut, M. H., Demartin, M., & Sanes, J. N. (2008). Brain networks for integrative rhythm formation. *PLoS ONE*, *3*(5), 2312.
- Thaut, M. H., Peterson, D. A., McIntosh, G. C., & Hoemberg, V. (2014). Music mnemonics aid verbal memory and induce learning - related brain plasticity in multiple sclerosis. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8, 395.
- Tierney, A., Dick, F., Deutsch, D., & Sereno, M. (2012). Speech versus song: Multiple pitchsensitive areas revealed by a naturally occurring musical illusion. *Cerebral Cortex*, 23(2), 255-263.
- Tillmann, B., & Lebrun-Guillaud, G. (2006). Influence of tonal and temporal expectations on chord processing and on completion judgments of chord sequences. *Psychological Research*, 70(5), 345–358.

- Tillmann, B., Schulze, K., & Foxton, J. M. (2009). Congenital amusia: A short-term memory deficit for non-verbal, but not verbal sounds. *Brain and Cognition*, *71*(3), 259–264.
- Tölgyesi, B., & Evers, S. (2014). The impact of cerebellar disorders on musical ability. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 343(1-2), 76–81.

Treisman, A. (1996). The binding problem. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 6(2), 171–178.

- Treisman, A., & Schmidt, H. (1982). Illusory conjunctions in the perception of objects. *Cognitive psychology*, 14(1), 107–141.
- Treisman, A. M., & Gelade, G. (1980). A feature-integration theory of attention. *Cognitive Psychology*, *12*(1), 97–136.
- Treisman, M. (1963). Temporal discrimination and the indifference interval: Implications for a model of the "internal clock". *Psychological Monographs: General and Applied*, 77(13), 1-31.
- Tsapkini, K., Frangakis, C. E., & Hillis, A. E. (2011). The function of the left anterior temporal pole: Evidence from acute stroke and infarct volume. *Brain*, 134(10), 3094– 3105.
- Tubridy, S., & Davachi, L. (2011). Medial temporal lobe contributions to episodic sequence encoding. *Cerebral Cortex*, 21(2), 272–280.
- Turk-Browne, N. B., Scholl, B. J., Johnson, M. K., & Chun, M. M. (2010). Implicit perceptual anticipation triggered by statistical learning. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(33), 11177–11187.
- Turk-Browne, N. B., Yi, D.-J., & Chun, M. M. (2006). Linking implicit and explicit memory: Common encoding factors and shared representations. *Neuron*, 49(6), 917–927.
- Tzortis, C., Goldblum, M.-C., Dang, M., Florette, F., & Boller, F. (2000). Absence of amusia and preserved naming of musical instruments in an aphasic composer. *Cortex*, 36, 227– 242.

- Ueda, T., Suzukamo, Y., Sato, M., & Izumi, S. (2013). Effects of music therapy on behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 12(2), 628–641.
- Verfaelllie, M., LaRocque, K. F., & Keane, M. M. (2012). Intact implicit verbal relational memory in medial temporal lobe amnesia. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(8), 2100-2106.
- Villa, G., & Caltagirone, C. (1984). Speech suppression without aphasia after bilateral perisylvian softenings (bilateral rolandic operculum damage). *The Italian Journal of Neurological Sciences*, 5(1), 77–83.
- Vlek, R., Schaefer, R., Gielen, C., Farquhar, J., & Desain, P. (2011). Shared mechanisms in perception and imagery of auditory accents. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 122(8), 1526– 1532.
- Wagner, A. D. (1998). Building memories: Remembering and forgetting of verbal experiences as predicted by brain activity. *Science*, 281(5380), 1188–1191.
- Wais, P. E., Wixted, J. T., Hopkins, R. O., & Squire, L. R. (2006). The hippocampus supports both the recollection and the familiarity components of recognition memory. *Neuron*, 49(3), 459–466.
- Wang, W., Lazzara, M. M., Ranganath, C., Knight, R. T., & Yonelinas, A. P. (2010). The medial temporal lobe supports conceptual implicit memory. *Neuron*, 68(5), 835–842.
- Watanabe, T., Yagishita, S., & Kikyo, H. (2008). Memory of music: Roles of right hippocampus and left inferior frontal gyrus. *NeuroImage*, *39*(1), 483–491.
- Watson, J. B. (1913). Psychology as the behaviorist views it. *Psychological review*, 20(2),158.
- Weiss, M. W., Trehub, S. E., & Schellenberg, E. G. (2012). Something in the way she sings: Enhanced memory for vocal melodies. *Psychological Science*, *23*(10), 1074–1078.
- Wiener, M., Turkeltaub, P., & Coslett, H. (2010). The image of time: A voxel-wise metaanalysis. *NeuroImage*, 49(2), 1728–1740.

- Williamson, V. J., Baddeley, A. D., & Hitch, G. J. (2010). Musicians' and nonmusicians' short-term memory for verbal and musical sequences: Comparing phonological similarity and pitch proximity. *Memory & Cognition*, 38(2), 163–175.
- Willment, K. C., & Golby, A. (2013). Hemispheric lateralization interrupted: Materialspecific memory deficits in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 546.
- Wilson, S. J., Abbott, D. F., Tailby, C., Gentle, E. C., Merrett, D. L., & Jackson, G. D. (2013). Changes in singing performance and fMRI activation following right temporal lobe surgery. *Cortex*, 49(9), 2512–2524.
- Wilson, S. J., & Saling, M. M. (2008). Contributions of the right and left mesial temporal lobes to music memory: Evidence from melodic learning difficulties. *Music Perception*, 25(4), 303–314.
- Winckel, A. Van de, Feys, H., De Weerdt, W., & Dom, R. (2004). Cognitive and behavioural effects of music-based exercises in patients with dementia. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 18(3), 253–260.
- Winston, J. S. (2004). fMRI-Adaptation reveals dissociable neural representations of identity and expression in face perception. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *92*(3), 1830–1839.
- Winters, B. D. (2004). Double dissociation between the effects of Peri-Postrhinal cortex and hippocampal lesions on tests of object recognition and spatial memory: Heterogeneity of function within the temporal lobe. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *24*(26), 5901–5908.
- Wixted, J. T., & Squire, L. R. (2011). Confusion abounds about confounds: response to diana and ranganath. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *15*(8), 338–339.
- Wolpert, D. M., Miall, R. C., & Kawato, M. (1998). Internal models in the cerebellum. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 2(9), 338–347.
- Yasui, T., Kaga, K., & Sakai, K. L. (2009). Language and music: Differential hemispheric dominance in detecting unexpected errors in the lyrics and melody of memorized songs. *Human Brain Mapping*, 30(2), 588–601.

- Yonelinas, A. P. (2002). The nature of recollection and familiarity: A review of 30 years of research. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 46(3), 441–517.
- Yonelinas, A. P., Aly, M., Wang, W., & Koen, J. D. (2010). Recollection and familiarity: Examining controversial assumptions and new directions. *Hippocampus*, 20(11), 1178– 1194.
- Yonelinas, A. P., Dobbins, I., Szymanski, M. D., Dhaliwal, H. S., & King, L. (1996). Signaldetection, threshold, and dual-process models of recognition memory: ROCs and conscious recollection. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 5(4), 418–441.
- Yonelinas, A. P., Kroll, N. E., Dobbins, I., Lazzara, M., & Knight, R. T. (1998). Recollection and familiarity deficits in amnesia: Convergence of remember-know, process dissociation, and receiver operating characteristic data. *Neuropsychology*, 12(3), 323– 339.
- Yonelinas, A. P., Kroll, N. E. A., Quamme, J. R., Lazzara, M. M., Sauvé, M.-J., Widaman, K. F., & Knight, R. (2002). Effects of extensive temporal lobe damage or mild hypoxia on recollection and familiarity. *Nature Neuroscience*, 5(11), 1236–1241.
- Yonelinas, A. P., Widaman, K., Mungas, D., Reed, B., Weiner, M. W., & Chui, H. C. (2007). Memory in the aging brain: Doubly dissociating the contribution of the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex. *Hippocampus*, 17(11), 1134–1140.
- Zarahn, E. (2004). Positive evidence against human hippocampal involvement in working memory maintenance of familiar stimuli. *Cerebral Cortex*, 15(3), 303–316.
- Zarate, J. M., & Zatorre, R. J. (2008). Experience-dependent neural substrates involved in vocal pitch regulation during singing. *NeuroImage*, 40(4), 1871–1887.
- Zatorre, R., Evans, A. C., & Meyer, E. (1994). Neural mechanisms underlying melodic perception and memory for pitch. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *14*(4), 1908-1919.
- Zatorre, R., & Peretz, I. (2001). *The biological foundations of music*. New York, NY: New York Academy of Sciences.

Index of tables

CHAPTER 5: STUDY 1

TABLE 1 DEMOGRAPHIC DATA	75
TABLE 2 MEDIAL TEMPORAL LOBE (MTL) VOLUMES (MM ³)	76
TABLE 3 MAIN EFFECTS OF LYRICS AND MELODIES REPETITION FOR EACH GROUP AND COMPARISON BETWEEN CONTROLS AND LTLE.	79
TABLE 4 INTEGRATION AND INDEPENDENCE FOR EACH GROUP AND BETWEEN CONTROLS AN	١D
LTLE.	80

CHAPTER 6: STUDY 2

TABLE 1.A. BINDING SUCCESS SCORES ACCORDING TO ACCURACY AND CONFIDENCE	15
TABLE 1.B. BINDING SCORES FOR FMRI ANALYSIS 1	15
TABLE 2. SUMMARY OF BEHAVIORAL RESULTS 1	16
TABLE 3. GLM TASK EFFECTS	17
TABLE 4. GLM ANALYSIS OF ENCODING 1	19
TABLE 5. PARAMETRIC ANALYSIS OF ENCODING 1	20
TABLE 6. PARAMETRIC BINDING WITHIN ROIS CORRELATED WITH AUC $P < 0.05$	22

CHAPTER 7: STUDY 3

TABLE 1 DEMOGRAPHIC DATA (MEAN \pm SD)	151
TABLE 2 NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL DATA	151
TABLE 3 STIMULI CREATION FOR EACH MELODY PAIR AND TRIPLET OF LYRICS	151
TABLE 4 RECOGNITION PERFORMANCE	152

CHAPTER 1: THE BINDING FUNCTION

- FIGURE 1. HIPPOCAMPAL MEMORY FORMATION BASED ON THE COMPLEMENTARY LEARNING SYSTEMS MODEL, SHOWING HOW INFORMATION IS LEARNT (PINK ARROWS), ENCODED (BLUE ARROWS) AND RETRIEVED (RED ARROWS). (SOURCE : O'REILLY ET AL., 2014)...... 25

CHAPTER 2: SONG PROCESSING

FIGURE 6. A MODULAR MODEL OF MUSIC PROCESSING FROM PERETZ AND COLTHEART (2003), AS ILLUSTRATED BY IVELISSE ROBLES. BOXES REPRESENT PROCESSING COMPONENTS AND ARROWS REPRESENT PATHWAYS OF INFORMATION FLOW BETWEEN THEM. COMPONENTS

SPECIFIC TO THE MUSIC DOMAIN ARE SHOWN IN GREEN AND THOSE SPECIFIC OR SHARED	
WITH LANGUAGE IN BLUE.	. 37

CHAPTER 4: GENERAL METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

CHAPTER 5: STUDY 1

FIGURE $1 \mid$ MAIN EFFECTS OF ADAPTATION TO LYRICS (A) AND MELODY (B), AND THE
Interaction (integration contrast) (C). Threshold P < 0.001 K \ge 5 uncorrected.
RESULTS FOR CONTROL GROUP (RED), LTLE (BLUE), RTLE (GREEN), AND CONTROLS VS.
LTLE (YELLOW)
FIGURE 2 "GRADIENT OF INTEGRATION" FOR (A) THE CONTROL GROUP (B) RTLE AND (C)
LTLE patients. Specificity for lyrics is shown in Red (P < 0.001 K > 5 uncorr.),
INTERACTION IN DARK BLUE (P < 0.001 K > 5 UNCORR.) AND WEAKER INTERACTION IN
CYAN (INTERACTION AT P < 0.05 K > 5 UNCORR.)
232

CHAPTER 6: STUDY 2

FIGURE 1. EXPERIMENTAL TRIALS	123
FIGURE 2. SCANNING SESSION	124
FIGURE 3. GENERAL TASK EFFECTS	125
FIGURE 4. GLM SUBSEQUENT MEMORY EFFECTS	126
FIGURE 5. PARAMETRIC ANALYSIS SUBSEQUENT MEMORY EFFECTS	127
FIGURE 6. CORRELATION BETWEEN BOLD ACTIVATION AND MEMORY PERFORMANCE IN T	ΉE
RIGHT HIPPOCAMPUS	128

CHAPTER 7: STUDY 3

FIGURE 1. ILLUSTRATION OF A LEFT (BLUE) AND OF A RIGHT (GREEN) MEDIAN TEMPORAL LOB	Е
RESECTION (VOLUME BEFORE SURGERY IN THE UPPER ROW, VOLUME AFTER SURGERY IN	
THE LOWER ROW) DISPLAYING THE CORONAL, THE AXIAL AND THE SAGITAL PLANES AT T	HE
LEVEL OF THE HIPPOCAMPUS	54

FIGURE 2. MEAN LYRICS RECOGNITION (*D' SCORES*) FOR THE THREE GROUPS OF PARTICIPANTS (LTL: LEFT TEMPORAL LOBE LESION IN BLUE; RTL: RIGHT TEMPORAL LOBE LESION IN GREEN ; CONTROL GROUP IN ORANGE). *P < 0.05; ERROR BARS: STANDARD ERROR...... 155

- Figure 3. Lyrics Recognition (D' scores) and Verbal Memory correlation (as measured by the addition of the 5 successive recognition results in the RAVLT test). Blue circles represent patients with left temporal lobe lesion (LTL) and green circles, patients with right temporal lobe lesion (RTL).* P < 0.05...... 156
- **FIGURE 5.** MEAN LYRICS RECOGNITION (*D' SCORES*) BY MELODIC CONTEXT FOR THE THREE GROUPS OF PARTICIPANTS. (LTL: LEFT TEMPORAL LOBE LESION IN BLUE; RTL: RIGHT

TEMPORAL LOBE LESION IN GREEN ; CONTROL GROUP IN ORANGE) $*P < 0.05$; ERROR BARS:	
STANDARD ERROR	

CHAPTER 8: GENERAL DISCUSSION

- FIGURE 11. TWO DISTINCT MECHANISMS FOR BINDING LYRICS AND MELODIES DURING SONG ENCODING. WHEN SUNG LYRICS ARE PROVIDED (UNIFIED PRESENTATION, UPPER ROW), THE BILATERAL POSTERIOR STG, TOGETHER WITH THE LEFT IFG WOULD CARRY THE UNIFICATION AND ENCODING OF LYRICS AND MELODIES IN AN INTEGRATED PERCEPT. WHEN MELODY AND LYRICS ARE PROVIDED SEPARATELY (SEPARATE PRESENTATION, LOWER ROW), INCREASING DEMANDS WILL BE POSED TO THE HIPPOCAMPUS TO BIND THESE ELEMENTS INTO A SINGLE AUDITORY OBJECT, IN COOPERATION WITH THE BASAL GANGLIA AND THE CEREBELLUM, WHICH WILL ENSURE TEMPORAL COUPLING AND LEARNING OF THE SOUND SEQUENCE. IT IS WORTH TO KEEP IN MIND THAT STG, IFG, HIPPOCAMPUS, BASAL GANGLIA AND CEREBELLUM CONSTITUTE A NETWORK FOR SONG ENCODING, WHICH COMPONENTS WILL BE MORE OR LESS RELEVANT ACCORDING TO THE SEPARATION BETWEEN MELODIES AND LYRICS, AND POSSIBLY ALSO DEPENDING ON THE LEARNING STAGE. BASED ON THIS MODEL IT COULD BE HYPOTHESIZED THAT INITIAL LEARNING OF SONGS WILL BE MORE DEPENDENT ON THE HIPPOCAMPUS, WHEREAS THIS BOUND REPRESENTATION WILL GRADUALLY TRANSFER TO A CORTICAL SYSTEM SUSTAINED BY THE BILATERAL POSTERIOR STG AND LEFT IFG......171

Appendix \cdot A | List of publications and presentations.

Publications

- Alonso, I., Sammler, D., Valabrègue, R., Dinkelacker V., Dupont, S., Belin, P. & Samson, S. (2014) Hippocampal sclerosis affects fMR-adaptation of lyrics and melodies in songs. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8, article 111. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00111
- Alonso, I., Davachi, L., Valabrègue, R., Lambrecq, V., Dupont, S., & Samson, S. (in preparation) Neural correlates of binding lyrics and melodies for the encoding of new songs.
- Alonso, I., Lambrecq, V. Dupont, S. & Samson, S. (in preparation) Binding lyrics and melodic context in memory for songs following unilateral temporal lobe excision including the hippocampus.

Talks and Seminars

2014

 Alonso, I., Davachi, L., Valabrègue, R., Dupont, S. & Samson, S. (November) Singing in the brain: neural correlates of auditory binding of lyrics and melodies. Society for Neuroscience Annual meeting, Washington D.C., US. (Nanosymposium)

2013

- Alonso, I. (20th -22nd September) Memory for songs: binding lyrics and melodies.
 EBRAMUS International Conference "New perspectives for stimulating cognitive and sensory processes". Pavia, Italy. (Talk)
- Alonso, I. (June) La canción de la memoria: música y cerebro, Proyecto pedagógico La Barraca, Asociación Scherzi Musicali, Conservatorio Municipal Dionisio Díez, Miranda de Ebro, España. (Divulgation seminar)
- Alonso, I. (May) La canción de la memoria: música y cerebro, Seminaires du Comité de Culture, Colegio de España, Cité Universitaire International de Paris, Paris, France. (Divulgation seminar)

APPENDIX · A

Alonso, I. (January) Auditory binding: imaged encoding of songs. Music in the rehabilitation of patients with memory and learning deficits workshop, Lille, France. (Talk)

2012

- Alonso, I. (October) Neural priming of songs: the relationship between lyrics and tunes. Donders Discussions 2012, Nijmegen, The Netherlands. (Talk)
- Alonso, I. (30th April) Música y Cerebro. Conservatorio Superior de Música de Oviedo Eduardo Martínez Torner. (Divulgation seminar)
- Alonso, I. (27th April) Música y Cerebro. University of Oviedo, Psychology faculty. (Talk)
- Alonso, I. (24th April) The effect of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy in the relationship of lyrics and tunes: an fMRI-adaptation study with songs. IMHSD University of Edinburgh, UK. (Talk)

Poster presentations

2015

 Alonso, I., Lambrecq, V. Dupont, S. & Samson, S. (March) Memory for songs following unilateral temporal lobe resection. Cognitive Neuroscience Society Meeting, San Francisco, US.

2014

 Alonso, I., Lambrecq, V. Dupont, S. & Samson, S. (May) Memory for songs following unilateral temporal lobe resection. The Neurosciences and Music V conference, Dijon, France.

2012

 Alonso, I., Sammler, D., Valabrègue, R., Dupont, S., Belin, P. & Samson, S. (July) The effect of unilateral temporal lobe lesion during passive listening to songs: an f-MR-adaptation study. FENS Forum 2012 in Barcelona, Spain.

2011

- Alonso, I., Vanhouke, E., Filoche, E., Samson, S. (December) Memory for music and words by manipulating emotional dimensions. Journées de Jeunes chercheurs en Audition, Acustique musical et Signal audio, Rennes, France.
- Alonso, I., Sammler, D., Valabrègue, R., Dupont, S., Belin, P. & Samson, S. (June) The role of the medial temporal lobe in encoding unfamiliar songs: An fMR-Adaptation Study. Poster session at The Neurosciences and Music IV conference, Edinburgh, Scotland, UK.

Appendix $\cdot \mathbf{B}$ | Tangential scientific work.

Emotional memory for musical excerpts in young and older adults.

Alonso, I., Dellacherie, D., Samson, S. (2015) Emotional memory for musical excerpts in young and older adults. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, *7*, 23. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00023.

Music in the rehabilitation of patients with memory and learning deficits. International workshop - Lille 2013.

See : https://prezi.com/gcssjfjzu3m5/music-in-rehabilitation-of-memory-and-learning-deficits/

Emotional memory for musical excerpts in young and older adults.

Alonso, I., Dellacherie, D., Samson, S. (2015) Emotional memory for musical excerpts in young and older adults. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, *7*, 23. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00023.

Emotional memory for musical excerpts in young and older adults

Irene Alonso^{1, 2, 3}, Delphine Dellacherie^{1, 4} and Séverine Samson^{1, 2*}

¹ Laboratoire PSITEC (EA 4072), Université de Lille, Villeneuve d'Ascq, France, ² Epilepsy Unit, Hôpital de la Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France, ³ Inserm U 1127, CNRS UMR 7225, Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ Paris 06 UMR S 1127, Institut du Cerveau et de la Moelle Épinière - ICM, Centre de Neuroimagerie de Recherche - CENIR, Paris, France, ⁴ Centre National de Référence des Maladies Rares, Service de Neuropédiatrie, CHRU de Lille, Université de Lille 2, Lille, France

The emotions evoked by music can enhance recognition of excerpts. It has been suggested that memory is better for high than for low arousing music (Eschrich et al., 2005; Samson et al., 2009), but it remains unclear whether positively (Eschrich et al., 2008) or negatively valenced music (Aubé et al., 2013; Vieillard and Gilet, 2013) may be better recognized. Moreover, we still know very little about the influence of age on emotional memory for music. To address these issues, we tested emotional memory for music in young and older adults using musical excerpts varying in terms of arousal and valence. Participants completed immediate and 24 h delayed recognition tests. We predicted highly arousing excerpts to be better recognized by both groups in immediate recognition. We hypothesized that arousal may compensate consolidation deficits in aging, thus showing more prominent benefit of high over low arousing stimuli in older than younger adults on delayed recognition. We also hypothesized worst retention of negative excerpts for the older group, resulting in a recognition benefit for positive over negative excerpts specific to older adults. Our results suggest that although older adults had worse recognition than young adults overall, effects of emotion on memory do not seem to be modified by aging. Results on immediate recognition suggest that recognition of low arousing excerpts can be affected by valence, with better memory for positive relative to negative low arousing music. However, 24 h delayed recognition results demonstrate effects of emotion on memory consolidation regardless of age, with a recognition benefit for high arousal and for negatively valenced music. The present study highlights the role of emotion on memory consolidation. Findings are examined in light of the literature on emotional memory for music and for other stimuli. We finally discuss the implication of the present results for potential music interventions in aging and dementia.

Keywords: emotion, memory, consolidation, valence, arousal, music, aging

Introduction

It has been well established that emotional events are better memorized than non-emotional events (for a review see LaBar and Cabeza, 2006; Bennion et al., 2013; Talmi, 2013). Listening to music can evoke powerful emotions (Juslin and Västfjäll, 2008; Koelsch, 2010; Cochrane et al., 2013) that can subsequently influence memory. A growing number of studies suggest that music can produce durable memories in normal as well as pathological aging, and that this could be due

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Nicola Mammarella, University of Chieti, Italy

Reviewed by:

Lutz Jäncke, University of Zurich, Switzerland Aline Moussard, Rotman Research Institute, Canada

*Correspondence:

Séverine Samson, Neuropsychologie: Audition, Cognition, Action, Laboratoire PSITEC (EA 4072), Université de Lille, Pont de Bois BP 60149, F-59 653 Villeneuve d'Ascq, France severine.samson@univ-lille3.fr

Received: 25 July 2014

Paper pending published: 08 December 2014 Accepted: 21 February 2015 Published: 12 March 2015

Citation:

Alonso I, Dellacherie D and Samson S (2015) Emotional memory for musical excerpts in young and older adults. Front. Aging Neurosci. 7:23. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00023

Alonso et al.

in part to emotion (Bartlett and Snelus, 1980; Bartlett et al., 1995; Schulkind et al., 1999; Janata et al., 2007; Samson et al., 2009; Simmons-Stern et al., 2010).

To investigate the effects of emotion on memory, researchers have applied emotional memory paradigms, which compare memory for stimuli with different emotional characteristics. Most studies in emotional memory have adopted a dimensional approach that characterizes emotions in a graded continuum space that is defined classically by two main dimensions: arousal and valence (Russell, 1980; Bradley, 1994). On the one hand, arousal provides a representation of excitement and calmness. High-arousing stimuli have generally showed a mnemonic advantage over low-arousing stimuli (for a review, see Dolcos and Denkova, 2014). High arousal has been shown to enhance memory both at the initial encoding of events, by boosting attention, as well as during consolidation (for a review see Hamann, 2001; Mather and Sutherland, 2011). On the other hand, valence refers to the positive or negative emotion of the stimulus. In non-musical domains, both positive and negative stimuli have shown to enhance memory as opposed to non-emotional stimuli (Hamann et al., 1999; Dolcos and Cabeza, 2002). Nevertheless, a number of studies speak to a benefit in recognition of negative events as compared to positive events, for words (Inaba et al., 2005) and pictures (Mickley and Kensinger, 2008) suggesting an effect of valence on memory favoring negative stimuli (for a review, see Kensinger, 2007).

Most importantly, it may become difficult to interpret the results of studies that look only at one dimension without controlling for the other. For example, negative stimuli have been regularly described to be better encoded than neutral stimuli (Inaba et al., 2005; Murty et al., 2009), but it is worth noting that such stimuli may also be more arousing overall (Ortony et al., 1983; Denburg et al., 2003; Feng et al., 2014, for a review see Mather and Sutherland, 2009). Looking at both valence and arousal dimensions, Adelman and Estes (2013) have shown that the memory benefit for emotionally valenced words, whether positive or negative, over neutral words may be independent of arousal. The necessity to test the conjoint effect of valence and arousal is further supported by neuroimaging studies, which suggest that arousal and valence influence memory through two distinct neural mechanisms (Dolcos et al., 2004; Kensinger and Corkin, 2004; for a review see Murty et al., 2010; Dolcos et al., 2012).

However, it has been shown that effects of arousal and valence on memory may interact (Libkuman et al., 2004; Jefferies et al., 2008; Mickley Steinmetz et al., 2010a; Citron et al., 2014). An interaction between valence and arousal has been shown, for instance, in patients with amygdala lesions (Berntson et al., 2007), whose recognition of negative scenes was modulated by arousal levels, without an effect of arousal on the recognition of positive scenes. This combined evidence highlights the importance of accounting for both emotional arousal and valence of the stimuli to properly assess the independence and/or the interaction of these emotional effects (Kensinger, 2008; Mickley Steinmetz et al., 2010a; Adelman and Estes, 2013; Feng et al., 2014; Gallant and Yang, 2014; for a review see Levine and Pizarro, 2004; Libkuman et al., 2004; Kensinger, 2009; Mather and Sutherland, 2009).

Emotion can influence memory both at encoding and during consolidation (Hamann, 2001). First, arousal (Bradley et al., 1992; MacKay et al., 2004; Mickley Steinmetz et al., 2010b) and valence (MacKay et al., 2004; Thomas, 2006; Talmi et al., 2007) may boost attention during encoding, facilitating the initial processing of information, and consequently, enhancing immediate recognition. As it has been previously discussed, high arousal and negative valence may enhance encoding, resulting in better immediate recognition for these stimuli as compared to low arousing and positively valenced stimuli respectively (MacKay et al., 2004; for a review see Kensinger, 2007). Second, emotion can further modulate memory after encoding through consolidation. Memory consolidation consists of the stabilization of new memories, whereby some memory traces are strengthened to be later retained and other memory traces will become weaker and be subsequently forgotten (for a review see McGaugh, 2000). The reorganization process occurring through consolidation requires a delay and is mainly driven by hormonal release (Buchanan and Lovallo, 2001), being particularly boosted by sleep. Effects of emotion on consolidation are therefore captured by recognition tests with longer delays, particularly after 24h (Wagner et al., 2005, 2006; Hu et al., 2006; Payne and Kensinger, 2011; Bennion et al., 2015). Although both arousal and valence have shown to affect the initial encoding of events, evidence for longterm effects of emotion on memory has traditionally highlighted the influence of arousal (Bradley et al., 1992). Several lines of evidence suggest that arousal can critically modulate consolidation (Kuhlmann and Wolf, 2006; for a review see Hamann, 2001; Mather and Sutherland, 2011), with high arousing stimuli facilitating delayed recognition. Relatively few studies have investigated the role of valence on consolidation showing an enhancement for negatively as compared to positively valenced stimuli after at least 24 h delay (Kensinger et al., 2007; Waring and Kensinger, 2009). However, this remains an open area of research.

In the musical domain, few studies have investigated emotional memory (Eschrich et al., 2005, 2008; Samson et al., 2009; Aubé et al., 2013; Vieillard and Gilet, 2013; Altenmüller et al., 2014). Eschrich et al. (2005) manipulated valence (positive to negative), arousal (very arousing to very pacifying) and emotional strength (very strong emotions to no emotions) of Bach piano music excerpts to address the effects of emotion on memory for music. Memory for the studied excerpts was tested 2 weeks after encoding with a remember/known paradigm. Arousal was shown to be the main dimension affecting recognition, with better memory for very arousing than for very pacifying Bach excerpts. To further explore these effects, another study was conducted (Eschrich et al., 2008) presenting emotional film music excerpts with a relatively long length of 20-30 s. Similarly to the previous study, the authors manipulated valence, arousal and emotional intensity dimensions, although valence ratings only ranged from less positive to very positive, thus excluding the assessment of negative emotions. Participants were split into two groups with different incidental encoding tasks: an emotional rating task promoting deep encoding or a time estimation task promoting more shallow encoding. Then, the next day, stimuli were presented again to

Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org

reinforce consolidation. On the third day, participants were given a surprise old/new recognition test. No differences were found between the deep and the shallow encoding groups. In contrast with the previous study (Eschrich et al., 2005), the results did not confirm the effect of arousal or of emotional intensity on recognition but revealed an effect of valence on recognition, with better memory for very positive music than for less positive excerpts. However, in a recent neuroimaging study, Altenmüller et al. (2014) failed to replicate this behavioral recognition benefit for very positive over less positive music following the encoding of film excerpts including some of the same excerpts from Eschrich et al. (2008) and few similar new excerpts. Furthermore, the lack of negative excerpts in these two studies limits the interpretation of the results that do not seem to support findings from non-musical domains, which indicate that negative objects may be better recognized than positive objects (for a review see Kensinger, 2007). Thus, although high positivity of musical excerpts seems to enhance recognition, it remains unclear whether high negativity of excerpts could have also provide an advantage for music memory in healthy young adults.

Other studies on emotional memory for music have used computer-generated midi musical excerpts recorded with a piano timbre (Samson et al., 2009; Aubé et al., 2013; Vieillard and Gilet, 2013). These stimuli were created and validated to express happy, fearful, peaceful, or sad emotions (Gosselin et al., 2005; Vieillard et al., 2008). In a first study (Samson et al., 2009), the participants listened to the stimuli four times and recognition was incidentally assessed after 24 h delay. Recognition was higher for happy and fearful than for sad and peaceful excerpts. As pointed out by the authors, better recognition of scary music seems to be attributed to a confounding factor (higher discriminability between fear stimuli as compared to the other types of stimuli). However, successful recognition of happy music suggests efficient consolidation of either high arousing or positively valenced stimuli. More recently Aubé et al. (2013) conducted a series of experiments focusing on the impact of emotion expressed by music on immediate recognition in young adults. By using short segment of music (1.5 s), the authors confirmed better recognition of both happy and fearful excerpts above the other categories indicating an effect of arousal in recognition memory. However, when the number of events was kept constant (instead of the duration of excerpts) recognition memory enhancement was obtained only for the fearful excerpts. The authors interpret these results as an advantage for threatrelated processing as compared to the other emotional categories, although the higher discriminability of target and foils of the fear stimuli previously noted may partially explain the memory results.

All in all, although an effect of arousal on delayed recognition has been suggested (Eschrich et al., 2005), subsequent studies have not succeeded to disentangle the effect of arousal from the effect of valence (Samson et al., 2009; Aubé et al., 2013). Furthermore, the effect of valence on recognition remains controversial, being unclear whether negative (Aubé et al., 2013) or positive valence music (Eschrich et al., 2008; Samson et al., 2009) may be better recognized.

Moreover, and of great relevance for the present study, effects of emotional memory may vary with aging (for a review see Mather, 2004). Aging is typically associated with memory decline, and weakened consolidation (Scullin, 2013). However, it seems that older adults are not only generally less efficient than the young, but also use different strategies to retain items and events (Carstensen and Turk-Charles, 1994; Gallant and Yang, 2014; for a review see Mather, 2004). A memory advantage for positive stimuli over neutral or negative stimuli, together with diminished processing of negative stimuli has been frequently reported in aged (Charles et al., 2003; Mather and Carstensen, 2005; Mather and Knight, 2005; Thomas, 2006) as compared to younger adults (for a review see Mather, 2006; Reed et al., 2014). Such an emotional bias in aging has been described for words (Leigland et al., 2004; Kensinger, 2008) (for contrasting results see Grühn et al., 2005), pictures (Charles et al., 2003), as well as for emotional processing in music (Lima and Castro, 2011; Vieillard and Gilet, 2013).

In contrast, few studies suggest that valence effects on consolidation do not differ with aging, either when showing an advantage for negative stimuli as compared to positive stimuli (Comblain et al., 2004; Kensinger et al., 2007; Kensinger and Schacter, 2008; Waring and Kensinger, 2009) or vice versa (Denburg et al., 2003). Regarding the effect of arousal, enhancing recognition of high arousing events has been frequently demonstrated in aging (Kensinger et al., 2002; Otani et al., 2007; Kensinger, 2008), even after a 24h delay (Waring and Kensinger, 2009). Although general consolidation deficits have been described in older adults (Cherdieu et al., 2014), it is possible that arousal may exert a compensatory role, which may result in greater benefit of high arousing events after a delay for older than for young adults. Such an interpretation has recently been challenged in a study investigating immediate and 24 h delayed memory of emotional pictures in aging (Leal and Yassa, 2014). Results in this study suggest that whereas older adults (as opposed to younger adults) benefit from high arousing pictures for immediate recognition, emotional memories in the older group are dramatically forgotten after 24 h. This discrepancy between findings underlines the need to take immediate and delayed recognition into account, in special for studies comparing young and older adults.

To our knowledge, only one study has addressed the effects of aging on emotional memory for music (Vieillard and Gilet, 2013). This study compared immediate memory recognition for music in young (19-24 years old) and older (60-84 years old) adults using the emotional short computer-generated midi musical excerpts previously described (Gosselin et al., 2005; Vieillard et al., 2008). Although an overall memory advantage was found for young adults as compared to older adults, all participants showed a recognition advantage for fearful excerpts as compared to the other music stimuli, similar to the results reported by Aubé et al. (2013) for young adults. However, memory performance of all participants was very low. This floor effect might have hindered the sensitivity for other possible emotional memory differences. In addition, the lower false alarm rates for the fear stimuli as compared to the other emotional stimuli in this study further reflects the issue of the higher

Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org

discriminability of fear excerpts (Samson et al., 2009) previously discussed. Differences in the emotional responsiveness to music were also found, whereby older adults showed lower discriminability of happy excerpts together with a decrease in their responsiveness to sad and scary music as compared to young adults.

In the present study we addressed the effect of normal aging on emotional memory, assessing immediate and delayed recognition of musical excerpts by manipulating emotional dimensions, arousal and valence, in young and older adults. First, we predicted a general effect of age on recognition of emotional music, with a reduced recognition performance overall for older adults. Regarding the effect of arousal, we hypothesized a benefit on memory performance for high arousal excerpts in both groups. Furthermore, we expected that arousal would not only benefit immediate recognition but also compensate weakened consolidation in aging. Therefore, we predicted a benefit of high over low arousing stimuli in the delayed recognition test that will be greater for old than for young adults. However, based on previous studies on aging and emotional memory in other domains, we expected an interaction effect of age and valence to be manifested by a bias toward worst recognition of negative excerpts in the older adult group but not in the young group.

Materials and Methods

Participants

Thirty native French speakers were included in this study. Two different groups were conformed according to age, a group of 15 young adults (mean age = 22 ± 1.8 , ranging from 18 to 25 years; 8 female; years of education = 14.2 ± 2.11 , ranging from 9 to 16 years) and another group of 15 older adults (mean age = 75.27 ± 8.54 , ranging from 63 to 92 years; 10 female; years of education = 12 \pm 4.42, ranging from 6 to 20 years). All participants were right handed as determined by the Edinburgh Inventory (Oldfield, 1971). Existence of psychiatric or neurologic conditions, as well as the current intake of any treatment affecting memory was taken as exclusion criteria for both young and old adults. Only participants with scores within the normal range on the Profile of Mood State (POMS) test for anxiety, depression and tiredness, were included in the sample to ensure that none of the participants had mood disorders that could interfere with emotional processing. Both young (mean \pm SD = 4.47 \pm 2.17) and older (mean \pm SD = 3.80 \pm 1.61) participants were non-musicians as attested by the Music Expertise Test (Ehrlé, 1998). All older adults had Mini-Mental Status Examination (Folstein et al., 1975) scores greater than 28 (mean \pm SD = 29.27 \pm 0.88), ensuring that their cognitive function was normal. The two groups did not differed on their level of education (t = 1.74; df = 20.06; p = 0.097). All participants have signed informed consent and the study was carried out following the declaration of Helsinki principles.

Stimuli

Musical stimuli consisted of 48 symphonic excerpts of 5 s. duration (\pm 1 s fade in fade out) taken from different symphonies written by composers between 1830 and 1954. We selected this period for its particular emphasis in emotional expression, and chose to use existent symphonies to provide more naturalistic stimuli. However, to control the effect of familiarity, we excluded the most famous composers and symphonies of this period.

We used a 2 by 2 design where two dimensions, valence (positive or negative) and arousal (high or low), were crossed creating 4 different emotional combinations of valence and arousal: positive and high arousing (V+A+), positive and low arousing (V+A-), negative and high arousing (V-A+) and negative and low arousing (V-A-). Four sets of excerpts were selected for each emotional combination (making 16 sets of excerpts) based on emotional agreement ratings in an independent pilot study. In this pilot study, 232 excerpts were rated in terms of valence (positive, negative), and arousal (high, low). One hundred seventy five participants were asked to rate a pseudo-randomized subset of 33 out of the 232 excerpts in terms of valence (positive, negative) and arousal (high, low). Excerpts with the higher percentage of agreement on combined arousal and valence ratings were selected for the present experiment. Overall agreement on the selected sample was 90.01% \pm 8.50 for valence, 93.37% \pm 8.29 for arousal and $84.94\% \pm 11.14$ for the combination of both.

The 48 stimuli were grouped into 16 sets (4 for each emotional combination) of three related excerpts consisting of one target and two distractors used for immediate and delayed memory conditions. Length and style of each melody were matched to keep certain homogeneity between the target and the comparison excerpts. For this purpose, each set of three excerpts was composed by the same composer to increase homogeneity, except for one set from each emotional combination made with excerpts from different composers. List of symphonies is reported in Table 1 of Supplementary Material. Soloist passages were excluded to limit salient features that could play a role in encoding. All excerpts were normalized to maximal amplitude of 1.2 db. These stimuli were unknown to all participants as confirmed by post-test debriefing.

Procedure

The experimental task was run on a PC using Psychopy software. The experimental protocol included three phases: encoding, immediate recognition and delayed recognition. Prior to the beginning of the experiment, participants performed training during which they were shown an example of the test, ensuring they understood the task. During the encoding phase, subjects were presented with an intentional deep encoding task, being instructed to rate valence (positive/negative) and arousal (high/low) of 16 items and to retain them for a recognition test. The order of presentation of arousal and valence scales was counterbalanced across subjects. To reinforce encoding, subjects had an additional presentation of stimuli without the emotional rating task. Immediately after encoding, an old/new recognition test was presented. Sixteen targets were intermixed with 16 distractors in a randomized order. After each musical excerpt, participants had to decide whether or not the excerpt was already heard and to report if they were confident in their response (sure/unsure). After 24 h delay, participants were presented with the delayed recognition test including the 16 targets intermixed with 16 new distractors in a randomized order. Participants were again asked to perform recognition on the stimuli and to provide confidence ratings of their responses.

Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org

Data Analysis

Based on the accuracy of the response and the confidence ratings, receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves were calculated for each arousal and valence combination. Three within-subjects factors were entered in a repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA): arousal (high/low), valence (positive/negative), time of testing (immediate/delayed), together with age (young/older) as between-subjects factor.

Results

Emotional Ratings

Preliminary analyses were carried out to test the effect of age on emotional judgment ratings for arousal and valence of musical excerpts (see **Table 1**). Ratings of each stimulus were transformed to z-scores and analyzed in two independent analyses of variance for arousal and valence respectively. An ANOVA with one within-subject factor (arousal) and one between-subject factor (age) was carried out on the arousal ratings obtained by young and older adults. The results revealed a main effect of arousal $[F_{(1, 58)} = 247.59 \ p < 0.001; \ \eta^2 = 0.88]$, the mean rating being higher for high than for low arousal changes as expected. There was no effect of age, nor any interaction between these factors.

Another ANOVA with one within subjects-factor (valence) and one between-subject factor (age) was carried out on the valence ratings by young and older adults. The results show a main effect of valence $[F_{(1, 58)} = 154.61; p < 0.001; \eta^2 = 0.73]$, together with a valence by age interaction $[F_{(1, 58)} = 6.12; p < 0.001; \eta^2 = 0.22]$. Paired t-tests on the interaction pointed out that older adults rated positive excerpts as being less positive $[t_{(29)} = 3.74; p < 0.05]$ and negative excerpts less negative $[t_{(29)} = -2.51; p < 0.05]$ than young adults.

Recognition

The ANOVA with three within-subjects factors (Valence, Arousal, Time of testing) and one between-subjects factor (Age) was carried out on the areas under the ROC curves. This analysis revealed a main effect of Age $[F_{(1, 28)} = 26.71; p < 0.001; \eta^2 = 0.49]$, the mean area under the curve being lower in old (mean \pm SD = 0.74 \pm 0.21) than in young adults (mean \pm SD = 0.87 \pm 0.13). However, the Age factor did not interact with any other factor. A main effect of Arousal was also obtained $[F_{(1, 28)} = 9.41; p < 0.01; \eta^2 = 0.25]$, the mean area under the curve being higher for high (mean \pm SD = 0.73 \pm 0.21) in the two groups. There was no main effect of Valence $[F_{(1, 28)} = 0.02;$

TABLE 1	Emotional	judgement	ratings	(z scores).
---------	-----------	-----------	---------	-------------

	м	ean rating (mean \pm	SD)
	Young	Aged	All
High arousal	0.64 ± 0.30	0.62 ± 0.43	0.63 ± 37
Low arousal	-0.64 ± 0.42	-0.62 ± 0.41	-0.63 ± 41
Positive valence	0.69 ± 0.32	0.35 ± 0.38	0.52 ± 0.39
Negative valence	-0.69 ± 0.49	-0.35 ± 0.65	-0.52 ± 0.59

p > 0.05] or of Time of testing $[F_{(1, 28)} = 0.35; p > 0.05]$, but the analysis revealed an interaction between valence and time of testing $[F_{(1, 28)} = 11.51; p < 0.01; \eta^2 = 0.29]$. The analysis also showed a Time of testing by Arousal by Valence interaction $[F_{(1, 28)} = 5.85; p < 0.05; \eta^2 = 0.17]$ such that Arousal and Valence differently interacted with scores obtained in immediate and in delayed recognition, as depicted in **Figure 1**. Thus, we conducted a new analysis including all participants separately for each time of testing to explore arousal by valence interactions.

Immediate recognition results revealed an interaction between Arousal and Valence $[F_{(1, 29)} = 5.67; p < 0.05; \eta^2 = 0.16]$. To reveal the sense of the interaction, simple effects of Valence on each Arousal level were explored using paired *t*-tests. We used Bonferroni correction of the statistical significance threshold, which was therefore set to p < 0.0125 (0.05/4) to correct for multiple comparisons. Whereas we found no difference between positive and negative excerpts for high arousing music, we showed that positive excerpts were better recognized than negative excerpts for low arousing music [$t_{(29)} = 2.77; p < 0.0125$]. Simple effects of Arousal on each Valence level did not yield any significant difference (p > 0.0125).

Delayed recognition results showed a main effect of Arousal $[F_{(1, 29)} = 13.92; p = 0.001; \eta^2 = 0.32]$, with better recognition of high arousing (mean AUC = 0.83; SD = 0.17) than low arousing (mean AUC = 0.71; SD = 0.22) excerpts. There was also a main effect of Valence $[F_{(1, 29)} = 4.83; p < 0.05; \eta^2 = 0.14]$ such that negative excerpts (mean AUC = 0.80; SD = 0.19) were better recognized than positive excerpts (mean AUC = 0.74; SD = 0.20). However, there was no interaction between these two factors (p > 0.05).

Discussion

In this study we have examined the effects of emotion in the recognition of symphonic musical excerpts for young and older adults. Arousal and valence of the musical excerpts were



Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org

manipulated to address the impact of emotion on memory. Recognition memory tests were administered immediately after the study session, and also after a 24 h delay to measure effects that could be driven by consolidation. Although we confirmed an overall advantage in recognition performance for young over older adults, we were not able to demonstrate any further interaction with age for any of the emotional dimensions in immediate and delayed recognition.

This lack of interaction between age and emotional memory is in line with other studies using different kinds of stimuli such as pictures (Kensinger et al., 2002, 2007; Denburg et al., 2003; Kensinger and Schacter, 2008; Waring and Kensinger, 2009), words (Kensinger et al., 2002; Grühn et al., 2005; Mickley Steinmetz et al., 2010b), scenes (Otani et al., 2007; Murty et al., 2009), and music (Vieillard and Gilet, 2013), which have also failed to show an effect of aging on emotional memory despite the positive bias described in the literature. Mather (2006) suggests that the positive bias effect shown in aging may need strategic and goal-oriented processing of the emotional stimuli to affect memory (see also Mather and Knight, 2005), thus being susceptible to elaboration on the stimuli processing and to participant's motivation. However, as suggested by Dellacherie et al. (2011), real musical performances may intensify motivational significance of the stimuli more than prototypical clips (Vieillard et al., 2008), and thus our stimuli should have successfully engaged participants on the encoding task. Nevertheless, it is possible, that such successful engagement on the task may have minimized potential differences between young and older adults. Importantly, to enhance homogeneity between the different valence/arousal combinations, we limited the music genre to classical music, which might be less emotionally evocative to some participants than other more popular music genres. Thus, further studies sampling a wider range of musical genres are needed to replicate the present emotional memory findings.

Since no interaction with age was found, subsequent assessment of emotional memory was performed for all participants without an age group distinction. We found a double interaction between valence, arousal and time of testing, indicating that arousal and valence had different memory effects at each testing delay. This result supports the idea that early effects of emotion on memory may vary with delay, suggesting that emotions may influence memory consolidation (Talmi, 2013; Leal and Yassa, 2014).

The immediate recognition analysis revealed an interaction between arousal and valence. Whereas valence does not seem to affect recognition of high arousing excerpts, it modifies recognition of low arousing stimuli such that positive excerpts were better recognized than negative excerpts. This result highlights the relevance of valence for low arousing excerpts in immediate testing, in line with Streubel and Kunzmann (2011), who suggest that the positivity bias on emotional reaction may be restricted to low arousing stimuli. Moreover, our finding is in agreement with Kensinger (2008), who also found an interaction whereby more positive non-arousing words were remembered relative to negative non-arousing words for older adults, but no valence effect was found for high arousing words. Nevertheless, an age difference was found in that study, with younger adults having better memory for negative than positive non-arousing words, therefore presenting an effect of valence on low-arousing words in the opposite direction to the older group. Our results also contrast with Leal and Yassa (2014), who found a benefit for emotional valenced pictures over neutral pictures in older adults and the reverse pattern in younger adults. It may be possible that the difference between these previous studies and the present study may be material specific. Most importantly, no particular advantage was found for high arousing negative valence excerpts. As we have previously discussed, few studies have suggested a benefit for "fear" music (Aubé et al., 2013; Vieillard and Gilet, 2013), but such memory effect might have been biased by a difference in the discriminability between the "fear" music and the other emotional music (Samson et al., 2009). Conversely, our results suggest that memory for high arousing excerpts may not differ for negative and positive valence, with only worst memory for negative low arousing excerpts as compared to positive low arousing excerpts.

After a 24 h delay, all participants had better memory for high than low arousing excerpts. The lack of difference between young and older adults on such arousal effect on memory has also been reported for words (Kensinger, 2008) and visual scenes (Otani et al., 2007). The benefit for high arousing music as compared to low arousing music on delayed recognition is in line with Eschrich et al. (2005). This finding highlights the stronger effects of arousal after a delay, supporting the influence of arousal in consolidation. High arousing music remained well remembered also in older adults, in accordance with results from Waring and Kensinger (2009) using emotional images (for opposing results see Leal and Yassa, 2014).

Furthermore, after a 24 h delay, all participants have better memory for negative than positive excerpts. This is in agreement with studies in other domains that have shown a memory advantage for negative over positive stimuli (Waring and Kensinger, 2009). Conversely, our findings are at odds with Eschrich et al. (2008) who found a benefit for very positive musical excerpts over less positive musical excerpts on recognition following a 24 h delay. However, a recent study using similar music stimuli to that of Eschrich et al. (2008) but with a shorter presentation (10 s), has failed to replicate this valence effect on recognition (Altenmüller et al., 2014). It is possible that the advantage for very positive over less positive excerpts may be tied to longer presentations (20-30 s). We cannot exclude, nonetheless, that higher degree of positivity within the positive excerpts, (which is not measured in the present study), may enhance recognition even when negative excerpts could be better recognized. In sum, the valence effect found after 24h delay, and not during immediate recognition, argues in favor of an enhancement effect of consolidation not only for high arousing stimuli but also for negatively valenced stimuli in line with Waring and Kensinger (2009). Nevertheless, the greater effect size of arousal supports the predominant influence of this dimension on consolidation reported in the literature (for a review see McGaugh, 2000, 2004). Of note, besides the emotional memory immediate and delayed effects, overall memory performance did not seem to decay after 24 h delay, supporting the durability of memory for emotional stimuli. Additionally, despite the interaction between time of test, arousal and valence

Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org

found in the initial analysis, the presence of a main effect of arousal in that analysis further suggests the stronger impact of this dimension on memory performance overall.

The ability to evoke comparable ratings of high/low arousing and positive/negative valence of the musical excerpts represent a strength of this study. The presence of interactions between arousal and valence on immediate recognition further highlights the pertinence of manipulating emotional dimensions on experiments addressing emotion effects on memory, as it has been already suggested for words (Citron et al., 2014). The analysis of participant's judgment ratings of the music excerpts validated that the emotional characteristics of stimuli regarding arousal and valence were well distinguished. The analysis of the arousal emotional judgment confirmed that arousal ratings correctly reflected arousal differences in the stimuli. Although it has been reported that age can affect the arousal rating of music (Vieillard et al., 2012), no different ratings for arousal were found between age groups for the present stimuli set. Conversely, the analysis on valence ratings showed an interaction between valence and aging, suggesting that older adults rated positive excerpts less positive and negative excerpts less negative than young adults. Differences between older and younger adult groups in the valence of emotional judgments have been already reported for music (Lima and Castro, 2011), indicating more positive ratings for negative stimuli, which can partially account for the present interaction found between ratings of valence and age. Although the valence rating analysis suggests that older adults manipulated a smaller valence range than the young group to judge valence, still positive excerpts were rated more positive than negative excerpts within this group, indicating that they could distinguish valence well within the musical stimuli used in the present study. Most importantly, the effect of valence on memory did not differ between young and older adults. Furthermore, ratings of arousal and valence were clearly dissociated, also for older adults, suggesting there to be independent emotional identification of these two dimensions for the presented music stimuli.

It is worth mentioning that some authors have argued that music evoking negative emotions is very rare (Baumgartner et al., 2006a,b). However, as illustrated by film music, music has succeeded in representing and evoking emotions like sadness, rage, or fear, which lay within the negative valence spectrum (Boltz et al., 1991; Cohen, 2001; Boltz, 2004; Juslin and Laukka, 2004; Mitterschiffthaler et al., 2007; Juslin and Västfjäll, 2008; for a review on music emotions see Kawakami et al., 2014). To this end, the present study contributes toward the differentiation of arousal and valence dimensions on music in an effort to understand their effects on memory. The stimuli used in this study were able to express the intended emotions resulting from the manipulation of arousal and valence dimensions as attested by emotional ratings.

In the present study, the participants were explicitly instructed to remember the musical excerpts while rating emotional valence and arousal of each excerpt during the encoding phase. It is possible that intentional encoding, together with the emotional rating task, may have elicited deeper encoding for all items (Craik and Lockhart, 1972), posing one important limitation to the present study. It could be argued that emotional effects on memory are more prominent for shallow encoding tasks than deep encoding tasks (Ritchey et al., 2011). In contrast, other studies (Hess et al., 2013; Broderick et al., 2014) did not found differences in emotional memory when comparing intentional to incidental encoding instructions. Nevertheless, we cannot rule out that a shallow encoding task may have resulted in greater emotional impact than our intentional encoding/emotional rating task, or even had emphasized differences between age groups.

Another caveat of this study is that although both groups had comparable educational levels, musical expertise, and anxiety levels, our sample was small, with 15 participants in each group, and age was more variable within the old group than the young group. To enhance the sensitivity to age differences, we selected only participants younger than 25 years old and older than 60 years old. A larger sample of participants that may gradually cover all ages may support the generalization of the present findings. Furthermore, studies particularly looking at other psychological factors within a broader aging population may contribute to a better understanding of which conditions could affect emotional memory in aging.

The present findings contribute to the investigation of arousal and valence effects of music on memory in aging. This has important clinical implications, suggesting that the ability to detect emotional valence and arousal in music and recognize emotional music does not seem to be affected by aging, which might explain the efficacy of interventions such as the reminiscence therapy cued by music (Woods et al., 2005; Cotelli et al., 2012). The increasing demands for intervention programs to promote healthy aging and the preservation of cognitive functions, such as memory, can benefit from scientific evidence as such reported here (Reijnders et al., 2013). Based on its emotional power, music has been increasingly used in therapeutic settings with dementia and aging populations (Clément et al., 2012; Narme et al., 2014; Särkämö et al., 2014; for a review see McDermott et al., 2012; Raglio et al., 2012; Ueda et al., 2013). Understanding how emotional characteristics of music may contribute to memory can help to develop interventions and activities that promote healthy aging. In light of these findings, future studies with more detailed sampling of an aging population, eventually including a range from healthy to different degrees of cognitive impairment, and a variety of music genre, may further contribute to explore the potential benefits of music interventions in aging.

Conclusion

In sum, although older adults performed generally worse than younger adults on music recognition, we were not able to demonstrate age differences on emotional memory for music. The musical excerpts selected for this study allowed the assessment of arousal and valence effects of emotion on recognition, providing equal distinctiveness between the four resulting emotional combinations of arousal and valence. Overall, we present novel evidence on emotional memory for music in young and older adults, immediately and after 24 h delay, by manipulating both arousal and valence dimensions. Immediate recognition results showed that low-arousing but not high-arousing music could be

Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org

Alonso et al.

modulated by valence. Both groups showed a benefit for positive as compared to negative music when arousal was low. However, recognition after a 24 h delay, showed a benefit for high over low arousing stimuli and an effect of valence whereby negative excerpts were better recognized than positive excerpts. These findings highlight the impact of emotion on consolidation in memory. Future studies including larger samples of participants covering a broader age range and isolating factors like depth of encoding are highly encouraged to further understand emotional memory for music and how it could be affected by aging.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Lola Carton, Delphine Fargues, Cyrielle Sauvignon, and Virginie Vibulanandan for their helpful assistance in the pilot studies and data collection and

References

- Adelman, J. S., and Estes, Z. (2013). Emotion and memory: a recognition advantage for positive and negative words independent of arousal. *Cognition* 129, 530–535. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2013.08.014
- Altenmüller, E., Siggel, S., Mohammadi, B., SAMII, A., and Münte, T. F. (2014). Play it again, Sam: brain correlates of emotional music recognition. *Front. Psychol.* 5:114. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00114
- Aubé, W., Peretz, I., and Armony, J. L. (2013). The effects of emotion on memory for music and vocalisations. *Memory* 21, 981–990. doi: 10.1080/09658211.2013.770871
- Bartlett, J. C., and Snelus, P. (1980). Lifespan memory for popular songs. Am. J. Psychol. 93, 551-560. doi: 10.2307/1422730
- Bartlett, J. C., Halpern, A. R., and Dowling, W. J. (1995). Recognition of familiar and unfamiliar melodies in normal aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Mem. Cogn.* 23, 531–546. doi: 10.3758/BF03197255
- Baumgartner, T., Esslen, M., and Jäncke, L. (2006a). From emotion perception to emotion experience: emotions evoked by pictures and classical music. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 1, 34–43. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2005.04.007
- Baumgartner, T., Lutz, K., Schmidt, C. F., and Jäncke, L. (2006b). The emotional power of music: how music enhances the feeling of affective pictures. *Brain Res.* 1075, 151–164. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2005.12.065
- Bennion, K. A., Ford, J. H., Murray, B. D., and Kensinger, E. A. (2013). Oversimplification in the study of emotional memory. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 19, 953–961. doi: 10.1017/S1355617713000945
- Bennion, K. A., Steinmetz, K. R. M., Kensinger, E. A., and Payne, J. D. (2015). Sleep and cortisol interact to support memory consolidation. *Cereb. Cortex.* 25, 646–657. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bht255
- Berntson, G. G., Bechara, A., Damasio, H., Tranel, D., and Cacioppo, J. T. (2007). Amygdala contribution to selective dimensions of emotion. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 2, 123–129. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsm008
- Boltz, M. G. (2004). The cognitive processing of film and musical soundtracks. Mem. Cogn. 32, 1194–1205. doi: 10.3758/BF03196892
- Boltz, M., Schulkind, M., and Kantra, S. (1991). Effects of background music on the remembering of filmed events. *Mem. Cogn.* 19, 593–606. doi: 10.3758/BF03197154
- Bradley, M. M. (1994). "Emotional memory: a dimensional analysis," in *Emotions: Essays on Emotion Theory*, eds S. Van Goozen, N. E. Van de Poll, and J. A. Sergeant (New Jersey, NY: Erlbaum, Hillsdale), 9–134.
- Bradley, M. M., Greenwald, M. K., Petry, M. C., and Lang, P. J. (1992). Remembering pictures: pleasure and arousal in memory. J. Exp. Psy. 18, 379–390. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393.18.2.379
- Broderick, T., Pilotti, M., and Sena-Jaramillo, A. (2014). Is the emotional memory effect sensitive to encoding instructions and the passage of time? *Am. J. Psychol.* 127, 63–73. doi: 10.5406/amerjpsyc.127.1.0063

to Vishnu P. Murty for his very helpful comments on previous versions of this manuscript. The research leading to these results has received funding from an ERS Marie-Curie fellowship to IA by the European Community's Seventh Framework Programme under the EBRAMUS project grant agreement n° 238157, a personal fellowship to IA by "LaCaixa Foundation," a grant from "Agence Nationale pour la Recherche" of the French Ministry of research (project n° NT05-3_45987) and a grant from the "Institut Universitaire de France" to SS.

Supplementary Material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://www.frontiersin.org/journal/10.3389/fnagi. 2015.00023/abstract

- Buchanan, T. W., and Lovallo, W. R. (2001). Enhanced memory for emotional material following stress-level cortisol treatment in humans. *Psychoneuroen*docrinology 26, 307–317. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4530(00)00058-5
- Carstensen, L. L., and Turk-Charles, S. (1994). The salience of emotion across the adult life span. *Psychol. Aging* 9, 259–264. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974. 9.2.259
- Charles, S. T., Mather, M., and Carstensen, L. L. (2003). Aging and emotional memory: the forgettable nature of negative images for older adults. J. Exp. Psychol. 132, 310–324. doi: 10.1037/0096-3445.132.2.310
- Cherdieu, M., Reynaud, E., Uhlrich, J., Versace, R., and Mazza, S. (2014). Does age worsen sleep—dependent memory consolidation? J. Sleep Res. 23, 53–60. doi: 10.1111/jsr.12100
- Citron, F. M., Weekes, B. S., and Ferstl, E. C. (2014). Arousal and emotional valence interact in written word recognition. *Lang. Cogn. Neurosci.* 29, 1257–1267. doi: 10.1080/23273798.2014.897734
- Clément, S., Tonini, A., Khatir, F., Schiaratura, L., and Samson, S. (2012). Short and longer term effects of musical intervention in severe Alzheimer disease. *Music Percept.* 29, 533–541. doi: 10.1525/mp.2012.29.5.533
- Cochrane, T., Fantini, B., and Scherer, K. R. (eds.). (2013). The Emotional Power of Music: Multidisciplinary Perspectives on Musical Arousal, Expression, and Social Control. Oxford: Oxford University Press. doi: 10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199654888.001.0001
- Cohen, A. J. (2001) "Music as a source of emotion in film," in *Music and Emotion: Theory and Research*, eds P. N. Juslin and J. A. Sloboda (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 249–272.
- Comblain, C., D'Argembeau, A., Van der Linden, M., and Aldenhoff, L. (2004). The effect of ageing on the recollection of emotional and neutral pictures. *Memory* 12, 673–684. doi: 10.1080/09658210344000477
- Cotelli, M., Manenti, R., and Zanetti, O. (2012). Reminiscence therapy in dementia: a review. *Maturitas* 72, 203–205. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2012.04.008
- Craik, F. I., and Lockhart, R. S. (1972). Levels of processing: a framework for memory research. J. Verb. Learn. Verb. Behav. 11, 671–684. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5371(72)80001-X
- Dellacherie, D., Bigand, E., Molin, P., Baulac, M., and Samson, S. (2011). Multidimensional scaling of emotional responses to music in patients with temporal lobe resection. *Cortex* 47, 1107–1115. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2011.05.007
- Denburg, N. L., Buchanan, T. W., Tranel, D., and Adolphs, R. (2003). Evidence for preserved emotional memory in normal older persons. *Emotion* 3, 239–253. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.3.3.239
- Dolcos, F., and Cabeza, R. (2002). Event-related potentials of emotional memory: encoding pleasant, unpleasant, and neutral pictures. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 2, 252–263. doi: 10.3758/CABN.2.3.252
- Dolcos, F., and Denkova, E. (2014). Current emotion research in cognitive neuroscience: linking enhancing and impairing effects of emotion on cognition. *Emot. Rev.* 6, 362–375. doi: 10.1177/1754073914536449

Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org

- Dolcos, F., Denkova, E., and Dolcos, S. (2012). Neural correlates of emotional memories: a review of evidence from brain imaging studies. *Psychologia* 55, 80–111. doi: 10.2117/psysoc.2012.80
- Dolcos, F., LaBar, K. S., and Cabeza, R. (2004). Dissociable effects of arousal and valence on prefrontal activity indexing emotional evaluation and subsequent memory: an event-related fMRI study. *Neuroimage* 23, 64–74. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.05.015
- Ehrlé, N. (1998). *Traitement Temporel de L'information Auditive et Lobe Temporal*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Université de Reims, Reims.
- Eschrich, S., Münte, T. F., and Altenmüller, E. O. (2005). Remember Bach: an investigation in episodic memory for music. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1060, 438–442. doi: 10.1196/annals.1360.045
- Eschrich, S., Münte, T. F., and Altenmüller, E. O. (2008). Unforgettable film music: the role of emotion in episodic long-term memory for music. *BMC Neurosci.* 9:48. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-9-48
- Feng, C., Li, W., Tian, T., Luo, Y., Gu, R., Zhou, C., et al. (2014). Arousal modulates valence effects on both early and late stages of affective picture processing in a passive viewing task. *Soc. Neurosci.* 9, 364–377. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2014.896827
- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., and McHugh, P. R. (1975). "Mini-mental state": a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J. Psychiatr. Res. 12, 189–198. doi: 10.1016/0022-3956(75) 90026-6
- Gallant, S. N., and Yang, L. (2014). Positivity effect in source attributions of arousalmatched emotional and non-emotional words during item-based directed forgetting. *Front. Psychol.* 5:1334. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01334
- Gosselin, N., Peretz, I., Noulhiane, M., Hasboun, D., Beckett, C., Baulac, M., et al. (2005). Impaired recognition of scary music following unilateral temporal lobe excision. *Brain* 128, 628–640. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh420
- Grühn, D., Smith, J., and Baltes, P. B. (2005). No aging bias favoring memory for positive material: evidence from a heterogeneity-homogeneity list paradigm using emotionally toned words. *Psychol. Aging* 20, 579–588. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.20.4.579
- Hamann, S. (2001). Cognitive and neural mechanisms of emotional memory. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 5, 394–400. doi: 10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01707-1
- Hamann, S. B., Ely, T. D., Grafton, S. T., and Kilts, C. D. (1999). Amygdala activity related to enhanced memory for pleasant and aversive stimuli. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2, 289–293. doi: 10.1038/6404
- Hess, T. M., Popham, L. E., Dennis, P. A., and Emery, L. (2013). Information content moderates positivity and negativity biases in memory. *Psychol. Aging* 28, 853–863. doi: 10.1037/a0031440
- Hu, P., Stylos-Allan, M., and Walker, M. P. (2006). Sleep facilitates consolidation of emotional declarative memory. *Psychol. Sci.* 17, 891–898. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2006.01799.x
- Inaba, M., Nomura, M., and Ohira, H. (2005). Neural evidence of effects of emotional valence on word recognition. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 57, 165–173. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2005.01.002
- Janata, P., Tomic, S., and Rakowski, S. (2007). Characterisation of music-evoked autobiographical memories. *Memory* 15, 845–860. doi: 10.1080/09658210701734593
- Jefferies, L. N., Smilek, D., Eisch, E., and Enns, J. T. (2008). Emotional valence and arousal interact in attentional control. *Psychol. Sci.* 19, 290–295. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02082.x
- Juslin, P. N., and Laukka, P. (2004). Expression, perception, and induction of musical emotions: a review and a questionnaire study of everyday listening. J. New Music Res. 33, 217–238. doi: 10.1080/0929821042000317813
- Juslin, P. N., and Västfjäll, D. (2008). Emotional responses to music: the need to consider underlying mechanisms. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 31, 559–621. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X08005293
- Kawakami, A., Furukawa, K., and Okanoya, K. (2014). Music evokes vicarious emotions in listeners. *Front. Psychol.* 5:431. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00431
- Kensinger, E. A. (2007). Negative emotion enhances memory accuracy behavioral and neuroimaging evidence. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 16, 213–218. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2007.00506.x
- Kensinger, E. A. (2008). Age differences in memory for arousing and nonarousing emotional words. J. Gerontol. Ser. B 63, P13-P18. doi: 10.1093/geronb/63.1.P13
- Kensinger, E. A. (2009). Remembering the details: effects of emotion. *Emot. Rev.* 1, 99–113. doi: 10.1177/1754073908100432

- Kensinger, E. A., Brierley, B., Medford, N., Growdon, J. H., and Corkin, S. (2002). Effects of normal aging and Alzheimer's disease on emotional memory. *Emotion* 2, 118–134. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.2.2.118
- Kensinger, E. A., and Corkin, S. (2004). Two routes to emotional memory: distinct neural processes for valence and arousal. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 3310–3315. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0306408101
- Kensinger, E. A., Garoff-Eaton, R. J., and Schacter, D. L. (2007). Effects of emotion on memory specificity in young and older adults. J. Gerontol. Ser. B 62, P208–P215. doi: 10.1093/geronb/62.4.P208
- Kensinger, E. A., and Schacter, D. L. (2008). Neural processes supporting young and older adults' emotional memories. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 20, 1161–1173. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2008.20080
- Koelsch, S. (2010). Towards a neural basis of music-evoked emotions. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 14, 131–137. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2010.01.002
- Kuhlmann, S., and Wolf, O. T. (2006). Arousal and cortisol interact in modulating memory consolidation in healthy young men. *Behav. Neurosci.* 120, 217–223. doi: 10.1037/0735-7044.120.1.217
- LaBar, K. S., and Cabeza, R. (2006). Cognitive neuroscience of emotional memory. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 7, 54–64. doi: 10.1038/nrn1825
- Leal, S. L., and Yassa, M. A. (2014). Effects of aging on mnemonic discrimination of emotional information. *Behav. Neurosci.* 128, 539–547. doi: 10.1037/bne0000011
- Leigland, L. A., Schulz, L. E., and Janowsky, J. S. (2004). Age related changes in emotional memory. *Neurobiol. Aging* 25, 1117–1124. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2003.10.015
- Levine, L. J., and Pizarro, D. A. (2004). Emotion and memory research: a grumpy overview. Soc. Cogn. 22, 530–554. doi: 10.1521/soco.22.5.530.50767
- Libkuman, T., Stabler, C., and Otani, H. (2004). Arousal, valence, and memory for detail. *Memory* 12, 237–247. doi: 10.1080/09658210244000630
- Lima, C. F., and Castro, S. L. (2011). Emotion recognition in music changes across the adult life span. Cogn. Emot. 25, 585–598. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2010.502449
- MacKay, D. G., Shafto, M., Taylor, J. K., Marian, D. E., Abrams, L., and Dyer, J. R. (2004). Relations between emotion, memory, and attention: evidence from taboo Stroop, lexical decision, and immediate memory tasks. *Mem. Cogn.* 32, 474–488. doi: 10.3758/BF03195840
- Mather, M. (2004). "Aging and emotional memory," in *Memory and Emotion*, eds D. Reisberg and P. Hertel (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 272–307. doi: 10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195158564.003.0009
- Mather, M. (2006). "Why memories may become more positive as people age," in Memory and Emotion: Interdisciplinary Perspectives, eds B. Uttl, N. Ohta, and A. L. Siegenthaler (Oxford: Blackwell publishing), 135–158.
- Mather, M., and Carstensen, L. L. (2005). Aging and motivated cognition: the positivity effect in attention and memory. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 9, 496–502. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2005.08.005
- Mather, M., and Knight, M. (2005). Goal-directed memory: the role of cognitive control in older adults' emotional memory. *Psychol. Aging* 20, 554–570. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.20.4.554
- Mather, M., and Sutherland, M. (2009). Disentangling the effects of arousal and valence on memory for intrinsic details. *Emot. Rev.* 1, 118–119. doi: 10.1177/1754073908100435
- Mather, M., and Sutherland, M. R. (2011). Arousal-biased competition in perception and memory. *Perspec. Psychol. Sci.* 6, 114–133. doi: 10.1177/1745691611400234
- McDermott, O., Crellin, N., Ridder, H. M., and Orrell, M. (2012). Music therapy in dementia: a narrative synthesis systematic review. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry*. 28, 781–794. doi: 10.1002/gps.3895
- McGaugh, J. L. (2000). Memory–a century of consolidation. *Science* 287, 248–251. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5451.248
- McGaugh, J. L. (2004). The amygdala modulates the consolidation of memories of emotionally arousing experiences. Ann. Rev. Neurosci. 27, 1–28. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.27.070203.144157
- Mickley, K. R., and Kensinger, E. A. (2008). Emotional valence influences the neural correlates associated with remembering and knowing. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 8, 143–152. doi: 10.3758/CABN.8.2.143
- Mickley Steinmetz, R. K., Addis Rose, D., and Kensinger, E. A. (2010a). The effect of arousal on the emotional memory network depends on valence. *Neuroimage* 53, 318–324. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.06.015

Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org

Alonso et al.

- Mickley Steinmetz, M. R. K., Muscatell, A. K., and Kensinger, E. A. (2010b). The effect of valence on young and older adults' attention in a rapid serial visual presentation task. *Psychol. Aging* 25, 239–245. doi: 10.1037/a00 18297
- Mitterschiffthaler, M. T., Fu, C. H., Dalton, J. A., Andrew, C. M., and Williams, S. C. (2007). A functional MRI study of happy and sad affective states induced by classical music. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 28, 1150–1162. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20337
- Murty, V. P., Ritchey, M., Adcock, R. A., and LaBar, K. S. (2010). fMRI studies of successful emotional memory encoding: a quantitative meta-analysis. *Neuropsychologia* 48, 3459–3469. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.07.030
- Murty, V. P., Sambataro, F., Das, S., Tan, H. Y., Callicott, J. H., Goldberg, T. E., et al. (2009). Age-related alterations in simple declarative memory and the effect of negative stimulus valence. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 21, 1920–1933. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009.21130
- Narme, P., Clément, S., Ehrlé, N., Schiaratura, L., Vachez, S., Courtaigne, B., et al. (2014). Efficacy of musical interventions in dementia: evidence from a randomized controlled trial. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 38, 359–369. doi: 10.3233/JAD-130893
- Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia* 9, 97–113. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(71)90067-4
- Ortony, A., Turner, T. J., and Antos, S. J. (1983). A puzzle about affect and recognition memory. J. Exp. Psychol. 9, 725–729. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393. 9.4.725
- Otani, H., Libkuman, T. M., Widner, R. L., and Graves, E. I. (2007). Memory for emotionally arousing stimuli: a comparison of younger and older adults. *J. Gen. Psychol.* 134, 23–42. doi: 10.3200/GENP.134.1.23-42
- Payne, J. D., and Kensinger, E. A. (2011). Sleep leads to changes in the emotional memory trace: evidence from fMRI. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 23, 1285–1297. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2010.21526
- Raglio, A., Bellelli, G., Mazzola, P., Bellandi, D., Giovagnoli, A. R., Farina E., et al. (2012). Music, music therapy and dementia: a review of literature and the recommandations of the Italian Psychogeriatric Association. *Maturitas* 72, 305–310. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2012.05.016
- Reed, A. E., Chan, L., and Mikels, J. A. (2014). Meta-analysis of the age-related positivity effect: age differences in preferences for positive over negative information. *Psychol. Aging* 29, 1–15. doi: 10.1037/a0035194
- Reijnders, J., van Heugten, C., and van Boxtel, M. (2013). Cognitive interventions in healthy older adults and people with mild cognitive impairment: a systematic review. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 12, 263–275. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2012.07.003
- Ritchey, M., LaBar, K. S., and Cabeza, R. (2011). Level of processing modulates the neural correlates of emotional memory formation. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 23, 757–771. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2010.21487
- Russell, J. A. (1980). A circumplex model of affect. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 39, 1161–1178. doi: 10.1037/h0077714
- Samson, S., Dellacherie, D., and Platel, H. (2009). Emotional power of music in patients with memory disorders. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1169, 245–255. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04555.x
- Särkämö, T., Tervaniemi, M., Laitinen, S., Numminen, A., Kurki, M., Johnson, J. K., et al. (2014). Cognitive, emotional, and social benefits of regular musical activities in early dementia: randomized controlled study. *Gerontologist* 54, 634–650. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnt100
- Schulkind, M. D., Hennis, L. K., and Rubin, D. C. (1999). Music, emotion, and autobiographical memory: they're playing your song. *Mem. Cogn.* 27, 948–955. doi: 10.3758/BF03201225

- Scullin, M. K. (2013). Sleep, memory, and aging: the link between slow-wave sleep and episodic memory changes from younger to older adults. *Psychol. Aging* 28, 105–114. doi: 10.1037/a0028830
- Simmons-Stern, N. R., Budson, A. E., and Ally, B. A. (2010). Music as a memory enhancer in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychologia* 48, 3164–3167. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.04.033
- Streubel, B., and Kunzmann, U. (2011). Age differences in emotional reactions: arousal and age-relevance count. *Psychol. Aging* 26, 966–978. doi: 10.1037/a0023424
- Talmi, D. (2013). Enhanced emotional memory: cognitive and neural mechanisms. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 22, 430–436. doi: 10.1177/0963721413498893
- Talmi, D., Schimmack, U., Paterson, T., and Moscovitch, M. (2007). The role of attention and relatedness in emotionally enhanced memory. *Emotion* 7, 89–102. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.7.1.89
- Thomas, R. C. (2006). The influence of emotional valence on age differences in early processing and Memory. *Psychol. Aging* 21, 821–825. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.21.4.821
- Ueda, T., Suzukamo, Y., Sato, M., and Izumi, S. I. (2013). Effects of music therapy on behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ageing Res. Rev. 12, 628–641. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2013.02.003
- Vieillard, S., Didierjean, A., and Maquestiaux, F. (2012). Changes in the perception and the psychological structure of musical emotions with advancing age. *Exp. Aging Res.* 38, 422–441. doi: 10.1080/0361073X.2012.699371
- Vieillard, S., and Gilet, A. (2013). Age-related differences in affective responses to and memory for emotions conveyed by music: a cross-sectional study. *Front. Psychol.* 4:711. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00711
- Vieillard, S., Peretz, I., Gosselin, N., Khalfa, S., Gagnon, L., and Bouchard, B. (2008). Happy, sad, scary and peaceful musical excerpts for research on emotions. *Cogn. Emot.* 22, 720–752. doi: 10.1080/02699930701503567
- Waring, J. D., and Kensinger, E. A. (2009). Effects of emotional valence and arousal upon memory trade-offs with aging. *Psychol. Aging* 24, 412–422. doi: 10.1037/a0015526
- Wagner, U., Degirmenci, M., Drosopoulos, S., Perras, B., and Born, J. (2005). Effects of cortisol suppression on sleep-associated consolidation of neutral and emotional memory. *Biol. Psychiatry* 58, 885–893. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.05.008
- Wagner, U., Hallschmid, M., Rasch, B., and Born, J. (2006). Brief sleep after learning keeps emotional memories alive for years. *Biol. Psychiatry* 60, 788–790. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.03.061
- Woods, B., Spector, A., Jones, C., Orrell, M., and Davies, S. (2005). Reminiscence therapy for dementia. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 2:CD001120. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001120

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Alonso, Dellacherie and Samson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Music in the rehabilitation of patients with memory and learning deficits. International workshop - Lille 2013.

See: https://prezi.com/gcssjfjzu3m5/music-in-rehabilitation-of-memory-and-learning-deficits



As reflected in the last Neurosciences and Music Conference (2011), memory and learning are becoming main areas of focus in music neuroscience research. More specifically, the potential of music as a rehabilitation tool in learning and memory disorders warrants further empirical research and stronger links with practice that can move research findings into the clinic. The aim of this workshop is to bring together researchers with expertise in music and the brain, and individuals who use music in practice with populations with learning and/or memory deficits. The state-ofthe-art of music in the rehabilitation and well-being of patients with learning and memory deficits will be discussed - we will review the applicability of the current findings and future trends in research. A series of short presentations will precede open panel discussions to provide a space for debate and stimulate future collaborations.

This workshop is organized in the frame of the third work package of the project Europe BRAin and MUSic (grant agreement 238157).



13hoo Registration

13h10 Welcome

	ra	thways for the Effects	of Music
3h20	Can music increase spatial	awareness in visual neglec	t? Lauren Stewart
3h40	Implicit learning in patient	populations	Tatiana Selchenkova
4h00	Functional brain plasticity i	induced by musical practice	sibylle Herholz
	training effects versus indi	vidual predisposition	
4h20	How can musical practice i	nfluence cognitive and	César Lima
	emotion-related abilities?		
4h40	DISCUSSION	Chairs:	Emmanuel Bigand & Barbara Tillmanı

15h20 Coffee pause

	Music & Memory		
15h40	Memory for Familiar and Unfamiliar Music in Alzheimer's Disease	Andrea Halpern	
16hoo	Music-evoked autobiographical memory in Alzheimer's Disease	Mohamad El Haj	
16h20	Auditory Binding : imaged encoding of songs	Irene Alonso	
16h40	Musical Spam task	Sylvain Clement	
17hoo	DISCUSSION Chair: Andre Halpern		

20h00 Dinner at "Philip"

(19, rue de Gand 59000 VIEUX LILLE)

Friday 18th of January

	Music	Interventions	
9hoo	Musical attention and memory training as a primer for		Jonathan Pool
	learning and engagement in songwritin	g for rehabilitation	
9hoo	Musical interventions in patients with moderate to severe dem		lementia Pauline Narme
9hoo	Music in everyday life; Real world examples of individuals living		ving Liz Dennis
	with moderate dementia		
	15h20	Coffee pause	
10h20	Creative music projects with the over 6	05	Lucy Forde
10h20	DISCUSSION	Chairs:	Hervé Platel & Séverine Samson
	Music	. Technology	
11h40 Demo			Marc Leman
	12	hoo Lunch	
13h20	Music & Language Deficits Musical rhythms to enhance speech processing: speech re/habilitation contexts		Nia Cason
13h40	The role of music in word re-learning in aphasia:		Laura Verga
	What's the role of the therapist?		
14h00	Music in dyslexia		Clement Planchou
14h20	DISCUSSION	Chairs:	Sonja Kotz & Katie Overy
	15hoo	Coffee pause	
	Future Trends and	Applicability of F	lesearch
15h20	Near-Infrared Spectroscopy: an emergin	ng tool for research	Laura Ferreri
	in cognitive psychology		
15h40	Imagery as a rehabilitation tool		Rebecca Schaefer
	DISCUSSION	Chairs :	I. Alonso, K. Overy & S. Samson
16000			N/ 20



Amphi G, Université Lille 3 (Métro : Pont de Bois)

Name Laura Verga

Laura Ferreri Tatiana Selchenkova Nia Cason Prof. Barbara Tillmann Prof. Emmanuel Bigand Prof. Sonja Kotz Prof. Hervé Platel Prof. Séverine Samson Prof. Katie Overy Prof. Marc Leman Irene Alonso Dr. Mohamad El Haj Prof. Lauren Stewart Dr. Rebecca Schaefer **Elizabeth Dennis** Lucy Forde Jonathan Pool Prof. Nathalie Ehrlé Prof. Pauline Narme Dr. César Lima Dr. Sibylle Herholz Dr. Marianne Hartmann Prof. Andrea Halpern Dr. Diana Omigie Dr. Lucie Bouvet Clément Planchou Prof. Sylvain Clement Christine Moroni

e-mail verga@cbs.mpg.de lf.ferreri@gmail.com tatiana.selchenkova@gmail.com niacason@yahoo.co.uk btillmann@olfac.univ-lyon1.fr emmanuel.bigand@u-bourgogne.fr kotz@cbs.mpg.de herve.platel@unicaen.fr severine.samson@univ-lille3.fr k.overy@ed.ac.uk marc.leman@ugent.be ireneafernandez@gmail.com el.haj@hotmail.fr l.stewart@gold.ac.uk r.schaefer@ed.ac.uk ed271@exeter.ac.uk lucy.forde@sco.org.uk jon.pool@student.anglia.ac.uk nehrle@chu-reims.fr paulinenarme@gmail.com cesarflima@gmail.com sibylle.herholz@mail.mcgill.ca marianne.hartmann@telenet.be

sylvain.clement@univ-lille3.fr

ahalpern@bucknell.edu

Affiliation

MPI for Human Cognitive and Brain Science University of Bourgundy University of Lyon University of Marseille University of Lyon University of Bourgundy MPI for Human Cognitive and Brain Science University of Caen University of Lille University of Edinburgh University of Ghent University of Lille University of Lille Goldsmiths, University of London University of Edinburgh University of Exeter Scottish Chamber Orchestra University of Anglia **CHU Reims** University of Lille University of Porto & UCL German Research Center for Neurodegenerative

> Brucknell University University of Lille University of Lille University of Lille University of Lille University of Lille